fontiers Alexanders Al

MANIPULATION OF THE HOST CELL BY VIRAL AUXILIARY PROTEINS

Topic Editors Nadine Laguette and Monsef Benkirane





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2015 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by Ibbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-484-1 DOI 3389/978-2-88919-484-1

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

MANIPULATION OF THE HOST CELL BY VIRAL AUXILIARY PROTEINS

Topic Editors:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France Monsef Benkirane, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Productive HIV infection requires completion of all the steps of the replication cycle, the success of which largely relying on the multiple interactions established by viral proteins with cellular partners. Indeed, cellular and viral fates are intertwined and this interplay may involve rerouting of cellular factors/pathways to the benefit of the viral life cycle. To gain a foothold into host cells, HIV has to take advantage of available cellular factories and overcome the numerous potential blocks opposed to its replication while ensuring cellular survival. Viral auxiliary proteins are a perfect paradigm to illustrate the complexity of the relationship between HIV and its host. Although these accessory proteins are mostly unnecessary for viral replication in permissive cells in vitro, they play a crucial role in regulating viral spread ex vivo in non-permissive cells and in vivo in hosts. Most accessory proteins are pleiotropic and instrumental in the counteraction of restriction factors and proteins involved in innate immune response.

Several proteins of the "intrinsic" immune system that detect the presence of the assailant and initiate a subsequent immune response, as well as restriction factors that are directly devoted to arresting the replication cycle at precise steps have been characterized. Despite the numerous cellular mechanisms dedicated to preventing viral replication, HIV is able to efficiently replicate in humans. Indeed, as a master regulator of cellular machineries and processes, not only has HIV evolved strategies to avoid triggering of pattern recognition receptors, but HIV has also elaborated ways to counteract host restriction factors, thereby overcoming the hurdles that oppose efficient replication.

This review collection is dedicated to the manipulation of host cells by HIV-1 and HIV-2, with a particular focus on viral accessory proteins.

Table of Contents

- **04** Shaping of the Host Cell by Viral Accessory Proteins Nadine Laguette and Monsef Benkirane
- 06 The Activity of Nef on HIV-1 Infectivity Stéphane Basmaciogullari and Massimo Pizzato
- HIV-1 Vpr—A Still "Enigmatic Multitasker"
 Carolin A. Guenzel, Cécile Hérate and Serge Benichou
- 31 DNA Damage Repair Machinery and HIV Escape From Innate Immune Sensing Christelle Brégnard, Monsef Benkirane and Nadine Laguette
- 41 Safeguard Against DNA Sensing: The Role of TREX1 in HIV-1 Infection and Autoimmune Diseases

Maroof Hasan and Nan Yan

- **47** Suppression of APOBEC3-Mediated Restriction of HIV-1 by Vif Yuqing Feng, Tayyba T. Baig, Robin P. Love and Linda Chelico
- 70 AID and APOBECs Span the Gap between Innate and Adaptive Immunity Arnaud Moris, Shannon Murray and Sylvain Cardinaud
- 83 New Insights Into an X-Traordinary Viral Protein Torsten Schaller, Hélène Bauby, Stéphane Hué, Michael H. Malim and Caroline Goujon
- **97** *Mechanisms Underlying HIV-1 Vpu-Mediated Viral Egress* Nicolas Roy, Grégory Pacini, Clarisse Berlioz-Torrent and Katy Janvier
- **105** Counter Action of the Multifunctional Restriction Factor Tetherin Daniel Sauter

Shaping of the host cell by viral accessory proteins

Nadine Laguette * and Monsef Benkirane *

Molecular Virology Laboratory, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, Institute of Human Genetics CNRS UPR1142, Montpellier, France *Correspondence: nadine.laguette@igh.cnrs.fr; monsef.benkirane@igh.cnrs.fr

Edited and reviewed by:

Akio Adachi, The University of Tokushima Graduate School, Japan

Keywords: HIV, accessory proteins, restriction factors, intrinsic immunity, sensing

Optimal viral replication relies on the ability of viruses to use cellular resources and to overcome the intracellular defense mechanisms. The human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) is no exception to the basic rules governing viral replication cycles. Indeed, to gain a foothold into host cells and disseminate, HIV needs to efficiently complete a series of steps, including entry, reverse transcription of its RNA genome into DNA competent for integration, and transcription of the integrated provirus into RNA molecules that will either be translated into progeny virion protein components, or constitute viral genomes. At each of these steps, cellular components, such as dNTPs, NTPs and amino acids, as well as cellular pathways are mobilized. Some of the latter passively serve the viral life cycle whereas some are actively high-jacked and sidetracked from their usual cellular function. While the presence of such resources and pathways within host cells facilitates viral replication, they do not suffice to render cells permissive to HIV infection. In fact, cells possess an arsenal of detection mechanisms (pathogen recognition receptors) and proteins that can block specific steps of the viral life cycle (restriction factors) that together constitute the intrinsic immune system.

Due to its limited genome size and the small number of encoded proteins, HIV-derived proteins, including accessory proteins (Vpr, Vpx, Vpu, Vif, and Nef), are highly pleiotropic and can contact numerous cellular partners. These proteins, which were initially coined as "accessories" because they appeared to be virtually unnecessary for in vitro viral replication in permissive cells, are encoded by lentiviral genomes in addition to major structural and enzymatic proteins (Gag, Pol, and Env) and regulatory proteins (Tat and Rev). The importance of accessory proteins can be evidenced as inefficient viral spread, delay in replication curves or low viral loads upon disruption of their corresponding open reading frames (ORF) in non-permissive cells and in vivo. Because these accessory proteins are key virulence factors, they have been the subject of intense investigation over the past decades. While this has allowed the identification of several cellular pathways and processes they subvert, the outcome of the established interactions remains sometimes elusive. Nonetheless, major functions of these accessory proteins may be grossly classified as: (i) counteraction of cellular restriction factors (ii) escape from innate immune sensing, (iii) disturbance of cellular pathways, and (iv) enhancement of viral infectivity. Importantly, no accessory protein has been shown to date to fit all four categories, but it is consensually admitted that more investigations are needed for full characterization of their function. This review collection aims at discussing recent advances in our understanding of manipulation

of host cells by the HIV type 1 (HIV-1) and type 2 (HIV-2), with a particular focus on viral accessory proteins. Importantly, because our understanding of the function of viral accessory proteins frequently requires a better understanding of the antagonized cellular proteins or processes, these are also discussed.

To address these aspects, this review series starts by relating our current understanding of Nef function (Basmaciogullari and Pizzato, 2014), a master regulator of intracellular trafficking pathways. Particular emphasis is put on Nef-dependent enhancement of viral infectivity, an as of today poorly understood phenotype. Interestingly, together with Vpr, Nef is the only other HIV accessory protein for which a bona fide antagonized cellular restriction factor has not been identified to date. Similar to Nef, Vpr was documented to disturb several cellular pathways (Guenzel et al., 2014), with a major consequence being a potent cell cycle arrest. However, this major outcome was recently shown to be a mere side effect of Vpr-induced activation of a cellular SLX4 endonuclease complex (Bregnard et al., 2014; Laguette et al., 2014). Activation of the SLX4 complex likely serves to allow the processing of virion-derived reverse transcripts to favor escape from innate immune detection. This function is similar to that proposed for the TREX1 cellular exonuclease (Yan et al., 2010). Importantly, TREX1 and SLX4 complex activation are only two of the many ways by which the HIV virus evades innate immune sensing. While a particular focus is given to TREX1 (Hasan and Yan, 2014), this review also discusses the potential role played by the cyclic GMP-AMP Synthase (cGAS) pathogen recognition receptor (Gao et al., 2013).

To the contrary of Nef and Vpr, the other HIV-1 and HIV-2 accessory proteins, Vpu, Vif, and Vpx, have been shown to directly counteract cellular restriction factors. However, in recent years, a role for these restriction factors in detection of infections has also been described, suggesting that counteraction of these proteins serves in both alleviating the restriction and in escape from innate immune detection. Indeed, Vif, Vpu, and Vpx can directly target APOBEC3G, Tetherin and SAMHD1, respectively. Because of the dual role played by these restriction factors, it is both important to understand the molecular mechanism underlying the antagonism by accessory proteins and the function fulfilled by the cellular protein (Feng et al., 2014; Moris et al., 2014; Schaller et al., 2014).

This review collection should therefore help the reader have an overview of the conflicting forces that underlie the interactions established by HIV with the host cell, and in particular of the complex relationship between viral accessory proteins and their cellular partners. This review series highlights how progress made in the understanding of the HIV life cycle has also impacted on our understanding of important cellular processes, especially with regards to the mechanisms underlying molecular aspects of the innate immune system. In fact, while the complexity of the interactions established between viral and cellular proteins precludes definite conclusions as of today, understanding their contribution to HIV-associated pathogenesis is likely to be the next big challenge in the field.

REFERENCES

- Basmaciogullari, S., and Pizzato, M. (2014) The activity of Nef on HIV-1 infectivity. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:232. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00232
- Bregnard, C., Benkirane, M., and Laguette, N. (2014). DNA damage repair machinery and HIV escape from innate immune sensing. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:176. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00176
- Feng, Y., Baig, T. T., Love, R. P., and Chelico, L. (2014). Suppression of APOBEC3-mediated restriction of HIV-1 by Vif. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:450. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00450
- Gao, D., Wu, J., Wu, Y. T., Du, F., Aroh, C., Yan, N., et al. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses. *Science* 341, 903–906. doi: 10.1126/science.1240933
- Guenzel, C. A., Herate, C., and Benichou, S. (2014). HIV-1 Vpr-a still "enigmatic multitasker." Front. Microbiol. 5:127. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00127
- Hasan, M., and Yan, N. (2014). Safeguard against DNA sensing: the role of TREX1 in HIV-1 infection and autoimmune diseases. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:193. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00193
- Laguette, N., Bregnard, C., Hue, P., Basbous, J., Yatim, A., Larroque, M., et al. (2014). Premature activation of the SLX4 complex by Vpr promotes G2/M arrest and escape from innate immune sensing. *Cell* 156, 134–145. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.011

- Moris, A., Murray, S., and Cardinaud, S. (2014). AID and APOBECs span the gap between innate and adaptive immunity. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:534. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00534
- Roy, N., Pacini, G., Berlioz-Torrent, C., and Janvier, K. (2014). Mechanisms underlying HIV-1 Vpu-mediated viral egress. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:177. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00177
- Sauter, D. (2014). Counteraction of the multifunctional restriction factor tetherin. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:163. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014. 00163
- Schaller, T., Bauby, H., Hue, S., Malim, M. H., and Goujon, C. (2014). New insights into an X-traordinary viral protein. *Front. Microbiol.* 5:126. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00126
- Yan, N., Regalado-Magdos, A. D., Stiggelbout, B., Lee-Kirsch, M. A., and Lieberman, J. (2010). The cytosolic exonuclease TREX1 inhibits the innate immune response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 1005–1013. doi: 10.1038/ni.1941

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 05 February 2015; accepted: 07 February 2015; published online: 23 February 2015.

Citation: Laguette N and Benkirane M (2015) Shaping of the host cell by viral accessory proteins. Front. Microbiol. 6:142. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00142

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2015 Laguette and Benkirane. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Stéphane Basmaciogullari^{1,2} * and Massimo Pizzato³ *

¹ Hôpital Necker-Enfants Malades, Sorbonne Paris Cité, Université Paris Descartes, Paris, France

² INSERM U845, Paris, France

³ Centre for Integrative Biology, University of Trento, Trento, Italy

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Sarah Rowland-Jones, Weatherall Institute of Molecular Medicine–John Radcliffe Hospital, UK Michael Schindler, Helmholtz Zentrum München – German Research Center for Environmental Health, Germany

*Correspondence:

Stéphane Basmaciogullari, INSERM U845, Bâtiment Lériche, Porte 9, 4ème étage, 98 Rue Didot, 75014 Paris, France e-mail: stephane.basmaciogullari@ gmail.com; Massimo Pizzato, Centre for Integrative Biology, University of Trento, Via delle Regole 101, 38123 Mattarello, Trento, Italy e-mail: massimo.pizzato@unitn.it The replication and pathogenicity of lentiviruses is crucially modulated by "auxiliary proteins" which are expressed in addition to the canonical retroviral ORFs *gag*, *pol*, and *env*. Strategies to inhibit the activity of such proteins are often sought and proposed as possible additions to increase efficacy of the traditional antiretroviral therapy. This requires the acquisition of an in-depth knowledge of the molecular mechanisms underlying their function. The Nef auxiliary protein is expressed uniquely by primate lentiviruses and plays an important role in virus replication *in vivo* and in the onset of AIDS. Among its several activities Nef enhances the intrinsic infectivity of progeny virions through a mechanism which remains today enigmatic. Here we review the current knowledge surrounding such activity and we discuss its possible role in HIV biology.

Keywords: HIV, AIDS, auxiliary proteins, Nef, retrovirus infectivity

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE DISCOVERY OF THE Nef ORF

The first reports of the entire HIV-1 genome sequences exposed an ORF, partially overlapping with the 3'LTR, which was initially named 3'ORF (Ratner et al., 1985; Sanchez-Pescador et al., 1985). Early studies demonstrated that its gene product was antigenic during the course of natural infection (Arya and Gallo, 1986; Franchini et al., 1986). However, it took several years before its role in vivo and its molecular functions began to be understood. Initial studies suggested that 3'ORF encoded for a GTPase (Guy et al., 1987), a finding soon dismissed as a possible consequence of sample contamination with bacterial GTPases (Backer et al., 1991). Subsequent reports suggested that 3'ORF was a negative factor (hence the name *nef*, still in use today), because its over-expression was found to attenuate viral transcription and HIV replication in cell culture (Luciw et al., 1987; Ahmad and Venkatesan, 1988; Niederman et al., 1989). These findings were soon contradicted by later reports (Hammes et al., 1989; Kim et al., 1989) which attributed the negative effect to the LTR sequences maintained in Nef-encoding vectors and interfering with HIV gene expression.

The first evidence demonstrating the requirement for an intact *nef* allele in the maintenance of high viral load and the timely development of immunodeficiency came from Rhesus macaques infected with a mutated strain of SIVmac₂₃₉ lacking the Nef ORF (Kestler et al., 1991). Further evidence came from patients who contracted infection with Nef-deleted viruses and manifested long-lasting low level of virus replication and delayed onset of the disease (Deacon et al., 1995; Kirchhoff et al., 1995). A positive effect of Nef on HIV-1 replication was eventually confirmed *in vitro* using primary cell cultures and, to a lesser extent, in transformed

cell lines (Terwilliger et al., 1991; de Ronde et al., 1992; Zazopoulos and Haseltine, 1993; Miller et al., 1994; Spina et al., 1994).

OVERVIEW OF Nef ACTIVITIES

The nefgene is only present in the genomes of primate lentiviruses, i.e., HIV-1, HIV-2, and SIV. It is translated from a multiply spliced mRNA which generates a protein of 27-32 KDa highly expressed from the early stages of the infection process. Based on crystal (Lee et al., 1996; Arold et al., 1997; Grzesiek et al., 1997) and NMR (Grzesiek et al., 1996, 1997) structures, we know that Nef is made of a globular core domain flanked by a flexible N-terminal arm and a C-terminal disordered loop. Residues crucial for the interaction with different host factors are located in all three regions of the protein. Nef is myristoylated, which contributes to its association with membranes, together with a stretch of basic aminoacids close to the N-terminus (Bentham et al., 2006). Indeed, a significant fraction of Nef is observed in association with the plasma membrane and perinuclear membrane complexes (Kohleisen et al., 1992; Fujii et al., 1996; Greenberg et al., 1997). Myristoylation may also contribute to prevent Nef from multimerizing (Breuer et al., 2006). The protein is also detected within virion particles (Pandori et al., 1996; Welker et al., 1996, 1998; Bukovsky et al., 1997), a feature which could depend on the ability of Nef to associate with cellular membranes. Packaged Nef has also been reported to undergo cleavage by the viral protease (Bukovsky et al., 1997; Chen et al., 1998). However, as discussed below, the meaning and the specificity of Nef packaging into virions remain unclear.

Perhaps the most remarkable feature of Nef is its multifunctionality. Nef does not contain enzymatic activity, but exerts several cellular functions resulting from its ability to interact with numerous host factors. The most characterized activities of Nef result from the ability of the protein to connect with the cellular vesicular trafficking machinery and to perturb cell signaling.

MODULATION OF CELL-SURFACE MOLECULES EXPRESSION LEVELS

Nef interacts with several proteins implicated in intracellular trafficking and modulates cell surface expression of several molecules (Landi et al., 2011). Nef down-regulates CD4 (Garcia and Miller, 1991) by enhancing its uptake into the endosome–lysosome compartment (Aiken et al., 1994; Chowers et al., 1994; Rhee and Marsh, 1994; Schwartz et al., 1995a; Bresnahan et al., 1998; Craig et al., 1998; Piguet et al., 1998, 1999; Janvier et al., 2001; Faure et al., 2004), a function conserved and maintained throughout disease progression that increases both virus infectivity and replication, as discussed in Section "Potential Effect of Nef During Virus Biogenesis."

Nef affects the trafficking of many other proteins, which favors virus replication in the host by hiding or protecting infected cells from immune surveillance and by promoting virus dissemination. Because these properties are not strictly related to the ability of Nef to increase virus infectivity, they are mentioned in this chapter but the underlying mechanism will not be discussed further.

The ability of Nef to prevent the elimination of infected cells by the immune system is an important feature that favors virus dissemination in the host. Nef down-regulates molecules of the major histocompatibility complex-I (MHC-I; Schwartz et al., 1996) through a still debated mechanism distinct from that involved in CD4 down-regulation (Piguet et al., 2000; Blagoveshchenskaya et al., 2002; Williams et al., 2002, 2005; Larsen et al., 2004; Roeth et al., 2004; Lubben et al., 2007; Noviello et al., 2008; Dikeakos et al., 2012). This protects infected cells against killing by cytotoxic T cells (Collins et al., 1998), and is maintained under strong selective pressure only during the acute phase of infection, when the host is still fully immunocompetent (Carl et al., 2001). Protection against cell lysis is further achieved by Nef-dependent FasL upregulation which triggers apoptosis of bysander cytotoxic cells (Xu et al., 1997, 1999). Of note, HIV and SIV Nef also interfere with MHC-II functions by down-regulating MHC-II complexes and up-regulating the MHC-II-associated II invariant chain (Schindler et al., 2003).

Cell infection by HIV or SIV is also characterized by T-cell receptor (TCR) pathway dysfunction. Nef can down-regulate the TCR/CD3 complex (Bell et al., 1998; Schaefer et al., 2000; Munch et al., 2002), a property restricted to alleles derived from SIV isolates non-pathogenic to their natural host, which might explain the higher virulence of HIV compared with SIV (Schindler et al., 2006). In addition, TCR activity can also be inhibited by the Nef-dependent down-regulation of the co-stimulatory molecule CD28 (Bell et al., 2001; Swigut et al., 2001). Finally, SIV Nef down-regulates the restriction factor BST-2 and ensures efficient release of viral particles from infected cells (Jia et al., 2009).

Key to these activities of Nef is the ability to form ternary complexes with cargo molecules and adaptor or coatamer complexes via a ExxxLL acidic di-leucin motif (Aiken et al., 1994) a EE diacidic sequence located in its C-terminal loop (Piguet et al., 1999), a EEEE acidic cluster (Piguet et al., 2000) and a Yxx Φ motif (where Φ represents a hydrophobic residue) on its N-terminal arm (Lock et al., 1999).

MODULATION OF T-CELL ACTIVATION

In addition to modulating receptor expression levels, Nef also hijacks signaling pathways and alters the activation threshold of lymphocytes (Baur et al., 1994; Alexander et al., 1997; Schrager and Marsh, 1999; Simmons et al., 2001) by interacting with Src family tyrosine kinases (Saksela et al., 1995), members of the p21-activated serine/threonine kinases (Sawai et al., 1994, 1996; Khan et al., 1998; Renkema et al., 1999; Agopian et al., 2006) and Vav (Fackler et al., 1999; Rauch et al., 2008). This leads to a transcriptional program resembling that triggered by TCR stimulation, which might create a favorable intracellular milieu for virus replication. Signaling perturbation by Nef also results in the inactivation of cofilin, which inhibits cytoskeleton rearrangement and cell motility (Stolp et al., 2009). Features of the Nef protein, which are reported to contribute to this activity, include a PxxP proline-rich motif (Saksela et al., 1995), an amphipathic α -helix in the N-terminal arm (Baur et al., 1997) and a hydrophobic surface within the C-terminal loop (Agopian et al., 2006). Given that Nef increases cell-free virus infectivity in non-T-cell systems, the effect on primary T-cell activation does not seem to correlate with the activity of Nef on virus infectivity.

THE EFFECT OF Nef ON RETROVIRUS INFECTIVITY

With the term infectivity we here indicate the efficiency with which the virus establishes an infection event within a cell, which culminates with the integration of the virus genome into the host cell genome. This is therefore a parameter which does not depend on steps of the virus life cycle which follow integration, such as virus gene expression or virus release. Infectivity is measured by relating the number or the frequency of the infectious events produced by cell-free virus with the physical number of virus particles. To compare infectivity across different samples, infectious events are therefore normalized to the physical virus content in the inoculum, determined by quantifying the amount of p24 CA protein or the RT-activity of the virus. Most studies investigating HIV-1 infectivity employ infection assays limited to a single round of viral replication by using trans-complemented molecular clones or by the addition of AZT or entry inhibitors at various time points following infection with replication competent viruses, in order to avoid the contributions from successive rounds of replication to the overall phenotype. Steps of the virus life cycle where the effect of Nef on infectivity can be manifest include receptor interaction, entry, uncoating, reverse transcription, nuclear import and integration.

The Guatelli lab was the first to report that HIV-1 lacking the ability to express Nef has lower infectivity compared with the Nefpositive counterpart (Chowers et al., 1994). This observation has then been confirmed by several labs using a variety of experimental systems differing for producer cell type, target cells and viral molecular clones (Aiken and Trono, 1995; Goldsmith et al., 1995; Miller et al., 1995; Tokunaga et al., 1998; Khan et al., 2001; Tobiume et al., 2001; Papkalla et al., 2002). Altogether, the magnitude by which Nef alters HIV-1 infectivity is highly variable,

ranging from 3 to 40. In particular, the infectivity of Nef-defective HIV-1 seems to be the most impaired when virus is produced from lymphoid cell lines (Pizzato, 2010).

Additional observations indicate that the effect of Nef on infectivity plays a major function in the biology of primate lentiviruses. First, a comprehensive analysis including *nef* alleles derived from a large panel of diverse HIV and SIV isolates has demonstrated that the activity on infectivity is phylogenetically highly conserved (Munch et al., 2007). Second, functional analysis of *nef* alleles obtained during different stages of HIV infection revealed that the Nef effect on infectivity is maintained by a strong selective pressure during disease progression (Carl et al., 2001). Although this evidence suggests an important function for the Nef effect on infectivity, its precise role during the pathogenic infection remains to be deciphered. While an increased virus infectivity would logically imply an advantage on virus replication and therefore on viral load, clear evidence demonstrating such a link remains elusive.

THE EFFECT OF Nef ON VIRUS REPLICATION

A positive effect of Nef on virus replication was first observed more than 20 years ago (Kim et al., 1989) and remains today mechanistically unclear. While the role of Nef for efficient virus replication *in vivo* is evident, this is not always the case in spreading infection *in vitro*, for which the effect of Nef is highly variable depending on the experimental system. The most robust requirement for Nef was observed using primary T-cells or macrophages infected before mitogenic stimulation of the cultures (Miller et al., 1994; Spina et al., 1994). An important contribution to this effect could therefore stem from the ability of Nef to alter T-cell activation status and favor preliminary virus replication before massive stimulation following exposure to mitogens.

In contrast, Nef seems to only have a modest effect on the replication of HIV-1 in transformed cell lines and in activated primary human T-cells. Discrepancy is observed between the marked effect of Nef on the infectivity of single round infection competent viruses and the modest Nef requirement for virus replication in the same cell cultures (Haller et al., 2011). One major difference between single round infections using cell-free virus and spreading infection of HIV throughout a cell culture is that in the latter cell-associated virus can be transmitted directly from cell to cell (cell-to-cell transfer; Jolly et al., 2004) which seems to be remarkably efficient [up to 1000-fold more efficient than cell-free virus (Sourisseau et al., 2007)]. A recent report indicates that Nef exerts only a modest positive effect on cell-to-cell transfer using both transformed cell lines and activated primary cells (Malbec et al., 2013), therefore overriding bigger differences from the contribution of cell-free virus (Haller et al., 2011). The role of the effect of Nef on infectivity on virus replication remains therefore to be elucidated.

THE MECHANISTIC DETAILS OF THE EFFECT OF Nef ON INFECTIVITY

The effect of Nef on virus infectivity requires its expression in producer cells rather than target cells (Aiken and Trono, 1995). Nef might thus play a role as a virus-borne protein when virions hit target cells. Alternatively, in the presence of Nef, progeny virus particles might inherit a modification which is required to maintain their full infectious potential. Two sides of the same coin should therefore be considered. (1) What is the nature of the Nef-dependent modification inherited by the virus particle and how is it acquired? (2) In which step of the virus life cycle (ranging from receptor interaction to integration) is the infection of a target cell affected by such Nef-dependent modification? (**Figure 1**).

INFECTIVITY: IS VIRUS-BORNE Nef DOING IT ITSELF?

Conflicting results have been published regarding the effect of Nef on fusion/entry which will be discussed later (Zhou and Aiken, 2001; Tobiume et al., 2003; Cavrois et al., 2004). Nevertheless the literature agrees that Nef+ viruses complete post-entry steps more efficiently than their Nef- counterparts (Aiken and Trono, 1995; Chowers et al., 1995; Schwartz et al., 1995b).The fact that Nef is incorporated into viral particles and cleaved by HIV-1 protease at residues W₅₇L₅₈ in the course of virion maturation makes it reasonable to hypothesize a specific role for virus-borne Nef in early steps of viral replication (Pandori et al., 1996; Welker et al., 1996; Bukovsky et al., 1997). Site-directed mutagenesis led to the identification of molecular species with a range of phenotype regarding their incorporation and maturation in virions; however, no correlation could be drawn between incorporation/maturation and infectivity because mutants were also deficient in other known functions of Nef, mostly CD4 or MHC down-regulation (Bukovsky et al., 1997; Miller et al., 1997; Chen et al., 1998; Welker et al., 1998; Bentham et al., 2006). The fact that Nef can be also incorporated into MLV particles (without affecting virus infectivity) further suggests that it is passively and "unpurposely" incorporated into enveloped virions due to its association with cell membranes (Bukovsky et al., 1997). Two papers by Laguette et al. (2009a) and Qi and Aiken (2008) addressed the question of Nef incorporation and its correlation to infectivity by fusing WT Nef proteins with a "viral carrier protein", Vpr and CypA, respectively. These results support the idea that a role of Nef in the course of virus biogenesis, not as a virus-borne factor, likely accounts for its effect on virus infectivity, and are in line with the inability of Nef to complement the infectivity of Nef- viruses when it is expressed in target cells (Aiken and Trono, 1995; Pizzato et al., 2008).

POTENTIAL EFFECT OF Nef DURING VIRUS BIOGENESIS

One of the first effects attributed to Nef is its ability to downregulate cell surface CD4 expression level in infected cells (Guy et al., 1987). Because CD4 is the primary receptor for HIV (Dalgleish et al., 1984; Klatzmann et al., 1984), its down-regulation from the plasma membrane spares cells from cytotoxic superinfection and favors virus dissemination (Benson et al., 1993; Little et al., 1994). Furthermore CD4 down-regulation prevents the formation of CD4/gp120 complexes in intracellular compartments and at the plasma membrane, which has been shown to interfere with envelope glycoproteins (Env) incorporation into nascent virions and to decrease virus infectivity (Lama et al., 1999; Cortes et al., 2002; Arganaraz et al., 2003; Lundquist et al., 2004; Schiavoni et al., 2004). This phenotype appears to be of particular importance for primate lentiviruses since HIV and SIV Nef alleles, but also Vpu and Env, down-regulate cell surface CD4 through distinct mechanisms (Garcia and Miller, 1991; Benson et al., 1993;



Sanfridson et al., 1994; Chen et al., 1996; Fujita et al., 1997; Hua and Cullen, 1997; Margottin et al., 1998; Schubert et al., 1998; Wildum et al., 2006; Laguette et al., 2009b; Magadan et al., 2010). CD4 down-regulation by Nef thus seems to favor HIV infectivity and replication as correlated by the Aiken and Kirchhoff groups (Glushakova et al., 2001; Lundquist et al., 2002). However, the sole ability of Nef to down-regulate CD4 cannot explain its effect on virus infectivity since Nef remains capable of increasing virus infectivity when virions are produced from CD4-negative cells or when virions are pseudotyped with the MLV-A envelope glycoprotein that does not interact with CD4 (Aiken and Trono, 1995; Miller et al., 1995; Aiken, 1997; Pizzato et al., 2008). In addition, Nef does not seem to modulate Env incorporation into the viral membrane when virions are produced from CD4-negative cells (Miller et al., 1995; Lai et al., 2011). The effect on infectivity is therefore an independent activity of Nef.

The hypothesis of a role of Nef in the course of virus biogenesis was further investigated in a comparative proteomic analysis of WT and Nef-defective NL4-3 viral particles intended to identify differences in their composition that might explain the higher infectivity of WT viruses (Bregnard et al., 2013). This study revealed that Ezrin and EHD4 are more abundant in Nef-defective than in WT NL4-3 virions but failed to demonstrate a direct inhibitory effect of these virus-borne proteins on Nef-defective virus infectivity. On the contrary, Ezrin and EHD4 depletion decreased WT viruses infectivity but not that of Nef-defective viruses, which supports their roles as possible co-factors in the Nef-mediated increase of virus infectivity. A similar comparative analysis has been conducted to identify a specific signature of Nef on the lipid composition of the viral membrane (Brugger et al., 2007). Although differences could be identified between Nef+ and Nef- derived membranes, none was found to account for the Nef-dependent increase of virus infectivity. Nef-dependent posttranslational modification of viral proteins could also account for the higher infectivity of Nef+ over Nef- viruses. Although Nef-associated kinases were found to induce matrix phosphorylation on serine residues (Swingler et al., 1997), matrix was later found dispensable not only for virus replication, but also for Nef responsiveness, which ruled out its contribution to the phenotype (Reil et al., 1998; Dorfman et al., 2002). Of note, matrix deletion from Gag requires mutation or deletion of HIV-1 Env cytoplasmic tail to ensure the incorporation of the retroviral glycoprotein into the viral membrane and the biogenesis of infectious virions (Ono et al., 1997; Reil et al., 1998; Murakami and Freed, 2000; Ono et al., 2000; Tedbury et al., 2013). Simultaneous mutations might thus interfere and hide the requirement for matrix phosphorylation in the Nef-dependent increase of virus infectivity. Further investigation is thus required to formally identify Nef-dependent modifications of viral proteins, or incorporation/exclusion of cellular factors into/from virions, that might directly affect virus infectivity.

EFFECT OF Nef (OR MODIFICATIONS INHERITED FROM PRODUCER CELLS) IN TARGET CELLS

Although Nef does not seem to affect the concentration of Env on the virus surface, its ability to increase virus infectivity is somewhat dependent on the mechanism that promotes fusion between the virus and the cell membrane and was long thought to be linked to the route of viral entry. While Nef increases the infectivity of viruses decorated with Env that allow for fusion at neutral pH such as that of HIV and A-MLV (referred to as responsive Env), no effect of Nef is observed with Env that requires virus endocytosis and endosome acidification to promote fusion such as that of VSV and RSV-A (Miller et al., 1995; Aiken, 1997; Luo et al., 1998; Pizzato et al., 2008). This has suggested the existence of a post-entry block encountered by incoming capsids when fusion takes place at the plasma membrane and counteracted by Nef (or its effects inherited from the virus producing cell, see below) or bypassed by incoming virions traveling through the endocytic network, out of reach of cytoplasmic factors. The cortical actin network has been suggested to account for such post-entry block, based on the relieving effect of actin-targeting drugs on the poorly infectious Nef-viruses but not on the fully infectious Nef+viruses (Campbell et al., 2004). However, although Nef increases the infectivity of HIV-1, regardless of its tropism for CXCR4 or CCR5 receptors, not all HIV-1 Envs are equally responsive to Nef (Chazal et al., 2001; Papkalla et al., 2002; Lai et al., 2011; Usami and Gottlinger, 2013). Furthermore, the correlation between Nef responsiveness and entry at the plasma membrane is at odds with evidence of HIV entry into target cells in early endosomes, after endocytic vesicles have passed the cortical actin network but before endosome acidification (Miyauchi et al., 2009; van Wilgenburg et al., 2014). In addition, Nef responsiveness can be observed even when fusion takes place in acidic endosomes, in experimental setting where cells express RSV-A Env and virions are pseudotyped with the cognate Tva receptor (Pizzato et al., 2008).

Nef might thus have an effect on fusion that correlates neither with the route of entry, nor with Env dependence on pH. Such effect has been investigated with responsive and non-responsive Envs and led to contradictory results. While a Nef-dependent increase of the fusion process extrapolated from virus/cell or intravirion fusion assays has been reported by some groups (Schaeffer et al., 2001; Zhou and Aiken, 2001), others have failed to detect any difference between Nef+ and Nef- viruses in the completion of the fusion step, including groups that used the most quantitative ßlam-Vpr fusion assay developed in the Greene laboratory (Miller et al., 1995; Tobiume et al., 2003; Campbell et al., 2004; Cavrois et al., 2004; Basmaciogullari, personal communication). Such conflicting results led Cavrois et al. (2004) to cautiously interpret the sensitivity of the βlam-Vpr assay and the hypothetical effect of Nef on fusion. The authors suggested that Nef might assist the enlargement of the pore arising from the fusion between the virus and cell membranes, and promote translocation of the viral capsid into the cell cytoplasm. Small pores arising from the fusion between Nef- viruses and cell membranes would restrict capsid translocation but allow for full diffusion of the fluorogenic substrate or βlam-Vpr. This would explain why Nef- viruses are less infectious than Nef+ viruses yet induce identical βlam-Vpr readouts. However, this model is based on the assumption that pore size does not limit substrate or βlam-Vpr diffusion, which needs to be demonstrated. Alternatively, if small pores restrict diffusion, hence ßlam-Vpr positivity, identical ßlam-Vpr readouts obtained with Nef+ and Nef- viruses can only be achieved if large pores are underrepresented and have a negligible contribution to the overall βlam-Vpr signal (i.e. Nef+ viruses: 99%) small pores and 1% large pores/full entry; Nef– viruses, 99.9% small pores and 0.1% large pores/full entry). The fact that fusion inhibitors clearly decrease infectivity and the Vpr- β lam signal does not support this hypothesis. It thus seems that the most likely explanation for identical β lam-Vpr readouts is that Nef has no effect on fusion/capsid delivery but affects post-fusion steps of the virus life cycle. Of Note, Day et al. (2004), who also used this assay, reported a fusion advantage of Nef+ viruses over Nef-viruses, which highlights the need for a more robust and sensitive fusion assay in order to clarify the possible effect of Nef on fusion.

Besides these discrepancies on fusion, it has been shown that Nef affects the accessibility of neutralizing antibodies directed against the MPER region of gp41 in a cell/virus fusion context (Lai et al., 2011). Although this did not fully correlate with the ability of Nef to increase virus infectivity, it nevertheless demonstrates that Nef might affect Env proteins conformation or the lipid environment adjacent to the MPER region and thus the fusion capacity of Env glycoproteins. The difference between responsive and nonresponsive HIV-1 Env was recently mapped to an epitope within the V2 region of gp120 (Usami and Gottlinger, 2013). Yet, given the divergence between Nef responsive HIV-1 and MLV-A Env glycoprotein sequences and the responsiveness of Tva-pseudotyped viruses (Pizzato et al., 2008), the common parameter that allows for Nef responsiveness remains unknown. It thus seems that proteins found on the virus surface that mediate fusion, whether they be viral Envs or cognate receptor(s), are major determinants of Nef responsiveness but most likely not through their role in fusion.

The effect of Nef has also been documented at the level of cDNA synthesis in target cells. Although early experiments could not discriminate between effects of Nef on fusion or post-fusion steps, they nevertheless demonstrated that Nef+ viruses generate more early reverse transcription products than Nef- viruses, supporting an effect of Nef operating anywhere between fusion and viral DNA translocation to the nucleus (Aiken and Trono, 1995; Schwartz et al., 1995b). Of note, intravirion stimulation of reverse transcription was shown to compensate for the effect of Nef on virus infectivity (Khan et al., 2001). Given the interdependence between uncoating and RT, these results suggest that Nef might assist either of the mechanisms (Hulme et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2013). Although Nef does not show any effect on uncoating *in vitro*, an effect of Nef *in vivo* cannot be ruled out (Forshey and Aiken, 2003).

CONVERGING MECHANISMS

Three papers published recently describe a striking parallel between HIV-1 Nef and MLV glycoGag (Pizzato, 2010; Usami and Gottlinger, 2013; Usami et al., 2014). This protein arises from the translation of the unspliced MLV RNA from a CUG initiation codon upstream from the conventional initiation codon of Gag, which results in the addition of 88 residues in frame and N terminal to Gag, responsible for the type II orientation of the corresponding protein where the added N terminal residues constitute the transmembrane domain and extend into the cytoplasm of the cell. It has been shown that ectopic expression of Nef or glycoGag similarly increases the infectivity of viruses produced from cells transfected with a Nef— provirus. Interestingly, simultaneous co-expression

of Nef and glycoGag has no synergistic effect and glycoGag has no effect on VSV-G pseudotyped viruses, suggesting that these proteins are involved in the same mechanism that eventually leads to the increase of virus infectivity (Pizzato, 2010). In addition the V2 region of HIV-1 Env, which dictates Nef responsiveness, also dictates responsiveness to glycoGag (Usami and Gottlinger, 2013). Finally, although the ability of Nef to increase virus infectivity and its effect on the accessibility of MPER epitopes on HIV-1 Env partially overlap, glycoGag expression also affects the accessibility of similar MPER epitopes (Lai et al., 2011). This further confirms the converging functions of these unrelated proteins.

MECHANISTIC HYPOTHESES

THE BROAD PICTURE

Several hypotheses can be put forward in a two-act scenario responsible for the differential infectivity of Nef+ and Nefviruses. Nef might hijack cellular pathways in virus-producing cells that ultimately optimize infectivity (modification of viral proteins or viral content beyond its known elements). Cellular pathways in target cells might then specifically assist Nef+ viruses in the early steps of the virus life cycle (**Figures 2A,C**). Both sides of this same coin can then either involve cofactors recruited by Nef or inhibitory factors counteracted by Nef. So far, the lentiviral auxiliary proteins Vif, VpU, and VpX have been involved in the neutralization of an inhibitory factor (or restriction factor) such as Apobec3, Bst2, and SAMHD1. In the case of Nef both possibilities remain open. The Nef requirement for reaching optimal infectivity is highly variable and depends on the cell types from which virions are produced (Pizzato, 2010), it is thus plausible that such variability is conferred by differential expression of one or more cellular genes involved in the scenario depicted above.

WHAT IS Nef DOING TO THE VIRUS, HOW AND WHERE?

Comparative analysis of Nef+ and Nef- viral particles have clearly revealed differences in the lipid and protein composition, confirming that Nef expression in virus-producing cells has an impact on the virus biogenesis. Although the modification of the viral lipid bilayer by Nef did not seem to account for the higher infectivity of Nef+ viruses over Nef- viruses, further investigation with more sensitive fusion assays that are yet to be developed might reveal a direct link between the viral membrane lipid composition, membrane fusion and infectivity. Differences in the protein composition of viral particles also revealed partial depletion or enrichment in particular proteins, depending on the expression of Nef in virus-producing cells. Ezrin and EHD4 were found in higher concentration in Nef- viruses and their involvement in the infectivity phenotype confirmed; however, their relative excess did not seem to account for the poor infectivity of Nef- viruses. Rather, it was interpreted that Ezrin and EHD4 are hijacked by Nef in the process of increasing virus infectivity, thus preventing their passive incorporation into virions.



FIGURE 2 | Possible mechanisms responsible for the differential infectivity of Nef+ and Nef- viruses. (A), Nef- virions may acquire a defect during biogenesis which could be either the packaging of an inhibitor into virions (black shape), or the exclusion of a cofactor (not shown). This defect might then prevent the recruitment of cofactor (yellow shape) or be the target of an inhibitor (not shown) in target cells. (B,C) The effect of Nef on virus infectivity is evident when virus is produced from Nef-responsive cells, in which Nef regulates such

inhibitor or promote virus assembly to subcellular locations where the defect is not acquired (**B**). (**D**-**F**) In contrast, Nef-non-responsive producer cells generate Nef+ and Nef- viruses with similar infectivities (**F**). Two possibilities may explain this phenotype: Nef fails to protect the virus from the defect (**D**,**F**(1), Virions have suboptimal infectivity even in the presence of Nef]; alternatively, producer cells lack the cause of the defect or target virus assembly away from inhibitors (**E**,**F**(2), Nef- virus already has optimal infectivity].

It is interesting to note the converging phenotype of the *nef*— mutation and mutations of p24CA on serine residues: both mutants are poorly infectious but their infectivity is restored by VSV-G pseudotyping (Brun et al., 2008). Although this is far from explaining how Nef increases virus infectivity, it nevertheless confirms that post-translational modification by Nef is an interesting line of investigation to follow. Additional work is thus required in order to identify the differences between Nef+ and Nef— responsible for the differential behavior of viruses when they hit target cells.

As presented in this review, a main functional feature which characterizes Nef alleles and is required for several Nef activities, is the ability to intersect with the vesicular trafficking machinery of the cell. As we discussed earlier, Nef is capable of interacting with AP1, AP2, and BCOP1 via distinct and discrete motifs present in HIV and SIV Nef molecules (ExxxLL, EE, EEEE, YxxL). Many observations converge toward a fundamental role of vesicular trafficking for the activity of Nef for infectivity. In particular: (1) HIV-1 Nef requires the integrity of the AP2 interacting motif ExxxLL in virus producing cells (Chowers et al., 1994). (2) Similarly, SIV Nef requires the YxxL motif (Lock et al., 1999). (3) Mutant HIV-1 Nef proteins, which do not interact with dynamin 2 (crucial for intracellular vesicles biogenesis), are no longer capable of increasing HIV infectivity (Pizzato et al., 2007). (4) The activity of Nef on infectivity requires functional clathrinmediated endocytosis, because it is impaired by silencing clathrin gene expression and by over-expressing transdominant-negative dynamin 2 and AP180. (Pizzato et al., 2007). (5) Glycogag requires and interacts with AP2 via a YxxL motif to rescue the infectivity of Nef-defective HIV-1 (Usami et al., 2014). 5) EHD4 and Ezrin silencing render Nef+ viruses as poorly infectious as Nef- viruses (Bregnard et al., 2013).

As highlighted earlier, doubts remain on the possibility that Nef affects cytoplasmic delivery of HIV. In the hypothesis where Nef enhances the efficiency of fusion between the virus and the cell membranes, it might do so by promoting the endocytosis of a membrane-bound fusion inhibitor in virus producing cells otherwise incorporated into viral membrane. More generally, factors with potential inhibitory effect, or responsible for the recruitment of co-factors in target cells, might also be rerouted away from or to the viral assembly platforms through the deregulation of protein trafficking by Nef in infected cells.

Another interesting challenge is the identification of the cellular compartment where Nef+ virions acquire their phenotype. Nef might drive the viral components to the appropriate assembly platforms where virions acquire specific features responsible for their higher infectivity and, as suggested earlier, the nature of the protein that decorates virions might play a role in this sorting mechanism, independently of their involvement in membrane fusion. Despite some flexibility in virus pseudotyping, much evidence suggests that the acquisition of Env by budding virions is somewhat regulated (Johnson et al., 1998; Jorgenson et al., 2009; Muranyi et al., 2013; Roy et al., 2013). Env might be targeted by Nef and rerouted to ensure assembly at specific sites (**Figure 2B**). Of note, similar infectivities of Nef- and Nef+ viruses might either reflect the inability of Nef to drive virus assembly to such compartments (**Figures 2D,F**) or indicate that optimal assembly does not require the presence of Nef (**Figures 2E,F**). Because cytoplasmic tail-deleted Envs are still Nef responsive, specific determinants might lie in the extracellular domain, and interact with a chaperone along its secretion and delivery to the plasma membrane. Although this awaits formal evidence, it is compatible with the recent identification of a V2 region in HIV-1 Env as a major determinant of responsiveness to Nef/glycoGag.

CONSEQUENCES IN TARGET CELLS

Tracking virions in target cells is particularly challenging, especially when virions cannot be pseudotyped with VSV-G. For this reason, not much is known about possible functions of virusborne molecules in early steps of the life cycle. Whether Nef itself or the modifications it brings to viral particles impact on the completion of early steps, this most likely relies on the recruitment of co-factors or the neutralization of inhibitory factors in target cells. A cutting edge genetic approach based on the screening of a human siRNA library has allowed for the identification of cellular factors that modulate HIV-1 replication (HDFs, HIV-1 dependency factors). However, virions used in such HTS were either Nef- or VSV-G pseudotyped, excluding *de facto* the possibility to identify HDFs involved in the ability of Nef to increase virus infectivity (Brass et al., 2008; Konig et al., 2008; Zhou et al., 2008). A similar screening performed in experimental settings where Nef+ and Nef- viruses could be compared such as that described by Bregnard et al. (2013), would shed light on the pathways usurped by Nef to increase virus infectivity.

CONCLUSION

Biochemistry-based approaches have been used in order to identify cellular factors involved in the many functions of Nef. Affinity tagging or immunoprecipitation followed by mass spectrometry (Pizzato et al., 2007; Jager et al., 2012; Mukerji et al., 2012) and conventional or ubiquitin-split yeast two-hybrid screening (Benichou et al., 1997; Kammula et al., 2012) have identified Nef binding partners. Omics methods have also been used to identify how HIV infection or Nef expression alone modifies the biology of the cell (Schrager and Marsh, 1999; Wang et al., 2000; Simmons et al., 2001; Kramer-Hammerle et al., 2005; van't Wout et al., 2005; Berro et al., 2007; Ringrose et al., 2008; Kramer et al., 2012). Given the many Nef partners and cellular processes affected by Nef identified so far, a strategy focused on the analysis of viral particles might better address the question of the effect of Nef on virus infectivity. Mass-spectrometry based techniques and computing tools have strikingly improved, which makes possible the analysis of Nef-induced post-translational modification of HIV-1 proteins in order to reveal specific differences between Nef+ and Nef- virions. In addition, due to the convergence of Nef and glycoGag on the infectivity phenotype, comparing the results of experiments carried out with these proteins might narrow down the list of modifications relevant for virus infectivity.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

For this work, Stéphane Basmaciogullari received support from Sidaction and Agence Nationale de la Recherche sur le SIDA et les Hepatites Virales (ANRS), and Massimo Pizzato from FP7 Marie Curie Career Integration Grant nr. 322130.

REFERENCES

- Agopian, K., Wei, B. L., Garcia, J. V., and Gabuzda, D. (2006). A hydrophobic binding surface on the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef core is critical for association with p21-activated kinase 2. J. Virol. 80, 3050–3061. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.6.3050-3061.2006
- Ahmad, N., and Venkatesan, S. (1988). Nef protein of HIV-1 is a transcriptional repressor of HIV-1 LTR. *Science* 241, 1481–1485. doi: 10.1126/science.3262235
- Aiken, C. (1997). Pseudotyping human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) by the glycoprotein of vesicular stomatitis virus targets HIV-1 entry to an endocytic pathway and suppresses both the requirement for Nef and the sensitivity to cyclosporin A. *J. Virol.* 71, 5871–5877.
- Aiken, C., Konner, J., Landau, N. R., Lenburg, M. E., and Trono, D. (1994). Nef induces CD4 endocytosis: requirement for a critical dileucine motif in the membrane-proximal CD4 cytoplasmic domain. *Cell* 76, 853–864. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(94)90360-3
- Aiken, C., and Trono, D. (1995). Nef stimulates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proviral DNA synthesis. J. Virol. 69, 5048–5056.
- Alexander, L., Du, Z., Rosenzweig, M., Jung, J. U., and Desrosiers, R. C. (1997). A role for natural simian immunodeficiency virus and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nef alleles in lymphocyte activation. *J. Virol.* 71, 6094–6099.
- Arganaraz, E. R., Schindler, M., Kirchhoff, F., Cortes, M. J., and Lama, J. (2003). Enhanced CD4 down-modulation by late stage HIV-1 nef alleles is associated with increased Env incorporation and viral replication. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 33912– 33919. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303679200
- Arold, S., Franken, P., Strub, M. P., Hoh, F., Benichou, S., Benarous, R., et al. (1997). The crystal structure of HIV-1 Nef protein bound to the Fyn kinase SH3 domain suggests a role for this complex in altered T cell receptor signaling. *Structure* 5, 1361–1372. doi: 10.1016/S0969-2126(97)00286-4
- Arya, S. K., and Gallo, R. C. (1986). Three novel genes of human T-lymphotropic virus type III: immune reactivity of their products with sera from acquired immune deficiency syndrome patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 83, 2209–2213. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.7.2209
- Backer, J. M., Mendola, C. E., Fairhurst, J. L., and Kovesdi, I. (1991). The HIV-1 nef protein does not have guanine nucleotide binding, GTPase, or autophosphorylating activities. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 7, 1015–1020. doi: 10.1089/aid.1991.7.1015
- Baur, A. S., Sass, G., Laffert, B., Willbold, D., Cheng-Mayer, C., and Peterlin, B. M. (1997). The N-terminus of Nef from HIV-1/SIV associates with a protein complex containing Lck and a serine kinase. *Immunity* 6, 283–291. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80331-3
- Baur, A. S., Sawai, E. T., Dazin, P., Fantl, W. J., Cheng-Mayer, C., and Peterlin, B. M. (1994). HIV-1 Nef leads to inhibition or activation of T cells depending on its intracellular localization. *Immunity* 1, 373–384. doi: 10.1016/1074-7613(94)90068-X
- Bell, I., Ashman, C., Maughan, J., Hooker, E., Cook, F., and Reinhart, T. A. (1998). Association of simian immunodeficiency virus Nef with the T-cell receptor (TCR) zeta chain leads to TCR down-modulation. J. Gen. Virol. 79(Pt 11), 2717–2727.
- Bell, I., Schaefer, T. M., Trible, R. P., Amedee, A., and Reinhart, T. A. (2001). Down-modulation of the costimulatory molecule, CD28, is a conserved activity of multiple SIV Nefs and is dependent on histidine 196 of Nef. *Virology* 283, 148–158. doi: 10.1006/viro.2001.0872
- Benichou, S., Liu, L. X., Erdtmann, L., Selig, L., and Benarous, R. (1997). Use of the two-hybrid system to identify cellular partners of the HIV1 Nef protein. *Res. Virol.* 148, 71–73. doi: 10.1016/S0923-2516(97)81918-8
- Benson, R. E., Sanfridson, A., Ottinger, J. S., Doyle, C., and Cullen, B. R. (1993). Downregulation of cell-surface CD4 expression by simian immunodeficiency virus Nef prevents viral super infection. *J. Exp. Med.* 177, 1561–1566. doi: 10.1084/jem.177.6.1561
- Bentham, M., Mazaleyrat, S., and Harris, M. (2006). Role of myristoylation and Nterminal basic residues in membrane association of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef protein. J. Gen. Virol. 87, 563–571. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.81200-0
- Berro, R., De La Fuente, C., Klase, Z., Kehn, K., Parvin, L., Pumfery, A., et al. (2007). Identifying the membrane proteome of HIV-1 latently infected cells. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 8207–8218. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606324200
- Blagoveshchenskaya, A. D., Thomas, L., Feliciangeli, S. F., Hung, C. H., and Thomas, G. (2002). HIV-1 Nef downregulates MHC-I by a PACS-1- and PI3K-regulated ARF6 endocytic pathway. *Cell* 111, 853–866. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02) 01162-5

- Brass, A. L., Dykxhoorn, D. M., Benita, Y., Yan, N., Engelman, A., Xavier, R. J., et al. (2008). Identification of host proteins required for HIV infection through a functional genomic screen. *Science* 319, 921–926. doi: 10.1126/science.1152725
- Bregnard, C., Zamborlini, A., Leduc, M., Chafey, P., Camoin, L., Saib, A., et al. (2013). Comparative proteomic analysis of HIV-1 particles reveals a role for Ezrin and EHD4 in the Nef-dependent increase of virus infectivity. *J. Virol.* 87, 3729–3740. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02477-12
- Bresnahan, P. A., Yonemoto, W., Ferrell, S., Williams-Herman, D., Geleziunas, R., and Greene, W. C. (1998). A dileucine motif in HIV-1 Nef acts as an internalization signal for CD4 downregulation and binds the AP-1 clathrin adaptor. *Curr. Biol.* 8, 1235–1238. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(07)00517-9
- Breuer, S., Gerlach, H., Kolaric, B., Urbanke, C., Opitz, N., and Geyer, M. (2006). Biochemical indication for myristoylation-dependent conformational changes in HIV-1 Nef. *Biochemistry* 45, 2339–2349. doi: 10.1021/bi052052c
- Brugger, B., Krautkramer, E., Tibroni, N., Munte, C. E., Rauch, S., Leibrecht, I., et al. (2007). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef protein modulates the lipid composition of virions and host cell membrane microdomains. *Retrovirology* 4:70. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-4-70
- Brun, S., Solignat, M., Gay, B., Bernard, E., Chaloin, L., Fenard, D., et al. (2008). VSV-G pseudotyping rescues HIV-1 CA mutations that impair core assembly or stability. *Retrovirology* 5:57. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-5-57
- Bukovsky, A. A., Dorfman, T., Weimann, A., and Gottlinger, H. G. (1997). Nef association with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virions and cleavage by the viral protease. *J. Virol.* 71, 1013–1018.
- Campbell, E. M., Nunez, R., and Hope, T. J. (2004). Disruption of the actin cytoskeleton can complement the ability of Nef to enhance human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity. J. Virol. 78, 5745–5755. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.11.5745-5755.2004
- Carl, S., Greenough, T. C., Krumbiegel, M., Greenberg, M., Skowronski, J., Sullivan, J. L., et al. (2001). Modulation of different human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef functions during progression to AIDS. J. Virol. 75, 3657–3665. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.8.3657-3665.2001
- Cavrois, M., Neidleman, J., Yonemoto, W., Fenard, D., and Greene, W. C. (2004). HIV-1 virion fusion assay: uncoating not required and no effect of Nef on fusion. *Virology* 328, 36–44. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2004.07.015
- Chazal, N., Singer, G., Aiken, C., Hammarskjold, M. L., and Rekosh, D. (2001). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles pseudotyped with envelope proteins that fuse at low pH no longer require Nef for optimal infectivity. *J. Virol.* 75, 4014–4018. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.8.4014-4018.2001
- Chen, B. K., Gandhi, R. T., and Baltimore, D. (1996). CD4 down-modulation during infection of human T cells with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 involves independent activities of vpu, env, and nef. J. Virol. 70, 6044–6053.
- Chen, Y. L., Trono, D., and Camaur, D. (1998). The proteolytic cleavage of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef does not correlate with its ability to stimulate virion infectivity. *J. Virol.* 72, 3178–3184.
- Chowers, M. Y., Pandori, M. W., Spina, C. A., Richman, D. D., and Guatelli, J. C. (1995). The growth advantage conferred by HIV-1 nef is determined at the level of viral DNA formation and is independent of CD4 downregulation. *Virology* 212, 451–457. doi: 10.1006/viro.1995.1502
- Chowers, M. Y., Spina, C. A., Kwoh, T. J., Fitch, N. J., Richman, D. D., and Guatelli, J. C. (1994). Optimal infectivity in vitro of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 requires an intact nef gene. *J. Virol.* 68, 2906–2914.
- Collins, K. L., Chen, B. K., Kalams, S. A., Walker, B. D., and Baltimore, D. (1998). HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Nature* 391, 397–401. doi: 10.1038/34929
- Cortes, M. J., Wong-Staal, F., and Lama, J. (2002). Cell surface CD4 interferes with the infectivity of HIV-1 particles released from T cells. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 1770–1779. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109807200
- Craig, H. M., Pandori, M. W., and Guatelli, J. C. (1998). Interaction of HIV-1 Nef with the cellular dileucine-based sorting pathway is required for CD4 downregulation and optimal viral infectivity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 11229– 11234. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.19.11229
- Dalgleish, A. G., Beverley, P. C., Clapham, P. R., Crawford, D. H., Greaves, M. F., and Weiss, R. A. (1984). The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. *Nature* 312, 763–767. doi: 10.1038/312763a0
- Day, J. R., Munk, C., and Guatelli, J. C. (2004). The membrane-proximal tyrosinebased sorting signal of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gp41 is required for optimal viral infectivity. *J. Virol.* 78, 1069–1079. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.3.1069-1079.2004

- Deacon, N. J., Tsykin, A., Solomon, A., Smith, K., Ludford-Menting, M., Hooker, D. J., et al. (1995). Genomic structure of an attenuated quasi species of HIV-1 from a blood transfusion donor and recipients. *Science* 270, 988–991. doi: 10.1126/science.270.5238.988
- de Ronde, A., Klaver, B., Keulen, W., Smit, L., and Goudsmit, J. (1992). Natural HIV-1 NEF accelerates virus replication in primary human lymphocytes. *Virology* 188, 391–395. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(92)90772-H
- Dikeakos, J. D., Thomas, L., Kwon, G., Elferich, J., Shinde, U., and Thomas, G. (2012). An interdomain binding site on HIV-1 Nef interacts with PACS-1 and PACS-2 on endosomes to down-regulate MHC-I. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23, 2184–2197. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E11-11-0928 mbc.E11-11-0928
- Dorfman, T., Popova, E., Pizzato, M., and Gottlinger, H. G. (2002). Nef enhances human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity in the absence of matrix. J. Virol. 76, 6857–6862. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.13.6857-6862.2002
- Fackler, O. T., Luo, W., Geyer, M., Alberts, A. S., and Peterlin, B. M. (1999). Activation of Vav by Nef induces cytoskeletal rearrangements and downstream effector functions. *Mol. Cell* 3, 729–739. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(01) 80005-8
- Faure, J., Stalder, R., Borel, C., Sobo, K., Piguet, V., Demaurex, N., et al. (2004). ARF1 regulates Nef-induced CD4 degradation. *Curr. Biol.* 14, 1056–1064. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.021
- Forshey, B. M., and Aiken, C. (2003). Disassembly of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cores in vitro reveals association of Nef with the subviral ribonucleoprotein complex. J. Virol. 77, 4409–4414. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.7.4409-4414.2003
- Franchini, G., Robert-Guroff, M., Wong-Staal, F., Ghrayeb, J., Kato, I., Chang, T. W., et al. (1986). Expression of the protein encoded by the 3' open reading frame of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type III in bacteria: demonstration of its immunoreactivity with human sera. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 83, 5282–5285. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.14.5282
- Fujii, Y., Otake, K., Fujita, Y., Yamamoto, N., Nagai, Y., Tashiro, M., et al. (1996). Clustered localization of oligomeric Nef protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 on the cell surface. *FEBS Lett.* 395, 257–261. doi: 10.1016/0014-5793(96)01048-4
- Fujita, K., Omura, S., and Silver, J. (1997). Rapid degradation of CD4 in cells expressing human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Env and Vpu is blocked by proteasome inhibitors. *J. Gen. Virol.* 78(Pt 3), 619–625.
- Garcia, J. V., and Miller, A. D. (1991). Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cell-surface CD4 by nef. *Nature* 350, 508–511. doi: 10.1038/350508a0
- Glushakova, S., Munch, J., Carl, S., Greenough, T. C., Sullivan, J. L., Margolis, L., et al. (2001). CD4 down-modulation by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef correlates with the efficiency of viral replication and with CD4(+) T-cell depletion in human lymphoid tissue ex vivo. *J. Virol.* 75, 10113–10117. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.21.10113-10117.2001
- Goldsmith, M. A., Warmerdam, M. T., Atchison, R. E., Miller, M. D., and Greene, W. C. (1995). Dissociation of the CD4 downregulation and viral infectivity enhancement functions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef. J. Virol. 69, 4112–4121.
- Greenberg, M. E., Bronson, S., Lock, M., Neumann, M., Pavlakis, G. N., and Skowronski, J. (1997). Co-localization of HIV-1 Nef with the AP-2 adaptor protein complex correlates with Nef-induced CD4 down-regulation. *EMBO J.* 16, 6964–6976. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.23.6964
- Grzesiek, S., Bax, A., Clore, G. M., Gronenborn, A. M., Hu, J. S., Kaufman, J., et al. (1996). The solution structure of HIV-1 Nef reveals an unexpected fold and permits delineation of the binding surface for the SH3 domain of Hck tyrosine protein kinase. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 3, 340–345. doi: 10.1038/nsb0496-340
- Grzesiek, S., Bax, A., Hu, J. S., Kaufman, J., Palmer, I., Stahl, S. J., et al. (1997). Refined solution structure and backbone dynamics of HIV-1 Nef. *Protein Sci.* 6, 1248–1263. doi: 10.1002/pro.5560060613
- Guy, B., Kieny, M. P., Riviere, Y., Le Peuch, C., Dott, K., Girard, M., et al. (1987). HIV F/3' orf encodes a phosphorylated GTP-binding protein resembling an oncogene product. *Nature* 330, 266–269. doi: 10.1038/330266a0
- Haller, C., Tibroni, N., Rudolph, J. M., Grosse, R., and Fackler, O. T. (2011). Nef does not inhibit F-actin remodelling and HIV-1 cell-cell transmission at the T lymphocyte virological synapse. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* 90, 913–921. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2010.09.010
- Hammes, S. R., Dixon, E. P., Malim, M. H., Cullen, B. R., and Greene, W. C. (1989). Nef protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: evidence against its role

as a transcriptional inhibitor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86, 9549–9553. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.23.9549

- Hua, J., and Cullen, B. R. (1997). Human immunodeficiency virus types 1 and 2 and simian immunodeficiency virus Nef use distinct but overlapping target sites for downregulation of cell surface CD4. J. Virol. 71, 6742–6748.
- Hulme, A. E., Perez, O., and Hope, T. J. (2011). Complementary assays reveal a relationship between HIV-1 uncoating and reverse transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 9975–9980. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1014522108
- Jager, S., Cimermancic, P., Gulbahce, N., Johnson, J. R., Mcgovern, K. E., Clarke, S. C., et al. (2012). Global landscape of HIV-human protein complexes. *Nature* 481, 365–370. doi: 10.1038/nature10719
- Janvier, K., Craig, H., Le Gall, S., Benarous, R., Guatelli, J., Schwartz, O., et al. (2001). Nef-induced CD4 downregulation: a diacidic sequence in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef does not function as a protein sorting motif through direct binding to beta-COP. J. Virol. 75, 3971–3976. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.8.3971-3976.2001
- Jia, B., Serra-Moreno, R., Neidermyer, W., Rahmberg, A., Mackey, J., Fofana, I. B., et al. (2009). Species-specific activity of SIV Nef and HIV-1 Vpu in overcoming restriction by tetherin/BST2. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000429. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000429
- Johnson, J. E., Rodgers, W., and Rose, J. K. (1998). A plasma membrane localization signal in the HIV-1 envelope cytoplasmic domain prevents localization at sites of vesicular stomatitis virus budding and incorporation into VSV virions. *Virology* 251, 244–252. doi: 10.1006/viro.1998.9429
- Jolly, C., Kashefi, K., Hollinshead, M., and Sattentau, Q. J. (2004). HIV-1 cell to cell transfer across an Env-induced, actin-dependent synapse. *J. Exp. Med.* 199, 283–293. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030648
- Jorgenson, R. L., Vogt, V. M., and Johnson, M. C. (2009). Foreign glycoproteins can be actively recruited to virus assembly sites during pseudotyping. J. Virol. 83, 4060–4067. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02425-08
- Kammula, E. C., Motter, J., Gorgels, A., Jonas, E., Hoffmann, S., and Willbold, D. (2012). Brain transcriptome-wide screen for HIV-1 Nef protein interaction partners reveals various membrane-associated proteins. *PLoS ONE* 7:e51578. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0051578
- Kestler, H. W. III, Ringler, D. J., Mori, K., Panicali, D. L., Sehgal, P. K., Daniel, M. D., et al. (1991). Importance of the nef gene for maintenance of high virus loads and for development of AIDS. *Cell* 65, 651–662. doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(91) 90097-I
- Khan, I. H., Sawai, E. T., Antonio, E., Weber, C. J., Mandell, C. P., Montbriand, P., et al. (1998). Role of the SH3-ligand domain of simian immunodeficiency virus Nef in interaction with Nef-associated kinase and simian AIDS in rhesus macaques. J. Virol. 72, 5820–5830.
- Khan, M., Garcia-Barrio, M., and Powell, M. D. (2001). Restoration of wild-type infectivity to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 strains lacking nef by intravirion reverse transcription. *J. Virol.* 75, 12081–12087. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.24.12081-12087.2001
- Kim, S., Ikeuchi, K., Byrn, R., Groopman, J., and Baltimore, D. (1989). Lack of a negative influence on viral growth by the nef gene of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 9544–9548. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.23. 9544
- Kirchhoff, F., Greenough, T. C., Brettler, D. B., Sullivan, J. L., and Desrosiers, R. C. (1995). Brief report: absence of intact nef sequences in a long-term survivor with nonprogressive HIV-1 infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 332, 228–232. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199501263320405
- Klatzmann, D., Champagne, E., Chamaret, S., Gruest, J., Guetard, D., Hercend, T., et al. (1984). T-lymphocyte T4 molecule behaves as the receptor for human retrovirus LAV. *Nature* 312, 767–768. doi: 10.1038/312767a0
- Kohleisen, B., Neumann, M., Herrmann, R., Brack-Werner, R., Krohn, K. J., Ovod, V., et al. (1992). Cellular localization of Nef expressed in persistently HIV-1-infected low-producer astrocytes. *AIDS* 6, 1427–1436. doi: 10.1097/00002030-199212000-00002
- Konig, R., Zhou, Y., Elleder, D., Diamond, T. L., Bonamy, G. M., Irelan, J. T., et al. (2008). Global analysis of host-pathogen interactions that regulate early-stage HIV-1 replication. *Cell* 135, 49–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.032
- Kramer-Hammerle, S., Hahn, A., Brack-Werner, R., and Werner, T. (2005). Elucidating effects of long-term expression of HIV-1 Nef on astrocytes by microarray, promoter, and literature analyses. *Gene* 358, 31–38. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2005. 05.011

- Kramer, G., Moerland, P. D., Jeeninga, R. E., Vlietstra, W. J., Ringrose, J. H., Byrman, C., et al. (2012). Proteomic analysis of HIV-T cell interaction: an update. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:240. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00240
- Laguette, N., Benichou, S., and Basmaciogullari, S. (2009a). HIV-1 Nef Incorporation into Virions does not Increase Infectivity. J. Virol. 83, 1093–1104. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01633-08
- Laguette, N., Bregnard, C., Bouchet, J., Benmerah, A., Benichou, S., and Basmaciogullari, S. (2009b). Nef-induced CD4 endocytosis in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 host cells: role of the p56lck kinase. *J. Virol.* 83, 7117–7128. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01648-08
- Lai, R. P., Yan, J., Heeney, J., Mcclure, M. O., Gottlinger, H., Luban, J., et al. (2011). Nef decreases HIV-1 sensitivity to neutralizing antibodies that target the membrane-proximal external region of TMgp41. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002442. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002442
- Lama, J., Mangasarian, A., and Trono, D. (1999). Cell-surface expression of CD4 reduces HIV-1 infectivity by blocking Env incorporation in a Nef- and Vpuinhibitable manner. *Curr. Biol.* 9, 622–631. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(99)80284-X
- Landi, A., Iannucci, V., Nuffel, A. V., Meuwissen, P., and Verhasselt, B. (2011). One protein to rule them all: modulation of cell surface receptors and molecules by HIV Nef. *Curr. HIV Res.* 9, 496–504. doi: 10.2174/157016211798842116
- Larsen, J. E., Massol, R. H., Nieland, T. J., and Kirchhausen, T. (2004). HIV Nef-mediated major histocompatibility complex class I down-modulation is independent of Arf6 activity. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 15, 323–331. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E03-08-0578
- Lee, C. H., Saksela, K., Mirza, U. A., Chait, B. T., and Kuriyan, J. (1996). Crystal structure of the conserved core of HIV-1 Nef complexed with a Src family SH3 domain. *Cell* 85, 931–942. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81276-3
- Little, S. J., Riggs, N. L., Chowers, M. Y., Fitch, N. J., Richman, D. D., Spina, C. A., et al. (1994). Cell surface CD4 downregulation and resistance to superinfection induced by a defective provirus of HIV-1. *Virology* 205, 578–582. doi: 10.1006/viro.1994.1683
- Lock, M., Greenberg, M. E., Iafrate, A. J., Swigut, T., Muench, J., Kirchhoff, F., et al. (1999). Two elements target SIV Nef to the AP-2 clathrin adaptor complex, but only one is required for the induction of CD4 endocytosis. *EMBO J.* 18, 2722–2733. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.10.2722
- Lubben, N. B., Sahlender, D. A., Motley, A. M., Lehner, P. J., Benaroch, P., and Robinson, M. S. (2007). HIV-1 Nef-induced down-regulation of MHC class I requires AP-1 and clathrin but not PACS-1 and is impeded by AP-2. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 18, 3351–3365. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E07-03-0218
- Luciw, P. A., Cheng-Mayer, C., and Levy, J. A. (1987). Mutational analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus: the orf-B region down-regulates virus replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 1434–1438. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.5.1434
- Lundquist, C. A., Tobiume, M., Zhou, J., Unutmaz, D., and Aiken, C. (2002). Nef-mediated downregulation of CD4 enhances human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in primary T lymphocytes. J. Virol. 76, 4625–4633. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.9.4625-4633.2002
- Lundquist, C. A., Zhou, J., and Aiken, C. (2004). Nef stimulates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in primary T cells by enhancing virion-associated gp120 levels: coreceptor-dependent requirement for Nef in viral replication. *J. Virol.* 78, 6287–6296. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.12.6287-6296.2004
- Luo, T., Douglas, J. L., Livingston, R. L., and Garcia, J. V. (1998). Infectivity enhancement by HIV-1 Nef is dependent on the pathway of virus entry: implications for HIV-based gene transfer systems. *Virology* 241, 224–233. doi: 10.1006/viro.1997.8966
- Magadan, J. G., Perez-Victoria, F. J., Sougrat, R., Ye, Y., Strebel, K., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2010). Multilayered mechanism of CD4 downregulation by HIV-1 Vpu involving distinct ER retention and ERAD targeting steps. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000869. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000869
- Malbec, M., Sourisseau, M., Guivel-Benhassine, F., Porrot, F., Blanchet, F., Schwartz, O., et al. (2013). HIV-1 Nef promotes the localization of Gag to the cell membrane and facilitates viral cell-to-cell transfer. *Retrovirology* 10, 80. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-80
- Margottin, F., Bour, S. P., Durand, H., Selig, L., Benichou, S., Richard, V., et al. (1998). A novel human WD protein, h-beta TrCp, that interacts with HIV-1 Vpu connects CD4 to the ER degradation pathway through an F-box motif. *Mol. Cell* 1, 565–574. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80056-8
- Miller, M. D., Warmerdam, M. T., Ferrell, S. S., Benitez, R., and Greene, W. C. (1997). Intravirion generation of the C-terminal core domain of HIV-1 Nef by the HIV-1

protease is insufficient to enhance viral infectivity. *Virology* 234, 215–225. doi: 10.1006/viro.1997.8641

- Miller, M. D., Warmerdam, M. T., Gaston, I., Greene, W. C., and Feinberg, M. B. (1994). The human immunodeficiency virus-1 nef gene product: a positive factor for viral infection and replication in primary lymphocytes and macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 179, 101–113. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.1.101
- Miller, M. D., Warmerdam, M. T., Page, K. A., Feinberg, M. B., and Greene, W. C. (1995). Expression of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) nef gene during HIV-1 production increases progeny particle infectivity independently of gp160 or viral entry. J. Virol. 69, 579–584.
- Miyauchi, K., Kim, Y., Latinovic, O., Morozov, V., and Melikyan, G. B. (2009). HIV enters cells via endocytosis and dynamin-dependent fusion with endosomes. *Cell* 137, 433–444. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.02.046
- Mukerji, J., Olivieri, K. C., Misra, V., Agopian, K. A., and Gabuzda, D. (2012). Proteomic analysis of HIV-1 Nef cellular binding partners reveals a role for exocyst complex proteins in mediating enhancement of intercellular nanotube formation. *Retrovirology* 9, 33. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-9-33
- Munch, J., Janardhan, A., Stolte, N., Stahl-Hennig, C., Ten Haaft, P., Heeney, J. L., et al. (2002). T-cell receptor: CD3 down-regulation is a selected in vivo function of simian immunodeficiency virus Nef but is not sufficient for effective viral replication in rhesus macaques. J. Virol. 76, 12360–12364. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.23.12360-12364.2002
- Munch, J., Rajan, D., Schindler, M., Specht, A., Rucker, E., Novembre, F. J., et al. (2007). Nef-mediated enhancement of virion infectivity and stimulation of viral replication are fundamental properties of primate lentiviruses. *J. Virol.* 81, 13852– 13864. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00904-07
- Murakami, T., and Freed, E. O. (2000). Genetic evidence for an interaction between human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix and alpha-helix 2 of the gp41 cytoplasmic tail. *J. Virol.* 74, 3548–3554. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.8.3548-3554. 2000
- Muranyi, W., Malkusch, S., Muller, B., Heilemann, M., and Krausslich, H. G. (2013). Super-resolution microscopy reveals specific recruitment of HIV-1 envelope proteins to viral assembly sites dependent on the envelope C-terminal tail. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003198. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1003198
- Niederman, T. M., Thielan, B. J., and Ratner, L. (1989). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 negative factor is a transcriptional silencer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 86, 1128–1132. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.4.1128
- Noviello, C. M., Benichou, S., and Guatelli, J. C. (2008). Cooperative binding of the class I major histocompatibility complex cytoplasmic domain and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef to the endosomal AP-1 complex via its mu subunit. J. Virol. 82, 1249–1258. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00660-07
- Ono, A., Huang, M., and Freed, E. O. (1997). Characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix revertants: effects on virus assembly, Gag processing, and Env incorporation into virions. *J. Virol.* 71, 4409–4418.
- Ono, A., Orenstein, J. M., and Freed, E. O. (2000). Role of the Gag matrix domain in targeting human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly. *J. Virol.* 74, 2855–2866. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.6.2855-2866.2000
- Pandori, M. W., Fitch, N. J., Craig, H. M., Richman, D. D., Spina, C. A., and Guatelli, J. C. (1996). Producer-cell modification of human immunodeficiency virus type 1: Nef is a virion protein. J. Virol. 70, 4283–4290.
- Papkalla, A., Munch, J., Otto, C., and Kirchhoff, F. (2002). Nef enhances human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity and replication independently of viral coreceptor tropism. *J. Virol.* 76, 8455–8459. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.16.8455-8459.2002
- Piguet, V., Chen, Y. L., Mangasarian, A., Foti, M., Carpentier, J. L., and Trono, D. (1998). Mechanism of Nef-induced CD4 endocytosis: Nef connects CD4 with the mu chain of adaptor complexes. *EMBO J.* 17, 2472–2481. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.9.2472
- Piguet, V., Gu, F., Foti, M., Demaurex, N., Gruenberg, J., Carpentier, J. L., et al. (1999). Nef-induced CD4 degradation: a diacidic-based motif in Nef functions as a lysosomal targeting signal through the binding of beta-COP in endosomes. *Cell* 97, 63–73. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80715-1
- Piguet, V., Wan, L., Borel, C., Mangasarian, A., Demaurex, N., Thomas, G., et al. (2000). HIV-1 Nef protein binds to the cellular protein PACS-1 to downregulate class I major histocompatibility complexes. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 2, 163–167. doi: 10.1038/35004038

- Pizzato, M. (2010). MLV glycosylated-Gag is an infectivity factor that rescues Nef-deficient HIV-1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 9364–9369. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1001554107
- Pizzato, M., Helander, A., Popova, E., Calistri, A., Zamborlini, A., Palu, G., et al. (2007). Dynamin 2 is required for the enhancement of HIV-1 infectivity by Nef. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 6812–6817. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0607622104
- Pizzato, M., Popova, E., and Gottlinger, H. G. (2008). Nef can enhance the infectivity of receptor-pseudotyped human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particles. J. Virol. 82, 10811–10819. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01150-08
- Qi, M., and Aiken, C. (2008). Nef enhances HIV-1 infectivity via association with the virus assembly complex. *Virology* 373, 287–297. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2007.12.001
- Ratner, L., Haseltine, W., Patarca, R., Livak, K. J., Starcich, B., Josephs, S. F., et al. (1985). Complete nucleotide sequence of the AIDS virus, HTLV-III. *Nature* 313, 277–284. doi: 10.1038/313277a0
- Rauch, S., Pulkkinen, K., Saksela, K., and Fackler, O. T. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef recruits the guanine exchange factor Vav1 via an unexpected interface into plasma membrane microdomains for association with p21-activated kinase 2 activity. J. Virol. 82, 2918–2929. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02185-07
- Reil, H., Bukovsky, A. A., Gelderblom, H. R., and Gottlinger, H. G. (1998). Efficient HIV-1 replication can occur in the absence of the viral matrix protein. *EMBO J.* 17, 2699–2708. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.9.2699
- Renkema, G. H., Manninen, A., Mann, D. A., Harris, M., and Saksela, K. (1999). Identification of the Nef-associated kinase as p21-activated kinase 2. *Curr. Biol.* 9, 1407–1410. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(00)80086-X
- Rhee, S. S., and Marsh, J. W. (1994). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nefinduced down-modulation of CD4 is due to rapid internalization and degradation of surface CD4. J. Virol. 68, 5156–5163.
- Ringrose, J. H., Jeeninga, R. E., Berkhout, B., and Speijer, D. (2008). Proteomic studies reveal coordinated changes in T-cell expression patterns upon infection with human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 82, 4320–4330. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01819-07
- Roeth, J. F., Williams, M., Kasper, M. R., Filzen, T. M., and Collins, K. L. (2004). HIV-1 Nef disrupts MHC-I trafficking by recruiting AP-1 to the MHC-I cytoplasmic tail. *J. Cell Biol.* 167, 903–913. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200407031
- Roy, N. H., Chan, J., Lambele, M., and Thali, M. (2013). Clustering and mobility of HIV-1 Env at viral assembly sites predict its propensity to induce cell-cell fusion. *J. Virol.* 87, 7516–7525. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00790-13
- Saksela, K., Cheng, G., and Baltimore, D. (1995). Proline-rich (PxxP) motifs in HIV-1 Nef bind to SH3 domains of a subset of Src kinases and are required for the enhanced growth of Nef+ viruses but not for down-regulation of CD4. *EMBO J*. 14, 484–491.
- Sanchez-Pescador, R., Power, M. D., Barr, P. J., Steimer, K. S., Stempien, M. M., Brown-Shimer, S. L., et al. (1985). Nucleotide sequence and expression of an AIDS-associated retrovirus (ARV-2). *Science* 227, 484–492. doi: 10.1126/science.2578227
- Sanfridson, A., Cullen, B. R., and Doyle, C. (1994). The simian immunodeficiency virus Nef protein promotes degradation of CD4 in human T cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 3917–3920.
- Sawai, E. T., Baur, A., Struble, H., Peterlin, B. M., Levy, J. A., and Cheng-Mayer, C. (1994). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef associates with a cellular serine kinase in T lymphocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 1539–1543. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.4.1539
- Sawai, E. T., Khan, I. H., Montbriand, P. M., Peterlin, B. M., Cheng-Mayer, C., and Luciw, P. A. (1996). Activation of PAK by HIV and SIV Nef: importance for AIDS in rhesus macaques. *Curr. Biol.* 6, 1519–1527. doi: 10.1016/S0960-9822(96)00757-9
- Schaefer, T. M., Bell, I., Fallert, B. A., and Reinhart, T. A. (2000). The Tcell receptor zeta chain contains two homologous domains with which simian immunodeficiency virus Nef interacts and mediates down-modulation. *J. Virol.* 74, 3273–3283. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.7.3273-3283.2000
- Schaeffer, E., Geleziunas, R., and Greene, W. C. (2001). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef functions at the level of virus entry by enhancing cytoplasmic delivery of virions. J. Virol. 75, 2993–3000. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.6.2993-3000.2001
- Schiavoni, I., Trapp, S., Santarcangelo, A. C., Piacentini, V., Pugliese, K., Baur, A., et al. (2004). HIV-1 Nef enhances both membrane expression and virion incorporation of Env products. A model for the Nef-dependent increase of HIV-1 infectivity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 22996–23006. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M3124 53200

- Schindler, M., Munch, J., Kutsch, O., Li, H., Santiago, M. L., Bibollet-Ruche, F., et al. (2006). Nef-mediated suppression of T cell activation was lost in a lentiviral lineage that gave rise to HIV-1. *Cell* 125, 1055–1067. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.04.033
- Schindler, M., Wurfl, S., Benaroch, P., Greenough, T. C., Daniels, R., Easterbrook, P., et al. (2003). Down-modulation of mature major histocompatibility complex class II and up-regulation of invariant chain cell surface expression are wellconserved functions of human and simian immunodeficiency virus nef alleles. *J. Virol.* 77, 10548–10556. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.19.10548-10556.2003
- Schrager, J. A., and Marsh, J. W. (1999). HIV-1 Nef increases T cell activation in a stimulus-dependent manner. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 8167–8172. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.14.8167
- Schubert, U., Anton, L. C., Bacik, I., Cox, J. H., Bour, S., Bennink, J. R., et al. (1998). CD4 glycoprotein degradation induced by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein requires the function of proteasomes and the ubiquitin-conjugating pathway. J. Virol. 72, 2280–2288.
- Schwartz, O., Dautry-Varsat, A., Goud, B., Marechal, V., Subtil, A., Heard, J. M., et al. (1995a). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef induces accumulation of CD4 in early endosomes. *J. Virol.* 69, 528–533.
- Schwartz, O., Marechal, V., Danos, O., and Heard, J. M. (1995b). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef increases the efficiency of reverse transcription in the infected cell. J. Virol. 69, 4053–4059.
- Schwartz, O., Marechal, V., Le Gall, S., Lemonnier, F., and Heard, J. M. (1996). Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. *Nat. Med.* 2, 338–342. doi: 10.1038/nm0 396-338
- Simmons, A., Aluvihare, V., and Mcmichael, A. (2001). Nef triggers a transcriptional program in T cells imitating single-signal T cell activation and inducing HIV virulence mediators. *Immunity* 14, 763–777. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01) 00158-3
- Sourisseau, M., Sol-Foulon, N., Porrot, F., Blanchet, F., and Schwartz, O. (2007). Inefficient human immunodeficiency virus replication in mobile lymphocytes. *J. Virol.* 81, 1000-1012. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01629-06
- Spina, C. A., Kwoh, T. J., Chowers, M. Y., Guatelli, J. C., and Richman, D. D. (1994). The importance of nef in the induction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication from primary quiescent CD4 lymphocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 179, 115–123. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.1.115
- Stolp, B., Reichman-Fried, M., Abraham, L., Pan, X., Giese, S. I., Hannemann, S., et al. (2009). HIV-1 Nef interferes with host cell motility by deregulation of Cofilin. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 174–186. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.06.004
- Swigut, T., Shohdy, N., and Skowronski, J. (2001). Mechanism for down-regulation of CD28 by Nef. *EMBO J.* 20, 1593–1604. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.7.1593
- Swingler, S., Gallay, P., Camaur, D., Song, J., Abo, A., and Trono, D. (1997). The Nef protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 enhances serine phosphorylation of the viral matrix. J. Virol. 71, 4372–4377.
- Tedbury, P. R., Ablan, S. D., and Freed, E. O. (2013). Global rescue of defects in HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein incorporation: implications for matrix structure. *PLoS Pathog*, 9:e1003739. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003739
- Terwilliger, E. F., Langhoff, E., Gabuzda, D., Zazopoulos, E., and Haseltine, W. A. (1991). Allelic variation in the effects of the nef gene on replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 10971–10975. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.23.10971
- Tobiume, M., Lineberger, J. E., Lundquist, C. A., Miller, M. D., and Aiken, C. (2003). Nef does not affect the efficiency of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 fusion with target cells. *J. Virol.* 77, 10645–10650. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.19.10645-10650.2003
- Tobiume, M., Takahoko, M., Tatsumi, M., and Matsuda, M. (2001). Establishment of a MAGI-derived indicator cell line that detects the Nef enhancement of HIV-1 infectivity with high sensitivity. *J. Virol. Methods* 97, 151–158. doi: 10.1016/S0166-0934(01)00349-4
- Tokunaga, K., Kojima, A., Kurata, T., Ikuta, K., Akari, H., Koyama, A. H., et al. (1998). Enhancement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity by Nef is producer cell-dependent. *J. Gen. Virol.* 79(Pt 10), 2447– 2453.
- Usami, Y., and Gottlinger, H. (2013). HIV-1 Nef Responsiveness Is Determined by Env Variable Regions involved in trimer association and correlates with neutralization sensitivity. *Cell Rep.* 5, 802–812. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013. 09.028

- Usami, Y., Popov, S., and Gottlinger, H. G. (2014). The Nef-Like Effect of Murine Leukemia Virus Glycosylated Gag on HIV-1 infectivity is mediated by its cytoplasmic domain and depends on the AP-2 adaptor complex. *J. Virol.* 88, 3443–3454. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01933-13
- van't Wout, A. B., Swain, J. V., Schindler, M., Rao, U., Pathmajeyan, M. S., Mullins, J. I., et al. (2005). Nef induces multiple genes involved in cholesterol synthesis and uptake in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected T cells. *J. Virol.* 79, 10053–10058. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.15.10053-10058.2005
- van Wilgenburg, B., Moore, M. D., James, W. S., and Cowley, S. A. (2014). The Productive Entry Pathway of HIV-1 in macrophages is dependent on endocytosis through lipid rafts containing CD4. *PLoS ONE* 9:e86071. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086071
- Wang, J. K., Kiyokawa, E., Verdin, E., and Trono, D. (2000). The Nef protein of HIV-1 associates with rafts and primes T cells for activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 97, 394–399. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.1.394
- Welker, R., Harris, M., Cardel, B., and Krausslich, H. G. (1998). Virion incorporation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef is mediated by a bipartite membrane-targeting signal: analysis of its role in enhancement of viral infectivity. *J. Virol.* 72, 8833–8840.
- Welker, R., Kottler, H., Kalbitzer, H. R., and Krausslich, H. G. (1996). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef protein is incorporated into virus particles and specifically cleaved by the viral proteinase. *Virology* 219, 228–236. doi: 10.1006/viro.1996.0240
- Wildum, S., Schindler, M., Munch, J., and Kirchhoff, F. (2006). Contribution of Vpu, Env, and Nef to CD4 down-modulation and resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected T cells to superinfection. *J. Virol.* 80, 8047–8059. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00252-06
- Williams, M., Roeth, J. F., Kasper, M. R., Filzen, T. M., and Collins, K. L. (2005). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef domains required for disruption of major histocompatibility complex class I trafficking are also necessary for coprecipitation of Nef with HLA-A2. J. Virol. 79, 632–636. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.1.632-636.2005
- Williams, M., Roeth, J. F., Kasper, M. R., Fleis, R. I., Przybycin, C. G., and Collins, K. L. (2002). Direct binding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef to the major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC-I) cytoplasmic tail disrupts MHC-I trafficking. *J. Virol.* 76, 12173–12184. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.23.12173-12184.2002

- Xu, X. N., Laffert, B., Screaton, G. R., Kraft, M., Wolf, D., Kolanus, W., et al. (1999). Induction of Fas ligand expression by HIV involves the interaction of Nef with the T cell receptor zeta chain. *J. Exp. Med.* 189, 1489–1496. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.9.1489
- Xu, X. N., Screaton, G. R., Gotch, F. M., Dong, T., Tan, R., Almond, N., et al. (1997).
 Evasion of cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses by nef-dependent induction of Fas ligand (CD95L) expression on simian immunodeficiency virus-infected cells. J. Exp. Med. 186, 7–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.1.7
- Yang, Y., Fricke, T., and Diaz-Griffero, F. (2013). Inhibition of reverse transcriptase activity increases stability of the HIV-1 core. J. Virol. 87, 683–687. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01228-12
- Zazopoulos, E., and Haseltine, W. A. (1993). Effect of nef alleles on replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Virology* 194, 20–27. doi: 10.1006/viro.1993.1230
- Zhou, H., Xu, M., Huang, Q., Gates, A. T., Zhang, X. D., Castle, J. C., et al. (2008). Genome-scale RNAi screen for host factors required for HIV replication. *Cell Host Microbe* 4, 495–504. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.10.004
- Zhou, J., and Aiken, C. (2001). Nef enhances human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infectivity resulting from intervirion fusion: evidence supporting a role for Nef at the virion envelope. *J. Virol.* 75, 5851–5859. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.13.5851-5859.2001

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 19 March 2014; accepted: 30 April 2014; published online: 20 May 2014. Citation: Basmaciogullari S and Pizzato M (2014) The activity of Nef on HIV-1 infectivity. Front. Microbiol. 5:232. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00232

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2014 Basmaciogullari and Pizzato. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



HIV-1 Vpr-a still "enigmatic multitasker"

Carolin A. Guenzel, Cécile Hérate and Serge Benichou *

Cochin Institute, INSERM U1016, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique UMR8104, Université Paris-Descartes, Paris, France

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Ryuta Sakuma, Tokyo Medical and Dental University, Japan Carlos M. De Noronha, Albany Medical College, USA

*Correspondence:

Serge Benichou, Cochin Institute, INSERM U1016, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique UMR8104, Université Paris-Descartes, 22 rue Méchain, 75014 Paris, France e-mail: serge.benichou@inserm.fr Like other HIV-1 auxiliary proteins, Vpr is conserved within all the human (HIV-1, HIV-2) and simian (SIV) immunodeficiency viruses. However, Vpr and homologous HIV-2, and SIV Vpx are the only viral auxiliary proteins specifically incorporated into virus particles through direct interaction with the Gag precursor, indicating that this presence in the core of the mature virions is mainly required for optimal establishment of the early steps of the virus life cycle in the newly infected cell. In spite of its small size, a plethora of effects and functions have been attributed to Vpr, including induction of cell cycle arrest and apoptosis, modulation of the fidelity of reverse transcription, nuclear import of viral DNA in macrophages and other non-dividing cells, and transcriptional modulation of viral and host cell genes. Even if some more recent studies identified a few cellular targets that HIV-1 Vpr may utilize in order to perform its different tasks, the real role and functions of Vpr during the course of natural infection are still enigmatic. In this review, we will summarize the main reported functions of HIV-1 Vpr and their significance in the context of the viral life cycle.

Keywords: HIV-1 Vpr, reverse transcription, cell cycle, apoptosis, nuclear import

INTRODUCTION

The vpr gene is conserved among human (HIV-1 and HIV-2) and simian immunodeficiency viruses (SIV) and encodes the regulatory viral protein R (Vpr), a small basic protein (14 kDa) of 96 amino acids (Ogawa et al., 1989; Hattori et al., 1990; Steffy and Wong-Staal, 1991; Tristem et al., 1992). The importance of Vpr has been initially shown in macaque rhesus monkeys that were experimentally infected with a vpr-mutated SIVmac, and exhibited a decrease in virus replication and a delay in disease development progression (Lang et al., 1993; Hoch et al., 1995). In vitro, in the absence of Vpr, HIV-1 replicates less efficiently in macrophages, a cell type that represents an important viral reservoir by harboring the virus over long periods of time (Connor et al., 1995). Despite its small size, HIV-1 Vpr has been shown to have several roles during the viral life cycle. Due to its specific incorporation into the viral particle by interaction with the Pr55Gag-derived p6 protein, Vpr is readily present upon entry of the virus into the cell, which speaks in favor for enrollment during early steps of viral replication (see Figure 1). In this regard, Vpr has been shown to influence the reverse transcription of HIV-1 via the interaction and recruitment of the human uracil DNA glycosylase 2, an enzyme of the DNA repair machinery (Guenzel et al., 2012). A relationship that is not without controversy since different research reports argue whether UNG2 might rather have a negative impact or even no impact on HIV-1 replication (Schrofelbauer et al., 2005; Kaiser and Emerman, 2006; Yang et al., 2007). Furthermore, Vpr also affects the nuclear import of the viral DNA within the pre-integration complex (PIC), the cell cycle progression, the regulation of apoptosis and the transactivation of the HIV-1 LTR as well as host cell genes.

This review will be focused on the Vpr protein of HIV-1 and will give a summary of the multifunctional nature of Vpr during

the viral life cycle in order to integrate previous and more recent studies.

THE STRUCTURE OF Vpr

HIV-1 Vpr is a relatively small protein composed of 96 amino acid residues (Figure 2A) (Checroune et al., 1995; Ramboarina et al., 2004; Kamiyama et al., 2013). The secondary and higher-order structures of Vpr have been investigated by nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR), circular dichroism (CD), and fluorescence spectroscopy (Zhao et al., 1994; Wang et al., 1996; Mahalingam et al., 1997; Kichler et al., 2000; Bruns et al., 2003; Morellet et al., 2003; Kamiyama et al., 2013). According to NMR studies on the fulllength Vpr protein dissolved in acidic aqueous-organic solvents (Figure 2B) (Morellet et al., 2003), the central region of the Vpr polypeptide chain folds into three amphiphilic helices (Sherman et al., 2002; Bruns et al., 2003; Kamiyama et al., 2013). These bundled α-helices span residues 17-33, 38-50, and 55-77 and are flanked by unstructured flexible N- and C-terminal domains that are negatively or positively charged, respectively (Morellet et al., 2003). Four conserved proline residues at position 4, 10, 14, and 35 which are subjected to cis/trans isomerization are found in the N-terminal domain (reviewed in Bruns et al., 2003; Le Rouzic and Benichou, 2005). It was indeed reported that the cellular peptidyl-propyl isomerase cyclophilin A was able to interact with Vpr via prolines (position 14 and 35) for correct folding of the viral protein (Zander et al., 2003). The carboxy-terminal domain of Vpr contains six arginine residues between positions 73 and 96 (see Figure 2A), and this domain shows similarity to those of arginine-rich protein transduction domains. This might potentially explain the transducing properties of Vpr and its ability to cross the cell membrane lipid bilayer (Kichler et al., 2000; Sherman et al., 2002; Coeytaux et al., 2003). Additionally, the third helix of Vpr is rich in leucine residues (Schüler et al., 1999),



functional events in which the Vpr protein is involved are highlighted. Vpr has been shown to play multiple functions during the virus life cycle, including an

cycle progression, regulation of apoptosis, and the transactivation of the HIV-LTR as well as host cell genes.

where one side of the helix presents a stretch of hydrophobic side chains that can form a leucine-zipper like motif (Figure 2). This region was proposed to account for the formation of Vpr oligomers (Wang et al., 1996; Mahalingam et al., 1997; Schüler et al., 1999; Fritz et al., 2008) and for interaction with certain cellular partners (reviewed in Planelles and Benichou, 2009).

Vpr has been shown to exist as dimers, trimers, tetramers and higher order multimers (Zhao et al., 1994), however it is still not completely elucidated how the dimeric or multimeric states of the protein affect the different functions of Vpr. A real-time study using a flow cytometry fluorescence resonance energy transfer has confirmed that Vpr self-associates within live cells (Bolton and Lenardo, 2007). Self-association was dependent on the hydrophobic patch that is located on the third α -helix and mutations in this region did not impair the ability of Vpr to induce G2 arrest, suggesting that oligomerization of Vpr is not absolutely required for the functions of the protein. In addition, mutations in the arginine-rich domain, such as R80A and R87/88A, did not impair self-association but were unable to induce G2 arrest (Bolton and Lenardo, 2007). Therefore, it appears that Vpr does not require oligomerization toward induction of the cell cycle blockage but the exposed hydrophobic amino acids in the amino-terminal helix-1 are important for the cell cycle arrest and cytopathogenic functions of Vpr (Barnitz et al., 2011). A more recent study reports that oligomerization of Vpr is essential for incorporation into virus particles (Venkatachari et al., 2010). Moreover, it has been recently proposed that Vpr may assume an antiparallel helical dimer with the third α -helices of the two subunits facing each other, and the His71 and Trp54 play a crucial role in this dimer formation (Kamiyama et al., 2013).

Vpr IS INCORPORATED INTO VIRUS PARTICLES

Vpr is expressed at a late stage of the virus life cycle, but it is present during the early steps of infection in target cells since it is packaged into virions that were released from the producing cells. The incorporation of Vpr occurs through a direct interaction with the carboxy-terminal p6 region of the gag-encoded Pr55Gag precursor (Bachand et al., 1999; Paillart and Göttlinger, 1999; Selig et al., 1999; Jenkins et al., 2001a,b). The integrity of the α -helices of Vpr is required for efficient packaging into virions (Singh et al., 2000), and a leucine-rich (LR) motif found in the p6 region of the Pr55Gag precursor is directly involved in the interaction with Vpr (Kondo and Göttlinger, 1996; Selig et al., 1999; Jenkins et al., 2001a,b; Fritz et al., 2010). The Pr55Gag p6 region has also been found to be phosphorylated during



HIV-1 infection by atypical protein kinase C (Hemonnot et al., 2004) regulating the incorporation of Vpr into HIV-1 virions and thereby supporting virus infectivity (Kudoh et al., 2014). After assembly and proteolytic cleavage of Pr55Gag in matrix, capsid, nucleocapsid (NCp7), and p6 mature proteins, Vpr is recruited into the conical core of the virus particle (Accola et al., 2000; Welker et al., 2000) where it is tightly associated with the viral RNA (Zhang et al., 1998; De Rocquigny et al., 2000). Interestingly, Vpr displays a higher avidity for NCp7 than for the mature p6 protein (Dong et al., 1997; Selig et al., 1999; Jenkins et al., 2001a,b). Since p6 is excluded from the virion core (Accola et al., 2000; Welker et al., 2000), Vpr could switch from the p6Gag region of the precursor to the mature NCp7 protein in order to gain access to the core of the infectious virus particle budding at the cell surface. In any case, p6 has been reported to show a high affinity for membrane bilayers which substantially increases the interaction between p6 and Vpr (Salgado et al., 2009). It was estimated that Vpr is efficiently incorporated in HIV-1 virions with a Vpr/Pr55Gag ratio of ~1:7 (Knight et al., 1987; Cohen et al., 1990; Welker et al., 2000), which may represent 275 molecules of Vpr per virion. More recently it has been shown that the HIV-1 Pr55Gag precursor induces the recruitment of Vpr oligomers to the plasma membrane (Fritz et al., 2010). Vpr oligomerization has been found to be essential for binding of Vpr to Pr55Gag and for its accumulation at the plasma membrane early during Pr55Gag assembly, but the exact role of these oligomers is not certain yet (Fritz et al., 2010).

The incorporation of Vpr has also been used as a unique tool to target cargoes such as cellular and viral proteins or drugs into viral particles (Wu et al., 1995; Yao et al., 1999; Fritz et al., 2010). This property found extensive use in studies that evaluated the respective functions of integrase (IN) and reverse transcriptase (RT) during virus replication by expressing Vpr-IN and Vpr-RT fusions in *trans* in virus-producing cells (Wu et al., 1997, 1999; Liu et al., 1999). Furthermore, Vpr fused to the green fluorescence protein (GFP) has been used to tag HIV particles in order to follow intracellular virus behavior during the early intracellular steps of infection in target cells (Loeb et al., 2002; Steffens and Hope, 2003; Fritz et al., 2010).

Vpr AND THE CELL CYCLE

Among the range of functions of the Vpr protein, the Vpr-dependent G2 arrest activity was extensively explored since it was described for the first time in 1995 (He et al., 1995; Jowett et al., 1995; Re et al., 1995; Rogel et al., 1995). The Vpr protein encapsided into HIV-1 virions is able to block proliferation of newly infected T lymphocytes. Following infection, these cells accumulate at the G2-M phase and show a 4N DNA content. The first studies proposed that the presence of Vpr leads to the accumulation of the hyperphosphorylated form of the cyclindependent kinase CDC2 (the complex p34 cdc2/cyclin B). This inactive form of the complex would be able to block the cell cycle before the mitosis.

This cytostatic function of Vpr is well conserved among primate lentiviruses (Planelles et al., 1996; Stivahtis et al., 1997), and could be a strategy used by HIV and SIV to improve viral replication and protein expression, and even to reactivate the virus through an epigenetic control of the LTR promoter (Yao et al., 1998; Thierry et al., 2004). The biological significance of this cell cycle arrest during the natural infection is not well understood, but the HIV-1 LTR seems to be more active in the G2 phase, implying that the G2 arrest may confer a favorable cellular environment for efficient transcription of HIV-1 (Goh et al., 1998). In agreement, the Vpr-induced G2 arrest correlates with high level of viral replication in primary human T cells. Overexpression of dominant negative mutant of the p34 cdc2 kinase shows that Vpr-induced G2 arrest correlates with HIV-1 activation (Goh et al., 1998). Vpr might also be involved in virus activation through other interactions such as the formation of a complex with p53 and the transcription factors Sp1 (Wang et al., 1995; Sawaya et al., 1998). This complex could lead to the activation of the p21/WAF promoter resulting in the transactivation of the viral LTR (Cui et al., 2006). Using a human hematopoietic stem cell-transplanted humanized mouse model, it was recently shown that Vpr causes G2 cell cycle arrest and apoptosis predominantly in proliferating CCR5+ CD4+ T cells, which mainly consist of regulatory CD4+ T cells (Tregs), resulting in Treg depletion and enhanced virus production during acute infection in vivo (Sato et al., 2013). In addition, recent results just published by Laguette et al. (2014) show that the interaction of Vpr with the structurespecific endonuclease (SSE) regulator SLX4 complex (SLX4com) is crucial for the G2-arrest activity but also for escape of HIV-1 from innate immune sensing in infected cells.

Some studies try to correlate the Vpr structure with cell cycle regulation. Historically, this function of Vpr was associated with the helix-3 and the flexible C-terminal part of the protein (Marzio et al., 1995; Mahalingam et al., 1997; Chen et al., 1999). Some key phosphorylations of the C-terminus part have also been associated with the G2 arrest, such as phosphorylation of the Ser79 residue (see **Figure 2A**) (Zhou and Ratner, 2000). Vpr is mainly localized in the nucleus and at the nuclear envelope where previous reports indicated it could induce herniations and burstings of the nuclear membrane and even defects in the nuclear lamina (de Noronha et al., 2001; Sörgel et al., 2012). These morphological modifications could impact several nuclear factors and redistribute a large range of proteins from the nucleus to the cytoplasm leading to alteration of the cell cycle. Indeed, the cyclins

involved in the cell cycle regulation are closely regulated and their spatio-temporal distribution is primordial for the continuity of the cell cycle. More recently, interactions between Vpr and chromatin have been reported (Belzile et al., 2010; Shimura et al., 2011). Vpr can cause epigenetic disruption of heterochromatin by inducing the displacement of heterochromatin protein $1-\alpha$ $(HP1-\alpha)$ through acetylation of the histone H3 and causes premature chromatids separation and consequently G2 arrest (Shimura et al., 2011). The interaction between Vpr and the chromatin should target and activate the ataxia telangiectasia mutated and Rad3-related kinases ATM/ATR, two of the main sensors of the cell cycle (Koundrioukoff et al., 2004). The link between ATR and the Vpr-dependent G2 arrest was initially reported by Roshal et al. (Roshal et al., 2003) (for review on ATR pathway, see Sørensen and Syljuåsen, 2012). The ATR and ATM proteins control the G2 arrest provoked by DNA damage but it is controversial if Vpr really causes DNA damage or just mimics this damage and activates some sensors involved in this process (Cliby et al., 2002). It was reported that the inhibition of ATR abrogates the Vprdependent G2 arrest. Following ATR activation by Vpr, Chk1 is activated through phosphorylation and required for the G2 arrest (Li et al., 2010). Clearly, Vpr acts on the cell cycle by a cascade of reversible phosphorylations. The expression of Vpr correlates with inactivation of the p34/cdc2 CDK1 kinase associated with cyclin B. Cdc2 is normally activated by the cdc5 phosphatase which is inactive in its hypophosphorylated form in Vpr-expressing cells (He et al., 1995; Re et al., 1995), whereas Weel inhibits the cdc2 kinases (Sørensen and Syljuåsen, 2012). Vpr seems to be able to directly activate the Weel protein by binding to its "N" lobe but this interaction is not sufficient for induction of the G2 arrest (Kamata et al., 2008). However, other key regulators of the cell cycle interacting with Vpr could be members of the 14-3-3 protein family (Kino et al., 2005) which bind phosphorylated serine/threonine proteins such as the cell cycle regulators Wee1, Cdc25, and Chk1. Consequently, 14-3-3 could regulate activities and distribution of these proteins (Lopez-Girona et al., 1999; Hermeking and Benzinger, 2006). These authors revealed that overexpression of 14-3-3 leads to an increase of the cell cycle arrest in the presence of Vpr while the absence of this scaffolding protein reduces the Vpr-induced activity. Another study revealed how Vpr disrupts 14-3-30 from centrosome and increases its association with the importin β, Cyclin B1, and Cdk1 (Bolton et al., 2008).

Today, almost all the new studies about the Vpr-induced G2 arrest try to identify the potential target of Vpr degraded by the proteasome machinery. Indeed, several groups clearly showed that Vpr connects the DCAF1 adaptor of the Cul4A ubiquitin ligase to a so far unidentified host target protein linked to the G2 arrest (Belzile et al., 2007; DeHart et al., 2007; Le Rouzic et al., 2007; Schrofelbauer et al., 2007). First, the interactions between Vpr and cullins 1 and 4 (Cul1, Cul4), belonging to the ubiquitin ligase complex, were reported (Schrofelbauer et al., 2007). Then, the Vpr-binding protein (VprBP) was described as a substrate specificity module in Cul4 and DDB1 (damaged-DNA specific binding protein 1)-based ubiquitine ligase E3 complexes (Angers et al., 2006; He et al., 2006; Higa et al., 2006a; Jin et al., 2006). Furthermore, other teams described a

larger complex where Vpr was associated with Cul4A, DDB1, Rbx2/Roc1 and an ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme or E2. At the same time VprBP was renamed DDB1-and Cul4-associated factor (DCAF)-1 (Belzile et al., 2007; DeHart et al., 2007; Hrecka et al., 2007; Le Rouzic et al., 2007; Schrofelbauer et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2007; Wen et al., 2007). The Cul4-DDB1-E3 ligase complex can bind several DCAFs and seems involved in the maintenance and control of the genome stability, DNA replication and cell cycle check point control (Sugasawa et al., 2005; Higa et al., 2006b; Wang et al., 2006). From these studies, a model where Vpr binds the Cul4-DDB1-DCAF1 E3 ligase to trigger the degradation of a putative protein responsible for the G2 arrest has emerged (Dehart and Planelles, 2008). In this model, Vpr uses two distinct interfaces for binding, one for the attachment to VprBP/DCAF1 and the other for the putative substrate protein. Vpr binds DCAF1 through the LR motif found between amino acids 60 and 68 while the C-terminal basic flexible region binds to the substrate to be ubiquitinylated and degraded and responsible for G2 arrest (Zhao et al., 1994; DeHart et al., 2007; Le Rouzic et al., 2007). Recently, Belzile et al. (2010) proposed that Vpr is present in the nucleus and more specifically inside nuclear foci where it is associated with VprBP and the DDB1-CUL4A-E3 ubiquitine ligase. These foci colocalize with DNA repair foci containing proteins such as yH2AX and RPA2. This association may lead to the recruitment and the degradation of a chromatin-bound substrate via a K48-linked polyubiquitinylation (Belzile et al., 2010) which activates the key protein ATR and the G2 arrest. Finally, a new essential actor of the Vpr-dependent G2 arrest, the SSE regulator SLX4com has been recently identified by proteomic analysis (Laguette et al., 2014). Vpr activates SLX4com through direct interaction with SLX4 leading to the recruitment of VprBP and the kinase-active PLK1. This association would lead to the cleavage of DNA by SLX4-associated MUS81-EME1 endonucleases. Vpr activation of premature MUS81-EME1 induces accumulation of FANCD2 foci and consequently DNA intermediates cleavage and replication stress.

Vpr AND APOPTOSIS

Acute phase of AIDS is characterized by a net decrease of CD4+ T cells, and the hallmark of the chronic phase is a gradual decrease of the peripheral CD4+ T cells. While the virus mainly targets lymphocytes and macrophages, no depletion of macrophages has been reported and these terminally-differentiated cells may rather serve as virus reservoirs. The reason why infected macrophages were not susceptible to apoptosis has been recently explored. Using macrophage-like cells derived from differentiated THP1 CD4+ myeloid cells, a recent report showed that Vpr is not able to downregulate the anti-apoptotic protein cIAP1/2 (Busca et al., 2012). However, Mishra et al. (2007) previously revealed the possibility that the C-terminal part of Vpr could induce apoptosis in monocytes via a JNK-dependant pathway.

Although different HIV-1-induced pathways for apoptosis induction have been described, Vpr appears as one of the main actors of the cell death observed during HIV-1 infection. However, it is still controversial how Vpr induces apoptosis and/or necrosis. Moreover, uninfected bystander T cells can be also targeted by Vpr, since Vpr can get access to the extracellular compartment like a soluble protein (Reiss et al., 1990; Cummins and Badley, 2010; Abbas, 2013). A previous model for Vpr-induced apoptosis proposed that Vpr would be able to bind the WxxF motif of the transmembrane adenine nucleotide transporter (ANT) protein exposed in the inner membrane of mitochondria. Jacotot et al. (2000, 2001) were the first to detect this interaction and found that Vpr could also bind to another member of the permeability transition pore complex (PTPC), the voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC). This team showed the capacity of a synthetic Vpr polypeptide to trigger permeabilization of the mitochondrial membrane resulting in the collapse of the mitochondrial transmembrane potential. Following permeabilization of both inner and outer mitochondrial membranes (Ghiotto et al., 2010), the release of pro-apoptotic proteins like the cytochrome c forms the apoptosome with the caspase 9 and Apaf-1 and allows recruitment of caspase 3. Bax, another pore forming complex protein should also be involved in the Vpr-induced cell death since a conformational change and activation of Bax was detected in apoptotic cells expressing Vpr (Andersen et al., 2006). In this study, the authors characterized cell death in mice, and described that ANT may promote a necrotic cell death rather than apoptosis.

It was indeed discussed whether the Vpr-induced G2 arrest was linked to the observed apoptosis in Vpr expressing cells. Earlier, some studies concluded that Vpr-induced apoptosis was independent of the G2 arrest activity (Nishizawa et al., 2000a,b) showing that a C-terminal truncated form of Vpr still induced apoptosis but did not induce G2 arrest. However, others and more recent studies found a correlation between both Vpr activities and suggested that apoptosis was a consequence of the prolonged G2 arrest (Andersen et al., 2006). According to Stewart and colleagues, apoptosis would happen in cells after the G2 arrest as a consequence of the blockage, and this was observed in human fibroblasts, T cell lines, as well as primary peripheral blood lymphocytes (Stewart et al., 1997, 1999). Accordingly, Zhu et al. (2001) showed that treating cells with caffeine, an inhibitor of both ATM and ATR, which are key proteins involved in cell cycle control, abrogated both G2 arrest and apoptosis. Trying to understand this ATR-dependent mechanism, subsequent studies from the same team described an activation of the DNA repair enzyme BRCA1 leading to the regulation of the growth arrest and DNA damage protein 45α (GADD 45α) involved in the cell death process (Zimmerman et al., 2004; Andersen et al., 2005). Moreover, some cell cycle regulators such as Wee1 and Chk1 could also be involved in the Vpr-dependent apoptosis pathway. The Vprdependent phosphorylation of Chk1, an event that begins during S phase of the cell cycle, could also trigger apoptosis (Li et al., 2010).

Furthermore, it was reported that Vpr may impact the immune system homeostasis by stimulating the secretion of TNF- α by dendritic cells, resulting in apoptosis of CD8+ T cells (Majumder et al., 2007). Vpr could also increase expression of the NKG2D stress ligand in CD4+ T cells promoting their destruction by the Natural Killer (NK) cells (Ward et al., 2009; Richard et al., 2010). According to Ward et al. (2009), this mechanism causes a link between the G2 arrest and the apoptosis since

they showed NKG2D expression is dependent of ATR activation by Vpr.

Finally, some studies revealed that 40–50% of HIV-1 seropositive patients have neurocognitive disorders (Ances and Ellis, 2007; Jones et al., 2007; Harezlak et al., 2011), and different theories have been proposed to explain these neurological disorders. Among the Vpr effects, some hypothesized that extracellular Vpr might be able to enter into neurons (Rom et al., 2009) where it can cause apoptosis. Jones et al. (2007) tested the effect of soluble Vpr in neurons and detected apoptosis involving cytochrome c release, p53 induction, and activation of caspase-9. This study also suggested that Vpr triggers the release of the inflammatory IL-6 cytokine by astrocytes which could affect neuron survival. More recently, it was shown that Vpr could also act on the glycolytic pathway of astrocytes leading to secretion of stress molecules (Ferrucci et al., 2013).

Vpr AND THE REVERSE TRANSCRIPTION

After virus entry, the viral core is released into the cytoplasm of the target cell where the reverse transcription of the viral RNA takes place within a large nucleoprotein complex (Farnet and Haseltine, 1991; Bukrinsky et al., 1993; Miller et al., 1997; Fassati and Goff, 2001; Nermut and Fassati, 2003; Lyonnais et al., 2013). This reverse transcription complex (RTC) contains the two copies of viral RNA and the viral RT, IN, NCp7, Vpr and a few molecules of the matrix protein. It is generally believed that the reverse transcription process is initiated in virus particles and then completed in the cytoplasm after the virus has entered into the target cell (Figure 1). The reverse transcription process is likely to take place in parallel during both virus uncoating and trafficking through the cytoplasm (for reviews, see Goff, 2001; and Pomerantz, 2000). Several studies confirmed that Vpr co-localizes with the viral nucleic acids and IN within purified HIV-1 RTCs (Fassati et al., 2003; Nermut and Fassati, 2003; Steffens and Hope, 2003), and remains associated with the viral DNA within 4-16 h after infection (Fassati and Goff, 2001). Interestingly, Vpr has recently been reported to be essential for unintegrated HIV-1 gene expression and *de-novo* virus production in a virus replication pathway utilizing RT DNA products that failed to integrate (Poon and Chen, 2003; Trinité et al., 2013).

In addition to a potential role in the initiation step of the reverse transcription process (Stark and Hay, 1998), it has been shown that Vpr modulated the in vivo mutation rate of HIV-1 by influencing the accuracy of the reverse transcription. The HIV-1 RT is an error-prone RNA-dependent DNA polymerase, and quantification of the in vivo rate of forward virus mutations per replication cycle revealed that the mutation rate was 4-fold higher in the absence of Vpr expression when measured in dividing cells using a genetically engineered system (Mansky and Yemin, 1995; Mansky, 1996). Furthermore, analysis in nondividing cells showed that this phenotype is even more pronounced in primary monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) leading to a 16-fold increase of the HIV-1 mutation frequency (Chen et al., 2004). Strikingly, this activity correlates with the interaction of Vpr with the nuclear form of uracil DNA glycosylase (UNG2) (Mansky et al., 2000), an enzyme of the base excision repair system that specifically removes the RNA base uracil from

DNA. The inclusion of uracil in DNA can occur either by misincorporation of dUTP or by cytosine deamination. While the Trp residue in position 54 located in the exposed loop connecting the second and the third α -helix of HIV-1 Vpr has been shown to be critical to maintain the interaction with UNG2, the Vprbinding site was mapped within the C-terminal part of UNG2, and occurs through a WxxF motif. So far, three distinct cellular partners of Vpr were known to contain a WxxF motif: the TFIIB transcription factor, the adenosine-nucleotide translocator (ANT) and UNG2 (as reviewed in Planelles and Benichou, 2009). However, the WxxF motif is not sufficient for Vpr binding, since other cellular Vpr-interacting proteins, such as DCAF1 or DICER for example, still bind to Vpr independently of the presence of a WxxF motif within their primary sequence (Belzile et al., 2007; DeHart et al., 2007; Le Rouzic et al., 2007; Schrofelbauer et al., 2007; Casey Klockow et al., 2013).

Some authors suggested that the association of Vpr with UNG2 in virus-producing cells allows the incorporation of a catalytically active enzyme into HIV-1 particles where UNG2 may directly influence the reverse transcription accuracy (Mansky et al., 2000; Chen et al., 2004), and this plays a specific role in the modulation of the virus mutation rate. The model supporting the direct contribution of incorporated UNG2 in the reverse transcription process was demonstrated by using an experimental system in which UNG2 was recruited into virions independently of Vpr. UNG2 was expressed as a chimeric protein fused to the C-terminal extremity of the VprW54R mutant, a Vpr variant that fails to recruit UNG2 into virions and to influence the virus mutation rate, even though it is incorporated as efficiently as the wild-type Vpr protein. The VprW54R-UNG2 fusion is also efficiently packaged into HIV-1 virions and can restore a mutation rate equivalent to that observed with wild-type Vpr, both in actively dividing cells and in MDMs. In agreement with this phenotype on the virus mutation frequency, it was finally documented that the Vpr-mediated incorporation of UNG2 into virus particles contributed to the ability of HIV-1 to replicate in primary macrophages. When the VprW54R variant was introduced into an infectious HIV-1 molecular clone, virus replication in macrophages was both reduced and delayed. Although it was proposed that the viral integrase was also able to mediate interaction with UNG2 (Priet et al., 2003), Vpr seems to be the main viral determinant that allows for the incorporation of UNG2 into virus particles. However, further analyses are required to document the nature of interactions between UNG2, Vpr, IN as well as RT both in virus-producing cells and in target cells.

Other studies also confirmed that UNG2 was efficiently recruited into virus particles (Priet et al., 2005; Kaiser and Emerman, 2006; Yang et al., 2007; Jones et al., 2010), indicating that this recruitment might influence the accuracy of the reverse transcription process and has a positive influence on viral replication (Chen et al., 2004; Priet et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2010). Interestingly, it has been recently reported that HIV-1 DNA generated in infected macrophages and CD4-positive T cells is heavily uracilated (Yan et al., 2011). However, the specific role of UNG2 incorporation into virions was challenged by other studies (Schrofelbauer et al., 2005; Kaiser and Emerman, 2006; Yang et al., 2007). While the specificity of the interaction

between Vpr and UNG2 was not questioned, these studies suggested a detrimental (Schrofelbauer et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007; Eldin et al., 2013) or dispensable (Kaiser and Emerman, 2006) effect of UNG2 on virus replication. In the model suggesting a detrimental effect on UNG2 on virus replication, Vpr was shown to induce the proteasomal degradation of UNG2 in virus-producing cells in order to prevent its recruitment into virus particles (Schrofelbauer et al., 2005, 2007; Eldin et al., 2013). It has also been reported that the Vpr-UNG2 interaction temporarily impairs the uracil excision activity of UNG2 in infected cells (Eldin et al., 2013). However, other data have indicated that the Vpr-induced reduction of endogenous UNG2 observed in HIV-1 infected cells was not solely related to proteasomal degradation (Langevin et al., 2009; Nekorchuk et al., 2013) and that UNG2 might not be responsible for the degradation of HIV-1 DNA containing misincorporated dUTP which prevents viral integration (Weil et al., 2013). More recently, it has been argued that incorporation of UNG2 into HIV-1 particles may not be detrimental for virus infection in target cells but rather has a positive impact on virus replication and virus infectivity achieved through a non-enzymatic mechanism mapping within a 60-amino-acid long domain located in the N-terminal region of UNG2 (Guenzel et al., 2012). Interestingly, this domain is also required for interaction of UNG2 with the p32 subunit (RPA2) of the replication protein A complex (Nagelhus et al., 1997; Otterlei et al., 1999; Mer et al., 2000; De Silva and Moss, 2008). It was observed that enforced virion recruitment of UNG2, through UNG2 overexpression in virus producing cells, similarly influenced infectivity of X4 and R5 HIV-1 strains in transformed cell lines and MDMs, respectively (Guenzel et al., 2012), which stands in contrast to another report suggesting that UNG2 was exclusively required for efficient infection of primary cells by R5-tropic viruses (Jones et al., 2010). Strikingly, viruses produced from cells depleted of endogenous UNG2 and RPA2 resulted in significantly reduced infectivity and replication, the latter evidenced by a reduced amount of viral transcripts measured during the reverse transcription process (Guenzel et al., 2012). These new intriguing findings are not yet completely understood and further investigations are needed to clarify the mechanism.

HIV-1 and other lentiviruses are unusual among retroviruses in their ability to infect resting or terminally differentiated cells. While Vpr has been shown to facilitate the nuclear import of viral DNA in non-dividing cells (see below), the virion incorporation of UNG2 via Vpr may also contribute to the ability of HIV-1 to replicate in primary macrophages. This implies that UNG2 is a cellular factor that plays an important role in the early steps of the HIV-1 replication cycle (i.e., viral DNA synthesis). This observation is in agreement with a report showing that the misincorporation of uracil into minus strand viral DNA affects the initiation of the plus strand DNA synthesis in vitro (Klarmann et al., 2003). This observation suggests that UNG2 is likely to be recruited into HIV-1 particles to subsequently minimize the detrimental accumulation of uracil into the newly synthesized proviral DNA. While further works are needed to explain the precise mechanism for how the UNG2 catalytic activity may specifically influence HIV-1 replication in

macrophages, it is worth noting that non-dividing cells express low levels of UNG and contain relatively high levels of dUTP (Chen et al., 2002). Similarly, most non-primate lentiviruses, such as feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV), caprine-arthritisencephalitis virus (CAEV) and equine infectious anemia virus (EIAV), have also developed an efficient strategy to reduce accumulation of uracil into viral DNA. These lentiviruses encode and package a viral-encoded dUTP pyropshophatase (dUT-Pase) into virus particles, an enzyme that hydrolyzed dUTP to dUMP, and thus maintains a low level of dUTP. Interestingly, replication of FIV, CAEV, or EIAV that lack functional dUT-Pase activity is severely affected in non-dividing host cells (e.g., primary macrophages). Taken together, these results indicate that uracil misincorporation in viral DNA strands during reverse transcription is deleterious for the ongoing steps of the virus life cycle. The presence of a viral dUTPase or a cellular UNG will prevent these detrimental effects for replication of non-primate and primate lentiviruses in macrophages, respectively.

Finally, it is intriguing to note that two viral auxiliary proteins from HIV-1, Vpr and Vif, can both influence the fidelity of viral DNA synthesis. The Vif protein forms a complex with the cellular deaminase APOBEC3G thereby preventing its encapsidation into virions (Sheehy et al., 2002; Lecossier et al., 2003; Mangeat et al., 2003; Mariani et al., 2003; Stopak et al., 2003), while Vpr binds the DNA repair enzyme UNG2. In this context it was suggested that incorporation of UNG2 into viral particles would have a detrimental effect on reverse transcription by introducing a basic sites into viral DNA in regards to uracil residues resulting from cytosine deamination by the cytidine deaminase APOBEC3G (Schrofelbauer et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2007). While the specific role of UNG2 in the antiviral activity of APOBEC3G was not directly questioned (Schrofelbauer et al., 2005), others reported data indicating that the antiviral activity of overexpressed APOBEC3G was partially affected when viruses were produced in UNG2-depleted 293T cells (Yang et al., 2007). However, these data are in apparent contradiction with results from other reports in which viruses were produced in UNG2-depleted cells which expressed or did not express APOBEC3G (Priet et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2010; Guenzel et al., 2012), but also from reports showing that APOBEC3G-mediated restriction of HIV-1 was independent of UNG2 (Kaiser and Emerman, 2006; Langlois and Neuberger, 2008). More recently, and in favor for a correlative positive impact of UNG2, it has been shown that the detrimental hypermutation of Hepatitis B virus DNA induced by either APOBEC3G or interferon treatment was enhanced in a human hepatocyte cell lines when UNG2 activity was inhibited (Kitamura et al., 2013; Liang et al., 2013). Additional investigations are thus required to further understand this apparent contradiction regarding the role of UNG2 for the antiviral activity of APOBEC restriction factors. However, it is tempting to speculate that the action of both viral proteins may influence the mutation rate during the course of HIV-1 infection, and their balance may play a key role during disease progression and antiretroviral treatment susceptibility in infected individuals (Fourati et al., 2010, 2012).

Vpr AND THE VIRAL DNA NUCLEAR IMPORT

Like other retroviruses, HIV-1 has the capacity to infect and integrate its genomic DNA into dividing cells like T lymphocytes, but lentiviruses are also remarkable by their capacity to infect nondividing cells, in contrast to onco-retroviruses which need the disintegration of the nuclear envelope to allow access of their genome for integration in the host genome (Greber and Fassati, 2003). Indeed, HIV-1 can infect terminally-differentiated macrophages and produces new virions after integration of its DNA into the cell genome. The Vpr protein has been described as a potential enhancer of HIV-1 replication especially in macrophages whereas it does not impact on virus replication in proliferating T cells (Balliet et al., 1994; Connor et al., 1995; Eckstein et al., 2001). In macrophages, the viral DNA needs to be transported into the interphasic nucleus by an active mechanism (Vodicka et al., 1998). After virus entry into the cell, the viral genome is reversetranscribed in full length viral double-strand DNA which is associated with viral and host cell proteins into the so-called PIC. Among the protein components of the PIC, four viral proteins have been detected (e.g., the reverse-transcriptase and integrase enzymes, the matrix protein and Vpr) (Heinzinger et al., 1994; Jenkins et al., 1998; Eckstein et al., 2001; Le Rouzic et al., 2002; Schang, 2003; Suzuki et al., 2009).

Despite the absence of a basic canonical or a M9-dependant nuclear localization signal (NLS) in the protein sequence, Vpr shows evident karyophilic properties (Gallay et al., 1996; Jenkins et al., 1998; Depienne et al., 2000). Finally, Vpr seems to use a non-classical pathway to be transferred in the nucleus through direct binding to importin-a (Gallay et al., 1996; Nitahara-Kasahara et al., 2007). However, it was largely shown that Vpr is able to shuttle between the cytoplasm and the nuclear compartments and could play a potential role in transport of the viral DNA (Jenkins et al., 2001a,b; Sherman et al., 2001, 2003; Le Rouzic et al., 2002). By using a photobleaching strategy on living cells, Le Rouzic and colleagues revealed that Vpr-GFP has shuttling properties (Le Rouzic et al., 2002). This activity was linked to the distal LR region, a classical nuclear export signal (NES) recognized by the CRM1-dependent pathway (Sherman et al., 2001, 2003). This NES could be involved in the release of Vpr back into the cytoplasm, making it available for virion packaging through interaction with the Pr55Gag precursor (Jenkins et al., 2001a,b).

The role of Vpr within the PIC has been studied in living cells through tracking of a GFP-tagged form of Vpr (McDonald et al., 2002). These authors evidenced a tight association between the PIC and the cytoplasmic microtubules, targeting the viral DNA toward the nucleus. The PIC moves along the cytoskeletal microtubule filaments using the dynein/dynactin complex as a motor, leading to its accumulation in the perinuclear region close to the centrosome. So far, it is not known if Vpr plays an active role in the intracytoplasmic transport of the PIC; it may be only associated with the complex and play a role later for nuclear membrane anchoring and translocation of the viral DNA into the nucleus (for review, Le Rouzic and Benichou, 2005).

The nuclear envelope contains two concentric membranes with nuclear pore complexes (NPC) consisting of aqueous channels which allow for selective transport between the cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments. The NPC corresponds to a 125 MDa structure consisting of 30 distinct nuclear pore proteins, named nucleoporins (Nups) (Cronshaw et al., 2002). Most of these Nups have filamentous structures containing FG or FxFG motif repeats emanating from both sides of the NPC and able to dock transport factors (Rout and Aitchison, 2001). It was initially reported that Vpr was able to recognize these FG motifs in Nups such as p54 and p58 leading to the docking of Vpr to the nuclear membrane (Fouchier et al., 1998; Popov et al., 1998). Another interaction with the human CG1 (hCG1) nucleoporin has been described by Le Rouzic et al. (2002). However, Vpr associated with the N-terminal region of hCG1 while the FG repeats of this Nup were located in the C-terminal part of the protein. This interaction results in Vpr accumulation at the nuclear envelope, which is believed to be involved in active nuclear import of the PIC in non-dividing cells, such as macrophages (Jacquot et al., 2007). Through these interactions with components of NPC, Vpr may be responsible for the first step of viral DNA import by targeting the PIC to the nuclear pore complex while other components of the PIC could trigger the next step of the nuclear translocation. As mentioned above, it was also reported that Vpr can induce herniations and the dissociation of lamina and nuclear envelope which provoke a blend of nuclear and cytoplasmic proteins (de Noronha et al., 2001). The exact mechanism inducing these membrane perturbations is not understood, but some authors hypothesize that the interaction of Vpr with the NPC proteins could impact nuclear membrane stability. Consequently it may also facilitate the entry of the PIC through a non-conventional pathway (Segura-Totten and Wilson, 2001).

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Like other HIV-1 auxiliary proteins, Vpr is a small but multifunctional protein which is potentially able to interact with plenty of cellular partners. During the last two decades, several groups looked for such partners but the importance of such interactions often needs to be better documented to support their real impact on HIV-1 propagation, immune and antiretroviral treatment evasion and disease progression. While major efforts have been made during the last years to better define the molecular mechanisms and cellular targets of Vpr, additional works are needed for the complete understanding of its wide range of activities in key processes during the early steps of the viral life cycle (i.e., reverse transcription, intra-cytoplasmic routing and nuclear import of the viral DNA). However, precise characterization of Vpr interactions leading to the proteasomal degradation of some host cell factors is certainly the main challenge for a better understanding of the Vpr contribution to the overall pathogenesis of HIV-1 infection.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, W. (2013). T-Cell Signaling in HIV-1 Infection. Open Virol. J. 7, 57–71. doi: 10.2174/1874357920130621001
- Accola, M. A., Ohagen, A., and Göttlinger, H. G. (2000). Isolation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cores: retention of vpr in the absence of P6(gag). *J. Virol.* 74, 6198–6202. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.13.6198-6202.2000
- Ances, B. M., and Ellis, R. J. (2007). Dementia and neurocognitive disorders due to HIV-1 infection. Semin. Neurol. 27, 86–92. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-956759
- Andersen, J. L., DeHart, J. L., Zimmerman, E. S., Ardon, O., Kim, B., Jacquot, G., et al. (2006). HIV-1 Vpr-induced apoptosis is cell cycle dependent and requires Bax but not ANT. *PLoS Pathog*, 2:e127. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020127

- Andersen, J. L., Zimmerman, E. S., DeHart, J. L., Murala, S., Ardon, O., Blackett, J., et al. (2005). ATR and GADD45alpha mediate HIV-1 Vprinduced apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*. 12, 326–334. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.44 01565
- Angers, S., Li, T., Yi, X., MacCoss, M. J., Moon, R. T., and Zheng, N. (2006). Molecular architecture and assembly of the DDB1-CUL4A ubiquitin ligase machinery. *Nature* 443, 590–593. doi: 10.1038/nature 05175
- Bachand, F., Yao, X. J., Hrimech, M., Rougeau, N., and Cohen, E. A. (1999). Incorporation of Vpr into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 requires a direct interaction with the P6 domain of the P55 gag precursor. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 9083–9091. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.13.9083
- Balliet, J. W., Kolson, D. L., Eiger, G., Kim, F. M., McGann, K. A., Srinivasan, A., et al. (1994) Distinct effects in primary macrophages and lymphocytes of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 accessory genes vpr, vpu, and nef: mutational analysis of a primary HIV-1 isolate. *Virology* 200, 623–631. doi: 10.1006/viro.1994.1225
- Barnitz, R. A., Chaigne-Delalande, B., Bolton, D. L., and Lenardo, M. J. (2011). Exposed Hydrophobic residues in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr Helix-1 are important for cell cycle arrest and cell death. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24924. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024924
- Belzile, J.-P., Duisit, G., Rougeau, N., Mercier, J., Finzi, A., and Cohen, E. A. (2007). HIV-1 Vpr-mediated G2 arrest involves the DDB1-CUL4AVPRBP E3 ubiquitin ligase. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e85. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030085
- Belzile, J.-P., Richard, J., Rougeau, N., Xiao, Y., and Cohen, E. A. (2010). HIV-1 Vpr induces the K48-linked polyubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of target cellular proteins to activate ATR and promote G2 arrest. J. Virol. 84, 3320–3330. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02590-09
- Bolton, D. L., Barnitz, R. A., Sakai, K., and Lenardo, M. J. (2008). 14-3-3 theta binding to cell cycle regulatory factors is enhanced by HIV-1 Vpr. *Biol. Direct* 3, 17. doi: 10.1186/1745-6150-3-17
- Bolton, D. L., and Lenardo, M. J. (2007). Vpr cytopathicity independent of G2/M cell cycle arrest in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected CD4+ T Cells. J. Virol. 81, 8878–8890. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00122-07
- Bruns, K., Fossen, T., Wray, V., Henklein, P., Tessmer, U., and Schubert, U. (2003). Structural characterization of the HIV-1 Vpr N terminus: evidence of Cis/trans-proline Isomerism. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 43188–43201. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M305413200
- Bukrinsky, M. I., Sharova, N., McDonald, T. L., Pushkarskaya, T., Tarpley, W. G., and Stevenson, M. (1993). Association of integrase, matrix, and reverse transcriptase antigens of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with viral nucleic acids following acute infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 6125–6129. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.13.6125
- Busca, A., Saxena, M., and Kumar, A. (2012). Critical role for antiapoptotic BclxL and Mcl-1 in human macrophage survival and cellular IAP1/2 (cIAP1/2) in resistance to HIV-Vpr-induced apoptosis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 15118–15133. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.312660
- Casey Klockow, L., Sharifi, H. J., Wen, X., Flagg, M., Furuya, A. K., Nekorchuk, M., et al. (2013) The HIV-1 protein Vpr targets the endoribonuclease Dicer for proteasomal degradation to boost macrophage infection. *Virology* 444, 191–202. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.06.010
- Checroune, F., Yao, X. J., Göttlinger, H. G., Bergeron, D., and Cohen, E. A. (1995) Incorporation of Vpr into human immunodeficiency virus type 1: role of conserved regions within the P6 domain of Pr55gag. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirol. 10, 1–7. doi: 10.1097/00042560-199509000-00001
- Chen, M., Elder, R. T., Yu, M., O'Gorman, M. G., Selig, L., Benarous, R., et al. (1999). Mutational analysis of Vpr-induced G2Arrest, nuclear localization, and cell death in fission yeast. *J. Virol.* 73, 3236–3245.
- Chen, R., Le Rouzic, E., Kearney, J. A., Mansky, L. M., and Benichou, S. (2004). Vprmediated incorporation of UNG2 into HIV-1 particles is required to modulate the virus mutation rate and for replication in macrophages. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 28419–28425. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M403875200
- Chen, R., Wang, H., and Mansky, L. M. (2002). Roles of uracil-DNA glycosylase and dUTPase in virus replication. J. Gen. Virol. 83, 2339–2345.
- Cliby, W. A., Lewis, K. A., Lilly, K. K., and Kaufmann, S. H. (2002). S Phase and G2 Arrests induced by topoisomerase i poisons are dependent on ATR kinase function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 1599–1606. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M106287200
- Coeytaux, E., Coulaud, D., Le Cam, E., Danos, O., and Kichler, A. (2003). The cationic amphipathic alpha-helix of HIV-1 viral protein R (Vpr) binds to

nucleic acids, permeabilizes membranes, and efficiently transfects cells. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 18110–18116. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M300248200

- Cohen, E. A., Dehni, G., Sodroski, J. G., and Haseltine, W. A. (1990). Human immunodeficiency virus Vpr product is a virion-associated regulatory protein. *J. Virol.* 64, 3097–3099.
- Connor, R. I., Chen, B. K., Choe, S., and Landau, N. R. (1995). Vpr is required for efficient replication of human immunodeficiency virus Type-1 in mononuclear phagocytes. *Virology* 206, 935–944. doi: 10.1006/viro.1995.1016
- Cronshaw, J. M., Krutchinsky, A. N., Zhang, W., Chait, B. T., and Matunis, M. J. (2002). Proteomic analysis of the mammalian nuclear pore complex. J. Cell Biol. 158, 915–927. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200206106
- Cui, J., Tungaturthi, P. K., Ayyavoo, V., Ghafouri, M., Ariga, H., Khalili, K., et al. (2006). The role of Vpr in the regulation of HIV-1 gene expression. *Cell Cycle* 5, 2626–2638. doi: 10.4161/cc.5.22.3442
- Cummins, N. W., and Badley, A. D. (2010). Mechanisms of HIV-associated lymphocyte apoptosis: 2010. *Cell Death Dis.* 1, e99. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2010.77
- Dehart, J. L., and Planelles, V. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr links proteasomal degradation and checkpoint activation. *J. Virol.* 82, 1066–1072. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01628-07
- DeHart, J. L., Zimmerman, E. S., Ardon, O., Monteiro-Filho, C. M., Argañaraz, E. R., and Planelles, V. (2007). HIV-1 Vpr activates the G2 checkpoint through manipulation of the ubiquitin proteasome system. *Virol. J.* 4, 57. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-4-57
- de Noronha, C. M. C., Sherman, M. P., Lin, H. W., Cavrois, M. V., Moir, R. D., Goldman, R. D., and Greene, W. C. (2001). Dynamic disruptions in nuclear envelope architecture and integrity induced by HIV-1 Vpr. *Science* 294, 1105–1108. doi: 10.1126/science.1063957
- Depienne, C., Roques, P., Créminon, C., Fritsch, L., Casseron, R., Dormont, D., et al. (2000). Cellular distribution and karyophilic properties of matrix, integrase, and Vpr proteins from the human and simian immunodeficiency viruses. *Exp. Cell Res.* 260, 387–395. doi: 10.1006/excr.2000.5016
- De Rocquigny, H., Caneparo, A., Delaunay, T., Bischerour, J., Mouscadet, J. F., and Roques, B. P. (2000). Interactions of the C-terminus of viral protein R with nucleic acids are modulated by its N-terminus. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 267, 3654–3660. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1327.2000.01397.x
- De Silva, F. S., and Moss, B. (2008). Effects of vaccinia virus uracil DNA glycosylase catalytic site and deoxyuridine triphosphatase deletion mutations individually and together on replication in active and quiescent cells and pathogenesis in mice. *Virol. J.* 5, 145. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-5-145
- Dong, C. Z., De Rocquigny, H., Rémy, E., Mellac, S., Fournié-Zaluski, M. C., and Roques, B. P. (1997). Synthesis and biological activities of fluorescent acridinecontaining HIV-1 nucleocapsid proteins for investigation of nucleic acid-NCp7 interactions. J. Pept. Res. 50, 269–278. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-3011.1997.tb0 1468.x
- Eckstein, D. A., Sherman, M. P., Penn, M. L., Chin, P. S., De Noronha, C. M., Greene, W. C., et al. (2001). HIV-1 Vpr enhances viral burden by facilitating infection of tissue macrophages but not nondividing CD4+ T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 194, 1407–1419. doi: 10.1084/jem.194.10.1407
- Eldin, P., Chazal, N., Fenard, D., Bernard, E., Guichou, J.-F., and Briant, L. (2013). Vpr expression abolishes the capacity of HIV-1 infected cells to repair uracilated DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, 1698–1710. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt974
- Farnet, C. M., and Haseltine, W. A. (1991). Determination of viral proteins present in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complex. J. Virol. 65, 1910–1915.
- Fassati, A., and Goff, S. P. (2001). Characterization of intracellular reverse transcription complexes of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 75, 3626–3635. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.8.3626-3635.2001
- Fassati, A., Görlich, D., Harrison, I., Zaytseva, L., and Mingot, J.-M. (2003). Nuclear import of HIV-1 intracellular reverse transcription complexes is mediated by importin 7. EMBO J. 22, 3675–3685. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg357
- Ferrucci, A., Nonnemacher, M. R., and Wigdahl, B. (2013). Extracellular HIV-1 viral protein R affects astrocytic glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase activity and neuronal survival. J. Neurovirol. 19, 239–253. doi: 10.1007/s13365-013-0170-1
- Fouchier, R. A., Meyer, B. E., Simon, J. H., Fischer, U., Albright, A. V., González-Scarano, F., et al. (1998). Interaction of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr protein with the nuclear pore complex. J. Virol. 72, 6004–6013.
- Fourati, S., Malet, I., Binka, M., Boukobza, S., Wirden, M., Sayon, S., et al. (2010). Partially active HIV-1 Vif alleles facilitate viral escape from

specific antiretrovirals. *AIDS* 24, 2313–2321. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32833 e515a

- Fourati, S., Malet, I., Guenzel, C. A., Soulie, C., Maidou-Peindara, P., Morand-Joubert, L., et al. (2012). E17A mutation in HIV-1 Vpr confers resistance to didanosine in association with thymidine analog mutations. *Antiviral Res.* 93, 167–174. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2011.11.008
- Fritz, J. V., Didier, P., Clamme, J.-P., Schaub, E., Muriaux, D., Cabanne, C., et al. (2008). Direct Vpr-Vpr interaction in cells monitored by two photon fluorescence correlation spectroscopy and fluorescence lifetime imaging. *Retrovirology* 5, 87. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-5-87
- Fritz, J. V., Dujardin, D., Godet, J., Didier, P., De Mey, J., Darlix, J.-L., et al. (2010). HIV-1 Vpr oligomerization but not that of gag directs the interaction between Vpr and Gag. J. Virol. 84, 1585–1596. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01691-09
- Gallay, P., Stitt, V., Mundy, C., Oettinger, M., and Trono, D. (1996). Role of the karyopherin pathway in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nuclear import. *J. Virol.* 70, 1027–1032.
- Ghiotto, F., Fais, F., and Bruno, S. (2010). BH3-only proteins: the death-puppeteer's wires. *Cytometry A* 77, 11–21. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.20819
- Goff, S. P. (2001). Intracellular trafficking of retroviral genomes during the early phase of infection: viral exploitation of cellular pathways. J. Gene. Med. 3, 517–528. doi: 10.1002/1521-2254(200111)3:6<517::AID-JGM234>3.0.CO;2-E
- Goh, W. C., Rogel, M. E., Kinsey, C. M., Michael, S. F., Fultz, P. N., Nowak, M. A., et al. (1998). HIV-1 Vpr increases viral expression by manipulation of the cell cycle: a mechanism for selection of Vpr *in vivo. Nat. Med.* 4, 65–71. doi: 10.1038/nm0198-065
- Greber, U. F., and Fassati, A. (2003). Nuclear import of viral DNA genomes. *Traffic* 4, 136–143. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0854.2003.00114.x
- Guenzel, C. A., Hérate, C., Le Rouzic, E., Maidou-Peindara, P., Sadler, H. A., Rouyez, M.-C., et al. (2012). Recruitment of the nuclear form of uracil DNA glycosylase into virus particles participates in the full infectivity of HIV-1. *J. Virol.* 86, 2533–2544. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05163-11
- Harezlak, J., Buchthal, S., Taylor, M., Schifitto, G., Zhong, J., Daar, E., et al. (2011). Persistence of HIV-associated cognitive impairment, inflammation, and neuronal injury in era of highly active antiretroviral treatment. *AIDS* 25, 625–633. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283427da7
- Hattori, N., Michaels, F., Fargnoli, K., Marcon, L., Gallo, R. C., and Franchini, G. (1990). The human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpr gene is essential for productive infection of human macrophages. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 8080–8084. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.20.8080
- He, J., Choe, S., Walker, R., Di Marzio, P., Morgan, D. O., and Landau, N. R. (1995). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral protein R (Vpr) arrests cells in the G2 phase of the cell cycle by inhibiting p34cdc2 activity. J. Virol. 69, 6705–6711.
- He, Y. J., McCall, C. M., Hu, J., Zeng, Y., and Xiong, Y. (2006). DDB1 functions as a linker to recruit receptor WD40 proteins to CUL4-ROC1 ubiquitin ligases. *Genes Dev.* 20, 2949–2954. doi: 10.1101/gad.1483206
- Heinzinger, N. K., Bukinsky, M. I., Haggerty, S. A., Ragland, A. M., Kewalramani, V., Lee, M. A., et al. (1994). The Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 influences nuclear localization of viral nucleic acids in nondividing host cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 7311–7315. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91.15.7311
- Hemonnot, B., Cartier, C., Gay, B., Rebuffat, S., Bardy, M., Devaux, C., et al. (2004). The host cell MAP kinase ERK-2 regulates viral assembly and release by phosphorylating the P6gag protein of HIV-1. *J. Biol. Chem* 279, 32426–32434. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M313137200
- Hermeking, H., and Benzinger, A. (2006). 14-3-3 proteins in cell cycle regulation. Semin. Cancer Biol. 16, 183–192. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2006.03.002
- Higa, L. A., Wu, M., Ye, T., Kobayashi, R., Sun, H., and Zhang, H. (2006a). CUL4–DDB1 ubiquitin ligase interacts with multiple WD40-repeat proteins and regulates histone methylation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 1277–1283. doi: 10.1038/ ncb1490
- Higa, L. A., Yang, X., Zheng, J., Banks, D., Wu, M., Ghosh, P., et al. (2006b). Involvement of CUL4 ubiquitin E3 ligases in regulating CDK inhibitors Dacapo/p27Kip1 and cyclin E degradation. *Cell Cycle* 5, 71–77. doi: 10.4161/cc.5.1.2266
- Hoch, J., Lang, S. M., Weeger, M., Stahl-Hennig, C., Coulibaly, C., Dittmer, U., et al. (1995). Vpr deletion mutant of simian immunodeficiency virus induces AIDS in rhesus monkeys. J. Virol. 69, 4807–4813.
- Hrecka, K., Gierszewska, M., Srivastava, S., Kozaczkiewicz, L., Swanson, S. K., Florens, L., et al. (2007). Lentiviral Vpr usurps Cul4-DDB1[VprBP] E3

ubiquitin ligase to modulate cell cycle. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 11778–11783. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702102104

- Jacotot, E., Ferri, K. F., El Hamel, C., Brenner, C., Druillennec, S., Hoebeke, J., et al. (2001). Control of mitochondrial membrane permeabilization by adenine nucleotide translocator interacting with HIV-1 viral protein rR and Bcl-2. *J. Exp. Med.* 193, 509–519. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.4.509
- Jacotot, E., Ravagnan, L., Loeffler, M., Ferri, K. F., Vieira, H. L. A., Zamzami, N., et al. (2000). The HIV-1 viral protein R induces apoptosis via a direct effect on the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *J. Exp. Med.* 191, 33. doi: 10.1084/jem.191.1.33
- Jacquot, G., Le Rouzic, E., David, A., Mazzolini, J., Bouchet, J., Bouaziz, S., et al. (2007). Localization of HIV-1 Vpr to the nuclear envelope: impact on Vpr functions and virus replication in macrophages. *Retrovirology* 4, 84. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-4-84
- Jenkins, Y., McEntee, M., Weis, K., and Greene, W. C. (1998). Characterization of HIV-1 vpr nuclear import: analysis of signals and pathways. J. Cell Biol. 143, 875–885. doi: 10.1083/jcb.143.4.875
- Jenkins, Y., Pornillos, O., Rich, R. L., Myszka, D. G., Sundquist, W. I., and Malim, M. H. (2001a). Biochemical analyses of the interactions between human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr and p6(Gag). J. Virol. 75, 10537–10542. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.21.10537-10542.2001
- Jenkins, Y., Sanchez, P. V., Meyer, B. E., and Malim, M. H. (2001b). Nuclear export of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr is not required for virion packaging. J. Virol. 75, 8348–8352. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.17.8348-8352.2001
- Jin, J., Arias, E. E., Chen, J., Harper, J. W., and Walter, J. C. (2006). A family of diverse Cul4-Ddb1-interacting proteins includes Cdt2, which is required for S phase destruction of the replication factor Cdt1. *Mol. Cell* 23, 709–721. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.08.010
- Jones, G. J., Barsby, N. L., Cohen, E. A., Holden, J., Harris, K., Dickie, P., et al. (2007). HIV-1 Vpr causes neuronal apoptosis and *in vivo* neurodegeneration. *J. Neurosci.* 27, 3703–3711. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5522-06.2007
- Jones, K. L., Roche, M., Gantier, M. P., Begum, N. A., Honjo, T., Caradonna, S., et al. (2010). X4 and R5 HIV-1 have distinct post-entry requirements for uracil DNA glycosylase during infection of primary cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 18603–18614. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.090126
- Jowett, J. B., Planelles, V., Poon, B., Shah, N. P., Chen, M. L., and Chen, I. S. (1995). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr gene arrests infected T cells in the G2 + M phase of the cell cycle. *J. Virol.* 69, 6304–6313.
- Kaiser, S. M., and Emerman, M. (2006). Uracil DNA glycosylase is dispensable for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication and does not contribute to the antiviral effects of the cytidine deaminase apobec3G. J. Virol. 80, 875–882. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.2.875-882.2006
- Kamata, M., Watanabe, N., Nagaoka, Y., and Chen, I. S. Y. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr binds to the N lobe of the Wee1 kinase domain and enhances kinase activity for CDC2. J. Virol. 82, 5672–5682. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01330-07
- Kamiyama, T., Miura, T., and Takeuchi, H. (2013). His-Trp cation- π interaction and its structural role in an A-helical dimer of HIV-1 Vpr protein. *Biophys. Chem.* 173–174, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.bpc.2013.01.004
- Kichler, A., Pages, J. C., Leborgne, C., Druillennec, S., Lenoir, C., Coulaud, D., et al. (2000). Efficient DNA transfection mediated by the C-terminal domain of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral protein R. *J. Virol.* 74, 5424–5431. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.12.5424-5431.2000
- Kino, T., Gragerov, A., Valentin, A., Tsopanomihalou, M., Ilyina-Gragerova, G., Erwin-Cohen, R., et al. (2005). Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 binds to 14-3-3 proteins and facilitates complex formation with Cdc25C: implications for cell cycle arrest. J. Virol. 79, 2780–2787. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.5.2780-2787.2005
- Kitamura, K., Wang, Z., Chowdhury, S., Simadu, M., Koura, M., and Muramatsu, M. (2013) Uracil DNA glycosylase counteracts APOBEC3G-induced hypermutation of hepatitis B viral genomes: excision repair of covalently closed circular DNA. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003361. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003361
- Klarmann, G. J., Chen, X., North, T. W., and Preston, B. D. (2003). Incorporation of uracil into minus strand DNA affects the specificity of plus strand synthesis initiation during lentiviral reverse transcription. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 7902–7909. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M207223200
- Knight, D. M., Flomerfelt, F. A., and Ghrayeb, J. (1987). Expression of the art/trs protein of HIV and study of its role in viral envelope synthesis. *Science* 236, 837–840. doi: 10.1126/science.3033827

- Kondo, E., and Göttlinger, H. G. (1996). A conserved LXXLF sequence is the major determinant in P6gag required for the incorporation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J. Virol. 70, 159–164.
- Koundrioukoff, S., Polo, S., and Almouzni, G. (2004). Interplay between chromatin and cell cycle checkpoints in the context of ATR/ATM-dependent checkpoints. DNA Repair (Amst.) 3, 969–978. doi: 10.1016/j.dnarep.2004. 03.010
- Kudoh, A., Takahama, S., Sawasaki, T., Ode, H., Yokoyama, M., Okayama, A., et al. (2014). The phosphorylation of HIV-1 gag by atypical protein kinase C facilitates viral infectivity by promoting Vpr incorporation into virions. *Retrovirology* 11, 9. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-11-9
- Laguette, N., Brégnard, C., Hue, P., Basbous, J., Yatim, A., Larroque, M., et al. (2014). Premature activation of the SLX4 complex by Vpr promotes G2/M arrest and escape from innate immune sensing. *Cell* 156, 134–145. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.011
- Lang, S. M., Weeger, M., Stahl-Hennig, C., Coulibaly, C., Hunsmann, G., Müller, J., et al. (1993). Importance of Vpr for infection of rhesus monkeys with simian immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 67, 902–912.
- Langevin, C., Maidou-Peindara, P., Aas, P. A., Jacquot, G., Otterlei, M., Slupphaug, G., et al. (2009). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr modulates cellular expression of UNG2 via a negative transcriptional effect. *J. Virol.* 83, 10256–10263. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02654-08
- Langlois, M.-A., and Neuberger, M. S. (2008). Human APOBEC3G can restrict retroviral infection in avian cells and acts independently of both UNG and SMUG1. J. Virol. 82, 4660–4664. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02469-07
- Lecossier, D., Bouchonnet, F., Clavel, F., and Hance, A. J. (2003). Hypermutation of HIV-1 DNA in the absence of the Vif protein. *Science* 300, 1112. doi: 10.1126/science.1083338
- Le Rouzic, E., Belaïdouni, N., Estrabaud, E., Morel, M., Rain, J.-C., Transy, C., et al. (2007). HIV1Vpr arrests the cell cycle by recruiting DCAF1/VprBP, a receptor of the Cul4-DDB1 ubiquitin ligase. *Cell Cycle* 6, 182–188. doi: 10.4161/cc.6.2.3732
- Le Rouzic, E., and Benichou, S. (2005). The Vpr protein from HIV-1: distinct roles along the viral life cycle. *Retrovirology* 2, 11. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-2-11
- Le Rouzic, E., Mousnier, A., Rustum, C., Stutz, F., Hallberg, E., Dargemont, C., et al. (2002). Docking of HIV-1 Vpr to the nuclear envelope is mediated by the interaction with the nucleoporin hCG1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 45091–45098. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M207439200
- Li, G., Park, H. U., Liang, D., and Zhao, R. Y. (2010). Cell cycle G2/M arrest through an S phase-dependent mechanism by HIV-1 viral protein R. *Retrovirology* 7, 59. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-7-59
- Liang, G., Kitamura, K., Wang, Z., Liu, G., Chowdhury, S., Fu, W., et al. (2013). RNA editing of hepatitis B virus transcripts by activation-induced cytidine deaminase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 2246–2251. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1221921110
- Liu, H., Wu, X., Xiao, H., and Kappes, J. C. (1999). Targeting human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 2 integrase protein into HIV type 1. J. Virol. 73, 8831–8836.
- Loeb, J. E., Weitzman, M. D., and Hope, T. J. (2002). Enhancement of green fluorescent protein expression in adeno-associated virus with the woodchuck hepatitis virus post-transcriptional regulatory element. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 183, 331–340. doi: 10.1089/10430349950016942
- Lopez-Girona, A., Furnari, B., Mondesert, O., and Russell, P. (1999). Nuclear localization of Cdc25 is regulated by DNA damage and a 14-3-3 protein. *Nature* 397, 172–175. doi: 10.1038/16488
- Lyonnais, S., Gorelick, R. J., Heniche-Boukhalfa, F., Bouaziz, S., Parissi, V., Mouscadet, J.-F., et al. (2013). A protein ballet around the viral genome orchestrated by HIV-1 reverse transcriptase leads to an architectural switch: from nucleocapsid-condensed RNA to Vpr-bridged DNA. *Virus Res.* 171, 287–303. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2012.09.008
- Mahalingam, S., Ayyavoo, V., Patel, M., Kieber-Emmons, T., and Weiner, D. B. (1997). Nuclear import, virion incorporation, and cell cycle arrest/differentiation are mediated by distinct functional domains of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J. Virol. 71, 6339–6347.
- Majumder, B., Venkatachari, N. J., Schafer, E. A., Janket, M. L., and Ayyavoo, V. (2007). Dendritic cells infected with vpr-positive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 induce CD8+ T-cell apoptosis via upregulation of tumor necrosis factor alpha. J. Virol. 81, 7388–7399. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00 893-06

- Mangeat, B., Turelli, P., Caron, G., Friedli, M., Perrin, L., and Trono, D. (2003). Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. *Nature* 424, 99–103. doi: 10.1038/nature 01709
- Mansky, L. M. (1996). The mutation rate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 is influenced by the Vpr Gene. Virology 222, 391–400. doi: 10.1006/viro.1996.0436
- Mansky, L. M., Preveral, S., Selig, L., Benarous, R., and Benichou, S. (2000). The interaction of Vpr with uracil DNA glycosylase modulates the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 *in vivo* mutation rate. *J. Virol.* 74, 7039–7047. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.15.7039-7047.2000
- Mansky, L. M., and Yemin, H. M. (1995). Lower *in vivo* mutation rate of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 than that predicted from the fidelity of purified reverse transcriptase. *J. Virol.* 69, 5087–5094.
- Mariani, R., Chen, D., Schröfelbauer, B., Navarro, F., König, R., Bollmann, B., et al. (2003). Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. *Cell* 114, 21–31. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00515-4
- Marzio, P. D., Choe, S., Ebright, M., Knoblauch, R., and Landau, N. R. (1995). Mutational analysis of cell cycle arrest, nuclear localization and virion packaging of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J. Virol. 69, 7909–7916.
- McDonald, D., Vodicka, M. A., Lucero, G., Svitkina, T. M., Borisy, G. G., Emerman, M., et al. (2002). Visualization of the intracellular behavior of HIV in living cells. *J. Cell Biol.* 159, 441–452. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200203150
- Mer, G., Bochkarev, A., Chazin, W. J., and Edwards, A. M. (2000). Threedimensional structure and function of replication protein A. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 65, 193–200. doi: 10.1101/sqb.2000.65.193
- Miller, M. D., Farnet, C. M., and Bushman, F. D. (1997). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 preintegration complexes: studies of organization and composition. *J. Virol.* 71, 5382–5390.
- Mishra, S., Mishra, J. P., and Kumar, A. (2007). Activation of JNK-dependent pathway is required for HIV viral protein R-induced apoptosis in human monocytic cells: involvement of antiapoptotic BCL2 and c-IAP1 genes. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 4288–4300. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M608307200
- Morellet, N., Bouaziz, S., Petitjean, P., and Roques, B. P. (2003). NMR structure of the HIV-1 regulatory protein VPR. J. Mol. Biol. 327, 215–227. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00060-3
- Nagelhus, T. A., Haug, T., Singh, K. K., Keshav, K. F., Skorpen, F., Otterlei, M., et al. (1997). A sequence in the N-terminal region of human uracil-DNA glycosylase with homology to XPA interacts with the C-terminal part of the 34-kDa subunit of replication protein A. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 6561–6566. doi: 10.1074/jbc.272.10.6561
- Nekorchuk, M. D., Sharifi, H. J., Furuya, A. K., Jellinger, R., and de Noronha, C. M. (2013) HIV relies on neddylation for ubiquitin ligase-mediated functions. *Retrovirology* 10, 138. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-138
- Nermut, M. V., and Fassati, A. (2003). Structural analyses of purified human immunodeficiency virus type 1 intracellular reverse transcription complexes. J. Virol. 77, 8196–8206. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.15.8196-82 06.2003
- Nishizawa, M., Kamata, M., Katsumata, R., and Aida, Y. (2000a). A carboxyterminally truncated form of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr protein induces apoptosis via G(1) cell cycle arrest. J. Virol. 74, 6058–6067. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.13.6058-6067.2000
- Nishizawa, M., Kamata, M., Mojin, T., Nakai, Y., and Aida, Y. (2000b). Induction of apoptosis by the Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 occurs independently of G(2) arrest of the cell cycle. *Virology* 276, 16–26. doi: 10.1006/viro.2000.0534
- Nitahara-Kasahara, Y., Kamata, M., Yamamoto, T., Zhang, X., Miyamoto, Y., Muneta, K., et al. (2007). Novel nuclear import of Vpr promoted by importin alpha is crucial for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in macrophages. J. Virol. 81, 5284–5293. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01928-06
- Ogawa, K., Shibata, R., Kiyomasu, T., Higuchi, I., Kishida, Y., Ishimoto, A., et al. (1989). Mutational analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus Vpr open reading frame. *J. Virol.* 63, 4110–4114.
- Otterlei, M., Warbrick, E., Nagelhus, T. A., Haug, T., Slupphaug, G., Akbari, M., et al. (1999). Post-replicative base excision repair in replication foci. *EMBO J.* 18, 3834–3844. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.13.3834
- Paillart, J. C., and Göttlinger, H. G. (1999). Opposing effects of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 matrix mutations support a myristyl switch model of gag membrane targeting. J. Virol. 73, 2604–2612.

- Planelles, V., and Benichou, S. (2009). Vpr and its interactions with cellular proteins. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 339, 177–200. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-02175-6_9
- Planelles, V., Jowett, J. B., Li, Q. X., Xie, Y., Hahn, B., and Chen, I. S. (1996). Vprinduced cell cycle arrest is conserved among primate lentiviruses. J. Virol. 70, 2516–2524.
- Pomerantz, R. J. (2000). Residual HIV-1 replication. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 54, 13–15. doi: 10.1016/S0753-3322(00)88635-7
- Poon, B., and Chen, I. S. (2003) Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) Vpr enhances expression from unintegrated HIV-1 DNA. J. Virol. 77, 3962–3972. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.7.3962-3972.2003
- Popov, S., Rexach, M., Ratner, L., Blobel, G., and Bukrinsky, M. (1998). Viral protein R regulates docking of the HIV-1 preintegration complex to the nuclear pore complex. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 13347–13352. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.21.13347
- Priet, S., Gros, N., Navarro, J.-M., Boretto, J., Canard, B., Quérat, G., et al. (2005). HIV-1-associated uracil DNA glycosylase activity controls dUTP misincorporation in viral DNA and is essential to the HIV-1 life cycle. *Mol. Cell* 17, 479–490. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005.01.016
- Priet, S., Navarro, J. M., Gros, N., Querat, G., and Sire, J. (2003) Functional role of HIV-1 virion-associated uracil DNA glycosylase 2 in the correction of G:U mispairs to G:C pairs. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 4566–4571. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M209311200
- Ramboarina, S., Druillennec, S., Morellet, N., Bouaziz, S. and Roques, B. P. (2004). Target Specificity of Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 NCp7 Requires an Intact Conformation of Its CCHC N-terminal Zinc Finger. J. Virol. 78, 6682–6687. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.12.6682-6687.2004
- Re, F., Braaten, D., Franke, E. K., and Luban, J. (1995). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr arrests the cell cycle in G2 by inhibiting the activation of p34cdc2-cyclin B. *J. Virol.* 69, 6859–6864.
- Reiss, P., Lange, J. M., de Ronde, A., de Wolf, F., Dekker, J., Danner, S. A., et al. (1990). Antibody response to viral proteins U (vpu) and R (vpr) in HIV-1-infected individuals. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 3, 115–122.
- Richard, J., Sindhu, S., Pham, T. N. Q., Belzile, J.-P., and Cohen, E. A. (2010). HIV-1 Vpr up-regulates expression of ligands for the activating NKG2D receptor and promotes NK cell-mediated killing. *Blood* 115, 1354–1363. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-08-237370
- Rogel, M. E., Wu, L. I., and Emerman, M. (1995). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr gene prevents cell proliferation during chronic infection. *J. Virol.* 69, 882–888.
- Rom, I., Deshmane, S. L., Mukerjee, R., Khalili, K., Amini, S., and Sawaya, B. E. (2009). HIV-1 Vpr deregulates calcium secretion in neural cells. *Brain Res.* 1275, 81–86. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2009.03.024
- Romani, B., and Cohen, E. A. (2012). Lentivirus Vpr and Vpx accessory proteins usurp the cullin4-DDB1 (DCAF1) E3 ubiquitin ligase. *Curr. Opin. Virol.* 2, 755–763. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2012.09.010
- Roshal, M., Kim, B., Zhu, Y., Nghiem, P., and Planelles, V. (2003). Activation of the ATR-mediated DNA damage response by the HIV-1 viral protein R. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 25879–25886. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303948200
- Rout, M. P., and Aitchison, J. D. (2001). The nuclear pore complex as a transport machine. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 16593–16596. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R100015200
- Salgado, G. F., Vogel, A., Marquant, R., Feller, S. E., Bouaziz, S., and Alves, I. D. (2009). The Role of membranes in the organization of HIV-1 Gag P6 and Vpr: P6 shows high affinity for membrane bilayers which substantially increases the interaction between P6 and Vpr. J. Med. Chem. 52, 7157–7162. doi: 10.1021/jm901106t
- Sato, K., Misawa, N., Iwami, S., Satou, Y., Matsuoka, M., Ishizaka, Y., et al. (2013) HIV-1 Vpr accelerates viral replication during acute infection by exploitation of proliferating CD4(+) T Cells in vivo. PLoS Pathog. 9:e1003812. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003812
- Sawaya, B. E., Khalili, K., Mercer, W. E., Denisova, L., and Amini, S. (1998). Cooperative actions of HIV-1 Vpr and p53 modulate viral gene transcription. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273, 20052–20057. doi: 10.1074/jbc.273.32.20052
- Schang, L. M. (2003). The cell cycle, cyclin-dependent kinases, and viral infections: new horizons and unexpected connections. *Prog. Cell Cycle Res.* 5, 103–124.
- Schrofelbauer, B., Hakata, Y., and Landau, N. R. (2007). HIV-1 Vpr function is mediated by interaction with the damage-specific DNA-binding protein DDB1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 4130–4135. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0610167104
- Schrofelbauer, B., Yu, Q., Zeitlin, S. G., and Landau, N. R. (2005). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1Vpr induces the degradation of the UNG

and SMUG uracil-DNA glycosylases. J. Virol. 79, 10978–10987. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.17.10978-10987.2005

- Schüler, W., Wecker, L., De Rocquigny, H., Baudat, Y., Sire, J., and Roques, B. P. (1999). NMR structure of the (52-96) C-terminal domain of the HIV-1 regulatory protein Vpr: molecular insights into its biological functions. J. Mol. Biol. 285, 2105–2117. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1998.2381
- Segura-Totten, M., and Wilson, K. L. (2001). Virology. HIV–breaking the rules for nuclear entry. *Science* 294, 1016–1017. doi: 10.1126/science.1066729
- Selig, L., Pages, J. C., Tanchou, V., Prévéral, S., Berlioz-Torrent, C., Liu, L. X., et al. (1999). Interaction with the P6 domain of the gag precursor mediates incorporation into virions of Vpr and Vpx proteins from primate lentiviruses. *J. Virol.* 73, 592–600.
- Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., Choi, J. D., and Malim, M. H. (2002). Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature* 418, 646–650. doi: 10.1038/nature00939
- Sherman, M. P., de Noronha, C. M. C., Eckstein, L. A., Hataye, J., Mundt, P., Williams, S. A. F., et al. (2003). Nuclear export of Vpr is required for efficient replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in tissue macrophages. *J. Virol.* 77, 7582–7589. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.13.7582-7589.2003
- Sherman, M. P., de Noronha, C. M. C., Heusch, M. I., Greene, S., and Greene, W. C. (2001). Nucleocytoplasmic shuttling by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J. Virol. 75, 1522–1532. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.3.1522-1532.2001
- Sherman, M. P., de Noronha, C. M. C., Williams, S. A., and Greene, W. C. (2002). Insights into the biology of HIV-1 viral protein R. DNA Cell Biol. 21, 679–688. doi: 10.1089/104454902760330228
- Shimura, M., Toyoda, Y., Iijima, K., Kinomoto, M., Tokunaga, K., Yoda, K., et al. (2011). Epigenetic displacement of HP1 from heterochromatin by HIV-1 Vpr causes premature sister chromatid separation. J. Cell Biol. 194, 721–735. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201010118
- Singh, S. P., Tomkowicz, B., Lai, D., Cartas, M., Mahalingam, S., Kalyanaraman, V. S., et al. (2000). Functional role of residues corresponding to helical domain II (amino Acids 35 to 46) of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J. Virol. 74, 10650–10657. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.22.10650-10657.2000
- Sørensen, C. S., and Syljuåsen, R. G. (2012). Safeguarding genome integrity: the checkpoint kinases ATR, CHK1 and WEE1 restrain CDK activity during normal DNA replication. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 477–486. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkr697
- Sörgel, S., Fraedrich, K., Votteler, J., Thomas, M., Stamminger, T., and Schubert, U. (2012). Perinuclear localization of the HIV-1 regulatory protein Vpr is important for induction of G2-arrest. *Virology* 432, 444–451. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.06.027
- Stark, L. A., and Hay, R. T. (1998). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) viral protein R (Vpr) interacts with Lys-tRNA synthetase: implications for priming of HIV-1 reverse transcription. J. Virol. 72, 3037–3044.
- Steffens, C. M., and Hope, T. J. (2003). Localization of CD4 and CCR5 in living cells. J. Virol. 77, 4985–4991. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.8.4985-4991.2003
- Steffy, K., and Wong-Staal, F. (1991). Genetic regulation of human immunodeficiency virus. *Microbiol. Rev.* 55, 193–205.
- Stewart, S. A., Poon, B., Jowett, J. B., and Chen, I. S. (1997). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr induces apoptosis following cell cycle arrest. J. Virol. 71, 5579–5592.
- Stewart, S. A., Poon, B., Jowett, J. B., Xie, Y., and Chen, I. S. (1999). Lentiviral delivery of HIV-1 Vpr protein induces apoptosis in transformed cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 12039–12043. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.21.12039
- Stivahtis, G. L., Soares, M. A., Vodicka, M. A., Hahn, B. H., and Emerman, M. (1997). Conservation and host specificity of Vpr-mediated cell cycle arrest suggest a fundamental role in primate lentivirus evolution and biology. *J. Virol.* 71, 4331–4338.
- Stopak, K., de Noronha, C., Yonemoto, W., and Greene, W. C. (2003) HIV-1 Vif blocks the antiviral activity of APOBEC3G by impairing both its translation and intracellular stability. *Mol. Cell.* 12, 591–601. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00353-8
- Sugasawa, K., Okuda, Y., Saijo, M., Nishi, R., Matsuda, N., Chu, G., et al. (2005). UV-induced ubiquitylation of XPC protein mediated by UV-DDB-ubiquitin ligase complex. *Cell* 121, 387–400. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.035
- Suzuki, T., Yamamoto, N., Nonaka, M., Hashimoto, Y., Matsuda, G., Takeshima, S., et al. (2009). Inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) nuclear import via Vpr-importin alpha interactions as a novel HIV-1 therapy. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 380, 838–843. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.01.180

- Tan, L., Ehrlich, E., and Yu, X.-F. (2007). DDB1 and Cul4A are required for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr-induced G2 arrest. J. Virol. 81, 10822–10830. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01380-07
- Thierry, S., Marechal, V., Rosenzwajg, M., Sabbah, M., Redeuilh, G., Nicolas, J.-C., et al. (2004). Cell cycle arrest in G2 induces human immunodeficiency virus type 1 transcriptional activation through histone acetylation and recruitment of CBP, NF-κB, and c-Jun to the long terminal repeat promoter. *J. Virol.* 78, 12198–12206. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.22.12198-12206.2004
- Trinité, B., Ohlson, E. C., Voznesensky, I., Rana, S. P., Chan, C. N., Mahajan, S., et al. (2013). An HIV-1 replication pathway utilizing reverse transcription products that fail to integrate. *J. Virol.* 87, 12701–12720. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01 939-13
- Tristem, M., Marshall, C., Karpas, A., and Hill, F. (1992). Evolution of the primate lentiviruses: evidence from Vpx and Vpr. *EMBO J.* 11, 3405–3012.
- Venkatachari, N. J., Walker, L. A., Tastan, O., Le, T., Dempsey, T. M., Li, Y., et al. (2010). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr: oligomerization is an essential feature for its incorporation into virus particles. *Virology* 7, 119. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-7-119
- Vodicka, M. A., Koepp, D. M., Silver, P. A., and Emerman, M. (1998). HIV-1 Vpr interacts with the nuclear transport pathway to promote macrophage infection. *Genes Dev.* 12, 175–185. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.2.175
- Wang, H., Zhai, L., Xu, J., Joo, H.-Y., Jackson, S., Erdjument-Bromage, H., et al. (2006). Histone H3 and H4 ubiquitylation by the CUL4-DDB-ROC1 ubiquitin ligase facilitates cellular response to DNA damage. *Mol. Cell* 22, 383–394. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2006.03.035
- Wang, L., Mukherjee, S., Jia, F., Narayan, O., and Zhao, L. J. (1995). Interaction of virion protein Vpr of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 with cellular transcription factor Sp1 and trans-activation of viral long terminal repeat. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 25564–25569. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.43.25564
- Wang, L., Mukherjee, S., Narayan, O., and Zhao, L. J. (1996). Characterization of a Leucine-zipper-like domain in Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Gene* 178, 7–13. doi: 10.1016/0378-1119(96)00312-5
- Ward, J., Davis, Z., DeHart, J., Zimmerman, E., Bosque, A., Brunetta, E., et al. (2009). HIV-1 Vpr triggers natural killer cell-mediated lysis of infected cells through activation of the ATR-mediated DNA damage response. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000613. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000613
- Weil, A. F., Ghosh, D., Zhou, Y., Seiple, L., McMahon, M. A., Spivak, A. M., et al. (2013). Uracil DNA glycosylase initiates degradation of HIV-1 cDNA containing misincorporated dUTP and prevents viral integration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 110, E448–E457. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1219702110
- Welker, R., Hohenberg, H., Tessmer, U., Huckhagel, C., and Kräusslich, H. G. (2000). Biochemical and structural analysis of isolated mature cores of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 74, 1168–1177. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.3.1168-1177.2000
- Wen, X., Duus, K. M., Friedrich, T. D., and de Noronha, C. M. C. (2007). The HIV1 protein Vpr acts to promote G2 cell cycle arrest by engaging a DDB1 and Cullin4A-containing ubiquitin ligase complex using VprBP/DCAF1 as an adaptor. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27046–27057. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M703955200
- Wu, X., Liu, H., Xiao, H., Conway, J. A., Hehl, E., Kalpana, G. V., et al. (1999). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase protein promotes reverse transcription through specific interactions with the nucleoprotein reverse transcription complex. J. Virol. 73, 2126–2135.
- Wu, X., Liu, H., Xiao, H., Conway, J. A., Hunter, E., and Kappes, J. C. (1997). Functional RT and IN incorporated into HIV-1 particles independently of the gag/pol precursor protein. *EMBO J.* 16, 5113–5122. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.16.5113

- Wu, X., Liu, H., Xiao, H., Kim, J., Seshaiah, P., Natsoulis, G., et al. (1995). Targeting foreign proteins to human immunodeficiency virus particles via fusion with Vpr and Vpx. J. Virol. 69, 3389–3398
- Yan, N., O'Day, E., Wheeler, L. A., Engelman, A., and Lieberman, J. (2011). HIV DNA is heavily uracilated, which protects it from autointegration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 9244–9249. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1102943108
- Yang, B., Chen, K., Zhang, C., Huang, S., and Zhang, H. (2007). Virion-associated uracil DNA glycosylase-2 and apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease are involved in the degradation of APOBEC3G-edited nascent HIV-1 DNA. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 11667–11675. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606864200
- Yao, X. J., Kobinger, G., Dandache, S., Rougeau, N., and Cohen, E. (1999). HIV-1 Vpr-chloramphenicol acetyltransferase fusion proteins: sequence requirement for virion incorporation and analysis of antiviral effect. *Gene Ther.* 6, 1590–1599. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3300988
- Yao, X.-J., Mouland, A. J., Subbramanian, R. A., Forget, J., Rougeau, N., Bergeron, D., et al. (1998). Vpr stimulates viral expression and induces cell killing in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected dividing jurkat T cells. *J. Virol.* 72, 4686–4693.
- Zander, K., Sherman, M. P., Tessmer, U., Bruns, K., Wray, V., Prechtel, A. T., et al. (2003). Cyclophilin a interacts with HIV-1 Vpr and is required for its functional expression. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 43202–43213. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M305414200
- Zhang, S., Pointer, D., Singer, G., Feng, Y., Park, K., and Zhao, L. J. (1998). Direct binding to nucleic acids by Vpr of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Gene* 212, 157–166. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(98)00178-4
- Zhao, L. J., Wang, L., Mukherjee, S., and Narayan, O. (1994). Biochemical mechanism of HIV-1 Vpr function. oligomerization mediated by the N-terminal domain. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 32131–32137.
- Zhou, Y., and Ratner, L. (2000). Phosphorylation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr regulates cell cycle arrest. J. Virol. 74, 6520–6527. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.14.6520-6527.2000
- Zhu, Y., Gelbard, H. A., Roshal, M., Pursell, S., Jamieson, B. D., and Planelles, V. (2001). Comparison of cell cycle arrest, transactivation, and apoptosis induced by the simian immunodeficiency virus SIVagm and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr genes. J. Virol. 75, 3791–3801. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.8.3791-3801.2001
- Zimmerman, E. S., Chen, J., Andersen, J. L., Ardon, O., Dehart, J. L., Blackett, J., et al. (2004). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr-mediated G2 arrest requires Rad17 and Hus1 and induces nuclear BRCA1 and gamma-H2AX focus formation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 9286–9294. doi: 10.1128/MCB.24.21.9286-9294.2004

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 07 February 2013; accepted: 12 March 2014; published online: 31 March 2014.

Citation: Guenzel CA, Hérate C and Benichou S (2014) HIV-1 Vpr—a still "enigmatic multitasker". Front. Microbiol. 5:127. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00127

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Guenzel, Hérate and Benichou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



DNA damage repair machinery and HIV escape from innate immune sensing

Christelle Brégnard, Monsef Benkirane* and Nadine Laguette*

Laboratoire de Virologie Moléculaire, Institut de Génétique Humaine, CNRS UPR1142, Montpellier, France

Edited by:

Frank Kirchhoff, University Clinic Ulm, Germany

Reviewed by:

Youichi Suzuki, National University of Singapore, Singapore Wiesmüller Lisa, Ulm University, Germany

*Correspondence:

Nadine Laguette and Monsef Benkirane, Laboratoire de Virologie Moléculaire, Institut de Génétique Humaine, CNRS UPR1142, 141, Rue de la Cardonille, Montpellier 34000, France

e-mail: nadine.laguette@igh.cnrs.fr; monsef.benkirane@igh.cnrs.fr

INTRODUCTION

Efficient human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) replication in target cells relies on its ability to use cellular resources and to overthrow host defense mechanisms. Indeed, viral fitness is defined by both the availability of cellular dependency factors and the ability to escape cellular blocks. One of the most challenging steps of HIV life cycle is the delivery of its single stranded RNA (ssRNA) genome and its conversion into double stranded DNA (dsDNA) in the host cell without inducing innate immune responses. Indeed, cellular "sensors" specialized in the recognition of foreign or pathological nucleic acids are present in different compartments through which viruses enter target cell. These nucleic acid sensors belong to the pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) family that recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and subsequently trigger a signaling cascade that culminates in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including antiviral interferon (IFN; for review Kawai and Akira, 2006). Once recognition established, a signaling cascade is triggered, endowing an antiviral state and a cellular response aiming to clear the infection. In the course of reverse transcription of the HIV ssRNA genome into dsDNA, several intermediate, and sometime abortive, nucleic acid species are generated, including DNA:RNA hybrids, DNA flap structures and dsDNA. Exposure of these in the cytoplasm engages various sensors. Those include Toll like receptor 7 (TLR7) that detects viral RNA in endosomes (Beignon et al., 2005), Gamma-interferon-inducible protein 16 (IFI16) that recognizes virus-derived DNA in the cytoplasm of lymphoid quiescent CD4 T cells (Monroe et al., 2013) and the cyclic guanosine monophosphate-adenosine monophosphate synthase (cGAS; Gao et al., 2013).

To avoid recognition of reverse-transcription intermediates, viral genomes are protected within the capsid core. If uncoating

Viruses have been long known to perturb cell cycle regulators and key players of the DNA damage response to benefit their life cycles. In the case of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), the viral auxiliary protein Vpr activates the structure-specific endonuclease SLX4 complex to promote escape from innate immune sensing and, as a side effect, induces replication stress in cycling cells and subsequent cell cycle arrest at the G2/M transition. This novel pathway subverted by HIV to prevent accumulation of viral reverse transcription by-products adds up to facilitating effects of major cellular exonucleases that degrade pathological DNA species. Within this review we discuss the impact of this finding on our understanding of the interplay between HIV replication and nucleic acid metabolism and its implications for cancer-related chronic inflammation.

Keywords: DNA damage response, innate immunity, HIV, Vpr, G2/M arrest, SLX4 complex

is correctly orchestrated, this ensures delivery of fully reversetranscribed viral genomes into the nucleus that are subsequently integrated into the host cell genome, a pre-requisite for the establishment of productive infection. However, as reviewed in Yan and Hasan within this issue, while few viruses efficiently undergo these steps, abortive infection events also occur, leading to accumulation of "junk" nucleic acid species in the host cell cytoplasm that may be detected and thereby have adverse effects on the infection. The frailty of viral reverse-transcription is highlighted by the plethora of antiviral factors that target this specific step. Those include three of the prototypical restriction factors. Although their mechanism of action being beyond the scope of this review, it is worthy to mention that Tripartite Motif 5 alpha (TRIM5α) causes untimely uncoating, leading to premature exposure of virus-derived nucleic acid species in the host cell cytoplasm, apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing, enzyme-catalytic, polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) induces hypermutations in the viral genome generating non-functional unstable genomes and SAM domain and HD domain 1 (SAMHD1) deprives the viral reverse transcriptase of the deoxynucleoside building blocks required for its action (Malim and Bieniasz, 2012 and this review series).

Escape from innate immune sensing is therefore paramount to the establishment of productive viral infections. In recent years, several lines of evidence have shown that HIV has evolved highly specialized mechanisms to elude cellular blocks. For example, blocks imposed by restriction factors are mostly overcome through the use of viral accessory proteins (Vpx, Vpr, Nef, Vif, Vpu). Accessory proteins, initially qualified as such because unrequired for *in vitro* replication in permissive cells, are encoded by lentiviral genomes in addition to the essential structural and enzymatic proteins required for mature viral particles production (Gag, Pol, Env, Tat, and Rev). Additional mechanisms deployed by viruses to avoid innate immune sensing include a direct action on the IFN signaling cascade: inhibition of IFN synthesis, IFN receptor decoy and inhibition of IFN signaling (for review Stetson and Medzhitov, 2006; Broz and Monack, 2013). HIV also takes advantage of pre-existing cellular processes. Importantly, while cellular nucleic acid sensors recognize virus-derived nucleic acids and thereby detect incoming virions, they also play crucial roles in cellular metabolism and are usually constitutively expressed. They may therefore detect the presence of nucleic acid species resulting from DNA damage-associated repair mechanism or endogenous retroelement life cycle. Thus, cellular processes co-exist to prevent accumulation of abnormal self-nucleic acids, thereby preventing auto-initiation of pro-inflammatory responses (for review Yan and Hasan). These include major cellular exonucleases that have also been shown to positively impact of HIV life cycle: ribonuclease H2 (RNaseH2) and three prime repair exonuclease 1 (TREX1) (Yan et al., 2010; Genovesio et al., 2011). Importantly, these proteins involved in nucleic acid metabolism belong to a family of genes that, when mutated, lead to the Aicardi-Gouttière syndrome (AGS). This rare autosomal recessive genetic encephalopathy is characterized by neurological dysfunctions, intracranial calcifications, brain atrophy, psychomotor retardation and increased plasma levels of IFN that lead to chronic inflammation (Lebon et al., 1988). We recently established that the SLX4 structure-specific endonuclease regulator complex also acts as a facilitator of HIV infection (Laguette et al., 2014). This finding bears substantial similarities with what was shown for the TREX1 exonuclease. Indeed, similar to TREX1, the SLX4 complex is involved in nucleic acid metabolism and plays crucial roles in the repair of DNA lesions. In addition, the core component of this complex is the SLX4 molecular scaffold that assembles structure-specific endonuclease modules. Biallelic mutations in SLX4 are involved in the onset of Fanconi anemia (FA), a cancer predisposition syndrome characterized by congenital malformations, hypersensitivity to DNA interstrand cross-linking agents and progressive bone marrow failure (Sasaki and Tonomura, 1973). In addition, FA patients experience heightened pro-inflammatory cytokines levels (Whitney et al., 1996; Rathbun et al., 1997; Dufour et al., 2003; Briot et al., 2008). The latter is a feature shared with AGS patients and supports a potential link between proteins involved in DNA damage response and the development of inflammatory responses. These recent findings also shed a new light on the implication on proteins involved in the maintenance of genomic stability and the HIV life cycle.

CROSS-TALK BETWEEN CELL CYCLE REGULATION MACHINERY AND VIRAL INFECTIONS

Viruses have been long known to keep a privileged relationship with cell cycle regulatory mechanisms. Indeed, an estimated 20% of human cancers arise from infection with DNA or RNA viruses. Malignancy frequently results from side-tracking of cell cycle regulatory elements. A stricking example is virus-driven oncogenesis that results from subversion of the boundaries between the DNA replication step (S), segregation of sister chromatids (mitosis) and gap phases (G1 and G2). This is frequently achieved through viral non-structural proteins that modulate cell cycle regulators. Transforming viruses essentially subvert the G1/S boundary, thereby pushing cells into proliferation. In the case of the retrovirus HTLV-I, that encodes several potential oncogenes, the well-studied Tax protein is necessary and sufficient to initiate cellular transformation, while the HBz protein is required for its maintenance (Gatza et al., 2003). Similarly, HBx from the DNA virus HBV has the ability to transform immortalized cell lines and to provoke liver cancer in mice (Kim et al., 1991). Small DNA tumor viruses often encode potent oncoproteins that can cause cellular transformation in vitro [for example E6/E7 from HPV - for review (Howley and Livingston, 2009)]. In contrast certain viruses such as EBV require the concerted action of several proteins to achieve cellular transformation (Kutok and Wang, 2006).

Importantly, manipulation of the cell cycle or of cell cycle regulators is not solely confined to transforming viruses. Indeed, several DNA and RNA viruses are able to cause cell cycle arrest at the G2/M transition, including HIV (Davy and Doorbar, 2007). The molecular mechanisms underlying virus-induced G2/M arrest vary widely and have been extensively studied. Nonetheless, the understanding of the biological end-point of G2/M arrest remains poor despite suggestions that G2/M arrest may decrease propensity to secrete IFN (Lee and Rozee, 1970), increase RNA production rates (Lee and Rozee, 1970), and overall boost early step of the HIV life cycle (Groschel and Bushman, 2005). Subversion of the host cell cycle by HIV-1 relies on the highly conserved viral protein regulatory (Vpr) protein that causes a potent G2/M arrest in most cycling eukaryotic cells (Di Marzio et al., 1995; He et al., 1995; Jowett et al., 1995; Re et al., 1995; Rogel et al., 1995).

From a mechanistic stand point, Vpr-induced G2/M arrest is a well-documented phenotype. To understand how G2/M arrest is achieved, it is necessary to recapitulate the mechanism underlying this cell cycle check-point (for more details see Guenzel et al, this issue). Indeed, in healthy cells, the G2/M transition is controlled by Cyclin-dependent kinase1:CyclinB1 (CDK1:CCNB1). As cells progress through G2, CDK1:CCNB1 is progressively activated and once the G2/M boundary crossed, the complex is inactivated. The G2/M check-point serves as a quality-control step during the replication of the cellular genome that ensures the transmission to daughter cells of a complete unaltered set of chromosomes. Thus, when genotoxic stress is incurred, entry into mitosis is prevented to provide an opportunity to repair genomic lesions (Stark and Taylor, 2006). This is achieved through preventing CDK1:CCNB1 activation (Sanchez et al., 1997). This response is regulated through a signaling cascade that involves detection of the DNA lesion by the key DNA damage response regulators ataxia-telangiectasia-mutated kinase (ATM), ATM and Rad3-related kinase (ATR), and DNA-dependent protein kinase [DNA-PK; for review (Smith et al., 2010; Sirbu and Cortez, 2013)]. When damaged DNA or unreplicated regions of the genome are detected, these kinases activate downstream CHK1 or CHK2 that in turn inactivate CDK1:CCNB1 (Lopez-Girona et al., 1999).

Similar to what is observed following genotoxic stress, Vpr expression activates ATR, ATM, and the downstream CHK1/CHK2

kinases (Roshal et al., 2003; Munoz et al., 2009), thereby inactivating CDK1:CCNB1. In agreement, treatment of Vprexpressing cells with caffeine, which inhibits ATR and ATM, relieves the cell cycle block (Poon et al., 1997; Shostak et al., 1999). Intriguingly, although mobilization onto sub-regions of the chromatin of breast cancer susceptibility protein 1 (BRCA1) and yH2ax have been reported upon Vpr expression, it remains unclear whether actual DNA breaks occur in the presence of Vpr and whether these lesions would be the trigger for cell cycle arrest. Rather, the prevailing view is that Vpr mediates ATR-dependent replication stress. Importantly, since the only consensual cellular partner of Vpr for the induction of G2/M arrest is the VPRBP-DDB1-CUL4 E3-ligase complex (Belzile et al., 2007; DeHart et al., 2007; Hrecka et al., 2007; Le Rouzic et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2007; Wen et al., 2007), it was assumed that Vpr would provoke the proteasomal degradation of a cell cycle regulatory element governing the G2/M transition. We recently identified the SLX4 complex as being the Vpr partner required for G2/M arrest (Laguette et al., 2014). Indeed, the structure specific endonucleases ERCC4XPF-ERCC1 and MUS81-EME1 together with the SLX4^{FANCP} scaffold protein co-purified with Vpr as well as the poorly characterized TSPYL1 and C20orf94^{SLX4IP} subunits. Vpr binds to the C-terminus of SLX4, inducing the recruitment of VPRBP and kinase-active PLK1. This leads to VPRBP-induced ubiquitination of MUS81 and hyperphosphorylation of EME1, the consequence of which being activation of SLX4-associated MUS81-EME1. Vpr-induced untimely activation of SLX4-bound MUS81-EME1 results in replication stress, ultimately leading to G2/M cell cycle arrest (Laguette et al., 2014).

VIRAL PROTEIN REGULATORY AND SLX4 COMPLEX REGULATION

Vpr AND THE FANCONI ANEMIA PATHWAY

SLX4, also as known as FANCP, together with the fifteen additional identified FA or FA-like proteins, is involved in the FA DNA repair pathway. This pathway has been extensively described in reviews (Garner and Smogorzewska, 2011; Su and Huang, 2011; Constantinou, 2012). Briefly, FANCM binds chromatin at damage sites and recruits the E3 ubiquitin ligase activitycontaining FA core complex (Kim et al., 2008). The FA core complex monoubiquitinates FANCD2-FANCI and stabilizes them at sites of damage (Garcia-Higuera et al., 2001). FANCD2-FANCI subsequently activate DNA repair proteins, including the SLX4 complex (Yamamoto et al., 2011). The latter is involved in the repair of double strand breaks, interstrand cross-links (ICL), and collapsed/damaged replication forks by homologous recombination (HR; Munoz et al., 2009; Svendsen et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2011; Stoepker et al., 2011). HR allows accurate repair by using the sister chromatid as a template and leads to the formation of four-way DNA structures, Holliday junctions (HJ), that must be removed prior to chromosome segregation. It is important to note that in somatic cells, the favored pathway to remove HJ relies on non-endonucleolytic dissolution by Bloom (BLM)-related helicases, a process that prevents sister chromatid exchanges (Wu and Hickson, 2003). Sister chromatid exchanges are particularly disfavored in somatic cells because they may engender loss of heterozygosity thereby predisposing cells to cancer (Matos et al., 2011, 2013; Gallo-Fernandez et al., 2012; Dehe et al., 2013; Saugar et al., 2013; Szakal and Branzei, 2013). However, in certain cases, for example in the absence of BLM or when the levels of damage incurred are above those that can be salvaged through dissolution, structure-specific endonucleases activities associated with the SLX4 complex may be mobilized (Schwartz and Heyer, 2011; Garner et al., 2013). *In vitro* studies have shown that SLX4–SLX1 (Fekairi et al., 2009; Munoz et al., 2009; Svendsen et al., 2009) and MUS81-EME1 have 5' and 3' endonuclease activities, respectively (Boddy et al., 2001; Doe et al., 2002; Ciccia et al., 2003; Gaillard et al., 2003). However, SLX4-associated resolvase activity requires interaction of SLX1 and MUS81-EME1 with the SLX4 scaffold (Castor et al., 2013; Garner et al., 2013; Wyatt et al., 2013).

Because activation of MUS81-EME1 during S phase may cause pathological processing of healthy replication forks (Dehe et al., 2013; Matos et al., 2013; Saugar et al., 2013) and replication stress (Blais et al., 2004; Matos et al., 2013; Szakal and Branzei, 2013), under physiological conditions and when DNA damage is incurred, acquisition of MUS81-EME1 endonuclease activity is under tight regulatory circuits. Those ensure that MUS81-EME1 activity is mostly confined to late G2-early M, when bulk DNA synthesis has been completed (Dehe et al., 2013; Saugar et al., 2013). The molecular mechanism underlying Mus81-Mms4^{EME1} regulation has been extensively studied, and is achieved through phosphorylation of EME^{Mms4} by PLK1^{Cdc5} in budding yeast and in mammalian cells (Matos et al., 2011; Gallo-Fernandez et al., 2012; Saugar et al., 2013) or Cdc2^{CDK1} in fission yeast (Dehe et al., 2013). Importantly, work in mammalian cells has recently shown that MUS81-EME1 is regulated through phosphorylation of EME1 within the SLX4 complex (Castor et al., 2013; Garner et al., 2013; Wyatt et al., 2013).

Importantly, interaction of Vpr with the SLX4 scaffold protein induces recruitment of VPRBP and kinase-active PLK1, thereby activating the MUS81-EME1 endonuclease module independently of the cell cycle stage (Figure 1). This results in replication stress as visualized by accumulation of FANCD2 on sub-regions of the chromatin that likely mark the sites of abnormal processing of replication intermediates (Naim and Rosselli, 2009). Thus, as supported by previous work, Vpr causes cell cycle arrest through a S phase-dependent mechanism (Li et al., 2010), which is congruent with activation of the ATR pathway in Vpr expressing cells (Roshal et al., 2003; Lobrich and Jeggo, 2007). Interestingly, SLX4 has also been identified as an ATR substrate (Matsuoka et al., 2007; Mu et al., 2007) and in yeast, phosphorylation of Eme1 requires Rad53^{ATR} activation (Dehe et al., 2013). Thus, aberrant processing of stalled replication forks by Vpractivated SLX4-associated MUS81-EME1 would cause replication stress, ATR-CHK1 pathway activation, resulting in inhibition of CDC25C. This signaling cascade will ultimately lead to inability of CDC25C to activate CCNB1:CDK1 and thus result in G2/M arrest (Figure 1).

Vpr AND GENOMIC INSTABILITY

The MUS81-EME1 endonuclease module plays an important role in the removal of ultrafine DNA bridges (UFBs). These DNA



FIGURE 1 |Vpr induces G2/M arrest through activation of the SLX4 complex. (1) Under physiological conditions, inactive MUS81-EME1 interact with the SLX4 scaffold. (2) Upon Vpr expression, PLK1 and VPRBP are recruited to SLX4. (3) PLK1 phosphorylates EME1 while VPRBP causes ubiquitination of MUS81. (4) These posttranslational modifications contribute to activation of SLX4-bound MUS81-EME1 that can process healthy replication forks (RF) in cycling cells. (5) This leads to activation of the ATR

structures that arise from regions of the genome that replicate at slower rates, such as centromeres and common fragile sited (CFS), are formed during the S phase and can be visualized after chromosome condensation in mitotic cells. They form bridges between sister chromatids that must be removed prior to chromosome segregation. Absence of MUS81-EME1 results in non-processing of UFBs and thus leads to CFS-associated chromosomal instability and mitotic catastrophe (Chan et al., 2009; Chan and Hickson, 2011; Wechsler et al., 2011; Naim et al., 2013; Ying et al., 2013). Accumulation of UFBs therefore causes cell cycle arrest at the G1/S transition. Intriguingly, Vpr targets MUS81 for ubiquitination by VPRBP, leading to decreased levels of MUS81 prior to G2/M arrest (Laguette et al., 2014). Since a stark increase of FANCD2 twin foci that mark the edges of UFBs (Chan et al., 2009) occurs in the presence of Vpr, this indicates that, although not complete, decreased MUS81 levels in Vpr-expressing cells may be sufficient to impair UFBs untangling prior to mitosis (Chan et al., 2009; Wechsler et al., 2011; Naim et al., 2013; Ying et al., 2013). However, Vpr-associated replication stress prevents completion of G2. This likely prevents the occurrence of mitotic catastrophe. While it is possible that additional Vpr-associated functions may prevent cells from exiting mitosis, one may also speculate that steric hindrance imposed by UFBs tying together sister chromatids may also contribute to the extent of G2/M arrest witnessed in Vpr-expressing cells (Figure 1). Thus, the complete sequence of events leading from SLX4 complex premature activation to cell cycle arrest by Vpr requires further investigations.

signaling pathway and subsequent activation of CHK1. Activated CHK1 provokes inhibitory phosphorylation of CDC25C, leading to inhibition of CCNB1:CDK1 and cell cycle arrest at the G2/M transition. (4') In addition, ubiquitinated MUS81 molecules are degraded by the proteasome machinery, leading to decreased steady-state levels of MUS81. (5') Consequently, UFBs are not processed and persist in Mitosis. This possibly contributes to overall G2/M arrest in Vpr expressing cells.

VIRAL PROTEIN REGULATORY AND INNATE IMMUNITY

One interesting feature of Vpr is that disruption of the corresponding open reading frame (ORF) results in inefficient viral spread *ex vivo* particularly in primary macrophages (Connor et al., 1995) while its most studied molecular function is to halt cell cycle progression. This conundrum has puzzled the HIV field for several years but little was understood about how these two observations can be reconciled until recent work (Laguette et al., 2014).

Infection with an HIV-1 molecular clone harboring a deletion of the Vpr ORF causes an increase of IFN production as compared to infection with wild type HIV-1 (Okumura et al., 2008; Doehle et al., 2009; Laguette et al., 2014). This HIVinduced IFN production is augmented following SLX4 complex subunits (SLX4, VPRBP, and MUS81) knock-down, suggesting that the presence of the SLX4 complex is required for inhibition of HIV-dependent type 1 IFN production. Furthermore, the SLX4 complex binds HIV-1-derived reverse transcribed DNA in presence of Vpr, suggesting that Vpr is required for this interaction. In addition, in the absence of SLX4, there is an increase of HIV DNA in infected cells. This further suggests that the SLX4 complex is required to degrade excess HIV-derived nucleic acids susceptible of triggering innate immune responses. While the MUS81-EME1 endonuclease module appears to be required for this process one cannot exclude contribution of additional SLX4-bound endonucleases. Indeed, SLX4-SLX1 interaction is required for SLX4 complex associated resolvase activity and SLX1 expression is required for Vpr-mediated cell cycle arrest (Laguette et al., 2014). Overall, similar to TREX1 and RNaseH2, the SLX4 complex would prevent sensing of excess nucleic acids derived from HIV reverse transcription (Figure 2). Importantly, RNaseH2 and TREX1 preferentially degrade DNA within DNA:RNA hybrids (Haruki et al., 2002) and ssDNA substrates, respectively (Mazur and Perrino, 2001) while SLX4-bound MUS81-EME1 presumably target dsDNA structures (Fadden et al., 2013). While all these nucleic acid species arise in the course of HIV reverse transcription, the relative contribution of these nucleases remains to be evaluated. Furthermore, SLX4-mediated nucleic acids processing would lead to the generation of DNA fragments that likely require further processing to avoid recognition. This leaves several questions open amongst which are: what is the sensor triggered in the absence of SLX4 and what are the nucleases mobilized to clear SLX4-processed DNA fragments? These processes may rely on previously identified key players in viral life cycles. However, one must bear in mind that the SLX4 scaffold can bind to additional proteins involved in DNA metabolism and is as such involved in several additional pathways, including Telomere maintenance and DNA mismatch repair (Svendsen et al., 2009). Whether these may intervene in the degradation of virus derived nucleic acids is also to be explored.

As previously mentioned, FA is associated with high production of pro-inflammatory cytokine in patients. This can be recapitulated *in vitro* in *SLX4*-deficient patient cells (Kim et al., 2011) and also in mouse embryonic fibroblasts knocked-out of MUS81 (McPherson et al., 2004) through the activation of NF-κB pathway (Laguette et al., 2014). This leads to the establishment of an antiviral state that likely accounts for the inability of these cells to support efficient HIV replication. While this bears similarities with what is observed in TREX1 deficiency, the endogenous trigger for SLX4 complex activation remains unknown. Those may include, nucleic acids derived from processing of aberrant replication intermediates or endogenous retroviruses. Elucidating the trigger for spontaneous upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in FA is likely to be the next horizon in the field. This would possibly provide insight into the molecular basis of FA-associated chronic inflammation. In addition, Vpr has been shown to modulate immune responses at additional levels. This includes impairment of DC/macrophage maturation, disruption of natural killer T cells effector functions, increased apoptosis of cytotoxic T cells and disruption of T cell activation pathways (reviewed in Ayinde et al., 2010). Thus, Vpr compromises the establishment of adaptive immune responses. How inhibition of pro-inflammatory cytokines by Vpr through



FIGURE 2 |Vpr-induced SLX4 complex activation promotes escape from innate immune sensing. (1) Premature delivery of viral genomes in the cytoplasm of host cells may lead to recognition by nucleic acid sensors. (2) Editing by APOBEC3G and dNTP hydrolysis by SAMHD1 induce viral DNA instability and impair reverse transcription. Of note, a nuclease activity has been described for SAMHD1 which may target viral nucleic acids. (3) APOBEC3G and SAMHD1 contribute to generate abortive RT by-products which are taken care of by cellular exonucleases: RNaseH2 degrades DNA:RNA hybrids while TREX1 degrades ssDNA preferentially. (3') Abortive nucleic acid intermediates may also be directly degraded by RNaseH2 and TREX1. (4) The SLX4 structure specific endonuclease complex is activated by Vpr and likely cleaves dsDNA. Whether these dsDNA fragments are further degraded by cellular exonucleases or may be recognized by nucleic acid sensors remains questioned. (1') When uncoating is correctly orchestrated, viral nucleic acids are protected from mechanisms described in 1–4, and ensures delivery of viral genomes in the nucleus.
activation of SLX4 complex contributes to this process remains to be explored.

DNA DAMAGE RESPONSE AND INNATE IMMUNITY

Initiation of the DNA damage response usually requires recognition of abnormal nucleic acid species in the nucleus and the triggering of a signaling cascade that orchestrates repair. This process bears similarities with what is witnessed when virusderived nucleic acids are delivered into host cells. Those are recognized by sensors that trigger a signaling cascade aiming at clearing the infection. It has been widely speculated that the nucleic acid-based repository of the information required for de novo virus production is difficultly modified by viruses to promote escape; it constitutes a prime target for cellular sensors. Recent work has placed key players of the DNA damage response on the front line of pathogen recognition. For example DNA-PK has been shown to act as a PRR for DNA and RNA viruses (Zhang et al., 2011; Ferguson et al., 2012). Indeed, DNA-PK is involved in DNA damage response, more particularly in the repair of double-strand breaks and these functions are related to its nuclear localization (for review Davis and Chen, 2013). However, this complex is also found in the cytoplasm where it can bind nucleic acids and activates the production of IFN. This highlights how overlapping mechanisms have evolved for the recognition of pathological nucleic acid species. Furthermore, inflammation impacts every step of tumorigenesis, from initiation to metastatic progression. Tumor-promoting inflammation may either result from environmental factors, as clearly identified in the case of exposure to asbestos for example, or from chronic viral infections and attempts of the immune system to eliminate those. This results in a feed-forward regulatory loop that favors chronic production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, supporting tumorigenesis. Indeed, it is recognized that subclinical, often undetectable, inflammation increases cancer risk (reviewed in Grivennikov et al., 2010). Thus, persistent DNA damage or inability to repair broken DNA may lead to tumorpromoting chronic inflammation (Zheng et al., 2007; Rodier et al., 2009).

Cellular mechanisms exist that serve to avoid the accumulation of pathological nucleic acid species susceptible of triggering innate immune responses. These include the previously mentioned TREX1 exonuclease and the SLX4 complex. Intriguingly, TREX1 that was initially described to be involved in DNA base excision repair (Mazur and Perrino, 2001), also degrades ssDNA derived from aberrant replication intermediates and thus similar to the SLX4 complex is involved in DNA damage response (Yang et al., 2007; Gehrke et al., 2013). Thus, like in TREX1 deficiency, absence of the SLX4 complex may lead to accumulation of pathological nucleic acids in the cytoplasm. Recognition of those by a yet to be identified sensor, activates the immune system.

Importantly, HIV is not the sole virus affected by cellular enzymes involved in DNA metabolism. Indeed, several DNA viruses can be targeted by cellular factors involved in DNA damage response. For example, the genome of the Adenovirus or Herpes Simplex Virus type 1 (HSV-1) can be targeted by protein complexes that control the non-homologous end-joining DNA repair pathway [reviewed in Weitzman et al. (2010)]. These viruses have evolved potent ways of counteracting these proteins that operate as potential restriction factors. This can be compared to what is witnessed during HIV infection in the presence of SAMHD1. Indeed, this HIV restriction factor has been shown, in addition to depleting the dNTP pool (Lahouassa et al., 2012), to have *in vitro* nuclease activity (Beloglazova et al., 2013).

While there is accumulating evidence that proteins involved in DNA repair are involved in viral life cycles, recent work has also shown that proteins previously identified as counteractors of HIV infection are in fact involved in the DNA damage response. This is the case for APOBEC proteins where mutation patterns were found in human cancers (Leonard et al., 2013; Roberts et al., 2013) and SAMHD1. In the case of SAMHD1, recent work has highlighted that SAMHD1 may qualify as a tumor suppressor gene, and thus play roles in DNA damage response, through its ability to regulate the dNTP pool (Clifford et al., 2014; Kretschmer et al., 2014), the levels of these being important for genome stability (Mathews, 2006). Although this SAMHD1 function has been essentially described to be involved in HIV restriction, it may also be related to increased IFN production in AGS. Moreover, RNaseH2, as previously mentioned, is also involved in AGS and degrades RNA in DNA:RNA hybrids and thus may also prevent chronic inflammation (Rice et al., 2007). Importantly, both SAMHD1 and APOBEC3G have been shown to control endogenous retrotransposition (Esnault et al., 2006; Zhao et al., 2013). Since absence of SAMHD1 also correlates with increased pro-inflammatory cytokine production, one may also speculate about the trigger for this response and whether there is a correlation between inefficient DNA repair or endogenous retroelement retrotransposition in the absence of SAMHD1 and chronic inflammation. Similarly, the origin of chronic inflammation in SLX4-deficiency remains to be identified and may include residual nucleic acids resulting from processing of aberrant replication intermediates or endogenous retroelements.

CONCLUSION

Although host cells oppose numerous blocks to HIV replication, several mechanisms have evolved to counteract those. While defective viruses may elicit pro-inflammatory responses, viruses that establish productive infections remain mostly protected from cellular defenses. Viral accessory proteins are specialized in mediating this escape, in part through counteraction of cellular restriction factors. Interestingly, restriction factors have also been recently reported to play a role in detection of viral infections (PRR). Thus, viral accessory proteins, though their degradation simultaneously achieve escape from recognition and overthrowing of mediators of the antiviral responses. This complex array of interactions between innate immune responses and viral replication is still poorly understood. While new insight into the role of the DNA damage response machinery in this process may add a further layer of complexity, this may also provide with an additional way to identify sensors that detect incoming viruses and escape mechanisms.

In addition to the described role of Vpr in arresting the cell cycle and promoting escape from innate immune sensing, this

HIV accessory protein has been shown to play several additional roles in HIV life cycle. Indeed, Vpr contributes to fidelity of reverse transcription (Stark and Hay, 1998), nuclear transport of the pre-integration complex (Heinzinger et al., 1994). Vpr also promotes the transactivation of LTR promoter (Felzien et al., 1998), and induction of apoptosis (Stewart et al., 1997). Do these also result from Vpr-induced activation of the SLX4 complex or do they rely on additional interactions established by Vpr? Importantly, in addition to interacting with structurespecific endonucleases, the SLX4 molecular toolkit also recruits MSH2-MSH3 and TRF2-RAP1 (Svendsen et al., 2009) and is involved in additional cellular functions, including Telomere maintenance, which may be altered upon binding to Vpr. For example, since SLX4 inhibits over-lengthening of telomeric ends, Vpr-induced activation of the SLX4 complex may lead to Telomere shortening and cell death. Whether this is related to increased apoptosis witnessed in Vpr-expressing cells is yet to be explored.

The discovery of the SLX4 complex as being involved in inhibition of pro-inflammatory responses opens new avenues in the understanding of the interplay between innate immune responses and HIV infection. This work also opens new perspectives in the understanding of the molecular mechanism underlying cancer related chronic inflammation. Based on the fact that proinflammatory cytokine production is witnessed in all cancers, one may anticipate that additional DNA damage repair mechanisms may be involved in pathogen recognition and inhibition of spontaneous pro-inflammatory cytokine production.

REFERENCES

- Ayinde, D., Maudet, C., Transy, C., and Margottin-Goguet, F. (2010). Limelight on two HIV/SIV accessory proteins in macrophage infection: is Vpx overshadowing Vpr? *Retrovirology* 7, 35. doi: 10.1186/1742-46 90-7-35
- Beignon, A. S., McKenna, K., Skoberne, M., Manches, O., Dasilva, I., Kavanagh, D. G., et al. (2005). Endocytosis of HIV-1 activates plasmacytoid dendritic cells via Toll-like receptor-viral RNA interactions. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 3265–3275. doi: 10.1172/JCI26032
- Beloglazova, N., Flick, R., Tchigvintsev, A., Brown, G., Popovic, A., Nocek, B., et al. (2013). Nuclease activity of the human SAMHD1 protein implicated in the Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and HIV-1 restriction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 8101– 8110. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.431148
- Belzile, J. P., Duisit, G., Rougeau, N., Mercier, J., Finzi, A., and Cohen, E. A. (2007). HIV-1 Vpr-mediated G2 arrest involves the DDB1-CUL4AVPRBP E3 ubiquitin ligase. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e85. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.00 30085
- Blais, V., Gao, H., Elwell, C. A., Boddy, M. N., Gaillard, P. H., Russell, P., et al. (2004). RNA interference inhibition of Mus81 reduces mitotic recombination in human cells. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 15, 552–562. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E03-08-0580
- Boddy, M. N., Gaillard, P. H., McDonald, W. H., Shanahan, P., Yates, J. R. III, and Russell, P. (2001). Mus81-Eme1 are essential components of a Holliday junction resolvase. *Cell* 107, 537–548. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01) 00536-0
- Briot, D., Mace-Aime, G., Subra, F., and Rosselli, F. (2008). Aberrant activation of stress-response pathways leads to TNF-alpha oversecretion in Fanconi anemia. *Blood* 111, 1913–1923. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-07-099218
- Broz, P., and Monack, D. M. (2013). Newly described pattern recognition receptors team up against intracellular pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 13, 551–565. doi: 10.1038/nri3479
- Castor, D., Nair, N., Declais, A. C., Lachaud, C., Toth, R., Macartney, T. J., et al. (2013). Cooperative control of holliday junction resolution and DNA

repair by the SLX1 and MUS81-EME1 nucleases. *Mol. Cell* 52, 221–233. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013.08.036

- Chan, K. L., and Hickson, I. D. (2011). New insights into the formation and resolution of ultra-fine anaphase bridges. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 22, 906–912. doi: 10.1016/j.semcdb.2011.07.001
- Chan, K. L., Palmai-Pallag, T., Ying, S., and Hickson, I. D. (2009). Replication stress induces sister-chromatid bridging at fragile site loci in mitosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 753–760. doi: 10.1038/ncb1882
- Ciccia, A., Constantinou, A., and West, S. C. (2003). Identification and characterization of the human mus81-eme1 endonuclease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 25172–25178. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M302882200
- Clifford, R., Louis, T., Robbe, P., Ackroyd, S., Burns, A., Timbs, A. T., et al. (2014). SAMHD1 is mutated recurrently in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and is involved in response to DNA damage. *Blood* 123, 1021–1031. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-04-490847
- Connor, R. I., Chen, B. K., Choe, S., and Landau, N. R. (1995). Vpr is required for efficient replication of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 in mononuclear phagocytes. *Virology* 206, 935–944. doi: 10.1006/viro. 1995.1016
- Constantinou, A. (2012). Rescue of replication failure by Fanconi anaemia proteins. *Chromosoma* 121, 21–36. doi: 10.1007/s00412-011-0349-2
- Davis, A. J., and Chen, D. J. (2013). DNA double strand break repair via non-homologous end-joining. *Transl. Cancer Res.* 2, 130–143. doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2218-676X.2013.04.02
- Davy, C., and Doorbar, J. (2007). G2/M cell cycle arrest in the life cycle of viruses. *Virology* 368, 219–226. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2007.05.043
- DeHart, J. L., Zimmerman, E. S., Ardon, O., Monteiro-Filho, C. M., Arganaraz, E. R., and Planelles, V. (2007). HIV-1 Vpr activates the G2 checkpoint through manipulation of the ubiquitin proteasome system. *Virol. J.* 4, 57. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-4-57
- Dehe, P. M., Coulon, S., Scaglione, S., Shanahan, P., Takedachi, A., Wohlschlegel, J. A., et al. (2013). Regulation of Mus81-Eme1 Holliday junction resolvase in response to DNA damage. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 20, 598–603. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2550nsmb.2550
- Di Marzio, P., Choe, S., Ebright, M., Knoblauch, R., and Landau, N. R. (1995). Mutational analysis of cell cycle arrest, nuclear localization and virion packaging of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr. J. Virol. 69, 7909–7916.
- Doe, C. L., Ahn, J. S., Dixon, J., and Whitby, M. C. (2002). Mus81-Eme1 and Rqh1 involvement in processing stalled and collapsed replication forks. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 32753–32759. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M202120200
- Doehle, B. P., Hladik, F., McNevin, J. P., McElrath, M. J., and Gale, M. (2009). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 mediates global disruption of innate antiviral signaling and immune defenses within infected cells. *J. Virol.* 83, 10395–10405. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00849-09
- Dufour, C., Corcione, A., Svahn, J., Haupt, R., Poggi, V., Beka'ssy, A. N., et al. (2003). TNF-alpha and IFN-gamma are overexpressed in the bone marrow of Fanconi anemia patients and TNF-alpha suppresses erythropoiesis in vitro. *Blood* 102, 2053–2059. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-01-0114
- Esnault, C., Millet, J., Schwartz, O., and Heidmann, T. (2006). Dual inhibitory effects of APOBEC family proteins on retrotransposition of mammalian endogenous retroviruses. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 1522–1531. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl054
- Fadden, A. J., Schalbetter, S., Bowles, M., Harris, R., Lally, J., Carr, A. M., et al. (2013). A winged helix domain in human MUS81 binds DNA and modulates the endonuclease activity of MUS81 complexes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 9741–9752. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt760
- Fekairi, S., Scaglione, S., Chahwan, C., Taylor, E. R., Tissier, A., Coulon, S., et al. (2009). Human SLX4 is a Holliday junction resolvase subunit that binds multiple DNA repair/recombination endonucleases. *Cell* 138, 78–89. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.029
- Felzien, L. K., Woffendin, C., Hottiger, M. O., Subbramanian, R. A., Cohen, E. A., and Nabel, G. J. (1998). HIV transcriptional activation by the accessory protein, VPR, is mediated by the p300 co-activator. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 5281–5286. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.9.5281
- Ferguson, B. J., Mansur, D. S., Peters, N. E., Ren, H., and Smith, G. L. (2012). DNA-PK is a DNA sensor for IRF-3-dependent innate immunity. *Elife* 1, e00047. doi: 10.7554/eLife.00047

- Gaillard, P. H., Noguchi, E., Shanahan, P., and Russell, P. (2003). The endogenous Mus81-Eme1 complex resolves Holliday junctions by a nick and counternick mechanism. *Mol. Cell* 12, 747–759. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03) 00342-3
- Gallo-Fernandez, M., Saugar, I., Ortiz-Bazan, M. A., Vazquez, M. V., and Tercero, J. A. (2012). Cell cycle-dependent regulation of the nuclease activity of Mus81-Eme1/Mms4. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 40, 8325–8335. doi: 10.1093/nar/ gks599
- Gao, D., Wu, J., Wu, Y. T., Du, F., Aroh, C., Yan, N., et al. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses. *Science* 341, 903–906. doi: 10.1126/science.1240933
- Garcia-Higuera, I., Taniguchi, T., Ganesan, S., Meyn, M. S., Timmers, C., Hejna, J., et al. (2001). Interaction of the Fanconi anemia proteins and BRCA1 in a common pathway. *Mol. Cell* 7, 249–262. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(01) 00173-3
- Garner, E., Kim, Y., Lach, F. P., Kottemann, M. C., and Smogorzewska, A. (2013). Human GEN1 and the SLX4-associated nucleases MUS81 and SLX1 are essential for the resolution of replication-induced Holliday junctions. *Cell Rep.* 5, 207–215. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.08.041
- Garner, E., and Smogorzewska, A. (2011). Ubiquitylation and the Fanconi anemia pathway. *FEBS Lett.* 585, 2853–2860. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2011. 04.078
- Gatza, M. L., Watt, J. C., and Marriott, S. J. (2003). Cellular transformation by the HTLV-I Tax protein, a jack-of-all-trades. *Oncogene* 22, 5141–5149. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206549
- Gehrke, N., Mertens, C., Zillinger, T., Wenzel, J., Bald, T., Zahn, S., et al. (2013). Oxidative damage of DNA confers resistance to cytosolic nuclease TREX1 degradation and potentiates STING-dependent immune sensing. *Immunity* 39, 482–495. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.004
- Genovesio, A., Kwon, Y. J., Windisch, M. P., Kim, N. Y., Choi, S. Y., Kim, H. C., et al. (2011). Automated genome-wide visual profiling of cellular proteins involved in HIV infection. *J. Biomol. Screen.* 16, 945–958. doi: 10.1177/10870571114 15521
- Grivennikov, S. I., Greten, F. R., and Karin, M. (2010). Immunity, inflammation, and cancer. Cell 140, 883–899. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.025
- Groschel, B., and Bushman, F. (2005). Cell cycle arrest in G2/M promotes early steps of infection by human immunodeficiency virus. *J. Virol.* 79, 5695–5704. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.9.5695-5704.2005
- Haruki, M., Tsunaka, Y., Morikawa, M., and Kanaya, S. (2002). Cleavage of a DNA-RNA-DNA/DNA chimeric substrate containing a single ribonucleotide at the DNA-RNA junction with prokaryotic RNases HII. *FEBS Lett.* 531, 204–208. doi: 10.1016/S0014-5793(02)03503-2
- He, J., Choe, S., Walker, R., Di Marzio, P., Morgan, D. O., and Landau, N. R. (1995). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral protein R (Vpr) arrests cells in the G2 phase of the cell cycle by inhibiting p34cdc2 activity. *J. Virol.* 69, 6705–6711.
- Heinzinger, N. K., Bukinsky, M. I., Haggerty, S. A., Ragland, A. M., Kewalramani, V., Lee, M. A., et al. (1994). The Vpr protein of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 influences nuclear localization of viral nucleic acids in nondividing host cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 91, 7311–7315. doi: 10.1073/pnas.91. 15.7311
- Howley, P. M., and Livingston, D. M. (2009). Small DNA tumor viruses: large contributors to biomedical sciences. *Virology* 384, 256–259. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2008.12.006
- Hrecka, K., Gierszewska, M., Srivastava, S., Kozaczkiewicz, L., Swanson, S. K., Florens, L., et al. (2007). Lentiviral Vpr usurps Cul4-DDB1[VprBP] E3 ubiquitin ligase to modulate cell cycle. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 11778–11783. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702102104
- Jowett, J. B., Planelles, V., Poon, B., Shah, N. P., Chen, M. L., and Chen, I. S. (1995). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr gene arrests infected T cells in the G2 + M phase of the cell cycle. *J. Virol.* 69, 6304–6313.
- Kawai, T., and Akira, S. (2006). Innate immune recognition of viral infection. Nat. Immunol. 7, 131–137. doi: 10.1038/ni1303
- Kim, C. M., Koike, K., Saito, I., Miyamura, T., and Jay, G. (1991). HBx gene of hepatitis B virus induces liver cancer in transgenic mice. *Nature* 351, 317–320. doi: 10.1038/351317a0
- Kim, J. M., Kee, Y., Gurtan, A., and D'Andrea, A. D. (2008). Cell cycle-dependent chromatin loading of the Fanconi anemia core complex

by FANCM/FAAP24. Blood 111, 5215–5222. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-09-113092

- Kim, Y., Lach, F. P., Desetty, R., Hanenberg, H., Auerbach, A. D., and Smogorzewska, A. (2011). Mutations of the SLX4 gene in Fanconi anemia. *Nat. Genet.* 43, 142– 146. doi: 10.1038/ng.750
- Kretschmer, S., Wolf, C., Konig, N., Staroske, W., Guck, J., Hausler, M., et al. (2014). SAMHD1 prevents autoimmunity by maintaining genome stability. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204845
- Kutok, J. L., and Wang, F. (2006). Spectrum of Epstein-Barr virus-associated diseases. Annu. Rev. Pathol. 1, 375–404. doi: 10.1146/annurev.pathol.1.110304. 100209
- Laguette, N., Bregnard, C., Hue, P., Basbous, J., Yatim, A., Larroque, M., et al. (2014). Premature activation of the SLX4 complex by Vpr promotes G2/M arrest and escape from innate immune sensing. *Cell* 156, 134–145. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.12.011
- Lahouassa, H., Daddacha, W., Hofmann, H., Ayinde, D., Logue, E. C., Dragin, L., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by depleting the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates. *Nat. Immunol.* 13, 223–228. doi: 10.1038/ ni.2236
- Le Rouzic, E., Belaidouni, N., Estrabaud, E., Morel, M., Rain, J. C., Transy, C., et al. (2007). HIV1 Vpr arrests the cell cycle by recruiting DCAF1/VprBP, a receptor of the Cul4-DDB1 ubiquitin ligase. *Cell Cycle* 6, 182–188. doi: 10.4161/cc.6. 2.3732
- Lebon, P., Badoual, J., Ponsot, G., Goutieres, F., Hemeury-Cukier, F., and Aicardi, J. (1988). Intrathecal synthesis of interferon-alpha in infants with progressive familial encephalopathy. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 84, 201–208. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(88)90125-6
- Lee, S. H., and Rozee, K. R. (1970). Variation of interferon production during the cell cycle. *Appl. Microbiol.* 20, 11–15.
- Leonard, B., Hart, S. N., Burns, M. B., Carpenter, M. A., Temiz, N. A., Rathore, A., et al. (2013). APOBEC3B upregulation and genomic mutation patterns in serous ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 73, 7222–7231. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1753
- Li, G., Park, H. U., Liang, D., and Zhao, R. Y. (2010). Cell cycle G2/M arrest through an S phase-dependent mechanism by HIV-1 viral protein R. *Retrovirology* 7, 59. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-7-59
- Lobrich, M., and Jeggo, P. A. (2007). The impact of a negligent G2/M checkpoint on genomic instability and cancer induction. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 7, 861–869. doi: 10.1038/nrc2248
- Lopez-Girona, A., Furnari, B., Mondesert, O., and Russell, P. (1999). Nuclear localization of Cdc25 is regulated by DNA damage and a 14-3-3 protein. *Nature* 397, 172–175. doi: 10.1038/16488
- Malim, M. H., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2012). HIV restriction factors and mechanisms of evasion. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2, a006940. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006940
- Mathews, C. K. (2006). DNA precursor metabolism and genomic stability. FASEB J. 20, 1300–1314. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-5730rev
- Matos, J., Blanco, M. G., Maslen, S., Skehel, J. M., and West, S. C. (2011). Regulatory control of the resolution of DNA recombination intermediates during meiosis and mitosis. *Cell* 147, 158–172. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011. 08.032
- Matos, J., Blanco, M. G., and West, S. C. (2013). Cell-cycle kinases coordinate the resolution of recombination intermediates with chromosome segregation. *Cell Rep.* 4, 76–86. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.05.039
- Matsuoka, S., Ballif, B. A., Smogorzewska, A., Mcdonald, E. R. III, Hurov, K. E., Luo, J., et al. (2007). ATM and ATR substrate analysis reveals extensive protein networks responsive to DNA damage. *Science* 316, 1160–1166. doi: 10.1126/science.1140321
- Mazur, D. J., and Perrino, F. W. (2001). Structure and expression of the TREX1 and TREX2 3' -> 5' exonuclease genes. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 14718–14727. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M010051200
- McPherson, J. P., Lemmers, B., Chahwan, R., Pamidi, A., Migon, E., Matysiak-Zablocki, E., et al. (2004). Involvement of mammalian Mus81 in genome integrity and tumor suppression. *Science* 304, 1822–1826. doi: 10.1126/science.1094557304/5678/1822
- Monroe, K. M., Yang, Z., Johnson, J. R., Geng, X., Doitsh, G., Krogan, N. J., et al. (2013). IFI16 DNA sensor is required for death of lymphoid CD4 T

cells abortively infected with HIV. Science 343, 428–432. doi: 10.1126/science. 1243640

- Mu, J. J., Wang, Y., Luo, H., Leng, M., Zhang, J., Yang, T., et al. (2007). A proteomic analysis of ataxia telangiectasia-mutated (ATM)/ATM-Rad3-related (ATR) substrates identifies the ubiquitin-proteasome system as a regulator for DNA damage checkpoints. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 17330–17334. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C7000 79200
- Munoz, I. M., Hain, K., Declais, A. C., Gardiner, M., Toh, G. W., Sanchez-Pulido, L., et al. (2009). Coordination of structure-specific nucleases by human SLX4/BTBD12 is required for DNA repair. *Mol. Cell* 35, 116–127. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2009.06.020
- Naim, V., and Rosselli, F. (2009). The FANC pathway and BLM collaborate during mitosis to prevent micro-nucleation and chromosome abnormalities. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 761–768. doi: 10.1038/ncb1883ncb1883
- Naim, V., Wilhelm, T., Debatisse, M., and Rosselli, F. (2013). ERCC1 and MUS81-EME1 promote sister chromatid separation by processing late replication intermediates at common fragile sites during mitosis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 1008–1015. doi: 10.1038/ncb2793ncb2793
- Okumura, A., Alce, T., Lubyova, B., Ezelle, H., Strebel, K., and Pitha, P. M. (2008). HIV-1 accessory proteins VPR and Vif modulate antiviral response by targeting IRF-3 for degradation. *Virology* 373, 85–97. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2007. 10.042
- Poon, B., Jowett, J. B., Stewart, S. A., Armstrong, R. W., Rishton, G. M., and Chen, I. S. (1997). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr gene induces phenotypic effects similar to those of the DNA alkylating agent, nitrogen mustard. *J. Virol.* 71, 3961–3971.
- Rathbun, R. K., Faulkner, G. R., Ostroski, M. H., Christianson, T. A., Hughes, G., Jones, G., et al. (1997). Inactivation of the Fanconi anemia group C gene augments interferon-gamma-induced apoptotic responses in hematopoietic cells. *Blood* 90, 974–985.
- Re, F., Braaten, D., Franke, E. K., and Luban, J. (1995). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr arrests the cell cycle in G2 by inhibiting the activation of p34cdc2-cyclin B. *J. Virol.* 69, 6859–6864.
- Rice, G., Patrick, T., Parmar, R., Taylor, C. F., Aeby, A., Aicardi, J., et al. (2007). Clinical and molecular phenotype of Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 81, 713–725. doi: 10.1086/521373
- Roberts, S. A., Lawrence, M. S., Klimczak, L. J., Grimm, S. A., Fargo, D., Stojanov, P., et al. (2013). An APOBEC cytidine deaminase mutagenesis pattern is widespread in human cancers. *Nat. Genet.* 45, 970–976. doi: 10.1038/ng.2702 ng.2702
- Rodier, F., Coppe, J. P., Patil, C. K., Hoeijmakers, W. A., Munoz, D. P., Raza, S. R., et al. (2009). Persistent DNA damage signalling triggers senescenceassociated inflammatory cytokine secretion. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 11, 973–979. doi: 10.1038/ncb1909ncb1909
- Rogel, M. E., Wu, L. I., and Emerman, M. (1995). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vpr gene prevents cell proliferation during chronic infection. *J. Virol.* 69, 882–888.
- Roshal, M., Kim, B., Zhu, Y., Nghiem, P., and Planelles, V. (2003). Activation of the ATR-mediated DNA damage response by the HIV-1 viral protein R. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 25879–25886. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M303948200M3039 48200
- Sanchez, Y., Wong, C., Thoma, R. S., Richman, R., Wu, Z., Piwnica-Worms, H., et al. (1997). Conservation of the Chk1 checkpoint pathway in mammals: linkage of DNA damage to Cdk regulation through Cdc25. *Science* 277, 1497–1501. doi: 10.1126/science.277.5331.1497
- Sasaki, M. S., and Tonomura, A. (1973). A high susceptibility of Fanconi's anemia to chromosome breakage by DNA cross-linking agents. *Cancer Res.* 33, 1829–1836.
- Saugar, I., Vazquez, M. V., Gallo-Fernandez, M., Ortiz-Bazan, M. A., Segurado, M., Calzada, A., et al. (2013). Temporal regulation of the Mus81-Mms4 endonuclease ensures cell survival under conditions of DNA damage. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 8943–8958. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt645
- Schwartz, E. K., and Heyer, W. D. (2011). Processing of joint molecule intermediates by structure-selective endonucleases during homologous recombination in eukaryotes. *Chromosoma* 120, 109–127. doi: 10.1007/s00412-010-0304-7
- Shostak, L. D., Ludlow, J., Fisk, J., Pursell, S., Rimel, B. J., Nguyen, D., et al. (1999). Roles of p53 and caspases in the induction of cell cycle arrest and

apoptosis by HIV-1 Vpr. *Exp. Cell Res.* 251, 156–165. doi: 10.1006/excr. 1999.4568

- Sirbu, B. M., and Cortez, D. (2013). DNA damage response: three levels of DNA repair regulation. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 5, a012724. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a012724a012724
- Smith, J., Tho, L. M., Xu, N., and Gillespie, D. A. (2010). The ATM-Chk2 and ATR-Chk1 pathways in DNA damage signaling and cancer. Adv. Cancer Res. 108, 73–112. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-380888-2. 00003-0
- Stark, G. R., and Taylor, W. R. (2006). Control of the G2/M transition. Mol. Biotechnol. 32, 227–248. doi: 10.1385/MB:32:3:227
- Stark, L. A., and Hay, R. T. (1998). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) viral protein R (Vpr) interacts with Lys-tRNA synthetase: implications for priming of HIV-1 reverse transcription. J. Virol. 72, 3037– 3044.
- Stetson, D. B., and Medzhitov, R. (2006). Antiviral defense: interferons and beyond. J. Exp. Med. 203, 1837–1841. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 61377
- Stewart, S. A., Poon, B., Jowett, J. B., and Chen, I. S. (1997). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr induces apoptosis following cell cycle arrest. *J. Virol.* 71, 5579–5592.
- Stoepker, C., Hain, K., Schuster, B., Hilhorst-Hofstee, Y., Rooimans, M. A., Steltenpool, J., et al. (2011). SLX4, a coordinator of structure-specific endonucleases, is mutated in a new Fanconi anemia subtype. *Nat. Genet.* 43, 138–141. doi: 10.1038/ng.751
- Su, X., and Huang, J. (2011). The Fanconi anemia pathway and DNA interstrand cross-link repair. *Protein Cell* 2, 704–711. doi: 10.1007/s13238-011-1098-y
- Svendsen, J. M., Smogorzewska, A., Sowa, M. E., O'Connell, B. C., Gygi, S. P., Elledge, S. J., et al. (2009). Mammalian BTBD12/SLX4 assembles a Holliday junction resolvase and is required for DNA repair. *Cell* 138, 63–77. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.030
- Szakal, B., and Branzei, D. (2013). Premature Cdk1/Cdc5/Mus81 pathway activation induces aberrant replication and deleterious crossover. *EMBO J.* 32, 1155–1167. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.67
- Tan, L., Ehrlich, E., and Yu, X. F. (2007). DDB1 and Cul4A are required for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr-induced G2 arrest. J. Virol. 81, 10822–10830. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01380-07
- Wechsler, T., Newman, S., and West, S. C. (2011). Aberrant chromosome morphology in human cells defective for Holliday junction resolution. *Nature* 471, 642–646. doi: 10.1038/nature09790nature09790
- Weitzman, M. D., Lilley, C. E., and Chaurushiya, M. S. (2010). Genomes in conflict: maintaining genome integrity during virus infection. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 64, 61–81. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.112408.134016
- Wen, X., Duus, K. M., Friedrich, T. D., and De Noronha, C. M. (2007). The HIV1 protein Vpr acts to promote G2 cell cycle arrest by engaging a DDB1 and Cullin4A-containing ubiquitin ligase complex using VprBP/DCAF1 as an adaptor. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27046–27057. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M7039 55200
- Whitney, M. A., Royle, G., Low, M. J., Kelly, M. A., Axthelm, M. K., Reifsteck, C., et al. (1996). Germ cell defects and hematopoietic hypersensitivity to gammainterferon in mice with a targeted disruption of the Fanconi anemia C gene. *Blood* 88, 49–58.
- Wu, L., and Hickson, I. D. (2003). The Bloom's syndrome helicase suppresses crossing over during homologous recombination. *Nature* 426, 870–874. doi: 10.1038/nature02253nature02253
- Wyatt, H. D., Sarbajna, S., Matos, J., and West, S. C. (2013). Coordinated actions of SLX1-SLX4 and MUS81-EME1 for Holliday junction resolution in human cells. *Mol. Cell* 52, 234–247. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2013. 08.035
- Yamamoto, K. N., Kobayashi, S., Tsuda, M., Kurumizaka, H., Takata, M., Kono, K., et al. (2011). Involvement of SLX4 in interstrand cross-link repair is regulated by the Fanconi anemia pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 6492–6496. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1018487108
- Yan, N., Regalado-Magdos, A. D., Stiggelbout, B., Lee-Kirsch, M. A., and Lieberman, J. (2010). The cytosolic exonuclease TREX1 inhibits the innate immune response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 1005–1013. doi: 10.1038/ni.1941

- Yang, Y. G., Lindahl, T., and Barnes, D. E. (2007). Trex1 exonuclease degrades ssDNA to prevent chronic checkpoint activation and autoimmune disease. *Cell* 131, 873–886. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.017
- Ying, S., Minocherhomji, S., Chan, K. L., Palmai-Pallag, T., Chu, W. K., Wass, T., et al. (2013). MUS81 promotes common fragile site expression. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 1001–1007. doi: 10.1038/ncb2773
- Zhang, X., Brann, T. W., Zhou, M., Yang, J., Oguariri, R. M., Lidie, K. B., et al. (2011). Cutting edge: Ku70 is a novel cytosolic DNA sensor that induces type III rather than type I IFN. *J. Immunol.* 186, 4541–4545. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1003389
- Zhao, K., Du, J., Han, X., Goodier, J. L., Li, P., Zhou, X., et al. (2013). Modulation of LINE-1 and Alu/SVA retrotransposition by Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome-related SAMHD1. *Cell Rep.* 4, 1108-1115. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.08.019
- Zheng, L., Dai, H., Zhou, M., Li, M., Singh, P., Qiu, J., et al. (2007). Fen1 mutations result in autoimmunity, chronic inflammation and cancers. *Nat. Med.* 13, 812– 819. doi: 10.1038/nm1599

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 22 February 2014; accepted: 31 March 2014; published online: 22 April 2014.

Citation: Brégnard C, Benkirane M and Laguette N (2014) DNA damage repair machinery and HIV escape from innate immune sensing. Front. Microbiol. 5:176. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00176

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2014 Brégnard, Benkirane and Laguette. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Safeguard against DNA sensing: the role of TREX1 in HIV-1 infection and autoimmune diseases

Maroof Hasan^{1,2} and Nan Yan^{1,2} *

¹ Department of Internal Medicine, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

² Department of Microbiology, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Warner C. Greene, J. David Gladstone Institutes, USA Judy Lieberman, Boston Children's Hospital, USA

*Correspondence:

Nan Yan, Department of Internal Medicine and Department of Microbiology, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX 75390-9113, USA e-mail: nan.yan@utsouthwestern.edu Innate immune recognition is crucial for host responses against viral infections, including infection by human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1). Human cells detect such invading pathogens with a collection of pattern recognition receptors that activate the production of antiviral proteins, such as the cytokine interferon-type I, to initiate antiviral responses immediately as well as the adaptive immune response for long-term protection. To establish infection in the host, many viruses have thus evolved strategies for subversion of these mechanisms of innate immunity. For example, acute infection by HIV-1 and other retroviruses have long been thought to be non-immunogenic, signifying suppression of host defenses by these pathogens. Studies in the past few years have begun to uncover a multifaceted scheme of how HIV-1 evades innate immune detection, especially of its DNA, by exploiting host proteins. This review will discuss the host mechanisms of HIV-1 DNA sensing and viral immune evasion, with a particular focus on TREX1, three prime repair exonuclease 1, a host 3' exonuclease (also known as DNase III).

Keywords: HIV, innate immunity, DNA sensing, Trex1, autoimmune diseases

THE INTERFERON RESPONSE TO HIV DNA

Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) enters T cells and macrophages by first interacting with host receptor CD4 then with co-receptor chemokine (C-C motif) receptor 5 (CCR5) or chemokine (C-X-C motif) receptor 4 (CXCR4) on the target cell plasma membrane, triggering viral envelope fusion. HIV can also bind to cell surface lectins (sugar-binding proteins) and enter cells by endocytosis. This is the predominant mode of entry into dendritic cells (DCs), which play important roles in progression and pathology of HIV infection (Luban, 2012; Manches et al., 2014), although HIV-1 does not replicate efficiently in DCs. Regardless of the mode of viral entry, the viral core containing its RNA is released into the cytosol, and HIV-encoded reverse transcriptase begins to convert viral RNA into DNA while still encapsulated in the capsid core. After completion of reverse transcription, viral integrase binds to both ends of full-length HIV-1 DNA to form pre-integration complex, which delivers functional HIV DNA to the host nucleus for chromosomal integration (Goff, 2007). Since only a few copies of HIV DNA integrate, the bulk of HIV DNA remains in the cytosol unless cleared by host enzymes (Yan et al., 2010).

Although abundant, the HIV-encoded cytosolic DNA produced by reverse transcription does not trigger a cell-autonomous interferon (IFN) or inflammatory response in activated CD4 T cells and macrophages, its primary targets (Goldfeld et al., 1991; Yan et al., 2010). HIV achieves immune evasion in these target cells by exploiting the host DNase TREX1 (Yan et al., 2010), the most abundant exonuclease in mammalian cell (Hoss et al., 1999; Mazur and Perrino, 1999), to clear its DNA. This action of TREX1 diminishes HIV DNA products in the cytosol below the threshold of immune activation. This is strikingly demonstrated in Trex1 - / - or knockdown cells. In the absence of TREX1, HIV infection triggers a robust type I IFN response strictly dependent upon the cytosolic DNA sensing pathway, including the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) localized adaptor stimulator of interferon genes (STING), TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1), and the transcription factor interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) (Yan et al., 2010). The HIV-stimulated IFN response in Trex1-/- cells can be dampened by reverse transcriptase inhibitor (e.g., nevirapine) but not by integrase inhibitor (e.g., raltegravir), consistent with HIV DNA being the main pathogen associated molecular pattern (PAMP) detected by an innate immune sensor (Yan et al., 2010). The HIV DNA is sensed by binding to cGAMP synthase (cGAS), which then synthesizes the unique second messenger dinucleotide cyclic GMP-AMP (cGAMP) that binds to STING to activate downstream IFN signaling (Gao et al., 2013; Figure 1A). This "competition" between TREX1 (proviral) and cGAS (antiviral) for cytosolic DNA also applies to murine leukemia virus (MLV) and simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV; Gao et al., 2013), and likely many other retroviruses.

Thus, the absence of an immunogenic response to acute retroviral infection of target immune cells can be at least partially explained by TREX1, which is ubiquitously expressed and at high levels in immune cells (Pereira-Lopes et al., 2013), and may synergize with other host factors (see below). In one population study comparing cohorts of healthy control and HIV-positive individuals, *TREX1* polymorphisms associated with susceptibility to HIV infection (Pontillo et al., 2013), although another study using different cohorts of patients failed to detect such an association (Sironi et al., 2012), suggesting that further investigation is needed before genetic linkage is established. From an evolutionary standpoint, it is intriguing that TREX1 is only found in mammals that



schematic diagram of early stages of HIV-1 life cycle. HIV-1 capsid (CA) and associated host factors, CypA and CPSF6, regulate HIV DNA access to innate immune sensing. TREX1 and SAMHD1 regulate HIV DNA quantity. IN, integrase. **(B)** HIV-1 DNA sensing by cGAS in many target cells activates a STING-mediated IFN response, whereas HIV-1 DNA sensing by IFI16 in "bystander" quiescent CD4+T cells trigger IFN signaling, caspase-1 activation, IL-1 β secretion and pyroptosis.

have co-evolved with retrovirus, suggesting that retroviruses have adapted to exploit TREX1 for survival. Such an adaptation may be particularly essential for HIV, which does not appear to encode its own factors to antagonize intracellular innate immune sensing systems like many other DNA and RNA viruses do. Indeed, these findings have engendered a new paradigm for HIV-host interactions – that HIV not only exploits many host factors for the successful completion of the life cycle (Brass et al., 2008; König et al., 2008), it also exploits several key host factors that are critical for subversion of innate immune responses in target cells (Doitsh et al., 2010, 2014; Manel et al., 2010; Yan et al., 2010).

PROINFLAMMATORY RESPONSE TO HIV DNA

HIV DNA can also trigger a proinflammatory response in nonproductively infected "bystander" CD4+ T cells and promote T cell killing (Doitsh et al., 2010). HIV replication is restricted in these "bystander" CD4+ T cells due to the action of SAM domain and HD domain containing protein 1 (SAMHD1) that depletes the dNTP pool, as well as other unknown restrictive factors (Baldauf et al., 2012). As a result, HIV replication in these cells arrests early in the reverse transcription stage, although the limited amount of DNA produced can be recognized by another cytosolic DNA sensor interferon-induciable protein 16 (IFI16) (Monroe et al., 2014; Figure 1B). IFI16 was initially identified as a sensor that recognizes viral DNA or exogenous double-stranded DNA (introduced by transfection) and signals via STING to activate the IFN response (Unterholzner et al., 2010). A recent study found that 'bystander" CD4+ T cells harboring abortive HIV DNA products trigger IFI16-mediated IFN signaling and inflammasome response, including activation of caspase-1, secretion of IL-1β, and death of the host cell by pyroptosis (Doitsh et al., 2014). This series of discoveries reveals another exciting example of how HIV takes advantage of DNA sensing as well as SAMHD1 restriction. In this case, instead of avoiding DNA sensing, HIV stalls DNA replication early in the reverse transcription stage to trigger inflammation and cell death in "bystander" CD4+ T cells. Since CD4+ T cell depletion is a highly diagnostic clinical feature of AIDS, these studies raise an exciting possibility of reversing CD4+ T cell depletion by blocking the inflammasome response with caspase-1 inhibitors (Doitsh et al., 2014). Both cGAS and IFI16 sense HIV DNA, yet they seem to function in distinct cell types and lead to different consequences. Also, it was unclear why TREX1 is not able to inhibit IFI16-mediated detection of HIV DNA. Further investigation is needed to show what determines which innate immune signaling pathway HIV DNA triggers or avoids, and how that influences the overall fitness of the virus.

QUANTITY CONTROL OF HIV DNA: TREX1 AND SAMHD1

As discussed above, the amount of HIV-1 DNA in the cytosol depends upon the rates of synthesis and degradation by two host factors (Figure 1A): TREX1 mediates HIV DNA degradation in several immune cell types, and SAMHD1 limits HIV-1 DNA synthesis by depleting the dNTP pool in resting CD4+ T cells as well as several other cell types of myeloid linage (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011; Baldauf et al., 2012). In DCs, SAMHD1 also prevents innate immune activation (Manel et al., 2010; Sunseri et al., 2011). SAMHD1 restriction can be overcome by treating cells with virus-like particles (VLPs) containing the SAMHD1-antagnist protein Vpx, found in SIVmac and HIV-2 viruses (Goujon et al., 2006). HIV-1, which does not encode Vpx, Vpx-deficient SIVmac, and HIV-2 all fail to replicate efficiently in DCs (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). Detailed reviews on SAMHD1/Vpx can be found elsewhere (Daugherty and Malik, 2012; Luban, 2012; Sze et al., 2013). Here, we highlight features of SAMHD1 as in comparison with TREX1.

TREX1 is expressed in most mammalian cell types (Pereira-Lopes et al., 2013), whereas SAMHD1 expression is more restricted (Laguette et al., 2011). Since a defect in either enzyme triggers HIV-1 DNA sensing, they are thought to play non-redundant roles. In cell culture, TREX1 deficiency leads to accumulation of total HIV-1 DNA, but not integrated proviral DNA (Yan et al., 2010). It therefore appears that TREX1 does not degrade fulllength integration-competent HIV-1 DNA, perhaps because it is protected by integrase in the pre-integration complex. In contrast, TREX1 appears able to degrade non-productive partial-length DNA generated by error-prone reverse transcription that are not incorporated into integrase complexes. This is consistent with enzymatic properties of TREX1, a 3' to 5' exonuclease. Although it has some activity toward any form of DNA, it is most efficient with single-stranded DNA or double-stranded DNA with a single-stranded overhang (Mazur and Perrino, 1999). Consequently, overall HIV-1 replication in which TREX1 expression is suppressed or ablated is reduced compared replication in normal cells, because DNA sensing results in expression of antiviral IFNs (Yan et al., 2010). In contrast, SAMHD1 depletion results in increased HIV DNA synthesis, integration and overall replication (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). It appears confusing at first glance that although both TREX1 and SAMHD1 control the quantity of cytosolic HIV DNA, the overall outcome of HIV-1 replication is quite the opposite. Also, both proteins attenuate autoimmunity, and patients carrying defective TREX1 or SAMHD1 develop similar autoimmune and sterile inflammatory phenotypes (Crow et al., 2006; Crow and Rehwinkel, 2009; Rice et al., 2009). Therefore, important questions remain. Is the antiviral role of SAMHD1 in HIV-1 pathogenesis in the complex human immune setting different from current understanding of its role as a restrictive factor? Has HIV-1 evolved to exploit SAMHD1 restriction to prevent replication in certain cell types, such as DCs, in order to avoid cell-autonomous innate immune activation, or to abort the reverse transcription stage in "bystander" CD4+ T cells to activate inflammasomes and trigger pyroptosis?

Comparison of HIV-1 with HIV-2 offers some insights into these questions. HIV-2 (containing Vpx) is far less pathogenic compared to HIV-1 (lacking Vpx) in humans, so one possible contributing factor to HIV-1 pathogenesis could be its inability to antagonize SAMHD1 or ability to avoid SAMHD1 expressing cells. One should also consider other important differences between HIV-1 and HIV-2, such as Vpu, which is only encoded by HIV-1, that antagonizes restriction factor Tetherin (Neil et al., 2008). Taken together, the opposing influences of TREX1 and SAMHD1 upon overall HIV-1 fitness suggests that it will be important to further evaluate these immunomodulators in combination as well as in isolation in immune systems.

ACCESS CONTROL OF HIV DNA: CAPSID AND ASSOCIATED HOST FACTORS

Aside from quantity, another factor in HIV-1 DNA sensing is encapsulation of the DNA by the viral capsid, which encapsulates the incoming genomic RNA and, later on, the reverse transcribed DNA. It remains unclear whether or not the HIV-1 capsid core disassembles during or after reverse transcription, and where in the cell it occurs. In any case, capsid core uncoating and reverse transcription are closely related. Several capsid assembly mutants affect reverse transcription (Tang et al., 2001; Ambrose et al., 2012). Conversely, inhibition of reverse transcription increases stability of the HIV-1 capsid core (Yang et al., 2013). Therefore, stability of the capsid core may play a role in HIV-1 DNA access or sensing. In the case of MLV, the glycosylated Gag protein (glyco-Gag) from the incoming virus enhances viral core stability and reduces DNA sensing in TREX1 knock-down cells, so a similar relationship may apply for HIV-1 (Stavrou et al., 2013). Moreover, host cofactor proteins that bind the capsid also modulate sensing of cytosolic HIV DNA. In one study (Lahaye et al., 2013), mutations of HIV-1 and HIV-2 capsid proteins that enhance cyclophilin A (CypA) binding triggered more robust DNA sensing in monocyte-derived dendritic cells (MDDCs). In another study (Rasaiyaah et al., 2013), mutations N74D and P90A in the HIV-1 capsid protein impaired interaction with host factors cofactors cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor sub-unit 6 (CPSF6) and CypA, and also promoted more DNA sensing in monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs). Although different cell types were examined, both studies revealed an unexpected new dimension in sensing of HIV DNA by the host - access to the viral DNA dependent upon the viral capsid and factors encoded by the host. It remains to be determined whether the incoming capsid core simply "shields" HIV DNA from cytosolic sensing machinery by physical or steric means, or whether a more complex mechanism might be in play that regulates the dynamic connections of uncoating, reverse transcription, and nuclear import.

SELF-DNA SENSING AND AUTOIMMUNE DISEASE

Remarkable similarity in clinical conditions between infectious and autoimmune diseases has been recognized for many years. And yet, molecular mechanisms are much better defined in infectious diseases, whereas cell-intrinsic causes of autoimmune disease remain largely mysterious. TREX1 is an excellent example of a protein that may bridge this gap in our knowledge by playing important roles in both infectious and autoimmune diseases. In addition to its role in innate immunity against HIV discussed above, TREX1 is also a critical suppressor of self-recognition that safeguards the host from erroneous autoimmune activation. Mutations in TREX1 in humans are associated with the autoimmune and autoinflammatory disorders (Kavanagh et al., 2008; Crow and Rehwinkel, 2009) Aicardi-Goutières syndrome (AGS), familial chilblain lupus (FCL), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), and retinal vasculopathy with cerebral leukodystrophy (RVCL). In fact, TREX1 represents one of the highest monogenic linkages of SLE (Moser et al., 2009). Trex1-/- mice develop multiple-organ inflammation, as well as autoantibodies, and succumb to inflammation burden early in age (Gall et al., 2012). Self-DNA from endogenous retroelements (Stetson et al., 2008) or DNA replication debris (Yang et al., 2007) are among the likely causes of inflammation in Trex1-/- mice. Inflammatory phenotypes can be rescued by eliminating essential components of the known DNA sensing pathway (e.g., Irf3-/-, Sting-/-), functionally linking the DNase function of TREX1 to disease (Stetson et al., 2008; Gall et al., 2012). Moreover, chemically modified self-DNA that resists degradation by TREX1 can cause immune activation even in the presence of TREX1. One example is oxidized DNA that contains 8-hydroxyguanosin (8-OHG), which can be formed in UV-exposed skin lesions or neutrophil extracellular traps (networks of extracellular fibers composed of mostly DNA from neutrophils). The oxidized DNA elevates cGAS/STING-mediated immune activation compared to unmodified DNA in a variety of cell types (Gehrke et al., 2013).

TREX1: BEYOND DNase FUNCTION

TREX1 mutations that disrupt its DNase activity were mostly found in AGS, and many disease-associated mutations of TREX1 do not affect its DNase activity, especially the ones associated with SLE and RVCL (Lee-Kirsch et al., 2007; Richards et al., 2007). TREX1 is a single exon gene that encodes an exonuclease domain at its amino terminus, and an ER localization domain at its carboxyl terminus. The ER localization domain consists of a hydrophilic linker region of unknown function [although this region harbors many SLE mutations (Crow and Rehwinkel, 2009)] and a small hydrophobic segment at the extreme carboxyl-terminus that sorts TREX1 to the cytosolic leaflet of the ER membrane by serving as an ER tail-anchor (rather than a classical transmembrane span; Lee-Kirsch et al., 2007; Lindahl et al., 2009). In overexpression studies, the C-terminal domain of TREX1 mediated interaction with ubiquilin-1, leading to monoubiquitination at multiple lysine residues of TREX1 (Orebaugh et al., 2013). These modifications did not lead to TREX1 degradation, rather, they are possibly able to regulate TREX1 function or localization (Hicke, 2001). Notably, several disease-causing mutations of TREX1 exhibit altered ubiquitination patterns when co-expressed with ubiquitin (Orebaugh et al., 2013), but do not affect DNase activity. Clearly, the biological significance of monoubiquitination on native or disease-causing forms of TREX1 for viral DNA sensing and autoimmunity requires further investigation.

Abnormal accumulation of self-DNA likely promotes TREX1 AGS, since these alleles impair DNase activity, but the molecular cause for TREX1 SLE that is strongly associated with mutations in the C-terminal localization domain rather than the DNase domain remains unclear. We recently found that TREX1-deficient cells have expanded lysosomal compartments, and that TREX1 deficiency promotes lysosomal biogenesis through mTORC1 and transcription factor TFEB (Hasan et al., 2013). It remains to be seen whether this new function of TREX1 is dependent upon its DNase activity, and how it relates to various autoimmune diseases associated with TREX1. Interestingly, although arising from the same genetic locus, clinical conditions of TREX1 AGS and TREX1 SLE are highly distinct. TREX1 AGS mutations are autosomal recessive. Patients develop severe neurological brain diseases with excess IFNa in cerebral spinal fluid resembling intrauterine infections, affecting mostly infant and young children, many of whom die early in age (disease onset usually by 4 months; Kavanagh et al., 2008). In contrast, TREX1 SLE mutations are mostly autosomal dominant, with two exceptions where compound heterozygous missense mutations were found (Lee-Kirsch et al., 2007). Unlike TREX1 AGS, which is a pediatric disorder, TREX1 SLE disease onset is usually between 15-40 years of age as is typical for lupustype autoimmune disorders. Similarly, TREX1 SLE patients have high titers of a wide array of autoantibodies and IFN signatures (Kavanagh et al., 2008). Despite some phenotypic overlap between SLE and AGS, distinct disease mechanisms are therefore likely.

CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

Extensive effort in the past two decades provided us with incredible details on HIV-1 virology, life cycle, interactions with host factors, and antagonism of host intrinsic restriction factors with accessory proteins (Goff, 2007). In more recent years, with the rapidly expanded understanding of innate immunity, studies have begun to uncover mechanistic details of how HIV affects host innate immunity (Luban, 2012). Like many other viruses, evasion of host innate immunity is one of the most essential requirements for overall fitness of HIV-1. However, what is remarkable about HIV-1 compared to other DNA or RNA viruses is how it achieves immune evasion by exploiting host proteins. Most DNA or RNA viruses encode viral proteins that target specific intracellular innate immune sensing pathways involved in recognizing DNA or RNA, or immune activation. HIV-1 does it by exploiting host negative regulators of innate immunity to subvert sensing of its own DNA. The focus of this review, DNase III/TREX1, normally safeguards the host from autoimmune activation by self-DNA, but is exploited by HIV-1 to evade sensing of its own DNA. In a seemingly counterintuitive move, HIV-1 does not encode Vpx that antagonizes a potent restriction factor SAMHD1. Interestingly, *vpx* deletion during the evolution of SIVcpz (that eventually gave rise to HIV-1) resulted in the creation of a unique vif that can antagonize hominid restriction factor APOBEC3 (Etienne et al., 2013). Whether this curious omission of Vpx contributes to overall HIV-1 fitness, and how much of that advantage is contributed from SAMHD1, remain to be seen. This could be an unprecedented way for a virus to subvert immune activation by keeping its replication low in professional IFN producing cells such as DCs. Along the same line, abortive HIV DNA products in bystander quiescent CD4+ T cells (due to the SAMHD1 block) activate IFI16-mediated inflammasome response and pyroptosis an effective way to paralyze the host immune system.

These discoveries of unique HIV immune evasion strategies may mark the beginning of an exciting new era on studies of HIV innate immunity, with important new avenues to be explored. Further studies in this emerging field will certainly open our eyes on how HIV navigates the human innate immune system. This knowledge could also be harnessed for novel strategies of HIV vaccine design that specifically target HIV immune evasion. We look forward to seeing these studies unfold.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by NIH AI98569 (Nan Yan). We thank Mark Lehrman for critical reading of the manuscript. We apologize for not being able to cite all related studies due to space limitation.

REFERENCES

- Ambrose, Z., Lee, K., Ndjomou, J., Xu, H., Oztop, I., Matous, J., et al. (2012). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) capsid mutation N74D alters cyclophilin a dependence and impairs macrophage infection. J. Virol. 86, 4708–4714. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05887-11
- Baldauf, H. M., Pan, X., Erikson, E., Schmidt, S., Daddacha, W., Burggraf, M., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 infection in resting CD4 (+) T cells. *Nat. Med.* 18, 1682–1687. doi: 10.1038/nm.2964
- Brass, A., Dykxhoorn, D., Benita, Y., Yan, N., Engelman, A., Xavier, R., et al. (2008). Identification of host proteins required for HIV infection through a functional genomic screen. *Science* 319, 921–926. doi: 10.1126/science.1152725

- Crow, Y., Hayward, B., Parmar, R., Robins, P., Leitch, A., Ali, M., et al. (2006). Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome at the AGS1 locus. *Nat. Genet.* 38, 917–920. doi: 10.1038/ng1845
- Crow, Y. J., and Rehwinkel, J. (2009). Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and related phenotypes: linking nucleic acid metabolism with autoimmunity. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 18, R130–R136. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp293
- Daugherty, M. D., and Malik, H. S. (2012). Rules of engagement: molecular insights from host-virus arms races. Annu. Rev. Genet. 46, 677–700. doi: 10.1146/annurevgenet-110711-155522
- Doitsh, G., Cavrois, M., Lassen, K. G., Zepeda, O., Yang, Z., Santiago, M. L., et al. (2010). Abortive HIV infection mediates CD4 T cell depletion and inflammation in human lymphoid tissue. *Cell* 143, 789–801. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.001
- Doitsh, G., Galloway, N. L. K., Geng, X., Yang, Z., Monroe, K. M., Zepeda, O., et al. (2014). Cell death by pyroptosis drives CD4 T-cell depletion in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* 505, 509–514. doi: 10.1038/nature12940
- Etienne, L., Hahn, B. H., Sharp, P. M., Matsen, F. A., and Emerman, M. (2013). Gene loss and adaptation to hominids underlie the ancient origin of HIV-1. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.06.002
- Gall, A., Treuting, P., Elkon, K. B., Loo, Y.-M., Gale, M., Barber, G. N., et al. (2012). Autoimmunity initiates in nonhematopoietic cells and progresses via lymphocytes in an interferon-dependent autoimmune disease. *Immunity* 36, 120–131. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.018
- Gao, D., Wu, J., Wu, Y.-T., Du, F., Aroh, C., Yan, N., et al. (2013). Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is an innate immune sensor of HIV and other retroviruses. *Science* 341, 903–906. doi: 10.1126/science.1240933
- Gehrke, N., Mertens, C., Zillinger, T., Wenzel, J., Bald, T., Zahn, S., et al. (2013). Oxidative damage of DNA confers resistance to cytosolic nuclease TREX1 degradation and potentiates STING-dependent immune sensing. *Immunity* 39, 482–495. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.004
- Goff, S. (2007). Host factors exploited by retroviruses. *Nat. Rev. Microbio.* 5, 253–263. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1541
- Goldfeld, A. E., Birch-Limberger, K., Schooley, R. T., and Walker, B. D. (1991). HIV-1 infection does not induce tumor necrosis factor-alpha or interferon-beta gene transcription. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 4, 41–47. doi: 10.1097/00126334-199101000-00006
- Goujon, C., Jarrosson-Wuillème, L., Bernaud, J., Rigal, D., Darlix, J.-L., and Cimarelli, A. (2006). With a little help from a friend: increasing HIV transduction of monocyte-derived dendritic cells with virionlike particles of SIV (MAC). *Gene Ther.* 13, 991–994. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt. 3302753
- Hasan, M., Koch, J., Rakheja, D., Pattnaik, A. K., Brugarolas, J., Dozmorov, I., et al. (2013). Trex1 regulates lysosomal biogenesis and interferon-independent activation of antiviral genes. *Nat. Immunol.* 14, 61–71. doi: 10.1038/ni.2475
- Hicke, L. (2001). Protein regulation by monoubiquitin. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2, 195–201. doi: 10.1038/35056583
- Hoss, M., Robins, P., Naven, T., Pappin, D., Sgouros, J., and Lindahl, T. (1999). A human DNA editing enzyme homologous to the *Escherichia coli* DnaQ/MutD protein. *EMBO J.* 18, 3868–3875. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.13.3868
- Hrecka, K., Hao, C., Gierszewska, M., Swanson, S. K., Kesik-Brodacka, M., Srivastava, S., et al. (2011). Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. *Nature* 474, 658–661. doi: 10.1038/nature10195
- Kavanagh, D., Spitzer, D., Kothari, P. H., Shaikh, A., Liszewski, M. K., Richards, A., et al. (2008). New roles for the major human 3'-5' exonuclease TREX1 in human disease. *Cell Cycle* 7, 1718–1725. doi: 10.4161/cc.7.12.6162
- König, R., Zhou, Y., Elleder, D., Diamond, T. L., Bonamy, G. M. C., Irelan, J. T., et al. (2008). Global analysis of host-pathogen interactions that regulate early-stage HIV-1 replication. *Cell* 135, 49–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.07.032
- Laguette, N., Sobhian, B., Casartelli, N., Ringeard, M., Chable-Bessia, C., Ségéral, E., et al. (2011). SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. *Nature* 474, 654–657. doi: 10.1038/nature10117
- Lahaye, X., Satoh, T., Gentili, M., Cerboni, S., Conrad, C., Hurbain, I., et al. (2013). The capsids of HIV-1 and HIV-2 determine immune detection of the viral cDNA by the innate sensor cGAS in dendritic cells. *Immunity* 39, 1132–1142. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013. 11.002

- Lee-Kirsch, M. A., Gong, M., Chowdhury, D., Senenko, L., Engel, K., Lee, Y.-A., et al. (2007). Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 1065–1067. doi: 10.1038/ng2091
- Lindahl, T., Barnes, D. E., Yang, Y.-G., and Robins, P. (2009). Biochemical properties of mammalian TREX1 and its association with DNA replication and inherited inflammatory disease. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 37, 535–538. doi: 10.1042/BST0370535
- Luban, J. (2012). Innate immune sensing of HIV-1 by dendritic cells. Cell Host Microbe 12, 408–418. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.10.002
- Manches, O., Frleta, D., and Bhardwaj, N. (2014). Dendritic cells in progression and pathology of HIV infection. *Trends Immunol.* 35, 114–122. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2013.10.003
- Manel, N., Hogstad, B., Wang, Y., Levy, D. E., Unutmaz, D., and Littman, D. R. (2010). A cryptic sensor for HIV-1 activates antiviral innate immunity in dendritic cells. *Nature* 467, 214–217. doi: 10.1038/nature09337
- Mazur, D., and Perrino, F. (1999). Identification and expression of the TREX1 and TREX2 cDNA sequences encoding mammalian 3'->5'' exonucleases. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 19655–19660. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.28.19655
- Monroe, K. M., Yang, Z., Johnson, J. R., Geng, X., Doitsh, G., Krogan, N. J., et al. (2014). IFI16 DNA sensor is required for death of lymphoid CD4 T cells abortively infected with HIV. *Science* 343, 428–432. doi: 10.1126/science.1243640
- Moser, K. L., Kelly, J. A., Lessard, C. J., and Harley, J. B. (2009). Recent insights into the genetic basis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes Immun.* 10, 373–379. doi: 10.1038/gene.2009.39
- Neil, S., Zang, T., and Bieniasz, P. (2008). Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. *Nature* 451, 425–430. doi: 10.1038/nature06553
- Orebaugh, C. D., Fye, J. M., Harvey, S., Hollis, T., Wilkinson, J. C., and Perrino, F. W. (2013). The TREX1 C-terminal region controls cellular localization through ubiquitination. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 28881–28892. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113. 503391
- Pereira-Lopes, S., Celhar, T., Sans-Fons, G., Serra, M., Fairhurst, A.-M., Lloberas, J., et al. (2013). The exonuclease Trex1 restrains macrophage proinflammatory activation. J. Immunol. 191, 6128–6135. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301603
- Pontillo, A., Girardelli, M., Catamo, E., Duarte, A. J., and Crovella, S. (2013). Polymorphisms in TREX1 and susceptibility to HIV-1 infection. *Int. J. Immunogenet*. 40, 492–494. doi: 10.1111/ijji.12071
- Rasaiyaah, J., Tan, C. P., Fletcher, A. J., Price, A. J., Blondeau, C., Hilditch, L., et al. (2013). HIV-1 evades innate immune recognition through specific cofactor recruitment. *Nature* 503, 402–405. doi: 10.1038/nature12769
- Rice, G. I., Bond, J., Asipu, A., Brunette, R., Manfield, I. W., Carr, I. M., et al. (2009). Mutations involved in Aicardi-Goutières syndrome implicate SAMHD1 as regulator of the innate immune response. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 829–832. doi: 10.1038/ng.373
- Richards, A., van den Maagdenberg, A. M., Jen, J. C., Kavanagh, D., Bertram, P., Spitzer, D., et al. (2007). C-terminal truncations in human 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause autosomal dominant retinal vasculopathy with cerebral leukodystrophy. *Nat. Genet.* 39, 1068–1070. doi: 10.1038/ ng2082
- Sironi, M., Biasin, M., Forni, D., Cagliani, R., De Luca, M., Saulle, I., et al. (2012). Genetic variability at the TREX1 locus is not associated with natural resistance to HIV-1 infection. *AIDS* 26, 1443–1445. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e328354b3c2
- Stavrou, S., Nitta, T., Kotla, S., Ha, D., Nagashima, K., Rein, A. R., et al. (2013). Murine leukemia virus glycosylated Gag blocks apolipoprotein B editing complex 3 and cytosolic sensor access to the reverse transcription complex. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 9078–9083. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1217399110
- Stetson, D. B., Ko, J. S., Heidmann, T., and Medzhitov, R. (2008). Trex1 prevents cell-intrinsic initiation of autoimmunity. *Cell* 134, 587–598. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.06.032
- Sunseri, N., O'Brien, M., Bhardwaj, N., and Landau, N. R. (2011). HIV-1 modified to package SIV Vpx efficiently infects macrophages and dendritic cells. *J. Virol.* 85, 6263–6274. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00346-11
- Sze, A., Olagnier, D., Lin, R., Van Grevenynghe, J., and Hiscott, J. (2013). SAMHD1 host restriction factor: a link with innate immune sensing of retrovirus infection. *J. Mol. Biol.* 425, 4981–4994. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.10.022
- Tang, S., Murakami, T., Agresta, B. E., Campbell, S., Freed, E. O., and Levin, J. G. (2001). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 N-terminal capsid

mutants that exhibit aberrant core morphology and are blocked in initiation of reverse transcription in infected cells. *J. Virol.* 75, 9357–9366. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.19.9357-9366.2001

- Unterholzner, L., Keating, S. E., Baran, M., Horan, K. A., Jensen, S. B., Sharma, S., et al. (2010). IFI16 is an innate immune sensor for intracellular DNA. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 997–1004. doi: 10.1038/ni.1932
- Yan, N., Regalado-Magdos, A. D., Stiggelbout, B., Lee-Kirsch, M. A., and Lieberman, J. (2010). The cytosolic exonuclease TREX1 inhibits the innate immune response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 1005–1013. doi: 10.1038/ni.1941
- Yang, Y., Fricke, T., and Diaz-Griffero, F. (2013). Inhibition of reverse transcriptase activity increases stability of the HIV-1 core. J. Virol. 87, 683–687. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01228-12
- Yang, Y., Lindahl, T., and Barnes, D. (2007). Trex1 exonuclease degrades ssDNA to prevent chronic checkpoint activation and autoimmune disease. *Cell* 131, 873– 886. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 February 2014; accepted: 11 April 2014; published online: 30 April 2014. Citation: Hasan M and Yan N (2014) Safeguard against DNA sensing: the role of TREX1 in HIV-1 infection and autoimmune diseases. Front. Microbiol. 5:193. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00193

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2014 Hasan and Yan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Suppression of APOBEC3-mediated restriction of HIV-1 by Vif

Yuqing Feng, Tayyba T. Baig, Robin P. Love and Linda Chelico*

Department of Microbiology and Immunology, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, Saskatoon, SK, Canada

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Atsushi Koito, Kumamoto University, Japan

Yoshitaka Sato, Nagoya University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan

*Correspondence:

Linda Chelico, Department of Microbiology and Immunology, College of Medicine, University of Saskatchewan, 107 Wiggins Road, Saskatoon, SK S7N 5E5, Canada e-mail: linda.chelico@usask.ca

The APOBEC3 restriction factors are a family of deoxycytidine deaminases that are able to suppress replication of viruses with a single-stranded DNA intermediate by inducing mutagenesis and functional inactivation of the virus. Of the seven human APOBEC3 enzymes, only APOBEC3-D, -F, -G, and -H appear relevant to restriction of HIV-1 in CD4+T cells and will be the focus of this review. The restriction of HIV-1 occurs most potently in the absence of HIV-1 Vif that induces polyubiquitination and degradation of APOBEC3 enzymes through the proteasome pathway. To restrict HIV-1, APOBEC3 enzymes must be encapsidated into budding virions. Upon infection of the target cell during reverse transcription of the HIV-1 RNA into (-)DNA, APOBEC3 enzymes deaminate cytosines to form uracils in single-stranded (-)DNA regions. Upon replication of the (-)DNA to (+)DNA, the HIV-1 reverse transcriptase incorporates adenines opposite to the uracils thereby inducing C/G to T/A mutations that can functionally inactivate HIV-1. APOBEC3G is the most studied APOBEC3 enzyme and it is known that Vif attempts to thwart APOBEC3 function not only by inducing its proteasomal degradation but also by several degradationindependent mechanisms, such as inhibiting APOBEC3G virion encapsidation, mRNA translation, and for those APOBEC3G molecules that still become virion encapsidated, Vif can inhibit APOBEC3G mutagenic activity. Although most Vif variants can induce efficient degradation of APOBEC3-D, -F, and -G, there appears to be differential sensitivity to Vifmediated degradation for APOBEC3H. This review examines APOBEC3-mediated HIV restriction mechanisms, how Vif acts as a substrate receptor for a Cullin5 ubiquitin ligase complex to induce degradation of APOBEC3s, and the determinants and functional consequences of the APOBEC3 and Vif interaction from a biological and biochemical perspective.

Keywords: HIV, mutagenesis, deaminase, Vif, APOBEC3, restriction factor, ubiquitination

OVERVIEW

Retrotransposons and endogenous retroviruses have been genomic parasites in organisms throughout evolution and have contributed to both species evolution and disease (Hancks and Kazazian, 2012). The APOBEC (Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-catalytic polypeptide) family of enzymes present in their earliest form in bony fish acted as a defense to retroelements (Mac-Duff et al., 2009). Due to expansion of retroelements through evolution, there was a corresponding expansion in the APOBEC family (Jern and Coffin, 2008; LaRue et al., 2008). The most recent expansion in placental mammals formed the APOBEClike 3 (APOBEC3) family in response to ancient pathogenic retroviruses (LaRue et al., 2008; Munk et al., 2012). Humans contain seven APOBEC3 (A3) enzymes (A3A, A3B, A3C, A3D, A3F, A3G, and A3H, Jarmuz et al., 2002; LaRue et al., 2009). The A3 enzymes act as host restriction factors to inhibit retroelement replication through either RNA binding ability or activity as single-stranded (ss) DNA cytosine deaminases that catalyze the formation of promutagenic uracils (Esnault et al., 2005; Bogerd et al., 2006; Chiu et al., 2006; Jonsson et al., 2006; Armitage et al., 2008; OhAinle et al., 2008; Khatua et al., 2010; Duggal et al., 2011; Koyama et al., 2013). Currently, A3 enzymes are primarily studied for their ability to restrict the replication of retroviruses (such as HIV-1, Sheehy et al., 2002; Harris et al., 2003; Mangeat et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2003; Liddament et al., 2004; Wiegand et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2004; Dang et al., 2006, 2008; OhAinle et al., 2008; Richardson et al., 2014) and other viruses with an ssDNA intermediate (such as Hepatitis B Virus, Kock and Blum, 2008; Lucifora et al., 2014). Restriction of the replication of these present day viruses occurs primarily through the deoxycytidine deamination activity of A3 enzymes which results in hypermutated and inactivated viral genomes. The gene duplications that resulted in the human A3 repertoire formed two general groups of deaminases with different Zinc (Z) coordinating domains: A3A, A3C, and A3H are enzymes with a single Z-domain and A3B, A3G, A3D, and A3F enzymes with two Zdomains (LaRue et al., 2008, Figure 1). For A3 enzymes with two Z-domains, only one domain is catalytically active, except for A3B, which may have two catalytically active domains (Hache et al., 2005; Navarro et al., 2005; Bogerd et al., 2007; Bonvin and Greeve, 2007, Figure 1).

For HIV-1 (referred to as HIV) to successfully infect humans, it must overcome numerous physical and immunological barriers (Harris et al., 2012; Shaw and Hunter, 2012; Xu et al., 2013). Within



FIGURE 1 | Zinc (Z) coordinating-type domains of human A3 enzymes. A3 enzymes coordinate zinc through the motif H-X-E-X₂₃₋₂₈-P-C-X₂₋₄-C. The glutamate activates a water molecule to enable zinc-hydroxidemediated nucleophilic attack to complete the deamination reaction. Deamination activity has been demonstrated for all A3 enzymes. For the enzymes with two Z-type domains that restrict HIV in CD4+T cells (A3D, A3F, and A3G), a legend depicts known biochemical functions of each Z-type domain. A common feature of A3 enzymes with two Z-type domains is the segregation of functions in the N-terminal domain (NTD) and C-terminal domain (CTD). The NTD is responsible for encapsidation and the CTD is responsible for deamination activity. Both domains can bind nucleic acids. The binding site of Vif is in the NTD for A3G and in the CTD for A3D and A3F. The determinants for enzyme processivity have only been studied for A3G and A3F. A3G and A3F processivity is imparted by the NTD.

cells, HIV must overcome a network of restriction factors that are able to block specific replication steps of the virus, including A3 enzymes (Harris et al., 2012; Rahm and Telenti, 2012). HIV can overcome these restriction factors through mutations or encoding accessory proteins that specifically block the restriction factor function (Harris et al., 2012; Rahm and Telenti, 2012). HIV uses the viral infectivity factor (Vif) to overcome A3 enzymes (Sheehy et al., 2002; Conticello et al., 2003; Harris et al., 2003; Mangeat et al., 2003; Mariani et al., 2003). The Vif protein of simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV), the non-human primate form of the virus, has co-evolved with species-specific A3s for millions of years (Compton and Emerman, 2013). The HIV-1 predecessor, SIV_{cpz} from chimpanzees underwent a key evolutionary event that altered the 3' region of the vif gene that was essential for antagonism of human A3 function, along with further evolutionary changes in chimpanzees that adapted SIV_{cpz} for improved infection of humans (Etienne et al., 2013). To antagonize A3 enzymes, HIV Vif must maintain the ability to physically interact with relevant A3s, host protein CBFβ for stability (Jager et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012), and components of the host ubiquitin ligase assembly (Yu et al., 2003, 2004; Kobayashi et al., 2005; Xiao et al., 2006). Ultimately Vif thwarts A3s by inducing their polyubiquitination and degradation through the proteasome (Figures 2A,B). It is thought that by disrupting the Vif-host cell interactions through novel pharmaceuticals, A3 enzymes can be used to suppress HIV. However, the natural balance of A3 enzymes and HIV must be first understood since there is evidence that HIV can take advantage of A3 enzymes to accelerate its quasispecies evolution (Simon et al., 2005; Kim et al., 2010).

From cell culture studies, it appears that only A3A, A3D, A3F, A3G, and A3H are relevant to HIV restriction (Berger et al., 2011; Hultquist et al., 2011; Koning et al., 2011; Refsland et al., 2012; Chaipan et al., 2013). It is not surprising that not all seven A3 members restrict HIV replication since they likely evolved to restrict different retroelement pathogens (LaRue et al., 2008). There are two paradigms of how A3 enzymes can suppress HIV. A3A present in HIV target myeloid cells can restrict replication of incoming virions through low levels of deamination and possibility another mechanism that is not yet fully elucidated (Berger et al., 2011; Koning et al., 2011). In CD4+ T cells, A3D, A3F, A3G, and A3H restrict HIV Δvif by becoming virion encapsidated in the HIV producer cell and traveling with the virion to the next susceptible cell where they catalyze promutagenic deaminations of cytosine to uracil in nascent single-stranded HIV (-)DNA (Hultquist et al., 2011, Figure 2A). Although A3B can also restrict HIV in this manner in 293T or HeLa cells, it is unable to become virion packaged and restrict HIV in T cell lines, has low expression in activated T cells, and is not antagonized by Vif, suggesting that restriction by A3B is not physiologically relevant (Doehle et al., 2005; Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010; Hultquist et al., 2011; Pak et al., 2011). This review will focus on the restriction of HIV by virion encapsidated A3D, A3F, A3G, and A3H and how Vif antagonizes their function.

A3-MEDIATED RESTRICTION OF HIV

The A3D, A3F, A3G, and A3H molecules that escape Vif-mediated inhibition can restrict HIV by entering the assembling virus particle by binding RNA (HIV genome or cellular RNA such as 7SL or Y) that also interacts with the nucleocapsid (NC) portion of the Gag polyprotein (Alce and Popik, 2004; Cen et al., 2004; Douaisi et al., 2004; Svarovskaia et al., 2004; Burnett and Spearman, 2007; Khan et al., 2007; Bach et al., 2008; Bogerd and Cullen, 2008; Strebel and Khan, 2008; Wang et al., 2008; Ooms et al., 2010; Zhen et al., 2012, Figure 2A). After the virus enters the next target cell A3 enzymes exert their anti-viral function during the reverse transcription process (Suspene et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2004; Dang et al., 2006; OhAinle et al., 2008, Figures 2A,C). Although A3D, A3F, A3G, and A3H are localized to the cytoplasm they require encapsidation to restrict HIV and are not able to access the (-)DNA of an incoming virus (Hultquist et al., 2011, Figure 2A). This may be due to the HIV capsid structure or that A3 enzymes can reside in regions of RNA processing, e.g., stress granules or P-bodies, where they may have a role in sequestering human retrotransposon RNA to prevent transposition (Chiu et al., 2006; Kozak et al., 2006; Stopak et al., 2007; Gallois-Montbrun et al., 2008). Since A3 enzymes are ssDNA deaminases, deamination activity is restricted to the (-)DNA strand (Yu et al., 2004, Figure 2C). The cytosine $(C) \rightarrow$ uracil (U) deaminations catalyzed on the (-)DNA strand become guanine (G) \rightarrow adenine (A) mutations when reverse transcriptase (RT) uses U as a template during (+)DNA strand synthesis (Yu et al., 2004, Figure 2C). The resulting "hypermutation" of the provirus leads to inactivation of HIV (Harris et al., 2003; Mangeat et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2003, Figure 2A). Although it is known that many proviral genomes



FIGURE 2 | Continued

Overview of HIV restriction by A3 enzymes. (A) Sketch depicting lifecycles of wild-type (WT) and Δ Vif HIV (Δ Vif). Each virion enters a cell that expresses A3 enzymes. In the WT virus, Vif is expressed in the cell and recruits host cell CBF_β for stability and CRL5 E3 ubiquitin ligase complex composed of Elongin B/C (EloB/C), Cullin5 (Cul5) and Rbx2 (B). In this complex, Vif acts as the substrate receptor to induce degradation of A3 enzymes. As a result, assembling virions do not encapsidate high levels of A3 enzymes and upon infection of a target cell the HIV lifecycle continues. The ΔV if HIV encapsidates A3 enzymes through an RNA and Gag interaction. In the target cell the A3 enzymes within the capsid of HIV can deaminate cytosines to uracils in nascent single-stranded (-)DNA during reverse transcription (C). These uracils induce $G \rightarrow A$ transition mutations upon synthesis of (+)DNA (C). The resulting hypermutated virus can be integrated into the host genome but is functionally inactivated. A3 enzymes in the target cell cannot enter the HIV capsid and are unable to restrict virus replication unless encapsidated into budding virions. (B) Detailed sketch of Vif-mediated polyubiquitination of A3G. Vif interacts with Elongin C (EloC), which forms an obligate heterodimer with Elongin B (EloB), and Cul5. The transcription cofactor CBF β stabilizes Vif. Cul5 binds to Rbx2and subsequently recruits an E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzyme. Vif is the substrate receptor that recruits A3 enzymes. The ⁴⁸K-linked ubiquitin chains result in proteasomal degradation of the A3. (C) Sketch demonstrating the limited vulnerability of single-stranded (-)DNA to A3-mediated deamination that is imposed from the dynamics of reverse transcription. Reverse transcriptase is abbreviated as RT. HIV contains two polypurine tracts (PPT) that are used as primers for (+)DNA synthesis. In the figure, only one PPT is depicted. (D,E) Sketches depicting the stoichiometry of major virion components for a (D) WT and (E) Δ Vif HIV virion. Figures correspond to (D) and (E) in (A). (D) Low amounts of A3 may escape Vif-mediated degradation and become virion encapsidated (approximately one to two molecules of A3G/virion). (E) A Δ Vif HIV cannot induce degradation of A3 enzymes and that results in the encapsidation of A3 enzymes through an interaction with RNA and Gag. Approximately 3-11 molecules of A3G can become virion encapsidated. (D,E) Stoichiometry values for virions were obtained from Camaur and Trono (1996), Fouchier et al. (1996), Coffin et al. (1997), Xu et al. (2007), Nowarski et al. (2008).

undergo successful integration with these hypermutations (Russell et al., 2009a), some preintegration complexes containing U may be degraded by host DNA repair mechanisms, although there is no consensus regarding the extent to which this occurs in cells (Kaiser and Emerman, 2006; Yang et al., 2007). In cell culture, it has been found that the mutated HIV proteins that may be produced from these proviral genomes can act as a source of HIV antigens due to their misfolding and processing through the proteasome, which can facilitate immune recognition of HIV (Casartelli et al., 2010).

Each ssDNA deaminase acts within a preferred di- or trinucleotide substrate motif. For A3G, this is 5'CCC or 5'CC (Yu et al., 2004, 3'-end C preferred for deamination). A3D, A3F, and A3H deaminate 5'TTC or 5'TC motifs and A3D can also deaminate 5'GC motifs in proviral DNA (Liddament et al., 2004; Dang et al., 2006; Ooms et al., 2013a). Although the majority of A3 actions are repressed by Vif in HIV-infected individuals (**Figures 2A,B,D**), clinical studies have found that individuals with an inherent ability to express a high level of A3G mRNA are less likely to become infected with HIV or progress from HIV to AIDS and that the presence of hypermutated proviral genomes correlates with high CD4+ T-cell counts (Jin et al., 2005; Pace et al., 2006; Biasin et al., 2007; Land et al., 2008; Vazquez-Perez et al., 2009). Other A3 enzymes have not been extensively examined in this regard (Albin and Harris, 2010; Ooms et al., 2013a). However, there is evidence of deaminations in HIV genomes recovered from infected individuals due to $C/G \rightarrow T/A$ mutations in a sequence context that indicates deaminations by A3 enzymes other than A3G do occur (Pace et al., 2006; Land et al., 2008; Vazquez-Perez et al., 2009; Ooms et al., 2013a). For example, a study found that in HIV-infected individuals there is approximately an equal split between mutations occurring in the 5'TC and 5'CC contexts on (-)DNA (Ooms et al., 2013a). However, there is difficulty parsing out the effect of A3F, A3D, and A3H based on their mutation patterns since they all recognize the minimal dinucleotide 5'TC and are more promiscuous than A3G in regard to trinucleotide target site preference (Liddament et al., 2004; Dang et al., 2006; Hultquist et al., 2011). Nonetheless, it has become clear that despite some evidence that A3G has more mutagenic potential than other A3 deaminases, it is not acting alone against HIV (Refsland et al., 2012; Chaipan et al., 2013; Ooms et al., 2013a). The HIV genomes mutated through A3 catalytic activity are also subject to the pressure of purifying selection. This selection pressure results in mutated and inactivated genomes being highest in integrated proviral DNA and lowest in circulating viral RNA (Russell et al., 2009a). Furthermore, integrated proviruses that are inactivated by stop codons in the gag gene may still be rescued by dual infection of a cell by HIV quasispecies and complementation of Gag function (Russell et al., 2009a). Recombination within virions by RT template switching can result in "reactivation" of inactivated viral genomes (Mulder et al., 2008; Russell et al., 2009a). As a result, A3-mediated mutagenesis is effective, but the complete inactivation of HIV in an infected individual is potentially a long-term process that is likely to require multiple rounds of exposure to viruses.

A3G-MEDIATED RESTRICTION OF HIV Deamination-dependent HIV restriction by A3G

Since A3G was the first A3 enzyme discovered A3G has been the most widely studied for how it enacts its role as a restriction factor (over 700 publications in PubMed). There are two key steps that A3G must complete to be an efficient restriction factor. First, the enzyme must be available for binding RNA that will become virion encapsidated through an interaction with the NC portion of Gag (Alce and Popik, 2004; Cen et al., 2004; Douaisi et al., 2004; Svarovskaia et al., 2004; Burnett and Spearman, 2007; Khan et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2008). Second, it must have a mechanism to search the nascent HIV (-)DNA, that is available for a finite period of time, for potential cytosines that it can deaminate (Chelico et al., 2006; Nowarski et al., 2008; Ara et al., 2014, **Figure 2C**).

A3G exists in cells as a high molecular mass that is bound to RNA and other proteins in stress granules and P-bodies (Chiu et al., 2006; Kozak et al., 2006; Wichroski et al., 2006; Gallois-Montbrun et al., 2008). However, only newly synthesized A3G that has not associated with host RNAs in these cytoplasmic structures appears to bind the RNA that is also bound by HIV Gag and therefore encapsidated into virions (Soros et al., 2007). A3G requires oligomerization to bind these RNAs effectively in cells and become virion encapsidated (Wang et al., 2007; Bulliard et al., 2009; Huthoff et al., 2009), but *in vitro* oligomerization mutants of A3G can bind many RNAs with less than a threefold difference from wild-type (WT) A3G (Chelico et al., 2010; Feng and Chelico, 2011). The RNA binding and oligomerization of A3G is primarily mediated by the N-terminal domain (NTD) and the NTD is solely responsible for virion encapsidation of A3G (Hache et al., 2005; Navarro et al., 2005; Huthoff et al., 2009; Chelico et al., 2010, Figure 1). The NTD residues ¹²⁴YYFW¹²⁷ on predicted loop 7 mediate the dimerization of A3G (Huthoff et al., 2009; Chelico et al., 2010, Figure 3A). A3G is primarily a dimer in solution and when A3G binds RNA or DNA it oligomerizes into tetramers and higher order structures through C-terminal domain (CTD) residues ³¹³RIYDDQ³¹⁸ on loop 7 (Chelico et al., 2008, 2010; Shlyakhtenko et al., 2011, Figure 3B). It is essential for A3G to enter the inner capsid of the virion to restrict HIV. Within the capsid A3G can associate with the ribonucleoprotein complex and access the (-)DNA as it is synthesized. A3 enzymes that cannot encapsidate within the HIV capsid, e.g., A3A and A3C, are unable to restrict HIV replication in CD4+ T cells (Goila-Gaur et al., 2007; Hultquist et al., 2011). However, accessing the ribonucleoprotein complex does not guarantee the ability to restrict HIV. Since the (-)DNA is only available for a finite period of time due to HIV containing two polypurine tracts (PPT) that are used to prime (+)DNA synthesis (Suspene et al., 2006; Hu et al., 2010), A3 enzymes require an efficient mechanism to search for cytosines (Figure 2C). Complicating the search is that the (-)DNA contains pieces of annealed RNA due to the endonuclease activity of the RT-associated RNaseH (Figure 2C). A3G binds RNA/DNA hybrids less well than ssDNA and encountering these obstacles on the substrate can induce A3G to dissociate from DNA (Iwatani et al., 2006; Chelico et al., 2008).

Unraveling the mechanism by which A3G locates and catalyzes its deamination motif is of pivotal importance for understanding the mechanistic basis of proviral hypermutation. The mechanism with which an A3 enzyme scans non-target DNA in search of its deamination motif is a determinant in its catalytic efficiency (Feng and Chelico, 2011; Ara et al., 2014). DNA scanning is described by the term processivity and is defined as the ability of an enzyme to catalyze multiple events in a single enzyme-DNA substrate encounter. Enzymes that do not use an energy source for movement on DNA use a mechanism termed facilitated diffusion to efficiently search DNA (Berg et al., 1981; von Hippel and Berg, 1989). This is a mechanism where the enzymes, subject to Brownian motion, move randomly on DNA. Since DNA-binding proteins are usually positively charged, the negative charge of the DNA facilitates the enzyme movement through electrostatic interactions (Berg et al., 1981; von Hippel and Berg, 1989). A3G is a positively charged enzyme (charge of +6.5 at pH 7) and processively scans ssDNA by facilitated diffusion (Chelico et al., 2006; Nowarski et al., 2008, Figure 4). This mode is distinct from an enzyme that acts on DNA distributively, where only one catalytic event occurs before the enzyme disengages from the substrate (Chelico et al., 2009). Facilitated diffusion can involve a variety of movements such as 1-dimensional (D) sliding (Figure 4B) or 3-D movements such as hopping/jumping (Figure 4C) or intersegmental transfer (Figure 4D, Halford and Marko, 2004). Hopping and jumping describe small microdissociations and reassociations with the same DNA strand without diffusion into the bulk solution (von Hippel and Berg, 1989, Figure 4C). Intersegemental transfer involves a two-step mechanism where an enzyme with two DNA-binding sites binds a second site before releasing the first site (von Hippel and Berg, 1989, Figure 4D). Facilitated diffusion works best when both 1- and 3-D movements are used to enable local scanning of a small segment of DNA by sliding (<20 nt) and movement to distal regions to restart the local scanning process (Halford and Marko, 2004; Feng and Chelico, 2011). These distal movements do not cause the enzyme to leave the DNA and enter into the bulk solution because the charged surface of the DNA keeps the enzyme within the domain of the DNA (von Hippel and Berg, 1989, Figure 4C). Using different methods A3G has been found to scan ssDNA by 1-D sliding motions and 3-D jumping motions (Chelico et al., 2006; Senavirathne et al., 2012; Shlyakhtenko et al., 2012). However, one study has found that A3G moves by 3-D intersegmental transfers (Nowarski et al., 2008). The efficiency imparted by a 3-D movement in the specific case of A3G during reverse transcription is that it provides a means of overcoming the DNA/RNA hybrid barrier (Nowarski et al., 2008; Feng and Chelico, 2011). Clusters of A3G-induced deaminations indicative of processive sliding movements have been found in integrated proviral genomes (Browne et al., 2009) and A3G mutants unable to undergo a local searching process by 1-D sliding, such as H186R and A3G with an ¹⁹⁵NPM¹⁹⁷ insertion have decreased mutagenesis during *in vitro* reverse transcription or in HIV proviral genomes (Feng and Chelico, 2011; Ara et al., 2014). Furthermore, an A3G F126A/W127A mutant that cannot jump has decreased mutagenesis during in vitro reverse transcription (Feng and Chelico, 2011). These data demonstrate that neither movement alone can enable high levels of A3G-induced mutagenesis. Interestingly, the F126A/W127A mutant is monomeric, suggesting that the oligomeric state of A3G plays a role in efficient restriction of HIV not only by facilitating virion encapsidation but also by facilitating the DNA scanning process (Huthoff et al., 2009; Chelico et al., 2010; Feng and Chelico, 2011). The processivity determinants of A3G reside on predicted loop 7 and helix 6 of the non-catalytic NTD (Feng and Chelico, 2011; Ara et al., 2014, Figure 3A). Thus, despite a lack of catalytic activity, the NTD contributes to A3G deamination activity by mediating the processive scanning mechanism (Feng and Chelico, 2011).

Deamination-independent HIV restriction by A3G

A3G primarily restricts HIV replication through its deamination activity. However, there have been numerous reports of an ability of A3G to physically inhibit other processes of HIV such as RT polymerization (Iwatani et al., 2007; Bishop et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2012; Adolph et al., 2013; Belanger et al., 2013; Gillick et al., 2013), NC strand annealing (Guo et al., 2006, 2007), and proviral DNA integration (Luo et al., 2007; Belanger et al., 2013). These processes do not occur in isolation from deamination, nor do they restrict HIV better than deamination alone (Belanger et al., 2013; Gillick et al., 2013). We will focus on inhibition of RT polymerization since this is the most prevalent mechanism studied.

Early studies of A3G-mediated restriction of HIV proposed that transiently overexpressed WT A3G and deamination null mutants



FIGURE 3 | Structures of A3 enzymes. A3 enzymes have a basic structure in each Z-type domain that is composed of a five-stranded β -sheet core surrounded by six α -helices. Numerical assignments to β -strands and α -helices are superimposed in (A). Zinc atoms are shown as blue spheres. (A) Model of the N-terminal domain (NTD) of A3G. Loop 7 (L7) of the A3G NTD is a central structure in its anti-HIV function. Highlighted on L7 are the residues important for interaction with Vif (red, ¹²⁸DPD¹³⁰), oligomerization/virion encapsidation (green and cyan, ¹²⁴YYFW¹²⁷), and jumping component of A3G processivity (cyan, ¹²⁶FW¹²⁷). Helix 6 (h6) is adjacent to L7 and contributes to the sliding component of A3G processivity, particularly ¹⁸⁶H (cyan). The model of the A3G NTD was obtained by using the automated SWISS-MODEL program using the homologous A3G C-terminal domain structure (CTD, PDB: 3IQS). (B) The A3G CTD (PDB: 2KEM) is the catalytic domain of A3G. The A3G CTD has a discontinuous $\beta 2$ strand forming a loop-like bulge between the $\beta 2$ and $\beta 2'$ strands. A3G L7 residues $^{313}\text{RIYDDQ}^{318}$ (green) mediate tetramerization and determine the preferred deamination motif. (C) The model of the A3F NTD was obtained by using the automated SWISS-MODEL program using the homologous A3C structure (PDB: 3VM8). The end of h6 connects the NTD to the CTD and

contains an ¹⁹⁰NPM¹⁹² motif. This NPM motif is found only in A3D and A3F. (D) The A3F CTD (PDB: 4IOU) is the catalytic domain of A3F and interacts with Vif. Residues that interact with Vif across Helix 2, 3, 4, and β -strand 4 are shown in red. Also shown on this structure is the deamination motif specificity loop (L7) and the $^{190}\mathrm{NPM^{192}}$ motif. The structure illustrates the kinked orientation introduced by the Pro in the $^{190}\mathrm{NPM}^{192}$ motif, which blocks the sliding function of A3F. (E) The model of the CTD of A3D was obtained by using the SWISS-MODEL program using the homologous A3F structure (PDB: 4IOU). Residues that interact with Vif across Helix 2, 3, 4, and β -strand 4 are shown in red. The $^{\rm 320}{\rm C}$ residue on L7 that influences A3D activity is shown in orange. (F) Model of A3H Hap II showing residues that interact with Vif and cause haplotype instability. In A3H Hap II, ¹²¹D (red) on predicted h4 mediates an interaction with Vif. In A3H Hap I the R105G mutation induces protein instability (magenta). In A3H Hap III and IV, the deletion of ¹⁵N induces protein instability (magenta). The model of the A3H Hap II was obtained by using the automated SWISS-MODEL program using the homologous APOBEC2 structure (PDB: 2NYT). Figures were made using PyMOL (The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System, Version 1.5.05, Shrödinger, LLC.).



of A3G could inhibit HIV proviral DNA formation (Mangeat et al., 2003; Newman et al., 2005). The initial mechanism proposed was that A3G binds the HIV genomic RNA which impedes RT (Iwatani et al., 2007). This has been confirmed in multiple reports using cellular and biochemical experiments (Adolph et al., 2013; Belanger et al., 2013; Chaurasiya et al., 2014). However, the physiological significance of these processes is difficult to reconcile since results from cell-based experiments using transiently expressed A3G cannot be replicated when A3G is stably expressed, suggesting that overexpression of A3G induced experimental artifacts due to excessive packaging of A3G in virions (Mbisa et al., 2007; Miyagi et al., 2007; Schumacher et al., 2008; Browne et al., 2009). Importantly, studies that used deamination null mutants of A3G to show that deamination ability is required for restriction of HIV (Mbisa et al., 2007; Miyagi et al., 2007; Schumacher et al., 2008) should be considered in conjunction with data showing that the A3G E259Q catalytically inactive mutant is not a true proxy for A3G (Bishop et al., 2008; Adolph et al., 2013). A3G E259Q binds RNA less well than A3G and this results in less inhibition of RT in vitro and in cells (Bishop et al., 2008; Adolph et al., 2013).

Nonetheless, it is clear that the ability of A3G to inhibit RT is highly dependent on A3G concentration and the primer/template (Mbisa et al., 2007; Miyagi et al., 2007; Schumacher et al., 2008; Browne et al., 2009; Adolph et al., 2013). The initiation of DNA synthesis from an RNA primer on an RNA template is the least efficient type of polymerization activity of RT (Liu et al., 2010). Accordingly, in vitro, low levels of A3G can best inhibit RT-mediated primer initiation at this step by competing for substrate (Iwatani et al., 2007; Adolph et al., 2013). In contrast, on a DNA primer and DNA template, A3G could at most inhibit in vitro RT-mediated initiation of synthesis by twofold under single turnover conditions and could not block RT from binding the primer/template, but merely lengthened the time RT required to find the free 3'OH (Adolph et al., 2013). These data are in agreement with a computational study that suggests an A3G-mediated deamination-independent mode of HIV restriction contributes <1% of the restriction capability of A3G (Kobayashi et al., 2014). Although studies have shown that a peptide of A3G can interact with RT and inhibit RT-mediated DNA synthesis, it is unlikely that this mechanism is a physiological way to inhibit reverse transcription since in Δ Vif virions, only 3–11 A3G molecules are encapsidated whereas there are approximately 100 RT molecules (Coffin et al., 1997; Xu et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2012, Figure 2E). In the presence of Vif, there is only an estimated one to two molecules of A3G per virion (Nowarski et al., 2008, Figure 2D), emphasizing the importance of a deamination-dependent mechanism over a deamination-independent mechanism. A single molecule of A3G could inactivate an HIV provirus through cytosine deamination whereas the deamination-independent mechanism is much more concentration dependent (Browne et al., 2009; Adolph et al., 2013). Single-molecule studies have brought forth the model that A3G oligomers can act as a road-block for HIV (Chaurasiya et al., 2014). Notably, existence of a deamination-independent

mode of HIV inhibition has been observed *ex vivo* in primary cells (Gillick et al., 2013), but it requires further research as to the significance of this mode of inhibition during an HIV infection.

A3F-MEDIATED RESTRICTION OF HIV Deamination-dependent HIV restriction by A3F

Approximately 2 years after the discovery of A3G, A3F was discovered to also exhibit restriction activity against HIV (Liddament et al., 2004; Wiegand et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2004). Sequenced HIV proviral genomes were known to contain $G/C \rightarrow A/T$ transition mutations in 5'CC and 5'TC contexts in the (-)DNA (Pathak and Temin, 1990; Li et al., 1991; Vartanian et al., 1991, 2002; Fitzgibbon et al., 1993) and A3F was found to contribute to transition mutations in the 5'TC context. Of these initial studies demonstrating A3F activity active against HIV (Bishop et al., 2004; Liddament et al., 2004; Wiegand et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2004), all except one (Zennou and Bieniasz, 2006) found that A3F restriction activity was equivalent to A3G restriction activity. It has since been shown that overexpression of A3 enzymes can result in excessive packaging into HIV virions and result in artifacts of HIV restriction (Miyagi et al., 2007; Xu et al., 2007; Schumacher et al., 2008). Yet even after 10 years of studying A3F, multiple groups still find different activities of A3F against HIV that cannot be attributable to overexpression, but perhaps different experimental systems and techniques (Miyagi et al., 2010; Mulder et al., 2010; Hultquist et al., 2011; Chaipan et al., 2013; Ara et al., 2014). However, A3F must exert a restriction pressure on HIV since Vif maintains an interaction interface with A3F that is distinct from A3G in order to induce A3F degradation (Russell et al., 2009b). As with A3G, for A3F to effectively restrict HIV, it must be encapsidated with the ribonucleoprotein complex within the capsid (Wang et al., 2008) and effectively search for cytosines on the heterogeneous (-)DNA substrate (Ara et al., 2014).

A3F encapsidates into HIV virions through an interaction with RNA, but packages more efficiently than A3G into the core of HIV particles (Zennou and Bieniasz, 2006; Wang et al., 2008; Song et al., 2012). By resolving HIV capsids on a sucrose gradient to observe whether A3F and A3G partition with the RNA and enzymes or the p24 capsid protein, Song et al. (2012) found that more A3F specifically associated with the ribonucleoprotein complex, in comparison to A3G. A3F binds nucleic acids with sevenfold higher affinity than A3G (Ara et al., 2014), which may enable it to package more specifically within the capsid (Song et al., 2012). Furthermore, A3F has been shown to bind doublestranded DNA with a higher affinity than A3G and maintain an association with the pre-integration complex of HIV as it enters the nucleus through its high-affinity nucleic acid binding (Mbisa et al., 2010; Burdick et al., 2013). Despite the quantity of A3F being at an equal or greater amount to A3G, A3F restricted HIV approximately fourfold less than A3G in a single round of infection (Song et al., 2012). Although some reports show A3F can be less effective than A3G in restricting HIV (Miyagi et al., 2010; Mulder et al., 2010; Song et al., 2012; Chaipan et al., 2013; Ara et al., 2014), it cannot be concluded that it does not suppress HIV or impose selective pressure on HIV. Not only because of data showing A3F can effectively restrict HIV in spreading infections (Hultquist et al., 2011; Refsland et al., 2012), but also because an HIV lab strain with tandem stop codons in Vif (from HIV NL4-3) will revert back to expressing a functional Vif in the presence of A3F (Albin et al., 2010a). This does not occur when A3G is used in the same type of forced evolution experiments (Hache et al., 2008, 2009). The HIV evolves to overcome A3G restriction, but does so by acquiring a 5'UTR mutation to make HIV RNA transcription more efficient and altering the cell cycle through a Vpr mutation (Hache et al., 2008, 2009). Together these mutations result in more virus particles being produced. Presumably since A3G has less specific packaging in the capsid than A3F, this strategy titrates out the ribonucleoprotein-packaged A3G enabling the HIV to escape high levels of mutagenesis. These data illustrate that A3G and A3F exert a distinct selective pressure on HIV due to distinct biochemical properties and that A3 packaging into virions is a necessary but insufficient step to ensure efficient HIV restriction (Ara et al., 2014).

To further understand why A3F-mediated restriction of HIV may be different than for A3G, Ara et al. (2014) undertook a biochemical study of A3F in comparison to A3G to identify biochemical differences between these enzymes that could account for differences in restriction efficiency. They found that in contrast to A3G, A3F used only 3-D jumping motions to scan ssDNA. This made the DNA scanning mechanism inefficient since A3F could translocate between many ssDNA regions and overcome intervening RNA/DNA hybrid regions, but lacked a local search mechanism to examine ssDNA regions for its 5'TC motif (Figure 4C). The A3F sliding movement is blocked by a ¹⁹⁰NPM¹⁹² motif in the connection domain between the NTD and CTD (Figures 3C,D) since mutagenesis of this motif to ¹⁹⁰NGM¹⁹²enabled A3F to slide (Ara et al., 2014). The Bohn et al.'s (2013) A3F CTD structure includes the 190 NPM192 sequence and shows that it is a kinked region of the loop structure (Figure 3D). Since an A3F ¹⁹⁰NGM¹⁹² mutant was able to slide, the data suggest that the rigid ¹⁹¹P residue primarily blocks sliding. However, imparting sliding movement to A3F through the 190 NGM192 mutant did not increase A3F HIV restriction efficiency because the jumping movements of A3F differed from A3G and were dominant over sliding which maintained an inefficient search of ssDNA (Ara et al., 2014). The differences in DNA scanning between A3F and A3G were shown to be relevant to HIV restriction since A3F was fourfold less effective in restriction of HIV than A3G in a single-cycle infectivity assay (Ara et al., 2014). Of note, A3F was also shown to have a 100-fold lower specific activity than A3G (Ara et al., 2014), but this was not thought to contribute to differences in restriction efficiency since studies with different A3G and A3F mutants showed that mutagenesis efficiency correlated with the efficiency of the ssDNA scanning mechanism, not the specific activity. This is likely because RT polymerization and RNaseH activity limit the (-)DNA substrate available (Feng et al., 2013). The study by Ara et al. (2014) is in agreement with studies where A3F has not been as effective as A3G in restriction of HIV (Miyagi et al., 2010; Mulder et al., 2010; Chaipan et al., 2013), although A3F was found to be as restrictive to HIV replication as A3G in other reports (Hultquist et al., 2011; Refsland et al., 2012). Despite A3F being considered in some reports to be less efficient than A3G as an HIV restriction factor when considered side by side, this is far from the natural mechanism of these enzymes in which they act in concert (Refsland et al., 2012; Ooms et al., 2013a) and further studies examining how these enzymes work together are needed.

It is of note that Zennou and Bieniasz (2006) noticed that per mutation, A3F was less likely to inactivate HIV than A3G. This was later found to be because the 5'CC motif of A3G overlaps with the only Trp codon (5'TGG/ACC) and results in a stop codon upon deamination of either cytosine in the motif (Yu et al., 2004). In contrast, A3F-induced mutations largely result in missense mutations which may or may not inactivate the encoded protein (Ara et al., 2014). The A3G 5'CC motif also overlaps with Gly codons and in the HIV prot mutations at these Gly results in more non-conservative mutations and gene inactivation than A3F-induced missense mutations that primarily cause the conservative mutation of Glu to Gln (Ara et al., 2014). The determinant for motif specificity is loop 7 in the CTD (Langlois et al., 2005; Kohli et al., 2009; Carpenter et al., 2010; Rathore et al., 2013, Figures 3B,D). This loop can be grafted into different A3 enzymes to change site specificity (Kohli et al., 2009). However, the consequences of deamination mediated restriction can be independent from inducing amino acid changes. A3F and A3G may be able to block proviral integration through deoxycytidine deaminations that result in aberrant processing of the proviral DNA ends by HIV integrase and inhibition of plus-strand DNA transfer by reducing the efficiency of primer tRNA removal (Mbisa et al., 2007, 2010).

Deamination-independent HIV restriction by A3F

For many years, A3F was thought to have a stronger deaminationindependent mode of inhibiting HIV than A3G (Bishop et al., 2006; Holmes et al., 2007). Unlike A3G, the mechanism of deamination-independent "activity" was not extensively studied, but was presumed to be due to inhibition of RT polymerization. A computational study has found that A3G and A3F rely differentially on their deamination-independent modes of HIV restriction with A3G only having the deamination-independent mode contributing to <1% of its restriction activity whereas for A3F this value was approximately 30% (Kobayashi et al., 2014). However, two studies using stably expressed A3F and A3F catalytic mutants C280S/C283A and E251Q demonstrated no inhibition of RT, suggesting that previous results were influenced by A3F overexpression artifacts (Miyagi et al., 2010; Albin et al., 2014). Another study showed that A3F can inhibit HIV integration by reducing 3' processing of viral DNA at the U5 and U3 ends by integrase (Mbisa et al., 2010). Using a catalytic mutant of A3F (E251Q), the study found that inhibition of integration was decreased approximately twofold from that of WT A3F suggesting that catalytic activity is in part required to produce the aberrant U5 and U3 ends (Mbisa et al., 2010). Thus there appears to be consensus that despite the potentially inefficient mutagenic activity of A3F in some studies, the deamination activity of A3F is still dominant over the deamination-independent activity. Furthermore, if a deamination-independent mode of HIV inhibition functions in cells, it may be the inhibition of integration rather than reverse transcription (Mbisa et al., 2010).

A3D-MEDIATED RESTRICTION OF HIV

A3D was first characterized in 2006 to restrict HIV replication in single-cycle infectivity assays and to be suppressed by Vif, suggesting that it posed a restriction pressure on HIV (Dang et al., 2006). Further evidence of this was that HIV proviral genomes showed evidence of deaminations in the contexts of 5'CC, 5'TC, and 5'GC (Dang et al., 2006). A3D was found to deaminate in the 5'TC and 5'GC contexts which were unique from A3G and A3F that maintain less promiscuous deamination motif preferences (Dang et al., 2006). A3D also forms multimers through an RNA intermediate in cells with a similar profile as A3G (Li et al., 2014). In a clinical study of HIV-infected individuals, A3D was found to be upregulated in both Elite Controllers and in Non-Controllers but was down-regulated in response to successful anti-retroviral treatment, indicating that A3D is part of a virological immune response to HIV (Abdel-Mohsen et al., 2013). However, the restrictive activity of A3D appears less than A3G and A3F in single-cycle infectivity assays in cell lines (Dang et al., 2006, 2011; Hultquist et al., 2011) and spreading infections in primary human cells (Chaipan et al., 2013). Furthermore, A3D represents the most divergent A3 enzyme in the lineage of chimpanzee to humans and the activity of A3D has decreased from chimpanzees to humans (Duggal et al., 2011). Other chimpanzee and human A3 enzymes are more commonly found to have similar restriction potentials (Duggal et al., 2011). Chimpanzee A3D induces more hypermutation of HIV than human A3D, despite equivalent packaging into virions (Duggal et al., 2011). This was attributed to differences in loop 7 of the CTD (Dang et al., 2011; Duggal et al., 2011). One report found a single amino acid in the CTD loop 7, C320, that suppressed A3D antiviral activity (Dang et al., 2011, Figure 3E). If the C320 was replaced with a Tyr, as in A3F, the activity of A3D could be increased by more than 20-fold (Dang et al., 2011). In contrast, endogenous A3D from the T cell line CEM2n appears to have activity against HIV-1 that is similar to A3F (Refsland et al., 2012). Using a series of A3 null backgrounds or A3 knockdowns, Refsland et al. (2012) found that the HIV-1 proviral hypermutation pattern at 5'CC and 5'TC sites was induced at comparable levels by the combined action of A3G and A3F or A3G and A3D, suggesting a redundancy in the HIV-1 restriction mechanism.

A3H-MEDIATED RESTRICTION OF HIV

A3H was originally identified as not being able to restrict HIV replication due to low steady-state protein levels in mammalian cells, despite normal mRNA expression (Dang et al., 2006; OhAinle et al., 2006). However, when A3H was recombinantly expressed in *Escherichia coli* it could mutate the *E. coli* genomic DNA (OhAinle et al., 2006). In later studies, it was realized that A3H exists as multiple haplotypes in the human population (Hap I-VII) with different stabilities in cells and HIV restriction capabilities (**Table 1**) and the original A3H tested was an unstable form (Hap I, OhAinle et al., 2008; Harari et al., 2009). The unstable Hap I is the most prevalent form of A3H in the population (**Table 1**), but is able to restrict HIV infection by approximately twofold when transiently over-expressed in cell lines (OhAinle et al., 2008; Harari et al., 2009; Li and Emerman, 2011; Wang et al., 2011a). Two amino acid

A3H haplotypes	Polymorphic amino acid residues					Antiviral activity	Protein	Haplotype	Reference
	Δ15	18	105	121	178	in cell culture	stability	frequency	
Нар I	Ν	R	G	K	E	Partial	No	0.526 ^a	OhAinle et al. (2006), OhAinle et al. (2008),
								0.308 ^b	Dang et al. (2008), OhAinle et al. (2008),
									Harari et al. (2009), Ooms et al. (2010,
									2013a), Li and Emerman (2011), Wang et al.
									(2011b), Zhen et al. (2012)
Hap II	Ν	R	R	D	D	Yes	Yes	0.061 ^a	OhAinle et al. (2008), Ooms et al. (2010),
								0.265 ^b	Hultquist et al. (2011), Li and Emerman
									(2011), Wang et al. (2011b), Zhen et al.
									(2012), Ooms et al. (2013a)
Hap III	Δ	R	R	D	D	No	No	0.070 ^a	OhAinle et al. (2008), Wang et al. (2011b),
								0.114 ^b	Ooms et al. (2013a)
Hap IV	Δ	L	R	D	D	No	No	0.088 ^a	OhAinle et al. (2008), Harari et al. (2009),
								0.178 ^b	Wang et al. (2011b)
Hap V	Ν	R	R	D	E	Yes	Yes	0.202 ^a	OhAinle et al. (2008), Wang et al. (2011b)
								0.054 ^b	
Hap VI	Δ	L	G	К	D	No	No	0.026 ^a	OhAinle et al. (2008), Wang et al. (2011b)
								0.0004 ^b	
Hap VII	Ν	R	R	К	E	Yes	Yes	0.009 ^a	OhAinle et al. (2008), Wang et al. (2011b)
								Not detected ^b	

Table 1 | Summary of A3H haplotype features.

^aWang et al. (2011b).

^b OhAinle et al. (2008).

polymorphisms, 105 G and $\Delta {}^{15}$ N, can independently contribute to the instability of A3H (Table 1). A3H Hap I is unstable due to a Gly at position 105 (OhAinle et al., 2008). An A3H Hap I G105R mutant (later identified as Haplotype VII, Table 1) renders the A3H stable in cells and imparts strong anti-HIV activity (OhAinle et al., 2008; Harari et al., 2009). Other unstable A3H haplotypes (III and IV) have the Δ^{15} N in combination with another polymorphism (OhAinle et al., 2008; Harari et al., 2009, Table 1). It is not known biochemically why these A3H haplotypes are unstable, but comparative modeling of A3H with the structure of a related family member APOBEC2 shows that amino acid 105 is in a β-strand within the central five-stranded β-sheet, suggesting that an R105G mutation could destabilize the core structure (Figure 3F). The Δ ¹⁵N is predicted to be within a loop structure (Figure 3F) so it is difficult to predict the reason for the instability in this undefined region, but it is known from studies with A3F that deletions to a loop that connect the NTD and CTD cause protein instability (Ara et al., 2014), suggesting that the A3H loop may need to be of a specific length for proper protein folding. Although different haplotypes (II, V, and VII) have been reported to exist in the population as stable forms that are able to restrict HIV (Table 1), in this review we focus only on A3H Hap II (A3H Hap II), which has been the most highly studied. Notably, A3H Hap II has some variability in its restriction ability which is dependent on alternative mRNA spliced forms (Harari

et al., 2009). A3H Hap II is primarily found in Africans/African Americans (~50%) and to a much lesser extent within other cultural populations (prevalence of approximately 0–8%, OhAinle et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2011b). It has been proposed that A3H evolved to become unstable due to a combination of the loss of an ancient pathogen and the ability of an ancestral A3H to induce mutagenesis of genomic DNA (Jern and Coffin, 2008; OhAinle et al., 2008).

A3H is the only A3 enzyme with highly diversified antiviral activities based on sequence polymorphisms (Li and Emerman, 2011; Duggal et al., 2013) and appears to be in a category of its own in relation to other A3 enzymes regarding two other aspects. First, A3D, A3F, and A3G that also restrict HIV replication have two Z-type domains, whereas A3H has only one Z-domain (LaRue et al., 2008, Figure 1). Phylogenic analyses have shown that the A3 Z-type domains have three distinct categories (Z1, Z2, and Z3) and A3H is the only A3 enzyme with an Z3 (LaRue et al., 2008, Figure 1). A3D and A3F have two Z2 domains and A3G has an Z1 (CTD) and Z2 (NTD) domain (LaRue et al., 2008, Figure 1). Second, A3H is the only single Ztype domain A3 (others are A3A and A3C) that forms oligomers and multimers. Structural and biochemical studies have found that A3A and A3C are largely monomeric (>90%) in solution and do not multimerize in cells through an RNA intermediate (Kitamura et al., 2012; Love et al., 2012; Byeon et al., 2013; Li et al., 2014; Logue et al., 2014; Shlyakhtenko et al., 2014). In contrast, A3H Hap II was found to multimerize in cells (Li et al., 2014). The A3H Hap II multimerization in cells was shown by fluorescence fluctuation spectroscopy and determined that multiple A3H Hap II molecules could closely associate on RNA, not that A3H Hap II oligomerized through a protein-protein interaction (Li et al., 2014). It remains to be determined if A3H Hap II can form a dimer in solution in the absence of RNA or DNA. A3G and A3F form oligomers in the absence of nucleic acid suggesting that A3 oligomerization ability facilitates the multimerization of A3 enzymes with RNA in cells (Chelico et al., 2008; Shlyakhtenko et al., 2011; Ara et al., 2014). It has been shown that similar to A3G and A3F, A3H Hap II interacts with cellular RNA and the NC portion of Gag to facilitate its encapsidation into HIV particles (Wang et al., 2011a; Zhen et al., 2012). Studies on A3H Hap II and Hap I have also shown that cytoplasmic localization correlates with restriction efficiency since mutation of A3H Hap I to make it cytoplasmic (G105R) increases its restriction capacity despite other amino acid differences from A3H Hap II (Harari et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010). Additionally, virion mislocalization of certain A3H haplotypes may render them less active against HIV (Ooms et al., 2010). For example, despite nuclear localization of A3H Hap I, it can be encapsidated into HIV particles, but through an association with the matrix and capsid region of Gag, which leads to its primary localization outside the capsid (Ooms et al., 2010). These data suggest that both cellular and virion localization play a role in restriction efficiency. There has been limited information in the literature on the biochemical properties of A3H and how different haplotypes bind and scan ssDNA in search for deamination targets. A3H Hap II prefers to deaminate ssDNA at 5'TC sites, similar to A3F and A3D, and appears have a high mutagenic potential and ability to restrict HIV in both single-cycle and spreading infection experiments and in HIV-infected individuals (Harari et al., 2009; Hultquist et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011a; Ooms et al., 2013a).

RESTRICTION OF HIV BY COORDINATELY EXPRESSED A3 ENZYMES

Vif-deficient HIV showed replication defects when produced from cell lines such as CEM and H9, resulting in their classification as non-permissive cell lines (Gabuzda et al., 1992; Blanc et al., 1993; Sakai et al., 1993; von Schwedler et al., 1993; Madani and Kabat, 1998; Simon et al., 1998). After many years of investigating the function of Vif and trying to understand the dichotomous phenomenon of permissive and non-permissive cell lines for ΔV if HIV, Sheehy et al. (2002) found that the non-permissive CEM cell line expressed A3G. Thereafter, many groups discovered that Vif was required to induce degradation of A3G to enable HIV replication (Sheehy et al., 2002, 2003; Conticello et al., 2003; Kao et al., 2003; Mariani et al., 2003; Marin et al., 2003; Stopak et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2003). Later, it was realized by analyzing the mRNA expression levels of A3s using quantitative PCR in permissive (CEM-SS, SupT1) and non-permissive (CEM and H9) T cell lines that the classical non-permissive CEM T cell line expressed not only A3G but also A3F and A3D, albeit with lower mRNA levels (Refsland et al., 2010). It is interesting to speculate whether more data would be available on the inhibition of HIV by the combined

action of multiple A3s if they were discovered at the same time as A3G.

In primary CD4+ T cells A3 enzymes relevant to HIV restriction are expressed and further induced by mitogens, rather than interferon, indicative of their function in restricting retrotransposons (Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010). In contrast, in macrophages, monocytes and dendritic cells expression of select A3 enzymes is induced by interferon (Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010). Although A3 enzymes are not individually expressed in cells as in many laboratory experiments (Refsland et al., 2010, 2012), there is an advantage of individual expression of each A3. Individual expression of A3 enzymes enables mechanistic information to be learned about enzyme function and mutational footprints established. However, A3s with perhaps a lesser restriction efficiency would not be expressed alone during an HIV infection suggesting that it may not matter per se which enzyme is most effective since they may each contribute cooperatively to HIV restriction. Gillick et al. (2013) found that in primary human CD4+ T cells the majority of proviral mutations were in a sequence context that indicated A3G-induced mutations are dominant (5'CC), but A3F- and A3D-induced mutations (5'TC context) were evident at ninefold less frequency than the 5'CC context in Δ Vif HIV. This is in contrast to a study by Ooms et al. (2013a) that used peripheral blood mononuclear cells to examine the hypermutation of HIV in the absence or presence of A3H Hap II. In the absence of A3H Hap II, it was found using a deep sequencing approach that there was approximately an equal number of mutations originating in 5'CC and 5'TC contexts, suggesting that A3F and A3D cooperate to induce an equivalent number of mutations to A3G (Ooms et al., 2013a), in agreement with results from a CEM2n T cell line (Refsland et al., 2012). In the presence of Vif that could induce degradation of all A3s except A3H Hap II, there was a large number of mutations in the 5'TC context demonstrating that A3H when present in a stable form is highly active against HIV (Ooms et al., 2013a).

Although the use of spreading infections in primary cells or T cell lines supports the idea that A3s cooperate, there still may be a question of whether they induce HIV evolution. It has been proposed that if there is an insufficient amount of A3-induced hypermutation this may benefit HIV and contribute to sequence variation by induction of sublethal levels of mutagenesis which results in HIV evolution (Mulder et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2010; Sadler et al., 2010; Monajemi et al., 2014). There is evidence that A3G and A3F hotspots are enriched in immunogenic CTL epitopes and that HIV may utilize A3s to induce immune escape (Monajemi et al., 2014). In addition, A3G may be able to induce resistance to the RT inhibitor lamivudine (3TC) because its deamination motif overlaps with a codon for Met and results in an M146I mutation in the pol gene (Mulder et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2010). However, the frequency of this mutation being induced by A3G versus RT activity has been questioned (Jern et al., 2009). It is also not known if A3F/A3D/A3H Hap II induce this evolution any more than A3G, due to differences in inactivation potential derived from their sequence specificities (Yu et al., 2004; Zennou and Bieniasz, 2006; Love et al., 2012; Ara et al., 2014) and if this impacts disease progression in infected individuals. On the other hand, Vif has been shown to adapt within HIV-infected individuals and be less

effective in inducing A3 degradation (Simon et al., 2005; Fourati et al., 2010). It is thought that HIV can utilize Vif as a mutational rheostat in times of viral stress by allowing low amounts of A3s into viral particles to induce sublethal mutagenesis (Simon et al., 2005; Fourati et al., 2010). These types of studies have raised the idea that perhaps inducing hypomutation or shutting off A3 enzymes may benefit HIV-infected individuals (Harris, 2008; Hultquist and Harris, 2009).

HIV Vif

GENERAL PROPERTIES

The main function of Vif remained elusive at the beginning of HIV research, except for the finding that Vif made some cell lines permissive for producing HIV particles capable of undergoing another round of infection (Fisher et al., 1987; Strebel et al., 1987). Non-permissive cells allowed a Δ Vif HIV to produce virus particles, but they were rendered non-infectious upon infection of fresh cells. Two laboratories discovered that Vif repressed a host factor (Madani and Kabat, 1998; Simon et al., 1998). It was later identified by subtractive hybridization that A3G (originally called CEM15) was the host factor that was highly packaged into virions in the absence of Vif and blocked infection in the next target cell (Sheehy et al., 2002, Figure 2A). Although this is clearly a primary role for HIV infectivity, Vif was also shown to influence HIV particle morphology and this may relate to its potential role as a nucleic acid chaperone (von Schwedler et al., 1993; Hoglund et al., 1994; Henriet et al., 2007; Batisse et al., 2012).

Vif AS AN E3 UBIQUITIN LIGASE SUBSTRATE RECEPTOR

In 2012 it was discovered that Vif interacts with the host transcription cofactor CBF β for stability in cells (Jager et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012). The interaction is mediated through Vif amino acids ⁸⁴GxSIEW⁸⁹ and ¹⁰²LADQLI¹⁰⁷ (Matsui et al., 2014b; Wang et al., 2014, **Figures 5A,B**). The Vif/CBF β complex is also required for *in vitro* stability of Vif and enables recombinant expression of Vif in a largely soluble form in *E. coli* that can be purified for biochemical studies (Zhou et al., 2012). In contrast, Vif alone expressed in *E. coli* accumulates in inclusion bodies and must be purified under denaturing conditions (Yang et al., 1996). To suppress A3 action Vif interacts directly with A3 enzymes and mimics the human protein suppressor of cytokine signaling-2 (SOCS2) to become the substrate recognition subunit of a Cullin RING ligase-5 (CRL5) E3 ligase complex (**Figure 2B**).

Vif interacts with host proteins Elongin C, which forms an obligate heterodimer with Elongin B (EloB/C) and Cullin 5 (Cul5, Marin et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2003, 2004; Mehle et al., 2004; Luo et al., 2005; Xiao et al., 2007; Stanley et al., 2008; Bergeron et al., 2010). The interaction of Vif with EloB/C increases the stability of Vif in cells and *in vitro* and promotes recruitment of CBF β (Wang et al., 2013). The interaction of Vif with EloC is mediated through an SLQ motif in Vif termed the Elongin B/C (BC) box (Yu et al., 2003, 2004, **Figures 5A,B**, ¹⁴⁴SLQYLA¹⁴⁹), similar to human SOCS proteins (Kamura et al., 1998; Iwai et al., 1999). Distinct from human proteins is that Vif does not have the highly conserved Cys in the BC box and instead has a ¹⁴⁹A (Kamura et al., 1998, 2004, **Figures 5A,B**). The data with Vif suggest that it is the short side chain of the amino acid at position 149 rather than the Cys that is

required for the interaction with EloC (Yu et al., 2004; Stanley et al., 2008). Vif also does not contain a canonical Cul5 box (Luo et al., 2005; Xiao et al., 2007). In search of the conserved Cys in the BC box, two other Cys (¹¹⁴C, ¹³³C) were identified in Vif upstream of the BC box and were found to be involved in binding with Cul5 (Mehle et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2004). These Cys were found to be part of a novel Zinc binding HCCH motif (Figures 5A,B, ¹⁰⁸Hx₂YFxCFx₄IRx₂LxGx₆CxYx₃H¹³⁹). The Zinc coordination in the HCCH was predicted to stabilize a small domain of Vif and indirectly support Cul5 binding (Luo et al., 2005). The primary Vif amino acids that contact Cul5 are at positions 120-121 and 124 in a helix that is adjacent to the HCCH residues (Xiao et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2014, Figures 5A,B, ¹²⁰IRxxL¹²⁴). The Vif/CBFB/EloB/C heterotetramer undergoes a conformational change that promotes binding to Cul5, suggesting that there is a prescribed order in the assembly of the E3 CRL5 ligase complex (Fribourgh et al., 2014). Accordingly, Cul5 binds less well to EloB/C in the absence of Vif/CBFβ (Guo et al., 2014).

A recent structural study of Vif bound to CBFB/EloB/C/Cul5 shows that Vif has an overall elongated cone structure and contains two domains with a Zinc binding domain in the center of the two domains (Guo et al., 2014, Figure 5C). CBFβ binds the N-terminal α/β -domain and EloC and Cul5 bind the C-terminal α-domain of Vif (Guo et al., 2014, Figure 5C). Both EloC and Cul5 interact with Vif through hydrophobic interfaces on distinct α-helices (Xiao et al., 2006; Guo et al., 2014). The crystal structure also emphasizes the stability that CBFβ imparts to Vif since they have a total interaction surface area of 4797 Å² and form an antiparallel β -sheet with a β -strand from each protein (Guo et al., 2014). The side of CBF β that is bound by Vif is the same side that the human CBF β binding partner, the RUNX1 transcription factor binds to suggesting a mutually exclusive binding (Kim et al., 2013; Guo et al., 2014), although other reports show CBF_β can bind Vif and RUNX1 on genetically distinct surfaces (Hultquist et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012; Du et al., 2013a). Functionally, Vif appears to exclude CBF_β from binding RUNX1 because expression of Vif can alter the RUNX1-dependent transcriptional profile of cells and suggests that Vif may have multimodal effects in HIV-infected cells (Kim et al., 2013).

CBF β interacts with a hydrophobic region of the Vif α/β domain, but the rest of the exposed α/β -domain surface is highly positively charged and is thought to mediate electrostatic interactions with A3 enzymes (Aydin et al., 2014; Guo et al., 2014). To target A3s for proteasomal degradation, Cul5 interacts with RING finger protein 2 (Rbx2, Jager et al., 2012) and this results in the assembly of a hexameric complex (**Figure 2B**). Furthermore, an E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzyme interacts with the hexamer through Rbx2 and causes ⁴⁸K-linked polyubiquitination of the A3 enzyme, on multiple lysine residues signaling it for degradation through the proteasome pathway (**Figure 2B**). Current data for A3G and A3F suggest that the Lys residues that become conjugated to ubiquitin are random (Albin et al., 2013).

Vif amino acids that interact with A3s

Alanine scanning mutagenesis of Vif or comparison of different Vif variants from HIV subtypes has enabled the identification of



FIGURE 5 | Structure of Vif and host interacting partners. (A) Domain organization of Vif. Vif uses specific motifs to interact with A3G (magenta, ⁴⁰YRHHY⁴⁴), A3F/A3C/A3D (red, ¹¹WOxDRMR¹⁷ and ⁷⁴TGERxW⁷⁹), and A3H (orange, ³⁹F and ⁴⁸H). In conjunction with these specific motifs, there are shared interaction motifs for A3F and A3G with Vif (pink, ²¹WKSLVK²⁶ and ⁶⁹YWxL⁷²). CBFβ interacts with Vif through two adjacent motifs (cyan, ⁸⁴GxSIEW⁸⁹ and ¹⁰²LADQLI¹⁰⁷). The Zinc finger region (green, amino acids 108-139) coordinates the Zinc through an ¹⁰⁸H¹¹⁴C¹³³C¹³⁹H motif and stabilizes the Vif structure, which indirectly enables an interaction with Cullin 5 (Cul5). Direct interaction of Vif with Cul5 is through amino acids ¹²⁰IRxxL¹²⁴. The BC box mediates an interaction with Elongin C (green ¹⁴⁴SLQYLA¹⁴⁹). Vif oligomerizes through a PPLP motif (gray, ¹⁶³PPLPx₄L¹⁶⁹). Slanted lines are used to indicate intervening amino acids between the domains. **(B)** The crystal structure of Vif (PDB: 4N9F) shows

that it has two domains on either side of a bound Zinc (blue). The N-terminal α/β -domain consists of a five stranded β -sheet, a discontinuous β -strand and three α -helices. The α/β -domain contains the binding interface for CBF β (cyan, ¹⁰²LADQLI¹⁰⁷, ⁸⁴GxSIEW⁸⁹) and A3 enzymes. The ¹¹WQxDRMR¹⁷ motif (red) is used to interact with A3F, A3C, and A3D, the ⁴⁰YRHHY⁴⁴ motif (magenta) is used to interact with A3G, and residues ³⁹F and ⁴⁸H (orange) are used to interact with A3H. The α -domain contains two alpha helices that mediate two separate interactions with EloC (green, ¹²⁴SLQYLA¹⁴⁹) and Cul5 (green, ¹²⁰IRxxL¹²⁴). **(C)** Structure HIV Vif (red) in complex with CBF β (cyan), Elongin C (EloC, yellow), and the N-terminal domain of Cullin 5 (nCul5, amino acids 12–386, orange, PDB: 4N9F). Elongin B (EloB, magenta) dimerizes with EloC. Figures were made using PyMOL (The PyMOL Molecular Graphics System, Version 1.5.05, Shrödinger, LLC.).

three distinct regions of Vif that interact with A3G, A3F/A3D/A3C, or A3H (Huthoff and Malim, 2007; Russell et al., 2009b; Binka et al., 2012, Figure 5A). Vif interacts with A3G through two positively charged regions on Vif, ²¹WxSLVK²⁶ and ⁴⁰YRHHY⁴⁴ (Mehle et al., 2007; Russell and Pathak, 2007; Yamashita et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2009; Dang et al., 2009, Figures 5A,B). Similarly, various domains in Vif have been identified to interact with A3F, specifically ¹¹WOxDRMR¹⁷ and ⁷⁴TGERxW⁷⁹ (Tian et al., 2006; Russell and Pathak, 2007; He et al., 2008; Yamashita et al., 2008, Figures 5A,B). In addition, the ⁶⁹YWxL⁷² motif is a region of Vif that interacts with both A3G and A3F (He et al., 2008; Pery et al., 2009, Figure 5A). However, for both A3G and A3F mutation of the ⁴⁰YRHHY⁴⁴ and ¹⁴DRMR¹⁷ motifs to all alanines are necessary and sufficient to block Vif-induced A3G and A3F degradation, respectively, suggesting the other domains provide a secondary stabilizing interaction (Russell and Pathak, 2007). Of note, A3C and A3D share a common binding site on Vif as A3F with ¹⁴DRMR¹⁷ shown to be of importance (Pery et al., 2009; Kitamura et al., 2011, 2012, Figures 5A,B). Vif interacts with A3H through another unique site that involves amino acid ³⁹F and ⁴⁸H (Binka et al., 2012; Ooms et al., 2013b, Figures 5A,B).

The Vif amino acids that interact with A3H are not highly conserved among HIV subtypes, in contrast to the motifs of Vif that interact with A3G and A3F/A3D. It has been suggested that since HIV rarely encounters a host with an active A3H allele, there has been evolutionary drift of Vif to not maintain an interaction site with A3H (Ooms et al., 2013a). As a result, A3H is differentially sensitive to Vif variants. For example, A3H Hap II is not sensitive to HIV NL4-3 Vif (³⁹F, ⁴⁸N), but is sensitive to HIV LAI Vif (39F, 48H, Ooms et al., 2013b). The inability of some Vif variants to induce degradation of A3H Hap II enabled Ooms et al. (2013a) to test whether A3H could act as an infection barrier to HIV. Ooms et al. (2013a) found that Vif will adapt in infected individuals to induce degradation of A3H Hap II (Li et al., 2010). Importantly, this evolution of Vif affects only A3H and Vif maintains the ability to induce degradation of A3G and A3F (Ooms et al., 2013a), confirming that Vif indeed uses three distinct interfaces to interact with A3 enzymes and supports the idea that multiple A3 enzymes coordinately exert a restriction pressure on HIV. Importantly, treatment naïve HIV-infected individuals at the early or primary infection stage that had at least one active A3H allele (Hap II) had higher levels of mutations in proviral genomes in a 5'TC context, lower viral loads and higher CD4+ T cell counts (Ooms et al., 2013a). Gourraud et al. (2011) similarly reported that early stage, untreated HIV-infected individuals that were homozygous for a stable A3H allele demonstrated lower HIV RNA over time, but this did not correlate with increased hypermutation of HIV proviral genomes. This difference in mutational load between these reports is likely due to the different sequencing strategies used between the two studies (Gourraud et al., 2011; Ooms et al., 2013a). These data are similar to clinical data obtained with A3G and A3F that demonstrate in a number of cohorts (but not all), A3G or A3F mRNA expression or hypermutation levels correlate with high CD4+ T cell counts and low viremia (reviewed in Albin and Harris, 2010).

Vif-A3G interaction

The Vif-A3G interaction was the first Vif-A3 interaction to be studied and it established that Vif inhibits the antiviral activity of A3 enzymes in a species-specific manner (Bogerd et al., 2004; Mangeat et al., 2004; Schrofelbauer et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2004; Etienne et al., 2013; Letko et al., 2013). This means that HIV Vif cannot neutralize A3G from African green monkey (AGM), and AGM SIV Vif cannot neutralize A3G from humans and this has been recognized as a cross-species infection barrier (Bogerd et al., 2004; Mangeat et al., 2004; Schrofelbauer et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2004; Etienne et al., 2013; Letko et al., 2013). Initially, to identify the residues HIV Vif uses to interact with human A3G the human A3G amino acids were replaced with those of AGM or rhesus macaque A3G. Mutation of human A3G 128D to 128K as found in AGM and rhesus macaque A3G abrogated the interaction of HIV Vif with human A3G and its ability to induce degradation of human A3G (Bogerd et al., 2004; Mangeat et al., 2004; Schrofelbauer et al., 2004). However, when the ¹²⁸D was mutated to ¹²⁸A, HIV Vif could still interact with and degrade human A3G demonstrating that the charged interface was more important than the amino acid identity (Schrofelbauer et al., 2004). Since mutation of solely $^{128}\mathrm{D}$ to $^{128}\mathrm{K}$ can abrogate the interaction between A3G and Vif in co-immunoprecipitation studies it is clearly a determining residue. However, Vif-mediated degradation can be influenced by mutation of A3G $^{129}\mathrm{P}$ and $^{130}\mathrm{D}$ and Vif also interacts with A3G on surrounding motifs such as helix 6 (Huthoff and Malim, 2007; Lavens et al., 2010; Feng et al., 2013, Figure 3A). The loop 7 and helix 6 regions contain more positively charged and neutral amino acids than negatively charged amino acids which may explain why ¹²⁸D is such an important contact point for the positively charged Vif, despite a larger A3G interface predicted from biochemical studies. These studies with A3G established the principle that a lack of Vif-induced degradation correlates with a lack of an interaction between the A3 and Vif.

Vif-A3F/A3D interaction

A3F and A3D share the same structural motif in the CTD that interacts with Vif (Smith and Pathak, 2010; Kitamura et al., 2012, Figures 3D,E). A3F has been studied more extensively than A3D in this regard and will be discussed here. In contrast to A3G, there was no specific single amino acid determinant identified for A3F that clearly mediated both the primary interaction with Vif and was a determinant for Vif-mediated degradation. Rather, different groups identified different amino acids in A3F that altered its susceptibility to Vif. Smith and Pathak (2010) reported that A3F interacts with Vif through CTD amino acids ²⁸⁹EFLARH²⁹⁴ and that ²⁸⁹E was critical for A3F sensitivity to Vif. Albin et al. (2010b) identified another residue, ³²⁴E, as the key determinant of A3F to Vif-mediated degradation, but mutation of ³²⁴E to other amino acids, even those of opposite charge, did not disrupt the interaction between A3F and Vif under stringent co-immunoprecipitation conditions. Although other groups have found that the interaction of A3F and Vif could be disrupted at least partially by mutating ³²⁴E, there was a wider region of A3F that appeared to be important for Vif-mediated degradation in comparison to what was identified for A3G (Albin et al., 2010b; Kitamura et al., 2012; Siu et al., 2013). A combination of mutagenesis, structural modeling and a

crystal structure of A3C, that shares the same Vif binding interface with A3F and A3D, identified a novel type of A3 and Vif interaction (Smith and Pathak, 2010; Kitamura et al., 2012). Rather than Vif interacting with a loop as in the case of A3G (Figure 3A, loop 7), Vif interacted with a negatively charged surface of A3F/A3D/A3C that spanned helix 2, 3, and 4 and β -strand 4 (Kitamura et al., 2012; Aydin et al., 2014, Figures 3D,E). This negatively charged surface supports the hypothesis that it is primarily electrostatic interactions that mediated the A3 and Vif interaction and provides an explanation for why the A3F and Vif interaction may be more difficult to disrupt than the primarily neutral surface present in A3G. It is not known if this would mediate a tighter interaction of Vif with A3F than A3G since there are no quantitative data available for both A3G and A3F using the same experimental conditions (Feng et al., 2013; Siu et al., 2013). Studies with A3F have shown that a lack of Vif-induced degradation does not necessarily correlate with a lack of a Vif-A3F interaction, suggesting that the binding orientation or other factors contribute to successful Vif-mediated degradation rather than only the presence of an interaction (Albin et al., 2010b).

Vif-A3H interaction

A3H sensitivity to Vif is haplotype dependent (OhAinle et al., 2008; Harari et al., 2009; Tan et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010; Hultquist et al., 2011; Binka et al., 2012). The A3H Hap I is not sensitive to HIV LAI Vif-mediated degradation whereas A3H Hap II is sensitive to HIV LAI Vif-mediated degradation (Harari et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010; Zhen et al., 2010; Ooms et al., 2013b). The A3H haplotype polymorphisms only occur at three locations (amino acids 105, 121, and 178, Table 1). A3H Hap I encodes GKE at these three positions and A3H Hap II encodes RDD at these positions. It was shown that at position 105, the Arg is required for stable expression in cells and that the 178 position had little effect on Vif-mediated degradation (OhAinle et al., 2008; Harari et al., 2009; Li et al., 2010). Therefore, a single amino acid homologous to A3G ¹²⁸D at position 121 in A3H Hap II was determined to control sensitivity to Vif-mediated degradation (Li et al., 2010; Zhen et al., 2010, Figure 3F). An A3H Hap II mutant with a ¹²¹K is not sensitive to Vif-mediated degradation and does not interact with Vif (Zhen et al., 2010). From the A3H structural model (Figure 3F), it appears that the ¹²¹D of A3H is not located on loop 7 as in A3G, but is on helix 4 and on a different face of the molecule (compare Figures 3A,F). Yet, similar to A3G the region surrounding ¹²¹D is mainly neutral or positively charged residues, in contrast to the negatively charged interface that Vif uses to interact with A3F and A3D (Aydin et al., 2014).

DEGRADATION INDEPENDENT INHIBITION OF A3G

Although Vif primarily inhibits A3G by inducing its proteasomal degradation, there have been other ways in which Vif can inhibit A3G encapsidation or function through a degradationindependent route. Vif may not be able to completely degrade the A3G in the virus-producing cell and these degradationindependent mechanisms may be another line of defense against A3G virion encapsidation. In particular, Vif can become the target of A3-mediated hypermutation (Simon et al., 2005; Jern et al., 2009), which may result in a Vif unable to interact with the E3 CRL5 ligase complex, but still able to inhibit A3G through a degradation-independent mechanism. It is not known if Vif can act in this manner for other A3 enzymes.

Vif decreases translation of A3G mRNA

Vif can decrease A3G mRNA translation in order to lower the steady-state levels of A3G through a Vif and A3G mRNA interaction, but the exact mechanism is not understood (Kao et al., 2003; Stopak et al., 2003; Mercenne et al., 2010). It is known that Vif can decrease the mRNA levels of A3G by 15–40% and this requires that Vif interact with the 5'UTR of the A3G mRNA (Stopak et al., 2003; Mercenne et al., 2010). Since Vif has been shown in an immunofluorescence study to co-localize with A3 enzymes and P-bodies (Marin et al., 2008), it is possible that Vif shuttles A3G mRNA to P-bodies to delay or prevent mRNA translation.

Vif inhibits virion encapsidation of A3G

Studies by Goila-Gaur et al. (2008) have shown that A3G synthesized *in vitro* using a rabbit reticulocyte lysate translation system would become immunoprecipitation and packaging incompetent in the presence of Vif. Vif was not associated with these high molecular mass A3G forms, but was required for their formation (Goila-Gaur et al., 2008). Although A3G regularly forms high molecular mass complexes in cells, which are less likely to be packaged into virions, Vif can induce an even higher molecular weight form of A3G (Soros et al., 2007; Goila-Gaur et al., 2008). Moreover, studies with an A3G C97A mutant that is resistant to Vif-mediated degradation suggested that Vif-mediated degradation and inhibition of packaging are two distinct properties of A3G since the A3G C97A mutant was encapsidated less well in the presence of Vif (Opi et al., 2007). A molecular mechanism for this effect has not been described.

Vif inhibits deamination of deoxycytidine by virion-encapsidated A3G

A3 enzymes are mainly studied with HIV Δvif in order to observe restriction in single-cycle infectivity assays, but in infected individuals A3 enzymes must contend with Vif. Despite multiple mechanisms that Vif uses to block A3G, it has been shown that A3G is encapsidated in the presence of Vif, albeit in lesser amounts (Nowarski et al., 2008). However, per molecule of A3G there is less deamination activity (Britan-Rosich et al., 2011, Figure 2E). This decrease in A3G deamination activity even occurs when A3G and Vif are coexpressed in E. coli and mutations are detected with a Rifampicin reversion assay or in vitro with purified A3G and Vif, demonstrating that other viral components are not required for the inhibition to take place (Santa-Marta et al., 2005; Britan-Rosich et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2013). Enzymatic studies have shown that Vif can cause a decrease in the specific activity of A3G and that this is due to a combination of Vif competitively binding to the ssDNA substrate and Vif binding directly to A3G (Britan-Rosich et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2013). These are separable functions of Vif since ssDNA-binding studies of the Vif-A3G complex in comparison to each of the components binding ssDNA alone support the hypothesis that Vif bound to A3G is unable to bind ssDNA with high affinity (Feng et al., 2013). Another consequence of Vif binding to A3G is that it disrupts how A3G scans ssDNA in search of cytosines to deaminate (Feng et al., 2013). Vif interacts with the A3G NTD on loop 7, which is required for processive jumping

movements (Feng and Chelico, 2011, Figure 3A). In a study that used two Vif variants to examine the effect of Vif/CBFB on the deamination activity of A3G it was found that HIV HXB2 Vif inhibited A3G jumping movements, consistent with an interaction of Vif on loop 7 (Feng et al., 2013). In contrast, HIV NL4-3 Vif inhibited A3G sliding, which is mediated by helix 6, providing functional evidence that beyond the key loop 7 contact residues, ¹²⁸DPD¹³⁰, Vif variants can interact with different regions of A3G (Feng et al., 2013). This appears to have no functional consequence for A3G-mediated degradation (Binka et al., 2012), but provides insights on how variable the Vif variants can be in their extended binding sites on A3 enzymes. This may affect strategies that aim to use small molecule inhibitors of the Vif-A3 interaction as an HIV therapy. Importantly, it has been shown that the specific activity of an A3 enzyme is not of primary importance for high levels of deoxycytidine deamination during reverse transcription (Feng et al., 2013; Ara et al., 2014). Rather, the method of efficiently searching for the cytosines, i.e., the enzyme's processive mechanism appears to be of more importance (Feng et al., 2013; Ara et al., 2014). All together the data suggest that the mechanism by which Vif inhibits A3G deamination activity in virions is by altering the searching mechanism used to find cytosines on ssDNA. Inhibition of A3G deaminase activity by Vif is likely to result in sublethal mutagenesis of HIV and could contribute to the generation of viral guasispecies and HIV evolution (Sadler et al., 2010; Feng et al., 2013).

DEVELOPMENT OF SMALL-MOLECULE INHIBITORS FOR A3-BASED HIV THERAPEUTICS

The A3-HIV host and pathogen relationship creates the possibility of developing novel therapeutics (Greene et al., 2008; Albin and Harris, 2010) and high-throughput screening approaches for small-molecule inhibitors have uncovered positive results. There are strategies to induce either A3G-mediated viral hypermutation by disrupting the Vif-A3G interaction (Nathans et al., 2008; Cen et al., 2010; Nowotny et al., 2010; Ejima et al., 2011; Ali et al., 2012; Mohammed et al., 2012; Matsui et al., 2014a) or viral hypomutation by blocking A3G catalytic activity (Li et al., 2012; Olson et al., 2013). For the "therapy by hypermutation" strategy, the rationale is to find small-molecule inhibitors that antagonize Vif function and increase the cellular level of A3G available for virus restriction. A few candidate molecules that recover A3G expression levels and enable HIV restriction in the presence of Vif have been discovered (Nathans et al., 2008; Cen et al., 2010; Nowotny et al., 2010; Ejima et al., 2011; Ali et al., 2012; Mohammed et al., 2012; Matsui et al., 2014a), although there are little biochemical data to understand the mechanism of action. For the "therapy by hypomutation" strategy, small-molecule inhibitors have been designed that target a key residue in A3G (C321) that inhibits the catalytic activity of A3G (Li et al., 2012; Olson et al., 2013). It is thought that decreasing the viral quasispecies that may arise due to A3-mediated mutagenesis can assist in immune clearance of the virus and decrease resistance to antivirals (Harris, 2008; Hultquist and Harris, 2009).

Inhibitors targeted to Vif may only be successful if administered in a cocktail to cycle their use and prevent the development of drug resistance, a long-standing therapy regimen for HIV-1 drugs (Greene, 2007). One strategy to avoid selection of resistant Vif variants is to utilize the anti-HIV potential of each A3 enzyme and design inhibitors that bind different regions of Vif, based on the unique interactions that Vif has with A3G, A3F/D, and A3H (Figure 5A). However, more study is required to determine if all A3 enzymes function equally well as individual restriction factors otherwise, the strategy may need to involve inhibiting degradation of all A3 enzymes together to enable a strong restriction pressure on HIV. Development of inhibitors that target the A3 enzymes may be a problematic route when considering A3G since Vif interacts with A3G near the amino acid residues needed for virion incorporation, oligomerization, and processivity (Huthoff and Malim, 2007; Huthoff et al., 2009; Feng et al., 2013, Figure 3A). As a result, the inhibitor molecule may decrease A3G anti-HIV activity. It is unknown whether the activity of A3D, A3H, or A3F would be affected by this type of strategy. Furthermore, it has been shown in the case of A3G, that HIV can overcome the restriction pressure of A3G by acquiring mutations in genetic sequences other than Vif in order to indirectly avoid A3G encapsidation (Hache et al., 2008, 2009).

If Vif were unable to interact with CRL5 E3 ligase complex components, the accelerated degradation of A3G would be blocked. This strategy has been raised as a potential option (Greene et al., 2008; Bergeron et al., 2010; Zuo et al., 2012) and current structural data on the EloB/C-, Cul5-, and CBFβ- Vif interfaces could facilitate development of inhibitors (Stanley et al., 2008; Guo et al., 2014). However, the consequence of targeting the host proteins with small molecules remains unknown. In addition, this approach has potential drawbacks since Vif may remain bound to the A3 enzymes. For A3G, this has been shown to lead to a decrease in mutagenic activity (Britan-Rosich et al., 2011; Feng et al., 2013). There are no published studies investigating whether Vif would affect the mutagenic activity of other A3s. If Vif were unable to interact with CBFB it would become unstable in the host cells and degradation of A3 enzymes would be circumvented (Jager et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012). However, targeting a small molecule to CBF^β may be problematic if this prevents CBF^β from functioning as the transcription cofactor for RUNX proteins. Although some reports show that Vif and RUNX1 interact with CBFB on distinct surfaces (Hultquist et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2012; Du et al., 2013b), Kim et al. (2013) demonstrated that Vif recruitment of CBFB alters the transcriptional profile of the cell by preventing RUNX1 and CBFβ association.

PERSPECTIVES

A3 enzymes have the potential to be manipulated as a therapeutic mechanism to suppress HIV replication. Over the past decade, an immense amount of information has been learned regarding each individual A3 enzyme. Cellular, biochemical, and structural data have provided insights on how A3 enzymes interact with nucleic acids and Vif and these data can be strategically applied to develop novel therapies. Critical to predicting the success of an A3-based strategy requires long-term culture of the virus with the potential small molecules to identify tactics HIV could use to overcome the suppression. Another critical facet is understanding if it is necessary for A3 enzymes to work together to restrict HIV *in vivo* in order to invoke the most restrictive pressure on the virus and prevent sublethal mutagenesis.

REFERENCES

- Abdel-Mohsen, M., Raposo, R. A., Deng, X., Li, M., Liegler, T., Sinclair, E., et al. (2013). Expression profile of host restriction factors in HIV-1 elite controllers. *Retrovirology* 10, 106. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-106
- Adolph, M. B., Webb, J., and Chelico, L. (2013). Retroviral restriction factor APOBEC3G delays the initiation of DNA synthesis by HIV-1 reverse transcriptase. *PLoS ONE* 8:e64196. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064196
- Albin, J. S., Anderson, J. S., Johnson, J. R., Harjes, E., Matsuo, H., Krogan, N. J., et al. (2013). Dispersed sites of HIV Vif-dependent polyubiquitination in the DNA deaminase APOBEC3F. J. Mol. Biol. 425, 1172–1182. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.01.010
- Albin, J. S., Brown, W. L., and Harris, R. S. (2014). Catalytic activity of APOBEC3F is required for efficient restriction of Vif-deficient human immunodeficiency virus. *Virology* 450–451, 49–54. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.11.041
- Albin, J. S., Hache, G., Hultquist, J. F., Brown, W. L., and Harris, R. S. (2010a). Long-term restriction by APOBEC3F selects human immunodeficiency virus type 1 variants with restored Vif function. J. Virol. 84, 10209–10219. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00632-10
- Albin, J. S., Larue, R. S., Weaver, J. A., Brown, W. L., Shindo, K., Harjes, E., et al. (2010b). A single amino acid in human APOBEC3F alters susceptibility to HIV-1 Vif. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 40785–40792. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.173161
- Albin, J. S., and Harris, R. S. (2010). Interactions of host APOBEC3 restriction factors with HIV-1 in vivo: implications for therapeutics. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* 12, e4. doi: 10.1017/S1462399409001343
- Alce, T. M., and Popik, W. (2004). APOBEC3G is incorporated into virus-like particles by a direct interaction with HIV-1 Gag nucleocapsid protein. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 34083–34086. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C400235200
- Ali, A., Wang, J., Nathans, R. S., Cao, H., Sharova, N., Stevenson, M., et al. (2012). Synthesis and structure-activity relationship studies of HIV-1 virion infectivity factor (Vif) inhibitors that block viral replication. *ChemMedChem* 7, 1217–1229. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201200079
- Ara, A., Love, R. P., and Chelico, L. (2014). Different mutagenic potential of HIV-1 restriction factors APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F is determined by distinct single-stranded DNA scanning mechanisms. *PLoS Pathog.* 10:e1004024. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004024
- Armitage, A. E., Katzourakis, A., De Oliveira, T., Welch, J. J., Belshaw, R., Bishop, K. N., et al. (2008). Conserved footprints of APOBEC3G on Hypermutated human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and human endogenous retrovirus HERV-K(HML2) sequences. J. Virol. 82, 8743–8761. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00584-08
- Aydin, H., Taylor, M. W., and Lee, J. E. (2014). Structure-guided analysis of the human APOBEC3-HIV restrictome. *Structure* 22, 668–684. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2014.02.011
- Bach, D., Peddi, S., Mangeat, B., Lakkaraju, A., Strub, K., and Trono, D. (2008). Characterization of APOBEC3G binding to 7SL RNA. *Retrovirology* 5, 54. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-5-54
- Batisse, J., Guerrero, S., Bernacchi, S., Sleiman, D., Gabus, C., Darlix, J. L., et al. (2012). The role of Vif oligomerization and RNA chaperone activity in HIV-1 replication. *Virus Res.* 169, 361–376. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2012.06.018
- Belanger, K., Savoie, M., Rosales Gerpe, M. C., Couture, J. F., and Langlois, M. A. (2013). Binding of RNA by APOBEC3G controls deaminationindependent restriction of retroviruses. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 7438–7452. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt527
- Berg, O. G., Winter, R. B., and Von Hippel, P. H. (1981). Diffusion-driven mechanisms of protein translocation on nucleic acids. 1. Models and theory. *Biochemistry* 20, 6929–6948. doi: 10.1021/bi00527a028
- Berger, G., Durand, S., Fargier, G., Nguyen, X. N., Cordeil, S., Bouaziz, S., et al. (2011). APOBEC3A is a specific inhibitor of the early phases of HIV-1 infection in myeloid cells. *PLoS Pathog*. 7:e1002221. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002221
- Bergeron, J. R., Huthoff, H., Veselkov, D. A., Beavil, R. L., Simpson, P. J., Matthews, S. J., et al. (2010). The SOCS-box of HIV-1 Vif interacts with ElonginBC by induced-folding to recruit its Cul5-containing ubiquitin ligase complex. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000925. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000925
- Biasin, M., Piacentini, L., Lo Caputo, S., Kanari, Y., Magri, G., Trabattoni, D., et al. (2007). Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like 3G: a possible role in the resistance to HIV of HIV-exposed seronegative individuals. *J. Infect. Dis.* 195, 960–964. doi: 10.1086/511988
- Binka, M., Ooms, M., Steward, M., and Simon, V. (2012). The activity spectrum of Vif from multiple HIV-1 subtypes against APOBEC3G,

APOBEC3F, and APOBEC3H. J. Virol. 86, 49-59. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 06082-11

- Bishop, K. N., Holmes, R. K., and Malim, M. H. (2006). Antiviral potency of APOBEC proteins does not correlate with cytidine deamination. *J. Virol.* 80, 8450–8458. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00839-06
- Bishop, K. N., Holmes, R. K., Sheehy, A. M., Davidson, N. O., Cho, S. J., and Malim, M. H. (2004). Cytidine deamination of retroviral DNA by diverse APOBEC proteins. *Curr. Biol.* 14, 1392–1396. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004. 06.057
- Bishop, K. N., Verma, M., Kim, E. Y., Wolinsky, S. M., and Malim, M. H. (2008). APOBEC3G inhibits elongation of HIV-1 reverse transcripts. *PLoS Pathog.* 4:e1000231. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000231
- Blanc, D., Patience, C., Schulz, T. F., Weiss, R., and Spire, B. (1993). Transcomplementation of VIF- HIV-1 mutants in CEM cells suggests that VIF affects late steps of the viral life cycle. *Virology* 193, 186–192. doi: 10.1006/viro.1993.1114
- Bogerd, H. P., and Cullen, B. R. (2008). Single-stranded RNA facilitates nucleocapsid: APOBEC3G complex formation. RNA 14, 1228–1236. doi: 10.1261/rna.964708
- Bogerd, H. P., Doehle, B. P., Wiegand, H. L., and Cullen, B. R. (2004). A single amino acid difference in the host APOBEC3G protein controls the primate species specificity of HIV type 1 virion infectivity factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 3770–3774. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0307713101
- Bogerd, H. P., Wiegand, H. L., Doehle, B. P., and Cullen, B. R. (2007). The intrinsic antiretroviral factor APOBEC3B contains two enzymatically active cytidine deaminase domains. *Virology* 364, 486–493. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2007. 03.019
- Bogerd, H. P., Wiegand, H. L., Doehle, B. P., Lueders, K. K., and Cullen, B. R. (2006). APOBEC3A and APOBEC3B are potent inhibitors of LTR-retrotransposon function in human cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 89–95. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkj416
- Bohn, M. F., Shandilya, S. M., Albin, J. S., Kouno, T., Anderson, B. D., Mcdougle, R. M., et al. (2013). Crystal structure of the DNA cytosine deaminase APOBEC3F: the catalytically active and HIV-1 Vif-binding domain. *Structure* 21, 1042–1050. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2013.04.010
- Bonvin, M., and Greeve, J. (2007). Effects of point mutations in the cytidine deaminase domains of APOBEC3B on replication and hypermutation of hepatitis B virus in vitro. J. Gen. Virol. 88, 3270–3274. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83149-0
- Britan-Rosich, E., Nowarski, R., and Kotler, M. (2011). Multifaceted counter-APOBEC3G mechanisms employed by HIV-1 Vif. J. Mol. Biol. 410, 1065–1076. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.03.058
- Browne, E. P., Allers, C., and Landau, N. R. (2009). Restriction of HIV-1 by APOBEC3G is cytidine deaminase-dependent. *Virology* 387, 313–321. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2009.02.026
- Bulliard, Y., Turelli, P., Rohrig, U. F., Zoete, V., Mangeat, B., Michielin, O., et al. (2009). Functional analysis and structural modeling of human APOBEC3G reveal the role of evolutionarily conserved elements in the inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection and Alu transposition. *J. Virol.* 83, 12611–12621. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01491-09
- Burdick, R. C., Hu, W. S., and Pathak, V. K. (2013). Nuclear import of APOBEC3Flabeled HIV-1 preintegration complexes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, E4780– E4789. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1315996110
- Burnett, A., and Spearman, P. (2007). APOBEC3G multimers are recruited to the plasma membrane for packaging into human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virus-like particles in an RNA-dependent process requiring the NC basic linker. *J. Virol.* 81, 5000–5013. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02237-06
- Byeon, I. J., Ahn, J., Mitra, M., Byeon, C. H., Hercik, K., Hritz, J., et al. (2013). NMR structure of human restriction factor APOBEC3A reveals substrate binding and enzyme specificity. *Nat. Commun.* 4, 1890. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2883
- Camaur, D., and Trono, D. (1996). Characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif particle incorporation. *J. Virol.* 70, 6106–6111.
- Carpenter, M. A., Rajagurubandara, E., Wijesinghe, P., and Bhagwat, A. S. (2010). Determinants of sequence-specificity within human AID and APOBEC3G. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 9, 579–587. doi: 10.1016/j.dnarep.2010.02.010
- Casartelli, N., Guivel-Benhassine, F., Bouziat, R., Brandler, S., Schwartz, O., and Moris, A. (2010). The antiviral factor APOBEC3G improves CTL recognition of cultured HIV-infected T cells. J. Exp. Med. 207, 39–49. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091933
- Cen, S., Guo, F., Niu, M., Saadatmand, J., Deflassieux, J., and Kleiman, L. (2004). The interaction between HIV-1 Gag and APOBEC3G. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 33177– 33184. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M402062200

- Cen, S., Peng, Z. G., Li, X. Y., Li, Z. R., Ma, J., Wang, Y. M., et al. (2010). Small molecular compounds inhibit HIV-1 replication through specifically stabilizing APOBEC3G. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 16546–16552. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109. 085308
- Chaipan, C., Smith, J. L., Hu, W. S., and Pathak, V. K. (2013). APOBEC3G restricts HIV-1 to a greater extent than APOBEC3F and APOBEC3DE in human primary CD4+ T cells and macrophages. J. Virol. 87, 444–453. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00676-12
- Chaurasiya, K. R., Mccauley, M. J., Wang, W., Qualley, D. F., Wu, T., Kitamura, S., et al. (2014). Oligomerization transforms human APOBEC3G from an efficient enzyme to a slowly dissociating nucleic acid-binding protein. *Nat. Chem.* 6, 28–33. doi: 10.1038/nchem.1795
- Chelico, L., Pham, P., Calabrese, P., and Goodman, M. F. (2006). APOBEC3G DNA deaminase acts processively 3'→5' on single-stranded DNA. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 13, 392–399. doi: 10.1038/nsmb1086
- Chelico, L., Pham, P., and Goodman, M. F. (2009). Mechanisms of APOBEC3Gcatalyzed processive deamination of deoxycytidine on single-stranded DNA. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 16, 454–455. doi: 10.1038/nsmb0509-454
- Chelico, L., Prochnow, C., Erie, D. A., Chen, X. S., and Goodman, M. F. (2010). Structural model for deoxycytidine deamination mechanisms of the HIV-1 inactivation enzyme APOBEC3G. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 16195–16205. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.107987
- Chelico, L., Sacho, E. J., Erie, D. A., and Goodman, M. F. (2008). A model for oligomeric regulation of APOBEC3G cytosine deaminase-dependent restriction of HIV. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 13780–13791. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M801004200
- Chen, G., He, Z., Wang, T., Xu, R., and Yu, X. F. (2009). A patch of positively charged amino acids surrounding the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif SLVx4Yx9Y motif influences its interaction with APOBEC3G. J. Virol. 83, 8674–8682. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00653-09
- Chiu, Y. L., Witkowska, H. E., Hall, S. C., Santiago, M., Soros, V. B., Esnault, C., et al. (2006). High-molecular-mass APOBEC3G complexes restrict Alu retrotransposition. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 15588–15593. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0604524103
- Coffin, J., Hughes, S., and Varmus, H. (eds). (1997). *Retroviruses*. Cold Spring Harbor, NY: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- Compton, A. A., and Emerman, M. (2013). Convergence and divergence in the evolution of the APOBEC3G-Vif interaction reveal ancient origins of simian immunodeficiency viruses. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003135. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003135
- Conticello, S. G., Harris, R. S., and Neuberger, M. S. (2003). The Vif protein of HIV triggers degradation of the human antiretroviral DNA deaminase APOBEC3G. *Curr. Biol.* 13, 2009–2013. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2003.10.034
- Dang, Y., Abudu, A., Son, S., Harjes, E., Spearman, P., Matsuo, H., et al. (2011). Identification of a single amino acid required for APOBEC3 antiretroviral cytidine deaminase activity. J. Virol. 85, 5691–5695. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00243-11
- Dang, Y., Siew, L. M., Wang, X., Han, Y., Lampen, R., and Zheng, Y. H. (2008). Human cytidine deaminase APOBEC3H restricts HIV-1 replication. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 11606–11614. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707586200
- Dang, Y., Wang, X., Esselman, W. J., and Zheng, Y. H. (2006). Identification of APOBEC3DE as another antiretroviral factor from the human APOBEC family. *J. Virol.* 80, 10522–10533. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01123-06
- Dang, Y., Wang, X., Zhou, T., York, I. A., and Zheng, Y. H. (2009). Identification of a novel WxSLVK motif in the N terminus of human immunodeficiency virus and simian immunodeficiency virus Vif that is critical for APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F neutralization. J. Virol. 83, 8544–8552. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00651-09
- Doehle, B. P., Schafer, A., and Cullen, B. R. (2005). Human APOBEC3B is a potent inhibitor of HIV-1 infectivity and is resistant to HIV-1 Vif. *Virology* 339, 281–288. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.06.005
- Douaisi, M., Dussart, S., Courcoul, M., Bessou, G., Vigne, R., and Decroly, E. (2004). HIV-1 and MLV Gag proteins are sufficient to recruit APOBEC3G into virus-like particles. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 321, 566–573. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.07.005
- Du, J., Wu, X., Long, F., Wen, J., Hao, W., Chen, R., et al. (2013a). Improvement in efficacy of DNA vaccine encoding HIV-1 Vif by LIGHT gene adjuvant. *Viral Immunol.* 26, 68–74. doi: 10.1089/vim.2012.0073
- Du, J., Zhao, K., Rui, Y., Li, P., Zhou, X., Zhang, W., et al. (2013b). Differential requirements for HIV-1 Vif-mediated APOBEC3G degradation and RUNX1mediated transcription by core binding factor beta. J. Virol. 87, 1906–1911. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02199-12

- Duggal, N. K., Fu, W., Akey, J. M., and Emerman, M. (2013). Identification and antiviral activity of common polymorphisms in the APOBEC3 locus in human populations. *Virology* 443, 329–337. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.05.016
- Duggal, N. K., Malik, H. S., and Emerman, M. (2011). The breadth of antiviral activity of Apobec3DE in chimpanzees has been driven by positive selection. *J. Virol.* 85, 11361–11371. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05046-11
- Ejima, T., Hirota, M., Mizukami, T., Otsuka, M., and Fujita, M. (2011). An anti-HIV-1 compound that increases steady-state expression of apoplipoprotein B mRNAediting enzyme-catalytic polypeptide-like 3G. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 28, 613–616. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2011.737
- Esnault, C., Heidmann, O., Delebecque, F., Dewannieux, M., Ribet, D., Hance, A. J., et al. (2005). APOBEC3G cytidine deaminase inhibits retrotransposition of endogenous retroviruses. *Nature* 433, 430–433. doi: 10.1038/nature03238
- Etienne, L., Hahn, B. H., Sharp, P. M., Matsen, F. A., and Emerman, M. (2013). Gene loss and adaptation to hominids underlie the ancient origin of HIV-1. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.06.002
- Feng, Y., and Chelico, L. (2011). Intensity of deoxycytidine deamination of HIV-1 proviral DNA by the retroviral restriction factor APOBEC3G is mediated by the noncatalytic domain. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 11415–11426. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.199604
- Feng, Y., Love, R. P., and Chelico, L. (2013). HIV-1 viral infectivity factor (Vif) alters processive single-stranded DNA scanning of the retroviral restriction factor APOBEC3G. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 6083–6094. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.421875
- Fisher, A. G., Ensoli, B., Ivanoff, L., Chamberlain, M., Petteway, S., Ratner, L., et al. (1987). The sor gene of HIV-1 is required for efficient virus transmission in vitro. *Science* 237, 888–893. doi: 10.1126/science.3497453
- Fitzgibbon, J. E., Mazar, S., and Dubin, D. T. (1993). A new type of G->A hypermutation affecting human immunodeficiency virus. AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses 9, 833–838. doi: 10.1089/aid.1993.9.833
- Fouchier, R. A., Simon, J. H., Jaffe, A. B., and Malim, M. H. (1996). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif does not influence expression or virion incorporation of gag-, pol-, and env-encoded proteins. J. Virol. 70, 8263–8269.
- Fourati, S., Malet, I., Binka, M., Boukobza, S., Wirden, M., Sayon, S., et al. (2010). Partially active HIV-1 Vif alleles facilitate viral escape from specific antiretrovirals. *AIDS* 24, 2313–2321. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32833e515a
- Fribourgh, J. L., Nguyen, H. C., Wolfe, L. S., Dewitt, D. C., Zhang, W., Yu, X. F., et al. (2014). Core binding factor beta plays a critical role by facilitating the assembly of the Vif-cullin 5 E3 ubiquitin ligase. *J. Virol.* 88, 3309–3319. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03824-13
- Gabuzda, D. H., Lawrence, K., Langhoff, E., Terwilliger, E., Dorfman, T., Haseltine, W. A., et al. (1992). Role of vif in replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in CD4+ T lymphocytes. *J. Virol.* 66, 6489–6495.
- Gallois-Montbrun, S., Holmes, R. K., Swanson, C. M., Fernandez-Ocana, M., Byers, H. L., Ward, M. A., et al. (2008). Comparison of cellular ribonucleoprotein complexes associated with the APOBEC3F and APOBEC3G antiviral proteins. *J. Virol.* 82, 5636–5642. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00287-08
- Gillick, K., Pollpeter, D., Phalora, P., Kim, E. Y., Wolinsky, S. M., and Malim, M. H. (2013). Suppression of HIV-1 infection by APOBEC3 proteins in primary human CD4(+) T cells is associated with inhibition of processive reverse transcription as well as excessive cytidine deamination. *J. Virol.* 87, 1508–1517. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02587-12
- Goila-Gaur, R., Khan, M. A., Miyagi, E., Kao, S., Opi, S., Takeuchi, H., et al. (2008). HIV-1 Vif promotes the formation of high molecular mass APOBEC3G complexes. *Virology* 372, 136–146. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2007.10.017
- Goila-Gaur, R., Khan, M. A., Miyagi, E., Kao, S., and Strebel, K. (2007). Targeting APOBEC3A to the viral nucleoprotein complex confers antiviral activity. *Retrovirology* 4, 61. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-4-61
- Gourraud, P. A., Karaouni, A., Woo, J. M., Schmidt, T., Oksenberg, J. R., Hecht, F. M., et al. (2011). APOBEC3H haplotypes and HIV-1 pro-viral vif DNA sequence diversity in early untreated human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection. *Hum. Immunol.* 72, 207–212. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2010.12.008
- Greene, W. C. (2007). A history of AIDS: looking back to see ahead. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 37(Suppl. 1), S94–S102. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737441
- Greene, W. C., Debyser, Z., Ikeda, Y., Freed, E. O., Stephens, E., Yonemoto, W., et al. (2008). Novel targets for HIV therapy. *Antiviral Res.* 80, 251–265. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2008.08.003
- Guo, F., Cen, S., Niu, M., Saadatmand, J., and Kleiman, L. (2006). Inhibition of formula-primed reverse transcription by human APOBEC3G during human

immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. J. Virol. 80, 11710–11722. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01038-06

- Guo, F., Cen, S., Niu, M., Yang, Y., Gorelick, R. J., and Kleiman, L. (2007). The interaction of APOBEC3G with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 nucleocapsid inhibits tRNA3Lys annealing to viral RNA. *J. Virol.* 81, 11322–11331. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00162-07
- Guo, Y., Dong, L., Qiu, X., Wang, Y., Zhang, B., Liu, H., et al. (2014). Structural basis for hijacking CBF-beta and CUL5 E3 ligase complex by HIV-1 Vif. *Nature* 505, 229–233. doi: 10.1038/nature12884
- Hache, G., Abbink, T. E., Berkhout, B., and Harris, R. S. (2009). Optimal translation initiation enables Vif-deficient human immunodeficiency virus type 1 to escape restriction by APOBEC3G. J. Virol. 83, 5956–5960. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00045-09
- Hache, G., Liddament, M. T., and Harris, R. S. (2005). The retroviral hypermutation specificity of APOBEC3F and APOBEC3G is governed by the C-terminal DNA cytosine deaminase domain. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 10920–10924. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M500382200
- Hache, G., Shindo, K., Albin, J. S., and Harris, R. S. (2008). Evolution of HIV-1 isolates that use a novel Vif-independent mechanism to resist restriction by human APOBEC3G. *Curr. Biol.* 18, 819–824. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.04.073
- Halford, S. E., and Marko, J. F. (2004). How do site-specific DNA-binding proteins find their targets? *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 3040–3052. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh624
- Hancks, D. C., and Kazazian, H. H. Jr. (2012). Active human retrotransposons: variation and disease. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 22, 191–203. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2012.02.006
- Harari, A., Ooms, M., Mulder, L. C., and Simon, V. (2009). Polymorphisms and splice variants influence the antiretroviral activity of human APOBEC3H. J. Virol. 83, 295–303. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01665-08
- Harris, R. S. (2008). Enhancing immunity to HIV through APOBEC. Nat. Biotechnol. 26, 1089–1090. doi: 10.1038/nbt1008-1089
- Harris, R. S., Bishop, K. N., Sheehy, A. M., Craig, H. M., Petersen-Mahrt, S. K., Watt, I. N., et al. (2003). DNA deamination mediates innate immunity to retroviral infection. *Cell* 113, 803–809. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00423-9
- Harris, R. S., Hultquist, J. F., and Evans, D. T. (2012). The restriction factors of human immunodeficiency virus. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 40875–40883. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R112.416925
- He, Z., Zhang, W., Chen, G., Xu, R., and Yu, X. F. (2008). Characterization of conserved motifs in HIV-1 Vif required for APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F interaction. *J. Mol. Biol.* 381, 1000–1011. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008.06.061
- Henriet, S., Sinck, L., Bec, G., Gorelick, R. J., Marquet, R., and Paillart, J. C. (2007). Vif is a RNA chaperone that could temporally regulate RNA dimerization and the early steps of HIV-1 reverse transcription. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 5141–5153. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm542
- Hoglund, S., Ohagen, A., Lawrence, K., and Gabuzda, D. (1994). Role of vif during packing of the core of HIV-1. Virology 201, 349–355. doi: 10.1006/viro.1994.1300
- Holmes, R. K., Koning, F. A., Bishop, K. N., and Malim, M. H. (2007). APOBEC3F can inhibit the accumulation of HIV-1 reverse transcription products in the absence of hypermutation. Comparisons with APOBEC3G. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 2587–2595. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M607298200
- Hu, C., Saenz, D. T., Fadel, H. J., Walker, W., Peretz, M., and Poeschla, E. M. (2010). The HIV-1 central polypurine tract functions as a second line of defense against APOBEC3G/F. J. Virol. 84, 11981–11993. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00723-10
- Hultquist, J. F., Binka, M., Larue, R. S., Simon, V., and Harris, R. S. (2012). Vif proteins of human and simian immunodeficiency viruses require cellular CBFbeta to degrade APOBEC3 restriction factors. J. Virol. 86, 2874–2877. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06950-11
- Hultquist, J. F., and Harris, R. S. (2009). Leveraging APOBEC3 proteins to alter the HIV mutation rate and combat AIDS. *Future Virol.* 4, 605. doi: 10.2217/fvl.09.59
- Hultquist, J. F., Lengyel, J. A., Refsland, E. W., Larue, R. S., Lackey, L., Brown, W. L., et al. (2011). Human and rhesus APOBEC3D, APOBEC3F, APOBEC3G, and APOBEC3H demonstrate a conserved capacity to restrict Vif-deficient HIV-1. *J. Virol.* 85, 11220–11234. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05238-11
- Huthoff, H., Autore, F., Gallois-Montbrun, S., Fraternali, F., and Malim, M. H. (2009). RNA-dependent oligomerization of APOBEC3G is required for restriction of HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000330. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000330
- Huthoff, H., and Malim, M. H. (2007). Identification of amino acid residues in APOBEC3G required for regulation by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif and Virion encapsidation. *J. Virol.* 81, 3807–3815. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 02795-06

- Iwai, K., Yamanaka, K., Kamura, T., Minato, N., Conaway, R. C., Conaway, J. W., et al. (1999). Identification of the von Hippel-lindau tumor-suppressor protein as part of an active E3 ubiquitin ligase complex. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 12436–12441. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.22.12436
- Iwatani, Y., Chan, D. S., Wang, F., Maynard, K. S., Sugiura, W., Gronenborn, A. M., et al. (2007). Deaminase-independent inhibition of HIV-1 reverse transcription by APOBEC3G. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 35, 7096–7108. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkm750
- Iwatani, Y., Takeuchi, H., Strebel, K., and Levin, J. G. (2006). Biochemical activities of highly purified, catalytically active human APOBEC3G: correlation with antiviral effect. J. Virol. 80, 5992–6002. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02680-05
- Jager, S., Cimermancic, P., Gulbahce, N., Johnson, J. R., Mcgovern, K. E., Clarke, S. C., et al. (2012). Global landscape of HIV-human protein complexes. *Nature* 481, 365–370. doi: 10.1038/nature10719
- Jarmuz, A., Chester, A., Bayliss, J., Gisbourne, J., Dunham, I., Scott, J., et al. (2002). An anthropoid-specific locus of orphan C to U RNA-editing enzymes on chromosome 22. *Genomics* 79, 285–296. doi: 10.1006/geno.2002.6718
- Jern, P., and Coffin, J. M. (2008). Host-retrovirus arms race: trimming the budget. *Cell Host Microbe* 4, 196–197. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.08.008
- Jern, P., Russell, R. A., Pathak, V. K., and Coffin, J. M. (2009). Likely role of APOBEC3G-mediated G-to-A mutations in HIV-1 evolution and drug resistance. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000367. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000367
- Jin, X., Brooks, A., Chen, H., Bennett, R., Reichman, R., and Smith, H. (2005). APOBEC3G/CEM15 (hA3G) mRNA levels associate inversely with human immunodeficiency virus viremia. *J. Virol.* 79, 11513–11516. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.17.11513-11516.2005
- Jonsson, S. R., Hache, G., Stenglein, M. D., Fahrenkrug, S. C., Andresdottir, V., and Harris, R. S. (2006). Evolutionarily conserved and non-conserved retrovirus restriction activities of artiodactyl APOBEC3F proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 5683–5694. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl721
- Kaiser, S. M., and Emerman, M. (2006). Uracil DNA glycosylase is dispensable for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication and does not contribute to the antiviral effects of the cytidine deaminase Apobec3G. J. Virol. 80, 875–882. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.2.875-882.2006
- Kamura, T., Maenaka, K., Kotoshiba, S., Matsumoto, M., Kohda, D., Conaway, R. C., et al. (2004). VHL-box and SOCS-box domains determine binding specificity for Cul2-Rbx1 and Cul5-Rbx2 modules of ubiquitin ligases. *Genes Dev.* 18, 3055– 3065. doi: 10.1101/gad.1252404
- Kamura, T., Sato, S., Haque, D., Liu, L., Kaelin, W. G. Jr., et al. (1998). The Elongin BC complex interacts with the conserved SOCS-box motif present in members of the SOCS, ras, WD-40 repeat, and ankyrin repeat families. *Genes Dev.* 12, 3872–3881. doi: 10.1101/gad.12.24.3872
- Kao, S., Khan, M. A., Miyagi, E., Plishka, R., Buckler-White, A., and Strebel, K. (2003). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif protein reduces intracellular expression and inhibits packaging of APOBEC3G (CEM15), a cellular inhibitor of virus infectivity. *J. Virol.* 77, 11398–11407. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.21.11398-11407.2003
- Khan, M. A., Goila-Gaur, R., Opi, S., Miyagi, E., Takeuchi, H., Kao, S., et al. (2007). Analysis of the contribution of cellular and viral RNA to the packaging of APOBEC3G into HIV-1 virions. *Retrovirology* 4, 48. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-4-48
- Khatua, A. K., Taylor, H. E., Hildreth, J. E., and Popik, W. (2010). Inhibition of LINE-1 and Alu retrotransposition by exosomes encapsidating APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F. *Virology* 400, 68–75. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.01.021
- Kim, D. Y., Kwon, E., Hartley, P. D., Crosby, D. C., Mann, S., Krogan, N. J., et al. (2013). CBFbeta stabilizes HIV Vif to counteract APOBEC3 at the expense of RUNX1 target gene expression. *Mol. Cell.* 49, 632–644. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.12.012
- Kim, E. Y., Bhattacharya, T., Kunstman, K., Swantek, P., Koning, F. A., Malim, M. H., et al. (2010). Human APOBEC3G-mediated editing can promote HIV-1 sequence diversification and accelerate adaptation to selective pressure. *J. Virol.* 84, 10402–10405. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01223-10
- Kitamura, S., Ode, H., and Iwatani, Y. (2011). Structural features of Antiviral APOBEC3 proteins are linked to their functional activities. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:258. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00258
- Kitamura, S., Ode, H., Nakashima, M., Imahashi, M., Naganawa, Y., Kurosawa, T., et al. (2012). The APOBEC3C crystal structure and the interface for HIV-1 Vif binding. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 19, 1005–1010. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2378
- Kobayashi, M., Takaori-Kondo, A., Miyauchi, Y., Iwai, K., and Uchiyama, T. (2005). Ubiquitination of APOBEC3G by an HIV-1 Vif-Cullin5-Elongin B-Elongin C

complex is essential for Vif function. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 18573–18578. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C500082200

- Kobayashi, T., Koizumi, Y., Takeuchi, J. S., Misawa, N., Kimura, Y., Morita, S., et al. (2014). Quantification of deaminase activity-dependent and -independent restriction of HIV-1 replication mediated by APOBEC3F and APOBEC3G through experimental-mathematical investigation. *J. Virol.* 88, 5881–5887. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00062-14
- Kock, J., and Blum, H. E. (2008). Hypermutation of hepatitis B virus genomes by APOBEC3G, APOBEC3C and APOBEC3H. J. Gen. Virol. 89, 1184–1191. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83507-0
- Kohli, R. M., Abrams, S. R., Gajula, K. S., Maul, R. W., Gearhart, P. J., and Stivers, J. T. (2009). A portable hot spot recognition loop transfers sequence preferences from APOBEC family members to activation-induced cytidine deaminase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 22898–22904. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.025536
- Koning, F. A., Goujon, C., Bauby, H., and Malim, M. H. (2011). Target cell-mediated editing of HIV-1 cDNA by APOBEC3 proteins in human macrophages. J. Virol. 85, 13448–13452. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00775-11
- Koning, F. A., Newman, E. N., Kim, E. Y., Kunstman, K. J., Wolinsky, S. M., and Malim, M. H. (2009). Defining APOBEC3 expression patterns in human tissues and hematopoietic cell subsets. J. Virol. 83, 9474–9485. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01089-09
- Koyama, T., Arias, J. F., Iwabu, Y., Yokoyama, M., Fujita, H., Sato, H., et al. (2013). APOBEC3G oligomerization is associated with the inhibition of both Alu and LINE-1 retrotransposition. *PLoS ONE* 8:e84228. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084228
- Kozak, S. L., Marin, M., Rose, K. M., Bystrom, C., and Kabat, D. (2006). The anti-HIV-1 editing enzyme APOBEC3G binds HIV-1 RNA and messenger RNAs that shuttle between polysomes and stress granules. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 29105–29119. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M601901200
- Land, A. M., Ball, T. B., Luo, M., Pilon, R., Sandstrom, P., Embree, J. E., et al. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 proviral hypermutation correlates with CD4 count in HIV-infected women from Kenya. *J. Virol.* 82, 8172–8182. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01115-08
- Langlois, M. A., Beale, R. C., Conticello, S. G., and Neuberger, M. S. (2005). Mutational comparison of the single-domained APOBEC3C and doubledomained APOBEC3F/G anti-retroviral cytidine deaminases provides insight into their DNA target site specificities. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, 1913–1923. doi: 10.1093/nar/gki343
- LaRue, R. S., Andresdottir, V., Blanchard, Y., Conticello, S. G., Derse, D., Emerman, M., et al. (2009). Guidelines for naming nonprimate APOBEC3 genes and proteins. J. Virol. 83, 494–497. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01976-08
- LaRue, R. S., Jonsson, S. R., Silverstein, K. A., Lajoie, M., Bertrand, D., El-Mabrouk, N., et al. (2008). The artiodactyl APOBEC3 innate immune repertoire shows evidence for a multi-functional domain organization that existed in the ancestor of placental mammals. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 9:104. doi: 10.1186/1471-2199-9-104
- Lavens, D., Peelman, F., Van Der Heyden, J., Uyttendaele, I., Catteeuw, D., Verhee, A., et al. (2010). Definition of the interacting interfaces of Apobec3G and HIV-1 Vif using MAPPIT mutagenesis analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 1902–1912. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp1154
- Letko, M., Silvestri, G., Hahn, B. H., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Gokcumen, O., Simon, V., et al. (2013). Vif proteins from diverse primate lentiviral lineages use the same binding site in APOBEC3G. *J. Virol.* 87, 11861–11871. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01944-13
- Li, J., Chen, Y., Li, M., Carpenter, M. A., Mcdougle, R. M., Luengas, E. M., et al. (2014). APOBEC3 multimerization correlates with HIV-1 packaging and restriction activity in living cells. *J. Mol. Biol.* 426, 1296–1307. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.12.014
- Li, M., Shandilya, S. M., Carpenter, M. A., Rathore, A., Brown, W. L., Perkins, A. L., et al. (2012). First-in-class small molecule inhibitors of the single-strand DNA cytosine deaminase APOBEC3G. ACS Chem. Biol. 7, 506–517. doi: 10.1021/cb200440y
- Li, M. M., and Emerman, M. (2011). Polymorphism in human APOBEC3H affects a phenotype dominant for subcellular localization and antiviral activity. *J. Virol.* 85, 8197–8207. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00624-11
- Li, M. M., Wu, L. I., and Emerman, M. (2010). The range of human APOBEC3H sensitivity to lentiviral Vif proteins. J. Virol. 84, 88–95. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01344-09
- Li, Y., Kappes, J. C., Conway, J. A., Price, R. W., Shaw, G. M., and Hahn, B. H. (1991). Molecular characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cloned directly from uncultured human brain tissue: identification of replicationcompetent and -defective viral genomes. J. Virol. 65, 3973–3985.

- Liddament, M. T., Brown, W. L., Schumacher, A. J., and Harris, R. S. (2004). APOBEC3F properties and hypermutation preferences indicate activity against HIV-1 in vivo. *Curr. Biol.* 14, 1385–1391. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.050
- Liu, S., Harada, B. T., Miller, J. T., Le Grice, S. F., and Zhuang, X. (2010). Initiation complex dynamics direct the transitions between distinct phases of early HIV reverse transcription. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 17, 1453–1460. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1937
- Logue, E. C., Bloch, N., Dhuey, E., Zhang, R., Cao, P., Herate, C., et al. (2014). A DNA sequence recognition loop on APOBEC3A controls substrate Specificity. *PLoS ONE* 9:e97062. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0097062
- Love, R. P., Xu, H., and Chelico, L. (2012). Biochemical analysis of hypermutation by the deoxycytidine deaminase APOBEC3A. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 30812–30822. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.393181
- Lucifora, J., Xia, Y., Reisinger, F., Zhang, K., Stadler, D., Cheng, X., et al. (2014). Specific and nonhepatotoxic degradation of nuclear hepatitis B virus cccDNA. *Science* 343, 1221–1228. doi: 10.1126/science.1243462
- Luo, K., Wang, T., Liu, B., Tian, C., Xiao, Z., Kappes, J., et al. (2007). Cytidine deaminases APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F interact with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase and inhibit proviral DNA formation. *J. Virol.* 81, 7238–7248. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02584-06
- Luo, K., Xiao, Z., Ehrlich, E., Yu, Y., Liu, B., Zheng, S., et al. (2005). Primate lentiviral virion infectivity factors are substrate receptors that assemble with cullin 5-E3 ligase through a HCCH motif to suppress APOBEC3G. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 11444–11449. doi: 10.1073/pnas.05024 40102
- MacDuff, D. A., Demorest, Z. L., and Harris, R. S. (2009). AID can restrict L1 retrotransposition suggesting a dual role in innate and adaptive immunity. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 1854–1867. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp030
- Madani, N., and Kabat, D. (1998). An endogenous inhibitor of human immunodeficiency virus in human lymphocytes is overcome by the viral Vif protein. *J. Virol.* 72, 10251–10255.
- Mangeat, B., Turelli, P., Caron, G., Friedli, M., Perrin, L., and Trono, D. (2003). Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. *Nature* 424, 99–103. doi: 10.1038/nature01709
- Mangeat, B., Turelli, P., Liao, S., and Trono, D. (2004). A single amino acid determinant governs the species-specific sensitivity of APOBEC3G to Vif action. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 14481–14483. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C400060200
- Mariani, R., Chen, D., Schrofelbauer, B., Navarro, F., Konig, R., Bollman, B., et al. (2003). Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. *Cell* 114, 21–31. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00515-4
- Marin, M., Golem, S., Rose, K. M., Kozak, S. L., and Kabat, D. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif functionally interacts with diverse APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases and moves with them between cytoplasmic sites of mRNA metabolism. J. Virol. 82, 987–998. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01078-07
- Marin, M., Rose, K. M., Kozak, S. L., and Kabat, D. (2003). HIV-1 Vif protein binds the editing enzyme APOBEC3G and induces its degradation. *Nat. Med.* 9, 1398–1403. doi: 10.1038/nm946
- Matsui, M., Shindo, K., Izumi, T., Io, K., Shinohara, M., Komano, J., et al. (2014a). Small molecules that inhibit Vif-induced degradation of APOBEC3G. *Virol. J.* 11, 122. doi: 10.1186/1743-422X-11-122
- Matsui, Y., Shindo, K., Nagata, K., Io, K., Tada, K., Iwai, F., et al. (2014b). Defining HIV-1 Vif residues that interact with CBFbeta by site-directed mutagenesis. *Virology* 449, 82–87. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.11.004
- Mbisa, J. L., Barr, R., Thomas, J. A., Vandegraaff, N., Dorweiler, I. J., Svarovskaia, E. S., et al. (2007). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cDNAs produced in the presence of APOBEC3G exhibit defects in plus-strand DNA transfer and integration. J. Virol. 81, 7099–7110. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00272-07
- Mbisa, J. L., Bu, W., and Pathak, V. K. (2010). APOBEC3F and APOBEC3G inhibit HIV-1 DNA integration by different mechanisms. J. Virol. 84, 5250–5259. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02358-09
- Mehle, A., Goncalves, J., Santa-Marta, M., Mcpike, M., and Gabuzda, D. (2004). Phosphorylation of a novel SOCS-box regulates assembly of the HIV-1 Vif-Cul5 complex that promotes APOBEC3G degradation. *Genes Dev.* 18, 2861–2866. doi: 10.1101/gad.1249904
- Mehle, A., Wilson, H., Zhang, C., Brazier, A. J., Mcpike, M., Pery, E., et al. (2007). Identification of an APOBEC3G binding site in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif and inhibitors of Vif-APOBEC3G binding. *J. Virol.* 81, 13235–13241. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00204-07

- Mercenne, G., Bernacchi, S., Richer, D., Bec, G., Henriet, S., Paillart, J. C., et al. (2010). HIV-1 Vif binds to APOBEC3G mRNA and inhibits its translation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 633–646. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp1009
- Miyagi, E., Brown, C. R., Opi, S., Khan, M., Goila-Gaur, R., Kao, S., et al. (2010). Stably expressed APOBEC3F has negligible antiviral activity. J. Virol. 84, 11067– 11075. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01249-10
- Miyagi, E., Opi, S., Takeuchi, H., Khan, M., Goila-Gaur, R., Kao, S., et al. (2007). Enzymatically active APOBEC3G is required for efficient inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 81, 13346–13353. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01361-07
- Mohammed, I., Parai, M. K., Jiang, X., Sharova, N., Singh, G., Stevenson, M., et al. (2012). SAR and lead optimization of an HIV-1 Vif-APOBEC3G axis inhibitor. *ACS Med. Chem. Lett.* 3, 465–469. doi: 10.1021/ml300037k
- Monajemi, M., Woodworth, C. F., Zipperlen, K., Gallant, M., Grant, M. D., and Larijani, M. (2014). Positioning of APOBEC3G/F mutational hotspots in the human immunodeficiency virus genome favors reduced recognition by CD8+ T cells. *PLoS ONE* 9:e93428. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093428
- Mulder, L. C., Harari, A., and Simon, V. (2008). Cytidine deamination induced HIV-1 drug resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 5501–5506. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710190105
- Mulder, L. C., Ooms, M., Majdak, S., Smedresman, J., Linscheid, C., Harari, A., et al. (2010). Moderate influence of human APOBEC3F on HIV-1 replication in primary lymphocytes. *J. Virol.* 84, 9613–9617. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02630-09
- Munk, C., Willemsen, A., and Bravo, I. G. (2012). An ancient history of gene duplications, fusions and losses in the evolution of APOBEC3 mutators in mammals. *BMC Evol. Biol.* 12:71. doi: 10.1186/1471-2148-12-71
- Nathans, R., Cao, H., Sharova, N., Ali, A., Sharkey, M., Stranska, R., et al. (2008). Small-molecule inhibition of HIV-1 Vif. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 26, 1187–1192. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1496
- Navarro, F., Bollman, B., Chen, H., Konig, R., Yu, Q., Chiles, K., et al. (2005). Complementary function of the two catalytic domains of APOBEC3G. *Virology* 333, 374–386. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.01.011
- Newman, E. N., Holmes, R. K., Craig, H. M., Klein, K. C., Lingappa, J. R., Malim, M. H., et al. (2005). Antiviral function of APOBEC3G can be dissociated from cytidine deaminase activity. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 166–170. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.12.068
- Nowarski, R., Britan-Rosich, E., Shiloach, T., and Kotler, M. (2008). Hypermutation by intersegmental transfer of APOBEC3G cytidine deaminase. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 15, 1059–1066. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1495
- Nowotny, B., Schneider, T., Pradel, G., Schirmeister, T., Rethwilm, A., and Kirschner, M. (2010). Inducible APOBEC3G-Vif double stable cell line as a high-throughput screening platform to identify antiviral compounds. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*, 54, 78–87. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00775-09
- OhAinle, M., Kerns, J. A., Li, M. M., Malik, H. S., and Emerman, M. (2008). Antiretroelement activity of APOBEC3H was lost twice in recent human evolution. *Cell Host Microbe* 4, 249–259. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.07.005
- OhAinle, M., Kerns, J. A., Malik, H. S., and Emerman, M. (2006). Adaptive evolution and antiviral activity of the conserved mammalian cytidine deaminase APOBEC3H. J. Virol. 80, 3853–3862. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.8.3853-3862.2006
- Olson, M. E., Li, M., Harris, R. S., and Harki, D. A. (2013). Smallmolecule APOBEC3G DNA cytosine deaminase inhibitors based on a 4-amino-1,2,4-triazole-3-thiol scaffold. *ChemMedChem* 8, 112–117. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201200411
- Ooms, M., Brayton, B., Letko, M., Maio, S. M., Pilcher, C. D., Hecht, F. M., et al. (2013a). HIV-1 Vif adaptation to human APOBEC3H haplotypes. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 411–421. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.09.006
- Ooms, M., Letko, M., Binka, M., and Simon, V. (2013b). The resistance of human APOBEC3H to HIV-1 NL4-3 molecular clone is determined by a single amino acid in Vif. *PLoS ONE* 8:e57744. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057744
- Ooms, M., Majdak, S., Seibert, C. W., Harari, A., and Simon, V. (2010). The localization of APOBEC3H variants in HIV-1 virions determines their antiviral activity. J. Virol. 84, 7961–7969. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00754-10
- Opi, S., Kao, S., Goila-Gaur, R., Khan, M. A., Miyagi, E., Takeuchi, H., et al. (2007). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif inhibits packaging and antiviral activity of a degradation-resistant APOBEC3G variant. J. Virol. 81, 8236–8246. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02694-06
- Pace, C., Keller, J., Nolan, D., James, I., Gaudieri, S., Moore, C., et al. (2006). Population level analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 hypermutation and

its relationship with APOBEC3G and vif genetic variation. *J. Virol.* 80, 9259–9269. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00888-06

- Pak, V., Heidecker, G., Pathak, V. K., and Derse, D. (2011). The role of aminoterminal sequences in cellular localization and antiviral activity of APOBEC3B. J. Virol. 85, 8538–8547. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02645-10
- Pathak, V. K., and Temin, H. M. (1990). Broad spectrum of in vivo forward mutations, hypermutations, and mutational hotspots in a retroviral shuttle vector after a single replication cycle: substitutions, frameshifts, and hypermutations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 6019–6023. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87. 16.6019
- Pery, E., Rajendran, K. S., Brazier, A. J., and Gabuzda, D. (2009). Regulation of APOBEC3 proteins by a novel YXXL motif in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif and simian immunodeficiency virus SIVagm Vif. *J. Virol.* 83, 2374–2381. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01898-08
- Rahm, N., and Telenti, A. (2012). The role of tripartite motif family members in mediating susceptibility to HIV-1 infection. *Curr. Opin. HIV AIDS* 7, 180–186. doi: 10.1097/COH.0b013e32835048e1
- Rathore, A., Carpenter, M. A., Demir, O., Ikeda, T., Li, M., Shaban, N. M., et al. (2013). The local dinucleotide preference of APOBEC3G can be altered from 5'-CC to 5'-TC by a single amino acid substitution. *J. Mol. Biol.* 425, 4442–4454. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.07.040
- Refsland, E. W., Hultquist, J. F., and Harris, R. S. (2012). Endogenous origins of HIV-1 G-to-A hypermutation and restriction in the nonpermissive T cell line CEM2n. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002800. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002800
- Refsland, E. W., Stenglein, M. D., Shindo, K., Albin, J. S., Brown, W. L., and Harris, R. S. (2010). Quantitative profiling of the full APOBEC3 mRNA repertoire in lymphocytes and tissues: implications for HIV-1 restriction. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 4274–4284. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq174
- Richardson, S. R., Narvaiza, I., Planegger, R. A., Weitzman, M. D., and Moran, J. V. (2014). APOBEC3A deaminates transiently exposed single-strand DNA during LINE-1 retrotransposition. *Elife* 3, e02008. doi: 10.7554/eLife.02008
- Russell, R. A., Moore, M. D., Hu, W. S., and Pathak, V. K. (2009a). APOBEC3G induces a hypermutation gradient: purifying selection at multiple steps during HIV-1 replication results in levels of G-to-A mutations that are high in DNA, intermediate in cellular viral RNA, and low in virion RNA. *Retrovirology* 6, 16. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-6-16
- Russell, R. A., Smith, J., Barr, R., Bhattacharyya, D., and Pathak, V. K. (2009b). Distinct domains within APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F interact with separate regions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif. J. Virol. 83, 1992–2003. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01621-08
- Russell, R. A., and Pathak, V. K. (2007). Identification of two distinct human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif determinants critical for interactions with human APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F. J. Virol. 81, 8201–8210. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 00395-07
- Sadler, H. A., Stenglein, M. D., Harris, R. S., and Mansky, L. M. (2010). APOBEC3G contributes to HIV-1 variation through sublethal mutagenesis. J. Virol. 84, 7396– 7404. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00056-10
- Sakai, H., Shibata, R., Sakuragi, J., Sakuragi, S., Kawamura, M., and Adachi, A. (1993). Cell-dependent requirement of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif protein for maturation of virus particles. J. Virol. 67, 1663–1666.
- Santa-Marta, M., Da Silva, F. A., Fonseca, A. M., and Goncalves, J. (2005). HIV-1 Vif can directly inhibit apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3G-mediated cytidine deamination by using a single amino acid interaction and without protein degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 8765–8775. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M409309200
- Schrofelbauer, B., Chen, D., and Landau, N. R. (2004). A single amino acid of APOBEC3G controls its species-specific interaction with virion infectivity factor (Vif). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 3927–3932. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0307132101
- Schumacher, A. J., Hache, G., Macduff, D. A., Brown, W. L., and Harris, R. S. (2008). The DNA deaminase activity of human APOBEC3G is required for Ty1, MusD, and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 restriction. *J. Virol.* 82, 2652–2660. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02391-07
- Senavirathne, G., Jaszczur, M., Auerbach, P. A., Upton, T. G., Chelico, L., Goodman, M. F., et al. (2012). Single-stranded DNA scanning and deamination by APOBEC3G cytidine deaminase at single molecule resolution. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 15826–15835. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.342790
- Shaw, G. M., and Hunter, E. (2012). HIV transmission. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006965

- Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., Choi, J. D., and Malim, M. H. (2002). Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature* 418, 646–650. doi: 10.1038/nature00939
- Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., and Malim, M. H. (2003). The antiretroviral enzyme APOBEC3G is degraded by the proteasome in response to HIV-1 Vif. *Nat. Med.* 9, 1404–1407. doi: 10.1038/nm945
- Shlyakhtenko, L. S., Lushnikov, A. J., Li, M., Harris, R. S., and Lyubchenko, Y. L. (2014). Interaction of APOBEC3A with DNA Assessed by Atomic Force Microscopy. *PLoS ONE* 9:e99354. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0099354
- Shlyakhtenko, L. S., Lushnikov, A. Y., Li, M., Lackey, L., Harris, R. S., and Lyubchenko, Y. L. (2011). Atomic force microscopy studies provide direct evidence for dimerization of the HIV restriction factor APOBEC3G. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 3387–3395. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.195685
- Shlyakhtenko, L. S., Lushnikov, A. Y., Miyagi, A., Li, M., Harris, R. S., and Lyubchenko, Y. L. (2012). Nanoscale structure and dynamics of ABOBEC3G complexes with single-stranded DNA. *Biochemistry* 51, 6432–6440. doi: 10.1021/bi300733d
- Simon, J. H., Gaddis, N. C., Fouchier, R. A., and Malim, M. H. (1998). Evidence for a newly discovered cellular anti-HIV-1 phenotype. *Nat. Med.* 4, 1397–1400. doi: 10.1038/3987
- Simon, V., Zennou, V., Murray, D., Huang, Y., Ho, D. D., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2005). Natural variation in Vif. differential impact on APOBEC3G/3F and a potential role in HIV-1 diversification. *PLoS Pathog.* 1:e6. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 0010006
- Siu, K. K., Sultana, A., Azimi, F. C., and Lee, J. E. (2013). Structural determinants of HIV-1 Vif susceptibility and DNA binding in APOBEC3F. *Nat. Commun.* 4, 2593. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3593
- Smith, J. L., and Pathak, V. K. (2010). Identification of specific determinants of human APOBEC3F, APOBEC3C, and APOBEC3DE and African green monkey APOBEC3F that interact with HIV-1 Vif. J. Virol. 84, 12599–12608. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01437-10
- Song, C., Sutton, L., Johnson, M. E., D'Aquila, R. T., and Donahue, J. P. (2012). Signals in APOBEC3F N-terminal and C-terminal deaminase domains each contribute to encapsidation in HIV-1 virions and are both required for HIV-1 restriction. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 16965–16974. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.310839
- Soros, V. B., Yonemoto, W., and Greene, W. C. (2007). Newly synthesized APOBEC3G is incorporated into HIV virions, inhibited by HIV RNA, and subsequently activated by RNase H. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e15. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030015
- Stanley, B. J., Ehrlich, E. S., Short, L., Yu, Y., Xiao, Z., Yu, X. F., et al. (2008). Structural insight into the human immunodeficiency virus Vif SOCS box and its role in human E3 ubiquitin ligase assembly. *J. Virol.* 82, 8656–8663. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00767-08
- Stopak, K., De Noronha, C., Yonemoto, W., and Greene, W. C. (2003). HIV-1 Vif blocks the antiviral activity of APOBEC3G by impairing both its translation and intracellular stability. *Mol. Cell.* 12, 591–601. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03) 00353-8
- Stopak, K. S., Chiu, Y. L., Kropp, J., Grant, R. M., and Greene, W. C. (2007). Distinct patterns of cytokine regulation of APOBEC3G expression and activity in primary lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 3539–3546. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610138200
- Strebel, K., Daugherty, D., Clouse, K., Cohen, D., Folks, T., and Martin, M. A. (1987). The HIV 'A' (sor) gene product is essential for virus infectivity. *Nature* 328, 728–730. doi: 10.1038/328728a0
- Strebel, K., and Khan, M. A. (2008). APOBEC3G encapsidation into HIV-1 virions: which RNA is it? *Retrovirology* 5, 55. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-5-55
- Suspene, R., Rusniok, C., Vartanian, J. P., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2006). Twin gradients in APOBEC3 edited HIV-1 DNA reflect the dynamics of lentiviral replication. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 4677–4684. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl555
- Suspene, R., Sommer, P., Henry, M., Ferris, S., Guetard, D., Pochet, S., et al. (2004). APOBEC3G is a single-stranded DNA cytidine deaminase and functions independently of HIV reverse transcriptase. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 2421–2429. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkh554
- Svarovskaia, E. S., Xu, H., Mbisa, J. L., Barr, R., Gorelick, R. J., Ono, A., et al. (2004). Human apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme-catalytic polypeptide-like 3G (APOBEC3G) is incorporated into HIV-1 virions through interactions with viral and nonviral RNAs. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 35822–35828. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M405761200

- Tan, L., Sarkis, P. T., Wang, T., Tian, C., and Yu, X. F. (2009). Sole copy of Z2-type human cytidine deaminase APOBEC3H has inhibitory activity against retrotransposons and HIV-1. *FASEB J.* 23, 279–287. doi: 10.1096/fj.07-088781
- Tian, C., Yu, X., Zhang, W., Wang, T., Xu, R., and Yu, X. F. (2006). Differential requirement for conserved tryptophans in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vif for the selective suppression of APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F. J. Virol. 80, 3112–3115. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.6.3112-3115.2006
- Vartanian, J. P., Henry, M., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2002). Sustained G–>A hypermutation during reverse transcription of an entire human immunodeficiency virus type 1 strain Vau group O genome. J. Gen. Virol. 83, 801–805.
- Vartanian, J. P., Meyerhans, A., Asjo, B., and Wain-Hobson, S. (1991). Selection, recombination, and G→A hypermutation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genomes. *J. Virol.* 65, 1779–1788.
- Vazquez-Perez, J. A., Ormsby, C. E., Hernandez-Juan, R., Torres, K. J., and Reyes-Teran, G. (2009). APOBEC3G mRNA expression in exposed seronegative and early stage HIV infected individuals decreases with removal of exposure and with disease progression. *Retrovirology* 6, 23. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-6-23
- von Hippel, P. H., and Berg, O. G. (1989). Facilitated target location in biological systems. *J. Biol. Chem.* 264, 675–678.
- von Schwedler, U., Song, J., Aiken, C., and Trono, D. (1993). Vif is crucial for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proviral DNA synthesis in infected cells. *J. Virol.* 67, 4945–4955.
- Wang, H., Liu, B., Liu, X., Li, Z., Yu, X. F., and Zhang, W. (2014). Identification of HIV-1 Vif regions required for CBF-beta Interaction and APOBEC3 suppression. *PLoS ONE* 9:e95738. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0095738
- Wang, J., Reuschel, E. L., Shackelford, J. M., Jeang, L., Shivers, D. K., Diehl, J. A., et al. (2011a). HIV-1 Vif promotes the G(1)- to S-phase cell-cycle transition. *Blood* 117, 1260–1269. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-06-289215
- Wang, X., Abudu, A., Son, S., Dang, Y., Venta, P. J., and Zheng, Y. H. (2011b). Analysis of human APOBEC3H haplotypes and anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity. J. Virol. 85, 3142–3152. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02049-10
- Wang, T., Tian, C., Zhang, W., Luo, K., Sarkis, P. T., Yu, L., et al. (2007). 7SL RNA mediates virion packaging of the antiviral cytidine deaminase APOBEC3G. J. Virol. 81, 13112–13124. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00892-07
- Wang, T., Tian, C., Zhang, W., Sarkis, P. T., and Yu, X. F. (2008). Interaction with 7SL RNA but not with HIV-1 genomic RNA or P bodies is required for APOBEC3F virion packaging. J. Mol. Biol. 375, 1098–1112. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2007.11.017
- Wang, X., Ao, Z., Chen, L., Kobinger, G., Peng, J., and Yao, X. (2012). The cellular antiviral protein APOBEC3G interacts with HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and inhibits its function during viral replication. J. Virol. 86, 3777–3786. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06594-11
- Wang, X., Zhang, H., Lv, M., Zuo, T., Wu, H., Wang, J., et al. (2013). Interactions between HIV-1 Vif and human ElonginB-ElonginC are important for CBF-beta binding to Vif. *Retrovirology* 10, 94. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-94
- Wichroski, M. J., Robb, G. B., and Rana, T. M. (2006). Human retroviral host restriction factors APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F localize to mRNA processing bodies. *PLoS Pathog.* 2:e41. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020041
- Wiegand, H. L., Doehle, B. P., Bogerd, H. P., and Cullen, B. R. (2004). A second human antiretroviral factor, APOBEC3F, is suppressed by the HIV-1 and HIV-2 Vif proteins. *EMBO J.* 23, 2451–2458. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7600246
- Xiao, Z., Ehrlich, E., Luo, K., Xiong, Y., and Yu, X. F. (2007). Zinc chelation inhibits HIV Vif activity and liberates antiviral function of the cytidine deaminase APOBEC3G. *FASEB J.* 21, 217–222. doi: 10.1096/fj.06-6773com
- Xiao, Z., Ehrlich, E., Yu, Y., Luo, K., Wang, T., Tian, C., et al. (2006). Assembly of HIV-1 Vif-Cul5 E3 ubiquitin ligase through a novel zinc-binding domain-stabilized hydrophobic interface in Vif. *Virology* 349, 290–299. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2006.02.002
- Xu, H., Chertova, E., Chen, J., Ott, D. E., Roser, J. D., Hu, W. S., et al. (2007). Stoichiometry of the antiviral protein APOBEC3G in HIV-1 virions. *Virology* 360, 247–256. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2006.10.036
- Xu, H., Svarovskaia, E. S., Barr, R., Zhang, Y., Khan, M. A., Strebel, K., et al. (2004). A single amino acid substitution in human APOBEC3G antiretroviral enzyme confers resistance to HIV-1 virion infectivity factor-induced depletion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 5652–5657. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0400830101
- Xu, H., Wang, X., and Veazey, R. S. (2013). Mucosal immunology of HIV infection. Immunol. Rev. 254, 10–33. doi: 10.1111/imr.12072

- Yamashita, T., Kamada, K., Hatcho, K., Adachi, A., and Nomaguchi, M. (2008). Identification of amino acid residues in HIV-1 Vif critical for binding and exclusion of APOBEC3G/F. *Microbes Infect.* 10, 1142–1149. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2008. 06.003
- Yang, B., Chen, K., Zhang, C., Huang, S., and Zhang, H. (2007). Virion-associated uracil DNA glycosylase-2 and apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease are involved in the degradation of APOBEC3G-edited nascent HIV-1 DNA. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 11667–11675. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606864200
- Yang, X., Goncalves, J., and Gabuzda, D. (1996). Phosphorylation of Vif and its role in HIV-1 replication. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 10121–10129. doi: 10.1074/jbc.271.17.10121
- Yu, Q., Konig, R., Pillai, S., Chiles, K., Kearney, M., Palmer, S., et al. (2004). Single-strand specificity of APOBEC3G accounts for minus-strand deamination of the HIV genome. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 11, 435–442. doi: 10.1038/ nsmb758
- Yu, X., Yu, Y., Liu, B., Luo, K., Kong, W., Mao, P., et al. (2003). Induction of APOBEC3G ubiquitination and degradation by an HIV-1 Vif-Cul5-SCF complex. *Science* 302, 1056–1060. doi: 10.1126/science.1089591
- Zennou, V., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2006). Comparative analysis of the antiretroviral activity of APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F from primates. *Virology* 349, 31–40. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.12.035
- Zhang, H., Yang, B., Pomerantz, R. J., Zhang, C., Arunachalam, S. C., and Gao, L. (2003). The cytidine deaminase CEM15 induces hypermutation in newly synthesized HIV-1 DNA. *Nature* 424, 94–98. doi: 10.1038/nature 01707
- Zhang, W., Du, J., Evans, S. L., Yu, Y., and Yu, X. F. (2012). T-cell differentiation factor CBF-beta regulates HIV-1 Vif-mediated evasion of host restriction. *Nature* 481, 376–379. doi: 10.1038/nature10718
- Zhen, A., Du, J., Zhou, X., Xiong, Y., and Yu, X. F. (2012). Reduced APOBEC3H variant anti-viral activities are associated with altered RNA binding activities. *PLoS ONE* 7:e38771. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038771

- Zhen, A., Wang, T., Zhao, K., Xiong, Y., and Yu, X. F. (2010). A single amino acid difference in human APOBEC3H variants determines HIV-1 Vif sensitivity. *J. Virol.* 84, 1902–1911. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01509-09
- Zheng, Y. H., Irwin, D., Kurosu, T., Tokunaga, K., Sata, T., and Peterlin, B. M. (2004). Human APOBEC3F is another host factor that blocks human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. *J. Virol.* 78, 6073–6076. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.11.6073-6076.2004
- Zhou, X., Evans, S. L., Han, X., Liu, Y., and Yu, X. F. (2012). Characterization of the interaction of full-length HIV-1 Vif protein with its key regulator CBFbeta and CRL5 E3 ubiquitin ligase components. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33495. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033495
- Zuo, T., Liu, D., Lv, W., Wang, X., Wang, J., Lv, M., et al. (2012). Smallmolecule inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication by targeting the interaction between Vif and ElonginC. *J. Virol.* 86, 5497–5507. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06957-11

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 13 June 2014; accepted: 06 August 2014; published online: 26 August 2014. Citation: Feng Y, Baig TT, Love RP and Chelico L (2014) Suppression of APOBEC3-mediated restriction of HIV-1 by Vif. Front. Microbiol. **5**:450. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00450

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2014 Feng, Baig, Love and Chelico. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



AID and APOBECs span the gap between innate and adaptive immunity

Arnaud Moris^{1,2,3,4}*, Shannon Murray^{1,2,3†} and Sylvain Cardinaud^{1,2,3†}

¹ Center for Immunology and Microbial Infections, Faculty of Medicine, Université Paris-Sorbonne, UPMC Univ Paris 06, Paris, France

² Center for Immunology and Microbial Infections, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale, U1135, Paris, France

⁴ Department of Immunology, Hôpital Pitié-Salpêtière, Paris, France

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Dorian McIlroy, University of Nantes, France

Joao Goncalves, Faculdade de Farmácia da Universidade de Lisboa, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Arnaud Moris, Center for Immunology and Microbial Infections, Faculty of Medicine, Université Paris-Sorbonne, 91 Boulevard de l'Hôpital, 75013 Paris Cedex 13, France e-mail: arnaud.moris@upmc.fr

[†]Present address:

Shannon Murray, Vaccine and Gene Therapy Institute of Florida, 9801 SW Discovery Way, Port Saint Lucie, FL 34987, USA;

Sylvain Cardinaud, INSERM U955, IMRB Equipe 16, Vaccine Research Institute, Hôpital Henri Mondor, 94010 Créteil, France

INTRODUCTION

Higher eukaryotes have developed multiple strategies to counteract viral infections. A first line of defense is based on the recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as viral replication intermediates that are molecules not commonly found in uninfected host cells. PAMPs were originally defined as molecular patterns specific to microbes, highly conserved and required for microbial function, and thus, are selfnonself discriminating molecules for higher eukaryotic organisms. After the engagement of PAMPs with the subsequently identified PAMP receptors, activation of a cascade of events leads to the expression and, in some cases, secretion of antiviral molecules and chemokines. Some of these molecules have been defined as "restriction factors" meaning host factors that have been evolutionarily selected for based on their capacity to restrict microbial infections. The receptors and effectors of this innate immunity are germline-encoded and mediate key aspects of host defense. However, viruses can also evade host defenses. It is the second arm of the immune system, adaptive immunity, which provides flexible antigen recognition based on somatic modification of antigen receptor genes in immune cells. This process involves selection of immune cells that includes a step of deletion of antigen receptors that are self-reactive, thus preventing autoimmunity, while

The activation-induced deaminase (AID)/APOBEC cytidine deaminases participate in a diversity of biological processes from the regulation of protein expression to embryonic development and host defenses. In its classical role, AID mutates germline-encoded sequences of B cell receptors, a key aspect of adaptive immunity, and APOBEC1, mutates apoprotein B pre-mRNA, yielding two isoforms important for cellular function and plasma lipid metabolism. Investigations over the last ten years have uncovered a role of the APOBEC superfamily in intrinsic immunity against viruses and innate immunity against viral infection by deamination and mutation of viral genomes. Further, discovery in the area of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection revealed that the HIV viral infectivity factor protein interacts with APOBEC3G, targeting it for proteosomal degradation, overriding its antiviral function. More recently, our and others' work have uncovered that the AID and APOBEC cytidine deaminase family members have an even more direct link between activity against viral infection and induction and shaping of adaptive immunity than previously thought, including that of antigen processing for cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity and natural killer cell activation. Newly ascribed functions of these cytodine deaminases will be discussed, including their newly identified roles in adaptive immunity, epigenetic regulation, and cell differentiation. Herein this review we discuss AID and APOBEC cytodine deaminases as a link between innate and adaptive immunity uncovered by recent studies.

Keywords: restriction factors, CTL, HIV, correlate of protection, APOBEC1, APOBEC2, APOBEC3

allowing adaptation to diverse pathogens and the establishment of rapid and robust memory responses. There is evidence that communication between innate and adaptive immunity is required to clear pathogen infections that are otherwise deleterious to the host (Iwasaki and Pillai, 2014). Innate and adaptive immunity are thus considered interdependent.

Activation-induced deaminase (AID) and APOBEC (apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like) enzymes are important in both innate and adaptive immune responses. AID/APOBEC family members originate from a large gene superfamily encoding for zinc-dependent deaminases involved in the metabolism of purine and pyrimidine bases (Conticello, 2008). The appearance of AID/APOBECs is thought to be concurrent with the divergence of the vertebrate lineage and the evolution of adaptive immunity (Conticello, 2008). AID/APOBECs have a unique capacity to mutate DNA and/or RNA of both host and pathogen as a result of their ability to deaminate cytidine to uridine. This activity, referred to as nucleic acid "editing," is involved in various immune functions, including restriction of viral replication, antigen presentation, and maturation of host immune receptors. The structure of AID/APOBEC proteins in relation with their editing activities has been recently reviewed (Conticello et al., 2007; Desimmie et al., 2014). AID is

³ Center for Immunology and Microbial Infections, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, ERL 8255, Paris, France

thought to be the oldest member of the family and is essential for antigen-driven B cell terminal differentiation and antibody (Ab) affinity maturation and diversification (Muramatsu et al., 2000). In humans, genetic deficiency of AID leads to Type-2 Hyper-IgM Syndrome (HIGM2), an immunodeficiency characterized by the absence of antibodies other than the IgM class (Revy et al., 2000). APOBEC1, the first family member to be identified, plays an important role in lipid metabolism due to its ability to edit the apopoliprotein B (ApoB) pre-mRNA (Navaratnam et al., 1993; Teng et al., 1993). APOBEC1 might also participate in the restriction of viral infections (Ikeda et al., 2008; Gonzalez et al., 2009). APOBEC3s include seven members (A-C, DE, and F-H) that are involved in the restriction of viral infection and propagation affecting viruses such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), and hepatitis B virus (HBV). APOBEC2 and APOBEC4 functions remain poorly understood although a role of APOBEC2 in embryogenesis has been recently proposed (Vonica et al., 2010). Highlighting the crucial role of AID/APOBECs in host defense, viruses have developed mechanisms to interfere with AID/APOBEC biogenesis and/or functions, and in fact, APOBEC3G was originally discovered due to its interaction with the HIV Vif protein (Sheehy et al., 2002). Here, we will review the cellular functions of AID/APOBEC family members and discuss recent work investigating their contribution in innate and adaptive antiviral immunity.

CELLULAR FUNCTIONS OF AID AND APOBEC FAMILY MEMBERS

APOBEC1

In humans, APOBEC1 (A1) is uniquely expressed in the gastrointestinal tract and participates in plasma lipid metabolism. In other species, such as mice, rats, horses, and dogs, A1 is also present in the liver (Greeve et al., 1993). Until recently, ApoB pre-mRNA was thought to be the single cellular target of A1 (Teng et al., 1993). ApoB protein has two isoforms, ApoB-100 and ApoB-48, encoded by a single gene in the liver and small intestine, respectively. The shortest form, ApoB-48, is the product of A1 editing activity and corresponds to the Nterminal portion of ApoB. A1 converts a unique cytidine to uridine (at position 6666 in Apo pre-mRNA) leading to a glutamine to STOP codon substitution and ApoB-48 translation (Navaratnam et al., 1993). ApoB-100 and ApoB-48 have different biological properties and control the homeostasis of plasma cholesterol. The editing activity of A1 is therefore an important determinant for plasma concentrations of ApoB-containing lipoproteins that are implicated in development of hyperlipidemia and atherosclerosis. Overexpression of A1 in the liver of mice or rabbits reduces the concentration of low-density lipoproteins. However, A1 overexpression also induces hepatocellular carcinoma in transgenic animals (Yamanaka et al., 1995), most likely due to its capacity to edit DNA (Harris et al., 2002; Petersen-Mahrt and Neuberger, 2003). A1 is indeed expressed in the nucleus where ApoB pre-mRNA editing also occurs (Lau et al., 1991).

More recently, using a transcriptome-wide RNA sequencing screen comparing wild type and A1-deficient mice, Papavasilou

et al. discovered that, in small intestine, many mRNA transcripts other than apoB are edited by A1 (Rosenberg et al., 2011). The targets of A1 are 3'-untranslated regions (3' UTR) of mRNA transcripts, suggesting additional roles for APOBEC1 beyond its function in ApoB regulation.

APOBEC2

A2 was cloned based on its sequence homology with A1 (Liao et al., 1999). A2 is well-conserved in the vertebrate lineages and can be traced back to bony fish (Liao et al., 1999; Etard et al., 2010). Using in vitro models (e.g., Escherichia coli), A2 has been shown to exhibit intrinsic cytidine deaminase activity (Liao et al., 1999). Although the A2 structure has been solved (Prochnow et al., 2007), its functions remained elusive until recently. In humans, A2 is exclusively expressed in heart and skeletal muscles (Liao et al., 1999). In mice, A2 KO was reported to have no major effect on animal viability and fertility (Mikl et al., 2005). This is in contrast to recent studies that implicate A2 in embryonic development of fish and xenopus (Etard et al., 2010; Pennings et al., 2010; Vonica et al., 2010). The lack of A2 expression causes a dystrophic muscle phenotype in zebrafish embryos (Etard et al., 2010). A2 seems to inhibit TGFβsignaling, thus promoting muscle fiber differentiation both in vivo (in zebrafish and xenopus embryos) but also in vitro using a mammalian myoblastic cell line (Vonica et al., 2010). The mechanism of action and the targets of A2 action during embryogenesis are not defined, however, the ability of A2 (and other deaminases such as AID) to deaminate methylated cystidines suggests a possible role in epigenetic regulation (Rai et al., 2008).

AID

Activation-induced deaminase was cloned in a subtractive cDNA library screen comparing activated and resting B cell lymphomas (Muramatsu et al., 1999). AID is a key determinant in the generation of protective Ab-mediated adaptive immune responses. The cytidine deaminase activity of AID initiates the introduction of double stranded DNA breaks (DSB) in the immunoglobulin heavy chain (IgH) gene locus allowing Ab diversification, referred to as class switch recombination (CSR; Muramatsu et al., 2000). In addition, AID produces point mutations at the V(D)J region of Ig loci, a mechanism referred to as somatic hypermutation, (SHM), allowing B cell maturation (Muramatsu et al., 2000). These functions require a rigorous targeting of AID activities to SHM and CSR substrates (Kohli et al., 2010). Targeting might involve several complementary mechanisms such as AID binding to replication protein A, a ssDNA-binding protein involved in DNA repair (Basu et al., 2005), and/or association with a non-encoding RNAprocessing/degradation complex (Basu et al., 2011). The editing activity of AID is not restricted to Ig loci and AID can act on a wide spectrum of genomic targets in B cells (Yamane et al., 2011). As a consequence, aberrant expression of AID promotes cancer development in animal models and humans (Okazaki et al., 2007). Dysregulated expression of AID facilitates DNA translocations that require DSB such as *c-myc/IgH* found in Burkitt's lymphoma and c-myc/miR-142 found in B cell leukemia (Robbiani et al., 2008, 2009; Hasham et al., 2010). Constitutive or ubiquitous AID expression also leads to cancer development that is characterized by point mutations in oncogenes as well as passenger mutations
(those mutations that do not contribute to cancer growth; Okazaki et al., 2003). AID can therefore produce mutations in many genes other than Ig genes. While most of these mutations are rapidly repaired by the cellular DNA-repair machinery, those that are not successfully repaired, can destabilize the genome of cells.

Although AID expression is at its highest levels in germinal center B cells that undergo CSR and SHM, it is also found in other cell types such as oocytes, embryonic stem (ES) cells, and in estrogen-induced breast tissue (Fritz and Papavasiliou, 2010). The function of AID expression in these cells or tissues remains to be elucidated. However, the study of lower vertebrates including zebrafish suggests that AID expression is involved in epigenetic reprogramming of germ cells during early development (Rai et al., 2008). Using an AID knockout mouse model, Popp et al. (2010) revealed a role of AID in DNA demethylation during primordial germ cell reprogramming. DNA cytosine methylation is associated with gene silencing and plays a key role in development and genomic imprinting. The removal of 5-methyl group on cytosine (5-mC) contributes to epigenetic reprogramming required for the restoration of pluripotency of germ cells. Several lines of evidence suggest that AID, but also A1 and A2, might participate in this process of demethylation: AID and A1 can deaminate 5-methylcytosine in vitro and in E. coli (Morgan et al., 2004), and germ cells from AID-deficient mouse exhibit a hypermethylation pattern (Popp et al., 2010). AID (and A2) might contribute to the conversion of 5-mC to thymidine (T) later replaced by cytosine (C) by the DNA-repair machinery (Rai et al., 2008). In summary, AID function is not limited to Ab diversification, and evidence is accumulating to suggest a role in epigenetic reprogramming.

APOBEC3s

Sheehy et al. (2002) initially discovered the first family member of APOBEC3, A3G, in ground-breaking studies with HIV infection. Since that original identification, seven human A3 genes clustered in tandem on chromosome 22 have been identified, namely, A3A, A3B, A3C, A3DE, A3F, A3G, and A3H, which most likely arose through gene duplication of a single-copy primordial gene (Jarmuz et al., 2002). A3E was thought to be a pseudogene but in fact, A3D and A3E form one unique protein (A3DE; Dang et al., 2006). All A3 genes encode one or two conserved zinc-coordinating deaminase domain (ZDD), which contains a His/Cys-Xaa-Glu-Xaa23-28-Pro-Cys-Xaa2-4-Cys signature motif [X denotes any amino acid (aa)]. Regions of human A3 mRNAs share between 30 and 100% homology. Interestingly, depending on the species, the A3 genes expanded and/or contracted. As a result, A3 gene number ranges from one (mice, rats, pigs) to three (cats) and six (horses; LaRue et al., 2008). In humans, A3 genes are also highly polymorphic most likely due to the fact that they have been under strong and continuing selective pressure during primate evolution (Conticello et al., 2005; Henry et al., 2012). As discussed later on in this review, A3 polymorphisms might influence their specific antiviral activity.

A3 gene expression has been mainly documented in immune cells and these results have been determined based on mRNA levels in cells, using quantitative PCR (Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010). This approach is particularly difficult since

A3 genes are highly homologous and polymorphic. Apart from A3G and A3A, most antibodies to A3s are not very specific and endogenous A3 proteins are often difficult to detect. Nonetheless, several studies indicate a strong correlation between mRNA level and protein expression (Refsland et al., 2010). There is a general consensus that most A3s are highly expressed in T cells [memory or naïve (Refsland et al., 2010)] but also in B cells and phagocytic cells. A3A and A3B are predominantly expressed in monocytes (Peng et al., 2007; Thielen et al., 2010) and B lymphocytes (Koning et al., 2009), respectively. A3G and A3F are expressed in T cells, monocytes and dendritic cells (DC; Sheehy et al., 2002; Pion et al., 2006; Peng et al., 2007; Pido-Lopez et al., 2007; Stopak et al., 2007; Trapp et al., 2009). However, there is no consensus regarding their relative abundance. A3s expression is not confined to immune cell populations, and are highly expressed in human testis and ovary (A3G and A3F) (Koning et al., 2009) as well as ES cells (A3B, A3C, A3DE, A3F, and A3G; Wissing et al., 2011). A3G, A3F, A3B, and A3C are expressed in primary hepatocytes (Bonvin et al., 2006; Tanaka et al., 2006). The true breadth of basal A3 expression in human tissues remains difficult to estimate as leukocytes infiltrate tissues and no suitable specific immunohistochemistry antibodies are presently available. Nevertheless, different observations are in favor of a broad and constitutive A3 expression profile in human tissues. For instance, various cancer cell lines of non-immune origin - colorectal adenocarcinoma, melanoma and lung carcinoma lines - express multiple human A3s. It is possible that A3 expression is induced during oncogenesis, but given the abundance of A3s in different cell types it might also reflect their normal expression profile prior to cell transformation.

The cellular expression of A3s clearly indicates a role of A3s in immunity. The broad distribution of A3s also points toward a putative role in cellular maintenance. A3G and A3F localize in cytoplamic microdomains and stress granules that are sites of RNA storage and metabolism also called mRNA-processing bodies (or P-bodies; Wichroski et al., 2006; Gallois-Montbrun et al., 2008). Within P-bodies, A3G and A3F interact with effectors of the RNA silencing machinery (such as Argonaute 1 and 2) and translation suppressor (RCK/p54), suggesting that A3G-F participate in RNA metabolism and fate determination (Wichroski et al., 2006; Gallois-Montbrun et al., 2008). However, Phalora et al. (2012) found no evidence that A3s participate in specific regulation of miRNA. In addition, the manipulation of P-bodies using siRNA inhibition had no impact of A3 antiviral functions and HIV replication (Phalora et al., 2012). The reason why A3G and A3F localize to these P-bodies remains unclear. More recently, a role of A3s in DNA catabolism has also been proposed. Reminiscent of AID capacity to deaminate B cell genomes (during SHM and CSR), A3A edits host nuclear and mitochondrial DNA leading to the introduction of uridine (Suspene et al., 2011a). In the presence of functional DNA repair machinery, most mutations are likely fixed. In contrast, in uracil DNA-glycosylase (UNG)-deficient cells, (UNGs are enzymes required for excision of uracil bases), cytidine deaminations are readily detected using differential DNA-denaturation PCR (3D-PCR) (Suspene et al., 2011a). The significance of nuclear DNA editing by A3A is rather enigmatic as hyperediting is

synonymous with cell death and aberrant editing and/or repair might contribute to tumorigenesis (Mussil et al., 2013). On the other hand, phagocytic cells that express predominantly A3A may use cytidine-deamination to mark foreign DNA for degradation. In this model, the deamination of multiple cytidines on foreign DNA might lead to uracil excision by UNG, creating nuclease-sensitive abasic sites, and subsequent degradation by cellular nucleases (Stenglein et al., 2010). The nucleases involved have not been characterized, but as discussed by Stenglein et al. (2010) might include the IFN-inducible APEX or TREX1, though a contribution of DNAse I and II cannot be ruled out. This mechanism might represent an intrinsic immune defense reminiscent of bacteria that evolved endonucleases to prevent DNA transmission and bacteriophage infection (Stenglein et al., 2010). To this regard it is interesting to note that A3A and other A3s are induced upon inflammation (as described further, below).

Much remains to be learned regarding the cellular functions of A3s. Depending on cell type and tissue environment, A3s differently contribute to DNA/RNA deamination and their overarching biological roles are still being elucidated.

AID, APOBEC1, AND APOBEC2 IN ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY APOBEC1

The sequence homology between A1 and A3G prompted researchers to investigate a potential role of A1 in viral infection (Bishop et al., 2004a,b). In a pioneering work, Bishop et al. (2004b) demonstrated that human A1 (hA1) incorporated into HIV particles had no effect on HIV replication. In contrast, rat A1 had a strong suppressive effect on HIV regardless of Vif expression (Bishop et al., 2004b). Later work confirmed that in contrast to hA1, A1 from small animals (e.g., rabbit, hamster, mouse) inhibited the replication of retroviruses such as SIV (simian immunodeficiency virus), FIV (feline immunodeficiency virus), and murine leukemia virus (MLV), and the activation of autonomous retroelements in a deaminase-dependent manner, thus suggesting a putative role for A1 in the restriction of viral replication (Ikeda et al., 2008). The demonstration that A1 is a restriction factor in the course of viral infections in natural hosts came from the study of MLV and hepadnaviruses by the group of Wain-Hobson and Vartanian (Petit et al., 2009; Renard et al., 2010). Analyzing viral sequences in HBV-infected chimpanzees, woodchucks chronically infected with the natural woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) as well as ducks infected with duck hepatitis virus (DHV), the authors provided evidence that A1 edits hepadnaviral genomes and restricts replication in vivo (Renard et al., 2010). Analyzing human serum from two HBV chronically infected carriers, the same group also suggested that A1 edits HBV genomes in vivo (Gonzalez et al., 2009). These results were somehow surprising due to the fact that in humans A1 is not normally expressed in the liver. However, viral infection might lead to ectopic expression of A1. During the course of viral infections, the influence of IFN induction (or treatment) on A1 expression has not been investigated thus far. Nonetheless, the function of A1 is most likely not limited to the regulation of lipid metabolism. In vertebrates, A1 likely participates in intrinsic defenses against some viral infections.

APOBEC2

Though A2 exhibits deaminase activities (Liao et al., 1999), it has not been assigned a role in the restriction of viral replication thus far. However, it is interesting to note that in hepatocytes, A2 expression is enhanced by pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 β (Matsumoto et al., 2006). A2 contains functional NF-kB response elements in the 5' untranslated region, suggesting a possible involvement in immune responses (Matsumoto et al., 2006). In the tonsils of patients with Immunoglobulin A nephropathy (IgAN) a disease characterized by IgA deposition to glomerular mesangial cells and glomerulonephritis, A2 expression is up-regulated around B cell germinal centers (where B cells undergo CSR and SHM with the "help" of follicular T cells). However, a direct role of A2 in IgAN pathology or IgA production has not been established (Iio et al., 2010).

AID

As discussed earlier, AID is required for CSR and, as a result, is critical for the generation of B cells that secrete Abs with various effector functions and tissue distribution in the organism (Muramatsu et al., 2000). For instance, immunoglobulins of the IgA isotype are found at the portal of pathogen entry in the mucosa and can be transported across the epithelium to neutralize pathogens. IgG is the principal isotype in the blood and extracellular fluid and is involved in pathogen neutralization, opsonization, and complement activation. AID $^{-/-}$ mice harbor a complete defect of CSR with a hyper-IgM phenotype and present enlarged germinal centers containing activated B cells (Muramatsu et al., 2000). In addition, AID involvement in SHM allows the generation of B cells with the potential to secrete Abs with higher affinities (Imai et al., 2003). Interestingly, mice carrying a mutated allele of AID with reduced capacity to perform SHM but with normal amounts of CSR, exhibit an impaired gut homeostasis and inefficient mucosal defenses (Wei et al., 2011). In humans, genetic deficiencies of AID are responsible for the development of a rare immunodeficiency, HIGM2 (Revy et al., 2000). HIGM2 is characterized by the absence of antibodies other than IgM and a profound susceptibility to bacterial infections (Revy et al., 2000). AID is therefore a key determinant in protective immunological responses, and the most well-documented mechanism of this protection is through the generation of protective Ab-mediated immune responses.

The action of AID is not limited to B cell differentiation and maturation as there is accumulating evidence that AID contributes to innate defenses against viruses. For example, HCV, Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), and Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV) have been shown to induce AID expression in B cells residing outside the germinal centers (Machida et al., 2004; Rosenberg and Papavasiliou, 2007; Bekerman et al., 2013). It is unclear so far whether AID up-regulation is beneficial or deleterious to HCV and EBV, however, in the case of KSHV, AID has a direct impact on viral fitness by inhibiting lytic reactivation and by reducing infectivity of virions. Further reinforcing the role of AID in antiviral responses, KSHV encodes microRNAs that dampen AID expression (Bekerman et al., 2013). Whether the deaminase activity of AID is required for KSHV restriction [as described for A3G (see below)] remains to be determined. In hepatocytes, AID expression also correlates with reduced susceptibility to HBV infection (Watashi et al., 2013), a mechanism that might be dependent on deamination of the HBV genome by AID (Liang et al., 2013). AID might also participate in responses against transforming retroviruses. AID-deficient mice have been shown to be more susceptible to Abelson murine leukemia virus (A-MuLV), a defective virus that causes pro-B cell leukemia in vivo (Gourzi et al., 2006). In this case, the action of AID does not involve direct editing of the viral genome. Instead, AID might cause damage in the host cell genome, resulting in cell cycle arrest and/or up-regulation of stress-inducible factors, leading to natural killer (NK) cell activation and thus slower tumor growth (Gourzi et al., 2006). AID expression also correlates with the induction of aberrant SHM that might contribute to B cell transformation and tumorigenesis (Machida et al., 2005; Epeldegui et al., 2007).

APOBEC3s AND ANTIVIRAL IMMUNITY

A3G was the first member of APOBEC family to be assigned a role in antiviral immunity by demonstration of its activity against HIV infectivity (Sheehy et al., 2002). Since then, it has been demonstrated that human A3 cytidine deaminases affect the replication of a variety of viruses (Chiu and Greene, 2008) and impact the activation of adaptive immunity (Casartelli et al., 2010). A3G restricts the replication of retroviruses such as HIV, Foamy virus (FV; Delebecque et al., 2006), human T-cell leukemia virus type-1 (HTLV-1; Mahieux et al., 2005) as well as DNA viruses such as HBV (Turelli et al., 2004; Suspene et al., 2005) and also affects endogenous retroviruses (Esnault et al., 2005). A3A, A3C, and A3H deaminate human papillomavirus (HPV) genomes (Vartanian et al., 2008) and A3C acts on herpes viruses [e.g., herpes simplex-1 (HSV-1) and EBV viruses (Suspene et al., 2011b)]. Human A3G also acts on viruses infecting rodents (MLV) or avian species (Rous sarcoma virus and alpharetroviruses). A3 family members can play redundant roles in antiviral immunity (Albin and Harris, 2010). For instance, A3G and A3F restrict HIV and like A3C, A3G also acts on herpes viruses, although to a lesser extent (Suspene et al., 2011b). Intrinsic specificities of A3 proteins, but also their tissue distribution and cellular expression levels most likely determine the impact of each A3 family member on viral replication and on the activation of antiviral immunity.

INTRINSIC ANTIVIRAL FUNCTION OF A3s

The characterization of mutant HIV defective for the accessory protein Vif led to the discovery of A3G. Vif is essential for HIV-1 replication in a variety of cells including primary human T cells, monocytes, macrophages, DC and lymphoid T cell lines such as CEM, HUT78, also called "non-permissive" cells. However, Vif is dispensable in "permissive" T cell lines such as CEM-SS (a variant of CEM), Jurkat and supT1 cells [see for an in depth review (Henriet et al., 2009)]. A subtractive cDNA library screen – using CEM and CEM-SS T cell lines - led to the identification of human A3G that is strongly expressed by non-permissive CEM-SS cells (Sheehy et al., 2002). In non-permissive cells, A3G is incorporated into budding virions and acts on HIV replication in a post-fusion event in newly infected cells (**Figure 1**). Transfection

of A3G in permissive cells leads to abrogated replication of Vifdeficient HIV (HIV ΔVif) (Sheehy et al., 2002) and sequencing of HIV ΔVif DNA revealed a hypermutated pattern with enriched G to A transitions (Lecossier et al., 2003), strongly suggesting that A3G deaminase activity is required for the restriction of HIV replication (Zhang et al., 2003). It is now established that Vif counteracts the antiviral functions of A3G and other A3 family members such as A3F and a certain allele of A3H (Henriet et al., 2009). The action of Vif on A3s has been extensively reviewed (Henriet et al., 2009), but in sum, in infected cells, Vif targets A3G for proteasomal degradation, reducing the amount of A3G incorporated into budding virions (Figure 1). Indeed, as a postfusion event, A3G catalyzes cytosine to uracil deamination on the nascent minus DNA strand of the HIV reverse transcribed genome (Harris et al., 2003; Mangeat et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2004). The presence of uracil on the minus strand of HIV DNA might target HIV DNA for degradation by the cellular DNA repair machinery thus reducing viral replication (Mariani et al., 2003). As exemplified by the existence of hyper-edited sequences retrieved from HIV proviruses in vivo (Kieffer et al., 2005), the action of Vif on A3G incorporation/degradation is not absolute and deaminations also lead to G to A transitions in HIV DNA (Harris et al., 2003; Lecossier et al., 2003; Mangeat et al., 2003; Yu et al., 2004). Editing patterns are dominated by GG to AG hypermutations leading to a high frequency of amino acid substitutions and to the introduction of premature STOP codons (Vartanian et al., 1991). These crippled proviruses express aberrant (i.e., misfolded or truncated) viral proteins that are unable to produce infectious particles (Simm et al., 1995).

Shortly after the discovery of A3G, A3F was shown to restrict HIV replication. A3G and A3F editing is not random. A3G and A3F preferentially introduce mutations in TGG or TGA sequences, respectively. There is a lack of consensus on the ability of other A3 family members to edit HIV [see for a review (Albin and Harris, 2010)]. For instance, over-expression of A3B and A3DE exerts anti-HIV activity in a single cycle assay but insignificant antiviral activity in a spreading infection system (Hache et al., 2008). A3D, F, G, and H but not A3B, C, and DE restrict infection of human CD4+ T lymphocytes by Vif-deficient viruses (Hultquist et al., 2011). A3DE restricts HIV replication in macrophages but to a lower extent than A3G (Chaipan et al., 2013). In myeloid cells, APOBEC3A blocks early steps of reverse transcription but acts when expressed in the target cell of infection (Berger et al., 2011).

There is a general agreement that cytidine deamination plays an important role in the capacity of A3s to restrict viral replication (Schumacher et al., 2008; Browne et al., 2009). However, several reports also suggest that A3G and A3F restrict viral replication to a significant extent through deaminase-independent mechanisms (Newman et al., 2005). A3G and A3F affect reverse transcription priming and extension (Mangeat et al., 2003; Mariani et al., 2003; Guo et al., 2006; Anderson and Hope, 2008; Malim, 2009; Wang et al., 2012; Gillick et al., 2013) and HIV DNA integration into the host genome (Luo et al., 2007; Mbisa et al., 2007; Vetter and D'Aquila, 2009). As proposed by Henriet et al. (2009) interference of A3G and A3F with the viral core assembly might be responsible for these deaminase-independent impairments of HIV replication.



FIGURE 1 APOBEC3G links innate/intrinsic immunity with adaptive cellular immunity. A3G is expressed at various levels in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infected cells and can be induced upon viral sensing by Toll-like receptors (TLR), triggering of CD40 or CCR5 and IFN production (left). A3G is incorporated in budding virions and exerts its antiviral activities in newly infected cells (**right**). During reverse transcription, A3G catalyzes cytosine to uracil deaminations on the nascent minus DNA strand of HIV. The presence of uracil and the expression of HIV Vpr recruit the cellular DNA repair machinery (UNG2, **right middle**) leading to either HIV DNA restoration or degradation, the latter reducing viral replication. The cellular DNA-repair machinery trying to cope with uracil-rich HIV DNA also activates the DNA-damage- and stress-response pathways leading to the up-regulation of activating natural killer (NK) cell ligands (NKG2D ligands) and killing of infected cells (**right middle**).

The balance of editing and non-editing-dependent effects of A3G and A3F varies depending on the experimental system and might be affected by their cellular expression levels (Miyagi et al., 2007; Knoepfel et al., 2008; Browne et al., 2009).

INDUCTION OF A3 EXPRESSION

In humans, A3s are not only expressed in a variety of tissues, but their expression is also induced by mediators of inflammation, possibly reflecting their role as a first line of defense against invading viruses (**Figure 1**). IFN- α was reported to enhance A3G and A3A expression in monocytes and macrophages. IFN- γ and - β also induce A3G up-regulation in macrophages (Sarkis et al., 2006;

VIRAL REPLICATION

addition, deaminations lead to G to A transitions in HIV DNA leading to the integration of proviruses with a high frequency of amino acid substitutions and/or premature STOP codons. These proviruses express aberrant viral proteins that are unable to produce infectious particles. Infected cells can use these misfolded or truncated viral proteins (called DRiPs, defective ribosomal products) to generate MHC-I epitopes leading to activation of anti-HIV cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) responses (**right upper**). However, in infected cells, Vif counteracts the antiviral functions of A3G by targeting newly synthetized A3G for proteasomal degradation, thus reducing the amount of A3G incorporated into budding virions (**left**) and facilitating HIV replication in newly infected cells (**right bottom**). Viral replication is therefore the result of a balance between anti-viral innate and adaptive (cellular) immunity promoted by A3G and Vif-mediated escape mechanisms developed by HIV.

Peng et al., 2007; Stopak et al., 2007; Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010; Berger et al., 2011). IFN- α secreted by plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC) enhances the expression of A3A, A3C, A3G, and A3F within pDC, indicating that pDC might be armed against viral infection by an autocrine IFN- α loop (Wang et al., 2008). Pathogen sensors such as Toll-like receptors (TLR) also influence A3 gene expression. TLR-3 stimulation by the double stranded RNA analog [poly(I:C)] induces type I IFN responses in DC and subsequent A3G expression (Trapp et al., 2009). Overall, the induction of DC maturation using stimuli such as LPS (a TLR-4 ligand), CCR5 and CD40 ligands correlates with the up-regulation of A3G (Pion et al., 2006; Pido-Lopez et al., 2007; Stopak et al., 2007). The effect of IFN-α on A3 expression in primary CD4+ T cells is controversial, but in most reports no induction was observed (Rose et al., 2005; Chen et al., 2006; Sarkis et al., 2006; Stopak et al., 2007; Ying et al., 2007; Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010). In contrast, IL-2, IL-7, IL-15, and IL-27 and mitogens such as phytohemagglutinin (PHA) and phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) induced modest and strong activation of A3G expression, respectively, (Stopak et al., 2007). Combined with IL-2, PHA induces expression of all A3s except A3A (Greenwell-Wild et al., 2009; Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010). Triggering of the T cell receptor (TcR) also induces A3G expression in effector memory T cells and interferes with HIV replication *in vitro* (Pido-Lopez et al., 2009).

The induction of A3 expression is not limited to immune cells. IFN- α secretion, for instance, can induce A3G, A3F, and A3B expression in hepatocytes (Bonvin et al., 2006; Sarkis et al., 2006; Tanaka et al., 2006). In contrast, other factors reduce A3 protein expression. The nerve growth factor (NGF), an essential factor for survival and activation of monocytes/macrophages, is released by HIV infected macrophages and dampens the synthesis of A3G, overriding the IFN- γ -induced upregulation of A3G (Souza et al., 2011).

Overall, the transcriptional regulation of A3 genes seems to play a major role in A3-dependent defenses against viruses. Remarkably, following mucosal immunization of nonhuman primates, two studies reported the up-regulation of A3G in CCR5+ CD4+ memory T cells (Wang et al., 2009) as well as in mucosal DC and CD14+ cells (Sui et al., 2010), all potential cellular targets of HIV replication. A3G mRNA upregulation was maintained over several weeks after immunization and upon challenge with SIV, and correlated inversely with viral loads and positively with a better preservation of CD4+ T cells in the gut (Sui et al., 2010). These studies strongly suggest that A3G provides an antiviral effect in vivo. They also demonstrate that mucosal immunization triggers an innate signature that promotes adaptive immune responses. The exact mechanism underlying vaccine-induced A3G expresssion with protection from SIV infection is not clear. As observed in the murine model of Friend retrovirus (FV) infection (Santiago et al., 2010), by limiting early viral replication, A3G might delay virus-induced immune dysfunction and thus might favor the establishment of humoral [e.g., generation of FV-neutralizing antibodies (Santiago et al., 2010)] and cellular immunity.

A ROLE OF A3G IN THE ACTIVATION OF CELLULAR AND ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY

There is growing evidence that A3G bridges intrinsic and cellular immunity as is the case with AID, that shapes the Ab repertoire, blocks virus-induced cancer by inducing cell cycle arrest and activates NK cells (Gourzi et al., 2006). A3G has been implicated in enhancing NK-cell killing of HIV-infected T cells (Norman et al., 2011). This process requires A3G-editing of HIV DNA (Norman et al., 2011). In this study, the authors propose that the cellular DNA-repair machinery activates DNAdamage- and stress–response pathways in response to uraciledited HIV DNA, leading to the up-regulation of activating NK cell ligands (NKG2D ligands) and killing of HIV infected cells. The authors also implicate the HIV Vpr protein and its capacity to recruit the DNA-repair machinery as a key factor in NKG2D ligand expression. In contrast, HIV Vif counteracts the action of A3G and the NK cell-mediated elimination of HIV-infected cells (Norman et al., 2011). Interestingly, in the work of Norman et al. (2011), cytoplasmic A3G (expressed by the target cell) seems responsible for HIV editing and thus NK cell recognition. Cytoplasmic A3G has been shown to impact HIV genome integration but has not been assigned a role in HIV genome editing, to our knowledge (Vetter and D'Aquila, 2009). Whether the accumulation of unintegrated HIV genomes or the editing of HIV genomes per se might be responsible for the induction of stress responses and thus NK cell recognition remains to be clarified (Norman et al., 2011). Nonetheless, this study suggests that A3G antiviral functions allow triggering of danger signals that, in turn, activate effectors of cellular immunity.

A3G-mediated editing also contributes to the activation of effectors of adaptive immunity (Casartelli et al., 2010), namely, CD8+ cytotoxic T cells (CTLs). CTLs, whose function is critical in the control of HIV infection, are triggered by viral peptides presented by MHC class-I molecules on the surface of infected cells. These antigenic peptides originate from proteasomal degradation of native viral proteins and of defective/abortive proteins generated in the course of translation (Yewdell and Nicchitta, 2006). We made the assumption that hyper-edited proviruses that express aberrant - misfolded or truncated - viral proteins might represent a source of HIV antigens. We demonstrated that A3G enhances cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) recognition of HIV-infected cells (Casartelli et al., 2010). This process requires A3G-editing of HIV DNA as editing-deficient A3G mutants failed to promote CTL activation. Mimicking A3G-editing, we also showed that truncated HIV proteins represent a major source of HIV antigen for CTL activation (Casartelli et al., 2010). However, and as expected, Vif as well as Nef (that down-regulated MHC-I expression) counteracts the action of A3G in antigen generation. Therefore, recognition of HIV-infected cells by CTLs results from a balance between the efficacy of antigen generation enhanced by A3G editing and the immune-escape mechanisms mediated by the virus. Overall, these studies demonstrate that A3G-mediated viral restriction contributes to the immunogenicity of HIV-infected cells and to NK cell as well as CTL activation, thus linking innate and adaptive immunity (Figure 1). Whether other APOBEC3 family members enhance NK cell and CTL activation remains to be determined.

IN VIVO INTERACTIONS OF APOBEC3s AND HIV-1 A3s AND CORRELATES OF DISEASE PROGRESSION

Accumulating evidence suggests that A3s play an important role in limiting viral replication *in vivo*. APOBEC3 genes have been subject to strong positive selection throughout the history of primate evolution (Sawyer et al., 2004). In persistent HBV infection, A3 polymorphisms seem to impact liver disease progression and viral loads (Ezzikouri et al., 2013). In the course of HIV infection, A3G plays a critical role in limiting the viral reservoir. A major barrier to an effective cure of HIV infection is the maintenance of a latent viral reservoir in the memory CD4 T cell compartment within HIV-infected, successfully treated (ST) individuals (Chomont et al., 2009). Examining the state of the latent proviruses in these cells from ST subjects, several studies have established that approximately 30% of HIV proviruses that can not be reactivated in vitro carry the hallmark of A3G editing (Ho et al., 2013). Thus, in vivo, A3G plays a significant role in rendering the persistent viral reservoir defective, inactive, or "non-inducible." However, whether A3G antiviral functions play a critical role in HIV progression is less clear (Albin and Harris, 2010). Analyzing the mutation patterns of proviral sequences isolated from various cohorts, several studies showed a correlation between hypermutation mediated by either A3G or A3F and reduced viral loads (Pace et al., 2006; Vazquez-Perez et al., 2009; Kourteva et al., 2012) or increased CD4 counts (Land et al., 2008). Consistent with these observations, proviral sequences from HIV-infected longterm non-progressors (LTNP) or viral controllers (elite controllers) seem to harbor an elevated level of hypermutation compared to antiretroviral therapy (ART)-treated or naïve noncontrollers (Kourteva et al., 2012; Eyzaguirre et al., 2013). In contrast, others observed no correlation between hypermutation with markers of disease progression (Piantadosi et al., 2009; De Maio et al., 2012) nor with the clinical status such as being elite controllers (Gandhi et al., 2008). These contrasting results might be due to technical issues or the size of the cohorts studied.

However, owing to the editing-independent antiviral activities of A3s, other studies analyzed the association between A3G or A3F expression levels (mostly at the mRNA level) and markers of disease progression. But, again, there is no clear-cut answer. Some studies observed that the mRNA levels of A3G correlate positively with CD4 cell counts (Jin et al., 2005; Vazquez-Perez et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2010) and inversely with viremia (Jin et al., 2005; Zhao et al., 2010; Kourteva et al., 2012) or the viral set point (that is predictive of disease progression; Ulenga et al., 2008). In addition, exposed uninfected individuals showed greater A3G mRNA levels (Biasin et al., 2007; Vazquez-Perez et al., 2009) and controllers with high A3G protein expression in CD4 T cells seem to harbor fewer HIV proviruses (De Pasquale et al., 2013). However, others observed no correlation between mRNA expression levels of either A3G or A3F and markers of disease progression (Cho et al., 2006; Amoedo et al., 2011). Also, during primary infection no association between A3G expression and viral loads was observed (Reddy et al., 2010) and others did not find greater A3G mRNA levels in exposed uninfected individuals (Mous et al., 2012). Larger cohort studies analyzing side-by-side hypermutation patterns and expression levels of all A3 family members might help in establishing a correlation with clinical parameters.

However, variants of A3 at the genetic levels might also account for limiting disease progression. In a pioneering study, An et al (An et al., 2004) identified a variety of A3G polymorphisms within introns and exons that correlate with clinical parameters. A3G H186R identified in this study was shown in various cohort studies to correlate with disease progression (An et al., 2004; Reddy et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2013). The variant H186R of A3G is also associated with low CD4 counts (Bunupuradah et al., 2012) and a polymorphism within an A3G intron (C40693T) was shown to correlate with increased risk of infection (Valcke et al., 2006). Other members of the APOBEC3 family present common polymorphisms such as A3H and A3B. In contrast to A3G, A3H anti-HIV activity is strongly influenced by its polymorphisms (Ooms et al., 2013) with some specific alleles associated with lower viremia (Gourraud et al., 2011). A3B is deleted in \sim 20% of the world's population. An early study based on a large number of U.S. patients showed that a homozygous deletion of A3B was associated with increased susceptibility to HIV acquisition and progression to AIDS (An et al., 2009). However, a more recent study on Japanese individuals did not observe such a correlation (Imahashi et al., 2014).

Whether A3 family members influence viral transmission and disease progression remains an open question. In addition, the underlying mechanisms are not clear, such as whether A3G H186R and C40693T differentially impact HIV replication, and to date, this has not been experimentally demonstrated.

A3-MEDIATED EDITING AND VIRAL DIVERSIFICATION/ADAPTATION

A3 antiviral activities, and, in particular, editing, might also facilitate HIV survival by introducing sub-lethal mutations that, in turn, favor HIV diversification and adaptation to ART and/or immune responses. The action of Vif on A3 degradation is not absolute thus allowing A3 incorporation and subsequent sublethal editing (Sadler et al., 2010). Evidence of this phenomenon was provided by the demonstration that a Vif allele carrying the K22H mutation, less effective in counteracting A3-mediated editing, was prevalent in a cohort of ART-treated patients experiencing virological failure (Fourati et al., 2010). In this study, several drug resistance mutations in reverse transcriptase (RT) and in the protease, were significantly more common in patients harboring elevated levels of K22H-mutated viruses (Fourati et al., 2010). The expression of K22H-Vif might favor adaptation to antiviral drugs by allowing residual A3-mediated deamination and introduction of mutations into HIV genome. A parallel might be drawn here with hypermutator strains of bacteria that adapt more rapidly to antibiotic. These hypermutator strains of bacteria have mutations in genes affecting DNA repair and replication fidelity and exhibit elevated mutation rates (Woodford and Ellington, 2007). Cytidine deamination might directly promote mutations that generate resistance to drugs. For example, the common M184V mutation of RT that causes resistance to 3TC is located in an A3G editing hotspot and is produced in vitro by A3G during HIV replication (Mulder et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2010). A3G-mediated sub-lethal editing might also favor mutations within sequences encoding HIV CTL epitopes thus allowing the virus to escape CTL-recognition (Wood et al., 2009; Monajemi et al., 2014). In contrast, cytidine deamination outside HIV CTL epitopes (especially downstream of the epitope) might favor the expression of unstable aberrant or truncated HIV proteins and thus HIV-specific CTL activation (Casartelli et al., 2010).

On the other hand, A3G-editing at physiological levels might be simply lethal to HIV. Armitage et al. (2012) showed, in an *in vitro* study, that even a single A3G molecule within one HIV particle is likely to cause extensive and inactivating levels of HIV hypermutation (Armitage et al., 2012). The authors suggest that A3-mediated hypermutation might be a discrete "all or nothing" phenomenon (Armitage et al., 2012). The overall impact of A3-mediated hypermutation on HIV survival and adaptation might also vary depending on the anatomical site (Fourati et al., 2014).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The AID-APOBEC family members evolved from a family of cytidine deaminases to fight viral infection. They constitute an important arm of innate immunity by restricting replication and spread of a plethora of viral infections. Although establishing correlates of disease progression with hypermutation or expression levels as a surrogate of APOBEC antiviral functions has proven to be complex in HIV infection, in vivo defective proviral sequences clearly bear the hallmark of APOBEC editing. AID-APOBEC family members also participate in long-term adaptive immunity to viral infections. AID is critical for the generation of B cells that secrete high affinity Abs with various effector functions. A3G contributes in activating NK cell and CTL responses leading to the elimination of HIV-infected cells. Remarkably, the expression levels of AID-APOBEC family members are increased upon the sensing of infection and a tight regulation is required to avoid deleterious editing of host genomes.

Manipulating AID-APOBECs with drugs might constitute promising approaches to fight infections. Strategies have been proposed to increase A3 expression to favor encapsidation within viral particles thus overriding the antagonistic activity of Vif and controlling HIV-1 infection [reviewed in (Albin and Harris, 2010)]. The antiviral properties of Vif inhibitors are currently being evaluated (Ali et al., 2012). A3G expression can be manipulated either by limiting its proteasomal degradation (Ejima et al., 2011), or exacerbated to supraphysiologic levels. Treatment of HIV/HCV co-infected patients with IFN- α , for instance, increases mRNA expression of A3G/F and correlates with the degree of HIV hypermutation (Pillai et al., 2012). Upon vaccination, A3 expresssion can also be induced promoting adaptive immune responses (Wang et al., 2009; Sui et al., 2010). Taken together, these findings further highlight the complex and intriguing interactions of AID-APOBEC family members with the immune system.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by grants from the Agence National de la Recherche sur le Sida et les Hépatites (ANRS), Sidaction and Pierre et Marie Curie University (Paris-06). Shannon Murray was supported by a post-doctoral grant from the ANRS. Sylvain Cardinaud was supported by a post-doctoral grant from Sidaction and the CutHIVac European consortium (EU FP7).

REFERENCES

- Albin, J. S., and Harris, R. S. (2010). Interactions of host APOBEC3 restriction factors with HIV-1 in vivo: implications for therapeutics. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* 12:e4. doi: 10.1017/S1462399409001343
- Ali, A., Wang, J., Nathans, R. S., Cao, H., Sharova, N., Stevenson, M., et al. (2012). Synthesis and structure-activity relationship studies of HIV-1 virion infectivity factor (Vif) inhibitors that block viral replication. *ChemMedChem* 7, 1217–1229. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201200079
- Amoedo, N. D., Afonso, A. O., Cunha, S. M., Oliveira, R. H., Machado, E. S., and Soares, M. A. (2011). Expression of APOBEC3G/3F and G-to-A hypermutation

levels in HIV-1-infected children with different profiles of disease progression. *PLoS ONE* 6:e24118. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0024118

- An, P., Bleiber, G., Duggal, P., Nelson, G., May, M., Mangeat, B., et al. (2004). APOBEC3G genetic variants and their influence on the progression to AIDS. J. Virol. 78, 11070–11076. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.20.11070-11076.2004
- An, P., Johnson, R., Phair, J., Kirk, G. D., Yu, X. F., Donfield, S., et al. (2009). APOBEC3B deletion and risk of HIV-1 acquisition. J. Infect. Dis. 200, 1054–1058. doi: 10.1086/605644
- Anderson, J. L., and Hope, T. J. (2008). APOBEC3G restricts early HIV-1 replication in the cytoplasm of target cells. *Virology* 375, 1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2008.01.042
- Armitage, A. E., Deforche, K., Chang, C. H., Wee, E., Kramer, B., Welch, J. J., et al. (2012). APOBEC3G-induced hypermutation of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 is typically a discrete "all or nothing" phenomenon. *PLoS Genet*. 8:e1002550. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002550
- Basu, U., Chaudhuri, J., Alpert, C., Dutt, S., Ranganath, S., Li, G., et al. (2005). The AID antibody diversification enzyme is regulated by protein kinase a phosphorylation. *Nature* 438, 508–511. doi: 10.1038/nature04255
- Basu, U., Meng, F. L., Keim, C., Grinstein, V., Pefanis, E., Eccleston, J., et al. (2011). The RNA exosome targets the AID cytidine deaminase to both strands of transcribed duplex DNA substrates. *Cell* 144, 353–363. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011. 01.001
- Bekerman, E., Jeon, D., Ardolino, M., and Coscoy, L. (2013). A role for host activation-induced cytidine deaminase in innate immune defense against KSHV. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003748. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003748
- Berger, G., Durand, S., Fargier, G., Nguyen, X. N., Cordeil, S., Bouaziz, S., et al. (2011). APOBEC3A is a specific inhibitor of the early phases of HIV-1 infection in myeloid cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002221. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1002221
- Biasin, M., Piacentini, L., Lo Caputo, S., Kanari, Y., Magri, G., Trabattoni, D., et al. (2007). Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like 3G: a possible role in the resistance to HIV of HIV-exposed seronegative individuals. *J. Infect. Dis.* 195, 960–964. doi: 10.1086/511988
- Bishop, K. N., Holmes, R. K., Sheehy, A. M., Davidson, N. O., Cho, S. J., and Malim, M. H. (2004a). Cytidine deamination of retroviral DNA by diverse APOBEC proteins. *Curr. Biol.* 14, 1392–1396. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.06.057
- Bishop, K. N., Holmes, R. K., Sheehy, A. M., and Malim, M. H. (2004b). APOBECmediated editing of viral RNA. *Science* 305, 645. doi: 10.1126/science.1100658
- Bonvin, M., Achermann, F., Greeve, I., Stroka, D., Keogh, A., Inderbitzin, D., et al. (2006). Interferon-inducible expression of APOBEC3 editing enzymes in human hepatocytes and inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication. *Hepatology* 43, 1364–1374. doi: 10.1002/hep.21187
- Browne, E. P., Allers, C., and Landau, N. R. (2009). Restriction of HIV-1 by APOBEC3G is cytidine deaminase-dependent. *Virology* 387, 313–321. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2009.02.026
- Bunupuradah, T., Imahashi, M., Iampornsin, T., Matsuoka, K., Iwatani, Y., Puthanakit, T., et al. (2012). Association of APOBEC3G genotypes and CD4 decline in Thai and Cambodian HIV-infected children with moderate immune deficiency. *AIDS Res. Ther.* 9:34. doi: 10.1186/1742-6405-9-34
- Casartelli, N., Guivel-Benhassine, F., Bouziat, R., Brandler, S., Schwartz, O., and Moris, A. (2010). The antiviral factor APOBEC3G improves CTL recognition of cultured HIV-infected T cells. J. Exp. Med. 207, 39–49. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091933
- Chaipan, C., Smith, J. L., Hu, W. S., and Pathak, V. K. (2013). APOBEC3G restricts HIV-1 to a greater extent than APOBEC3F and APOBEC3DE in human primary CD4+ T cells and macrophages. J. Virol. 87, 444–453. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 00676-612
- Chen, K., Huang, J., Zhang, C., Huang, S., Nunnari, G., Wang, F. X., et al. (2006). Alpha interferon potently enhances the anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 activity of APOBEC3G in resting primary CD4 T cells. *J. Virol.* 80, 7645–7657. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00206-06
- Chiu, Y. L., and Greene, W. C. (2008). The APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases: an innate defensive network opposing exogenous retroviruses and endogenous retroelements. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 26, 317–353. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090350
- Cho, S. J., Drechsler, H., Burke, R. C., Arens, M. Q., Powderly, W., and Davidson, N. O. (2006). APOBEC3F and APOBEC3G mRNA levels do not correlate with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 plasma viremia or CD4+ T-cell count. *J. Virol.* 80, 2069–2072. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.4.2069-2072.2006

- Chomont, N., El-Far, M., Ancuta, P., Trautmann, L., Procopio, F. A., Yassine-Diab, B., et al. (2009). HIV reservoir size and persistence are driven by T cell survival and homeostatic proliferation. *Nat. Med.* 15, 893–900. doi: 10.1038/nm.1972
- Conticello, S. G. (2008). The AID/APOBEC family of nucleic acid mutators. *Genome Biol.* 9, 229. doi: 10.1186/gb-2008-9-6-229
- Conticello, S. G., Langlois, M. A., Yang, Z., and Neuberger, M. S. (2007). DNA deamination in immunity: AID in the context of its APOBEC relatives. *Adv. Immunol.* 94, 37–73. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776(06)94002-94004
- Conticello, S. G., Thomas, C. J., Petersen-Mahrt, S. K., and Neuberger, M. S. (2005). Evolution of the AID/APOBEC family of polynucleotide (deoxy)cytidine deaminases. *Mol. Biol. Evol.* 22, 367–377. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msi026
- Dang, Y., Wang, X., Esselman, W. J., and Zheng, Y. H. (2006). Identification of APOBEC3DE as another antiretroviral factor from the human APOBEC family. *J. Virol.* 80, 10522–10533. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01123-06
- De Maio, F. A., Rocco, C. A., Aulicino, P. C., Bologna, R., Mangano, A., and Sen, L. (2012). APOBEC3-mediated editing in HIV type 1 from pediatric patients and its association with APOBEC3G/CUL5 polymorphisms and Vif variability. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 28, 619–627. doi: 10.1089/AID.2011.0291
- De Pasquale, M., Kourteva, Y., Allos, T., and D'aquila, R. T. (2013). Lower HIV provirus levels are associated with more APOBEC3G protein in blood resting memory CD4+ T lymphocytes of controllers in vivo. *PLoS ONE* 8:e76002. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076002
- Delebecque, F., Suspene, R., Calattini, S., Casartelli, N., Saib, A., Froment, A., et al. (2006). Restriction of foamy viruses by APOBEC cytidine deaminases. *J. Virol.* 80, 605–614. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.2.605-614.2006
- Desimmie, B. A., Delviks-Frankenberrry, K. A., Burdick, R. C., Qi, D., Izumi, T., and Pathak, V. K. (2014). Multiple APOBEC3 restriction factors for HIV-1 and one Vif to rule them all. *J. Mol. Biol.* 426, 1220–1245. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.10.033
- Ejima, T., Hirota, M., Mizukami, T., Otsuka, M., and Fujita, M. (2011). An anti-HIV-1 compound that increases steady-state expression of apoplipoprotein B mRNAediting enzyme-catalytic polypeptide-like 3G. *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 28, 613–616. doi: 10.3892/ijmm.2011.737
- Epeldegui, M., Hung, Y. P., Mcquay, A., Ambinder, R. F., and Martinez-Maza, O. (2007). Infection of human B cells with Epstein-Barr virus results in the expression of somatic hypermutation-inducing molecules and in the accrual of oncogene mutations. *Mol. Immunol.* 44, 934–942. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2006.03.018
- Esnault, C., Heidmann, O., Delebecque, F., Dewannieux, M., Ribet, D., Hance, A. J., et al. (2005). APOBEC3G cytidine deaminase inhibits retrotransposition of endogenous retroviruses. *Nature* 433, 430–433. doi: 10.1038/nature03238
- Etard, C., Roostalu, U., and Strahle, U. (2010). Lack of Apobec2-related proteins causes a dystrophic muscle phenotype in zebrafish embryos. J. Cell Biol. 189, 527–539. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200912125
- Eyzaguirre, L. M., Charurat, M., Redfield, R. R., Blattner, W. A., Carr, J. K., and Sajadi, M. M. (2013). Elevated hypermutation levels in HIV-1 natural viral suppressors. *Virology* 443, 306–312. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.05.019
- Ezzikouri, S., Kitab, B., Rebbani, K., Marchio, A., Wain-Hobson, S., Dejean, A., et al. (2013). Polymorphic APOBEC3 modulates chronic hepatitis B in Moroccan population. J. Viral Hepat. 20, 678–686. doi: 10.1111/jvh.12042
- Fourati, S., Lambert-Niclot, S., Soulie, C., Wirden, M., Malet, I., Valantin, M. A., et al. (2014). Differential impact of APOBEC3-driven mutagenesis on HIV evolution in diverse anatomical compartments. *AIDS* 28, 487–491. doi: 10.1097/QAD.00000000000182
- Fourati, S., Malet, I., Binka, M., Boukobza, S., Wirden, M., Sayon, S., et al. (2010). Partially active HIV-1 Vif alleles facilitate viral escape from specific antiretrovirals. *AIDS* 24, 2313–2321. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e32833e515a
- Fritz, E. L., and Papavasiliou, F. N. (2010). Cytidine deaminases: AIDing DNA demethylation? *Genes Dev.* 24, 2107–2114. doi: 10.1101/gad.1963010
- Gallois-Montbrun, S., Holmes, R. K., Swanson, C. M., Fernandez-Ocana, M., Byers, H. L., Ward, M. A., et al. (2008). Comparison of cellular ribonucleoprotein complexes associated with the APOBEC3F and APOBEC3G antiviral proteins. *J. Virol.* 82, 5636–5642. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00287-08
- Gandhi, S. K., Siliciano, J. D., Bailey, J. R., Siliciano, R. F., and Blankson, J. N. (2008). Role of APOBEC3G/F-mediated hypermutation in the control of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in elite suppressors. *J. Virol.* 82, 3125–3130. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01533-07
- Gillick, K., Pollpeter, D., Phalora, P., Kim, E. Y., Wolinsky, S. M., and Malim, M. H. (2013). Suppression of HIV-1 infection by APOBEC3 proteins in primary

human CD4(+) T cells is associated with inhibition of processive reverse transcription as well as excessive cytidine deamination. *J. Virol.* 87, 1508–1517. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02587-12

- Gonzalez, M. C., Suspene, R., Henry, M., Guetard, D., Wain-Hobson, S., and Vartanian, J. P. (2009). Human APOBEC1 cytidine deaminase edits HBV DNA. *Retrovirology* 6, 96. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-6-96
- Gourraud, P. A., Karaouni, A., Woo, J. M., Schmidt, T., Oksenberg, J. R., Hecht, F. M., et al. (2011). APOBEC3H haplotypes and HIV-1 pro-viral vif DNA sequence diversity in early untreated human immunodeficiency virus-1 infection. *Hum. Immunol.* 72, 207–212. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2010.12.008
- Gourzi, P., Leonova, T., and Papavasiliou, F. N. (2006). A role for activation-induced cytidine deaminase in the host response against a transforming retrovirus. *Immunity* 24, 779–786. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.03.021
- Greenwell-Wild, T., Vazquez, N., Jin, W., Rangel, Z., Munson, P. J., and Wahl, S. M. (2009). Interleukin-27 inhibition of HIV-1 involves an intermediate induction of type I interferon. *Blood* 114, 1864–1874. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-03-211540
- Greeve, J., Altkemper, I., Dieterich, J. H., Greten, H., and Windler, E. (1993). Apolipoprotein B mRNA editing in 12 different mammalian species: hepatic expression is reflected in low concentrations of apoB-containing plasma lipoproteins. J. Lipid Res. 34, 1367–1383.
- Guo, F., Cen, S., Niu, M., Saadatmand, J., and Kleiman, L. (2006). Inhibition of formula-primed reverse transcription by human APOBEC3G during human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication. J. Virol. 80, 11710–11722. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01038-06
- Hache, G., Shindo, K., Albin, J. S., and Harris, R. S. (2008). Evolution of HIV-1 isolates that use a novel Vif-independent mechanism to resist restriction by human APOBEC3G. *Curr. Biol.* 18, 819–824. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2008.04.073
- Harris, R. S., Bishop, K. N., Sheehy, A. M., Craig, H. M., Petersen-Mahrt, S. K., Watt, I. N., et al. (2003). DNA deamination mediates innate immunity to retroviral infection. *Cell* 113, 803–809. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00423-9
- Harris, R. S., Petersen-Mahrt, S. K., and Neuberger, M. S. (2002). RNA editing enzyme APOBEC1 and some of its homologs can act as DNA mutators. *Mol. Cell* 10, 1247–1253. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00742-6
- Hasham, M. G., Donghia, N. M., Coffey, E., Maynard, J., Snow, K. J., Ames, J., et al. (2010). Widespread genomic breaks generated by activation-induced cytidine deaminase are prevented by homologous recombination. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 820– 826. doi: 10.1038/ni.1909
- Henriet, S., Mercenne, G., Bernacchi, S., Paillart, J. C., and Marquet, R. (2009). Tumultuous relationship between the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral infectivity factor (Vif) and the human APOBEC-3G and APOBEC-3F restriction factors. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 73, 211–232. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00040-08
- Henry, M., Terzian, C., Peeters, M., Wain-Hobson, S., and Vartanian, J. P. (2012). Evolution of the primate APOBEC3A cytidine deaminase gene and identification of related coding regions. *PLoS ONE* 7:e30036. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0030036
- Ho, Y. C., Shan, L., Hosmane, N. N., Wang, J., Laskey, S. B., Rosenbloom, D. I., et al. (2013). Replication-competent noninduced proviruses in the latent reservoir increase barrier to HIV-1 cure. *Cell* 155, 540–551. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013. 09.020
- Hultquist, J. F., Lengyel, J. A., Refsland, E. W., Larue, R. S., Lackey, L., Brown, W. L., et al. (2011). Human and rhesus APOBEC3D, APOBEC3F, APOBEC3G, and APOBEC3H demonstrate a conserved capacity to restrict Vif-deficient HIV-1. *J. Virol.* 85, 11220–11234. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05238-11
- Iio, K., Nagasawa, Y., Iwatani, H., Yamamoto, R., Horii, A., Okuzaki, D., et al. (2010). Microarray analysis of tonsils in immunoglobulin A nephropathy patients. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 393, 565–570. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.01.120
- Ikeda, T., Ohsugi, T., Kimura, T., Matsushita, S., Maeda, Y., Harada, S., et al. (2008). The antiretroviral potency of APOBEC1 deaminase from small animal species. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 36, 6859–6871. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn802
- Imahashi, M., Izumi, T., Watanabe, D., Imamura, J., Matsuoka, K., Ode, H., et al. (2014). Lack of association between intact/deletion polymorphisms of the APOBEC3B gene and HIV-1 risk. *PLoS ONE* 9:e92861. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092861
- Imai, K., Slupphaug, G., Lee, W. I., Revy, P., Nonoyama, S., Catalan, N., et al. (2003). Human uracil-DNA glycosylase deficiency associated with profoundly impaired immunoglobulin class-switch recombination. *Nat. Immunol.* 4, 1023–1028. doi: 10.1038/ni974

- Iwasaki, A., and Pillai, P. S. (2014). Innate immunity to influenza virus infection. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 14, 315–328. doi: 10.1038/nri3665
- Jarmuz, A., Chester, A., Bayliss, J., Gisbourne, J., Dunham, I., Scott, J., et al. (2002). An anthropoid-specific locus of orphan C to U RNA-editing enzymes on chromosome 22. *Genomics* 79, 285–296. doi: 10.1006/geno.2002.6718
- Jin, X., Brooks, A., Chen, H., Bennett, R., Reichman, R., and Smith, H. (2005). APOBEC3G/CEM15 (hA3G) mRNA levels associate inversely with human immunodeficiency virus viremia. J. Virol. 79, 11513–11516. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.17.11513-11516.2005
- Kieffer, T. L., Kwon, P., Nettles, R. E., Han, Y., Ray, S. C., and Siliciano, R. F. (2005). G->A hypermutation in protease and reverse transcriptase regions of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 residing in resting CD4+ T cells in vivo. J. Virol. 79, 1975–1980. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.3.1975-1980.2005
- Kim, E. Y., Bhattacharya, T., Kunstman, K., Swantek, P., Koning, F. A., Malim, M. H., et al. (2010). Human APOBEC3G-mediated editing can promote HIV-1 sequence diversification and accelerate adaptation to selective pressure. *J. Virol.* 84, 10402–10405. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01223-10
- Knoepfel, S. A., Salisch, N. C., Huelsmann, P. M., Rauch, P., Walter, H., and Metzner, K. J. (2008). Comparison of G-to-A mutation frequencies induced by APOBEC3 proteins in H9 cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in the context of impaired processivities of drug-resistant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase variants. *J. Virol.* 82, 6536–6545. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 00554-08
- Kohli, R. M., Maul, R. W., Guminski, A. F., Mcclure, R. L., Gajula, K. S., Saribasak, H., et al. (2010). Local sequence targeting in the AID/APOBEC family differentially impacts retroviral restriction and antibody diversification. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285, 40956–40964. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.177402
- Koning, F. A., Newman, E. N., Kim, E. Y., Kunstman, K. J., Wolinsky, S. M., and Malim, M. H. (2009). Defining APOBEC3 expression patterns in human tissues and hematopoietic cell subsets. J. Virol. 83, 9474–9485. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01089-09
- Kourteva, Y., De Pasquale, M., Allos, T., Mcmunn, C., and D'aquila, R. T. (2012). APOBEC3G expression and hypermutation are inversely associated with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) burden in vivo. *Virology* 430, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.03.018
- Land, A. M., Ball, T. B., Luo, M., Pilon, R., Sandstrom, P., Embree, J. E., et al. (2008). Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) type 1 proviral hypermutation correlates with CD4 count in HIV-infected women from Kenya. *J. Virol.* 82, 8172–8182. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01115-08
- LaRue, R. S., Jonsson, S. R., Silverstein, K. A., Lajoie, M., Bertrand, D., El-Mabrouk, N., et al. (2008). The artiodactyl APOBEC3 innate immune repertoire shows evidence for a multi-functional domain organization that existed in the ancestor of placental mammals. *BMC Mol. Biol.* 9:104. doi: 10.1186/1471-2199-9-104
- Lau, P. P., Xiong, W. J., Zhu, H. J., Chen, S. H., and Chan, L. (1991). Apolipoprotein B mRNA editing is an intranuclear event that occurs posttranscriptionally coincident with splicing and polyadenylation. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 20550–20554.
- Lecossier, D., Bouchonnet, F., Clavel, F., and Hance, A. J. (2003). Hypermutation of HIV-1 DNA in the absence of the Vif protein. *Science* 300:1112. doi: 10.1126/science.1083338
- Liang, G., Kitamura, K., Wang, Z., Liu, G., Chowdhury, S., Fu, W., et al. (2013). RNA editing of hepatitis B virus transcripts by activation-induced cytidine deaminase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 2246–2251. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1221921110
- Liao, W., Hong, S. H., Chan, B. H., Rudolph, F. B., Clark, S. C., and Chan, L. (1999). APOBEC-2, a cardiac- and skeletal muscle-specific member of the cytidine deaminase supergene family. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 260, 398–404. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1999.0925
- Luo, K., Wang, T., Liu, B., Tian, C., Xiao, Z., Kappes, J., et al. (2007). Cytidine deaminases APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F interact with human immunodeficiency virus type 1 integrase and inhibit proviral DNA formation. *J. Virol.* 81, 7238–7248. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02584-06
- Machida, K., Cheng, K. T., Pavio, N., Sung, V. M., and Lai, M. M. (2005). Hepatitis C virus E2-CD81 interaction induces hypermutation of the immunoglobulin gene in B cells. *J. Virol.* 79, 8079–8089. doi: 10.1128/JVI.79.13.8079-8089.2005
- Machida, K., Cheng, K. T., Sung, V. M., Shimodaira, S., Lindsay, K. L., Levine, A. M., et al. (2004). Hepatitis C virus induces a mutator phenotype: enhanced mutations of immunoglobulin and protooncogenes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 4262–4267. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0303971101
- Mahieux, R., Suspene, R., Delebecque, F., Henry, M., Schwartz, O., Wain-Hobson, S., et al. (2005). Extensive editing of a small fraction of human T-cell leukemia

virus type 1 genomes by four APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases. J. Gen. Virol. 86, 2489–2494. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.80973-0

- Malim, M. H. (2009). APOBEC proteins and intrinsic resistance to HIV-1 infection. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 364, 675–687. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2008.0185
- Mangeat, B., Turelli, P., Caron, G., Friedli, M., Perrin, L., and Trono, D. (2003). Broad antiretroviral defence by human APOBEC3G through lethal editing of nascent reverse transcripts. *Nature* 424, 99–103. doi: 10.1038/nature01709
- Mariani, R., Chen, D., Schrofelbauer, B., Navarro, F., Konig, R., Bollman, B., et al. (2003). Species-specific exclusion of APOBEC3G from HIV-1 virions by Vif. *Cell* 114, 21–31. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00515-4
- Matsumoto, T., Marusawa, H., Endo, Y., Ueda, Y., Matsumoto, Y., and Chiba, T. (2006). Expression of APOBEC2 is transcriptionally regulated by NF-kappaB in human hepatocytes. *FEBS Lett.* 580, 731–735. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2005. 12.081
- Mbisa, J. L., Barr, R., Thomas, J. A., Vandegraaff, N., Dorweiler, I. J., Svarovskaia, E. S., et al. (2007). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 cDNAs produced in the presence of APOBEC3G exhibit defects in plus-strand DNA transfer and integration. J. Virol. 81, 7099–7110. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00272-07
- Mikl, M. C., Watt, I. N., Lu, M., Reik, W., Davies, S. L., Neuberger, M. S., et al. (2005). Mice deficient in APOBEC2 and APOBEC3. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 25, 7270–7277. doi: 10.1128/MCB.25.16.7270-7277.2005
- Miyagi, E., Opi, S., Takeuchi, H., Khan, M., Goila-Gaur, R., Kao, S., et al. (2007). Enzymatically active APOBEC3G is required for efficient inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. 81, 13346–13353. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01361-07
- Monajemi, M., Woodworth, C. F., Zipperlen, K., Gallant, M., Grant, M. D., and Larijani, M. (2014). Positioning of APOBEC3G/F mutational hotspots in the human immunodeficiency virus genome favors reduced recognition by CD8+ T Cells. *PLoS ONE* 9:e93428. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0093428
- Morgan, H. D., Dean, W., Coker, H. A., Reik, W., and Petersen-Mahrt, S. K. (2004). Activation-induced cytidine deaminase deaminates 5-methylcytosine in DNA and is expressed in pluripotent tissues: implications for epigenetic reprogramming. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 52353–52360. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M407695200
- Mous, K., Jennes, W., Camara, M., Seydi, M., Daneau, G., Mboup, S., et al. (2012). Expression analysis of LEDGF/p75, APOBEC3G, TRIM5alpha, and tetherin in a Senegalese cohort of HIV-1-exposed seronegative individuals. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33934. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033934
- Mulder, L. C., Harari, A., and Simon, V. (2008). Cytidine deamination induced HIV-1 drug resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 5501–5506. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710190105
- Muramatsu, M., Kinoshita, K., Fagarasan, S., Yamada, S., Shinkai, Y., and Honjo, T. (2000). Class switch recombination and hypermutation require activationinduced cytidine deaminase (AID), a potential RNA editing enzyme. *Cell* 102, 553–563. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00078-7
- Muramatsu, M., Sankaranand, V. S., Anant, S., Sugai, M., Kinoshita, K., Davidson, N. O., et al. (1999). Specific expression of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID), a novel member of the RNA-editing deaminase family in germinal center B cells. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 18470–18476. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.26.18470
- Mussil, B., Suspene, R., Aynaud, M. M., Gauvrit, A., Vartanian, J. P., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2013). Human APOBEC3A isoforms translocate to the nucleus and induce DNA double strand breaks leading to cell stress and death. *PLoS ONE* 8:e73641. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0073641
- Navaratnam, N., Morrison, J. R., Bhattacharya, S., Patel, D., Funahashi, T., Giannoni, F., et al. (1993). The p27 catalytic subunit of the apolipoprotein B mRNA editing enzyme is a cytidine deaminase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268, 20709–20712.
- Newman, E. N., Holmes, R. K., Craig, H. M., Klein, K. C., Lingappa, J. R., Malim, M. H., et al. (2005). Antiviral function of APOBEC3G can be dissociated from cytidine deaminase activity. *Curr. Biol.* 15, 166–170. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.12.068
- Norman, J. M., Mashiba, M., Mcnamara, L. A., Onafuwa-Nuga, A., Chiari-Fort, E., Shen, W., et al. (2011). The antiviral factor APOBEC3G enhances the recognition of HIV-infected primary T cells by natural killer cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 975–983. doi: 10.1038/ni.2087
- Okazaki, I. M., Hiai, H., Kakazu, N., Yamada, S., Muramatsu, M., Kinoshita, K., et al. (2003). Constitutive expression of AID leads to tumorigenesis. *J. Exp. Med.* 197, 1173–1181. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030275
- Okazaki, I. M., Kotani, A., and Honjo, T. (2007). Role of AID in tumorigenesis. *Adv. Immunol.* 94, 245–273. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776(06)94008-5

- Ooms, M., Brayton, B., Letko, M., Maio, S. M., Pilcher, C. D., Hecht, F. M., et al. (2013). HIV-1 Vif adaptation to human APOBEC3H haplotypes. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 411–421. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.09.006
- Pace, C., Keller, J., Nolan, D., James, I., Gaudieri, S., Moore, C., et al. (2006). Population level analysis of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 hypermutation and its relationship with APOBEC3G and vif genetic variation. *J. Virol.* 80, 9259–9269. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00888-06
- Peng, G., Greenwell-Wild, T., Nares, S., Jin, W., Lei, K. J., Rangel, Z. G., et al. (2007). Myeloid differentiation and susceptibility to HIV-1 are linked to APOBEC3 expression. *Blood* 110, 393–400. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-051763
- Pennings, J. L., Van Dartel, D. A., Pronk, T. E., Hendriksen, P. J., and Piersma, A. H. (2010). Identification by gene coregulation mapping of novel genes involved in embryonic stem cell differentiation. *Stem Cells Dev.* 20, 115–126. doi: 10.1089/scd.2010.0181
- Petersen-Mahrt, S. K., and Neuberger, M. S. (2003). In vitro deamination of cytosine to uracil in single-stranded DNA by apolipoprotein B editing complex catalytic subunit 1 (APOBEC1). J. Biol. Chem. 278, 19583–19586. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C300114200
- Petit, V., Guetard, D., Renard, M., Keriel, A., Sitbon, M., Wain-Hobson, S., et al. (2009). Murine APOBEC1 is a powerful mutator of retroviral and cellular RNA in vitro and in vivo. *J. Mol. Biol.* 385, 65–78. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2008. 10.043
- Phalora, P. K., Sherer, N. M., Wolinsky, S. M., Swanson, C. M., and Malim, M. H. (2012). HIV-1 replication and APOBEC3 antiviral activity are not regulated by P bodies. J. Virol. 86, 11712–11724. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00595-12
- Piantadosi, A., Humes, D., Chohan, B., Mcclelland, R. S., and Overbaugh, J. (2009). Analysis of the percentage of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 sequences that are hypermutated and markers of disease progression in a longitudinal cohort, including one individual with a partially defective Vif. J. Virol. 83, 7805–7814. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00280-09
- Pido-Lopez, J., Wang, Y., Seidl, T., Babaahmady, K., Vaughan, R., and Lehner, T. (2009). The effect of allogeneic in vitro stimulation and in vivo immunization on memory CD4(+) T-cell APOBEC3G expression and HIV-1 infectivity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 39, 1956–1965. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939228
- Pido-Lopez, J., Whittall, T., Wang, Y., Bergmeier, L. A., Babaahmady, K., Singh, M., et al. (2007). Stimulation of cell surface CCR5 and CD40 molecules by their ligands or by HSP70 up-regulates APOBEC3G expression in CD4(+) T cells and dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 178, 1671–1679. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178. 3.1671
- Pillai, S. K., Abdel-Mohsen, M., Guatelli, J., Skasko, M., Monto, A., Fujimoto, K., et al. (2012). Role of retroviral restriction factors in the interferon-alpha-mediated suppression of HIV-1 in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 3035–3040. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1111573109
- Pion, M., Granelli-Piperno, A., Mangeat, B., Stalder, R., Correa, R., Steinman, R. M., et al. (2006). APOBEC3G/3F mediates intrinsic resistance of monocytederived dendritic cells to HIV-1 infection. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 2887–2893. doi: 10.1084/jem.20061519
- Popp, C., Dean, W., Feng, S., Cokus, S. J., Andrews, S., Pellegrini, M., et al. (2010). Genome-wide erasure of DNA methylation in mouse primordial germ cells is affected by AID deficiency. *Nature* 463, 1101–1105. doi: 10.1038/nature08829
- Prochnow, C., Bransteitter, R., Klein, M. G., Goodman, M. F., and Chen, X. S. (2007). The APOBEC-2 crystal structure and functional implications for the deaminase AID. *Nature* 445, 447–451. doi: 10.1038/nature05492
- Rai, K., Huggins, I. J., James, S. R., Karpf, A. R., Jones, D. A., and Cairns, B. R. (2008). DNA demethylation in zebrafish involves the coupling of a deaminase, a glycosylase, and gadd45. *Cell* 135, 1201–1212. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.11.042
- Reddy, K., Winkler, C. A., Werner, L., Mlisana, K., Abdool Karim, S. S., Ndung'u, T., et al. (2010). APOBEC3G expression is dysregulated in primary HIV-1 infection and polymorphic variants influence CD4+ T-cell counts and plasma viral load. *AIDS* 24, 195–204. doi: 10.1097/QAD.0b013e3283353bba
- Refsland, E. W., Stenglein, M. D., Shindo, K., Albin, J. S., Brown, W. L., and Harris, R. S. (2010). Quantitative profiling of the full APOBEC3 mRNA repertoire in lymphocytes and tissues: implications for HIV-1 restriction. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 4274–4284. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg174
- Renard, M., Henry, M., Guetard, D., Vartanian, J. P., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2010). APOBEC1 and APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases as restriction factors for hepadnaviral genomes in non-humans in vivo. *J. Mol. Biol.* 400, 323–334. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2010.05.029

- Revy, P., Muto, T., Levy, Y., Geissmann, F., Plebani, A., Sanal, O., et al. (2000). Activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID) deficiency causes the autosomal recessive form of the Hyper-IgM syndrome (HIGM2). *Cell* 102, 565–575. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)00079-9
- Robbiani, D. F., Bothmer, A., Callen, E., Reina-San-Martin, B., Dorsett, Y., Difilippantonio, S., et al. (2008). AID is required for the chromosomal breaks in c-myc that lead to c-myc/IgH translocations. *Cell* 135, 1028–1038. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.09.062
- Robbiani, D. F., Bunting, S., Feldhahn, N., Bothmer, A., Camps, J., Deroubaix, S., et al. (2009). AID produces DNA double-strand breaks in non-Ig genes and mature B cell lymphomas with reciprocal chromosome translocations. *Mol. Cell* 36, 631–641. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2009.11.007
- Rose, K. M., Marin, M., Kozak, S. L., and Kabat, D. (2005). Regulated production and anti-HIV type 1 activities of cytidine deaminases APOBEC3B, 3F, and 3G. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 21, 611–619. doi: 10.1089/aid.2005.21.611
- Rosenberg, B. R., Hamilton, C. E., Mwangi, M. M., Dewell, S., and Papavasiliou, F. N. (2011). Transcriptome-wide sequencing reveals numerous APOBEC1 mRNA-editing targets in transcript 3' UTRs. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 18, 230–236. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1975
- Rosenberg, B. R., and Papavasiliou, F. N. (2007). Beyond SHM and CSR: AID and related cytidine deaminases in the host response to viral infection. *Adv. Immunol.* 94, 215–244. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2776(06)94007-3
- Sadler, H. A., Stenglein, M. D., Harris, R. S., and Mansky, L. M. (2010). APOBEC3G contributes to HIV-1 variation through sublethal mutagenesis. J. Virol. 84, 7396– 7404. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00056-10
- Santiago, M. L., Benitez, R. L., Montano, M., Hasenkrug, K. J., and Greene, W. C. (2010). Innate retroviral restriction by Apobec3 promotes antibody affinity maturation in vivo. *J. Immunol.* 185, 1114–1123. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1001143
- Sarkis, P. T., Ying, S., Xu, R., and Yu, X. F. (2006). STAT1-independent cell typespecific regulation of antiviral APOBEC3G by IFN-alpha. *J. Immunol.* 177, 4530– 4540. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.177.7.4530
- Sawyer, S. L., Emerman, M., and Malik, H. S. (2004). Ancient adaptive evolution of the primate antiviral DNA-editing enzyme APOBEC3G. *PLoS Biol.* 2:E275. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0020275
- Schumacher, A. J., Hache, G., Macduff, D. A., Brown, W. L., and Harris, R. S. (2008). The DNA deaminase activity of human APOBEC3G is required for Ty1, MusD, and human immunodeficiency virus type 1 restriction. *J. Virol.* 82, 2652–2660. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02391-07
- Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., Choi, J. D., and Malim, M. H. (2002). Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature* 418, 646–650. doi: 10.1038/nature00939
- Simm, M., Shahabuddin, M., Chao, W., Allan, J. S., and Volsky, D. J. (1995). Aberrant Gag protein composition of a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 vif mutant produced in primary lymphocytes. J. Virol. 69, 4582–4586.
- Singh, K. K., Wang, Y., Gray, K. P., Farhad, M., Brummel, S., Fenton, T., et al. (2013). Genetic variants in the host restriction factor APOBEC3G are associated with HIV-1-related disease progression and central nervous system impairment in children. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 62, 197–203. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e31827ab612
- Souza, T. M., Rodrigues, D. Q., Passaes, C. P., Barreto-De-Souza, V., Aguiar, R. S., Temerozo, J. R., et al. (2011). The nerve growth factor reduces APOBEC3G synthesis and enhances HIV-1 transcription and replication in human primary macrophages. *Blood* 117, 2944–2952. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-287193
- Stenglein, M. D., Burns, M. B., Li, M., Lengyel, J., and Harris, R. S. (2010). APOBEC3 proteins mediate the clearance of foreign DNA from human cells. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 17, 222–229. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1744
- Stopak, K. S., Chiu, Y. L., Kropp, J., Grant, R. M., and Greene, W. C. (2007). Distinct patterns of cytokine regulation of APOBEC3G expression and activity in primary lymphocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 3539–3546. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M610138200
- Sui, Y., Zhu, Q., Gagnon, S., Dzutsev, A., Terabe, M., Vaccari, M., et al. (2010). Innate and adaptive immune correlates of vaccine and adjuvant-induced control of mucosal transmission of SIV in macaques. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 9843–9848. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0911932107
- Suspene, R., Aynaud, M. M., Guetard, D., Henry, M., Eckhoff, G., Marchio, A., et al. (2011a). Somatic hypermutation of human mitochondrial and nuclear DNA by APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases, a pathway for DNA catabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 4858–4863. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1009687108

- Suspene, R., Aynaud, M. M., Koch, S., Pasdeloup, D., Labetoulle, M., Gaertner, B., et al. (2011b). Genetic editing of herpes simplex virus 1 and Epstein-Barr herpesvirus genomes by human APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases in culture and in vivo. J. Virol. 85, 7594–7602. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00290-11
- Suspene, R., Guetard, D., Henry, M., Sommer, P., Wain-Hobson, S., and Vartanian, J. P. (2005). Extensive editing of both hepatitis B virus DNA strands by APOBEC3 cytidine deaminases in vitro and in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 8321– 8326. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0408223102
- Tanaka, Y., Marusawa, H., Seno, H., Matsumoto, Y., Ueda, Y., Kodama, Y., et al. (2006). Anti-viral protein APOBEC3G is induced by interferon-alpha stimulation in human hepatocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 341, 314–319. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.12.192
- Teng, B., Burant, C. F., and Davidson, N. O. (1993). Molecular cloning of an apolipoprotein B messenger RNA editing protein. *Science* 260, 1816–1819. doi: 10.1126/science.8511591
- Thielen, B. K., Mcnevin, J. P., Mcelrath, M. J., Hunt, B. V., Klein, K. C., and Lingappa, J. R. (2010). Innate immune signaling induces high levels of TC-specific deaminase activity in primary monocyte-derived cells through expression of APOBEC3A isoforms. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 27753–27766. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.102822
- Trapp, S., Derby, N. R., Singer, R., Shaw, A., Williams, V. G., Turville, S. G., et al. (2009). Double-stranded RNA analog poly(I:C) inhibits human immunodeficiency virus amplification in dendritic cells via type I interferon-mediated activation of APOBEC3G. J. Virol. 83, 884–895. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00023-08
- Turelli, P., Mangeat, B., Jost, S., Vianin, S., and Trono, D. (2004). Inhibition of hepatitis B virus replication by APOBEC3G. *Science* 303, 1829. doi: 10.1126/science.1092066
- Ulenga, N. K., Sarr, A. D., Thakore-Meloni, S., Sankale, J. L., Eisen, G., and Kanki, P. J. (2008). Relationship between human immunodeficiency type 1 infection and expression of human APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F. J. Infect. Dis. 198, 486–492. doi: 10.1086/590212
- Valcke, H. S., Bernard, N. F., Bruneau, J., Alary, M., Tsoukas, C. M., and Roger, M. (2006). APOBEC3G genetic variants and their association with risk of HIV infection in highly exposed Caucasians. *AIDS* 20, 1984–1986. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000247124.35129.e1
- Vartanian, J. P., Guetard, D., Henry, M., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2008). Evidence for editing of human papillomavirus DNA by APOBEC3 in benign and precancerous lesions. *Science* 320, 230–233. doi: 10.1126/science.1153201
- Vartanian, J. P., Meyerhans, A., Asjo, B., and Wain-Hobson, S. (1991). Selection, recombination, and G- - - A hypermutation of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genomes. J. Virol. 65, 1779–1788.
- Vazquez-Perez, J. A., Ormsby, C. E., Hernandez-Juan, R., Torres, K. J., and Reyes-Teran, G. (2009). APOBEC3G mRNA expression in exposed seronegative and early stage HIV infected individuals decreases with removal of exposure and with disease progression. *Retrovirology* 6:23. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-6-23
- Vetter, M. L., and D'Aquila, R. T. (2009). Cytoplasmic APOBEC3G restricts incoming Vif-positive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and increases two-long terminal repeat circle formation in activated T-helper-subtype cells. J. Virol. 83, 8646–8654. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00020-09
- Vonica, A., Rosa, A., Arduini, B., and Brivanlou, A. H. (2010). APOBEC2, a selective inhibitor of TGFbeta signaling, regulates left-right axis specification during early embryogenesis. *Dev. Biol.* 350, 13–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2010.09.016
- Wang, F. X., Huang, J., Zhang, H., Ma, X., and Zhang, H. (2008). APOBEC3G upregulation by alpha interferon restricts human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in human peripheral plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* 89, 722–730. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83530-0
- Wang, X., Ao, Z., Chen, L., Kobinger, G., Peng, J., and Yao, X. (2012). The cellular antiviral protein APOBEC3G interacts with HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and inhibits its function during viral replication. J. Virol. 86, 3777–3786. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06594-11
- Wang, Y., Bergmeier, L. A., Stebbings, R., Seidl, T., Whittall, T., Singh, M., et al. (2009). Mucosal immunization in macaques upregulates the innate APOBEC 3G anti-viral factor in CD4(+) memory T cells. *Vaccine* 27, 870–881. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.11.084

- Watashi, K., Liang, G., Iwamoto, M., Marusawa, H., Uchida, N., Daito, T., et al. (2013). Interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha trigger restriction of hepatitis B virus infection via a cytidine deaminase activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AID). J. Biol. Chem. 288, 31715–31727. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.501122
- Wei, M., Shinkura, R., Doi, Y., Maruya, M., Fagarasan, S., and Honjo, T. (2011). Mice carrying a knock-in mutation of Aicda resulting in a defect in somatic hypermutation have impaired gut homeostasis and compromised mucosal defense. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 264–270. doi: 10.1038/ni.1991
- Wichroski, M. J., Robb, G. B., and Rana, T. M. (2006). Human retroviral host restriction factors APOBEC3G and APOBEC3F localize to mRNA processing bodies. *PLoS Pathog.* 2:e41. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020041
- Wissing, S., Montano, M., Garcia-Perez, J. L., Moran, J. V., and Greene, W. C. (2011). Endogenous APOBEC3B restricts LINE-1 retrotransposition in transformed cells and human embryonic stem cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 36427–36437. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.251058
- Wood, N., Bhattacharya, T., Keele, B. F., Giorgi, E., Liu, M., Gaschen, B., et al. (2009). HIV evolution in early infection: selection pressures, patterns of insertion and deletion, and the impact of APOBEC. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000414. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000414
- Woodford, N., and Ellington, M. J. (2007). The emergence of antibiotic resistance by mutation. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 13, 5–18. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2006. 01492.x
- Yamanaka, S., Balestra, M. E., Ferrell, L. D., Fan, J., Arnold, K. S., Taylor, S., et al. (1995). Apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing protein induces hepatocellular carcinoma and dysplasia in transgenic animals. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 8483–8487. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.18.8483
- Yamane, A., Resch, W., Kuo, N., Kuchen, S., Li, Z., Sun, H. W., et al. (2011). Deep-sequencing identification of the genomic targets of the cytidine deaminase AID and its cofactor RPA in B lymphocytes. *Nat. Immunol.* 12, 62–69. doi: 10.1038/ni.1964
- Yewdell, J. W., and Nicchitta, C. V. (2006). The DRiP hypothesis decennial: support, controversy, refinement and extension. *Trends Immunol.* 27, 368–373. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2006.06.008
- Ying, S., Zhang, X., Sarkis, P. T., Xu, R., and Yu, X. (2007). Cell-specific regulation of APOBEC3F by interferons. *Acta Biochim. Biophys. Sin. (Shanghai)* 39, 297–304. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7270.2007.00275.x
- Yu, Q., Konig, R., Pillai, S., Chiles, K., Kearney, M., Palmer, S., et al. (2004). Singlestrand specificity of APOBEC3G accounts for minus-strand deamination of the HIV genome. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 11, 435–442. doi: 10.1038/nsmb758
- Zhang, H., Yang, B., Pomerantz, R. J., Zhang, C., Arunachalam, S. C., and Gao, L. (2003). The cytidine deaminase CEM15 induces hypermutation in newly synthesized HIV-1 DNA. *Nature* 424, 94–98. doi: 10.1038/nature01707
- Zhao, M., Geng, W., Jiang, Y., Han, X., Cui, H., Dai, D., et al. (2010). The associations of hA3G and hA3B mRNA levels with HIV disease progression among HIVinfected individuals of China. *J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr.* 53 (Suppl. 1), S4–S9. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181c7d349

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 27 June 2014; accepted: 24 September 2014; published online: 13 October 2014.

Citation: Moris A, Murray S and Cardinaud S (2014) AID and APOBECs span the gap between innate and adaptive immunity. Front. Microbiol. 5:534. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00534

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Moris, Murray and Cardinaud. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

REVIEW ARTICLE published: 08 April 2014 doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00126

New insights into an X-traordinary viral protein

Torsten Schaller^{1†}, Hélène Bauby^{1†}, Stéphane Hué², Michael H. Malim¹ and Caroline Goujon^{1*}

¹ Department of Infectious Diseases, King's College London, London, UK

² Department of Infection, Division of Infection and Immunity, Centre for Medical Molecular Virology, University College London, London, UK

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Mikako Fujita, Kumamoto University, Japan Nathaniel Roy Landau, New York University School of Medicine, USA

*Correspondence:

Caroline Goujon, School of Medicine, Guy's Hospital, Borough Wing, London SE1 9RT, UK e-mail: caroline.goujon@kcl.ac.uk

[†] These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Vpx was initially identified as an HIV-2 (human immunodeficiency virus type 2)/SIVsmm (simian immunodeficiency virus infecting sooty mangabey monkey) protein of 12-16 kDa, which is incorporated into viral particles (Franchini et al., 1988; Henderson et al., 1988; Kappes et al., 1988; Yu et al., 1988). In addition to viruses from the HIV-2/SIVsmm lineage of primate lentiviruses, this gene is also found in viruses from the SIVrcm (infecting red-capped mangebey)/SIVmnd-2 (infecting mandrill) lineage (Beer et al., 2001; Hu et al., 2003). It is homologous to the vpr gene, found in every lineage of primate lentiviruses (Tristem et al., 1990). Vpx was rapidly shown to be dispensable for viral replication in immortalized lymphocytic cell lines, such as HUT78, CEM, or SupT1 (Yu et al., 1988; Guyader et al., 1989; Hu et al., 1989; Shibata et al., 1990; Gibbs et al., 1994; Park and Sodroski, 1995), and in the monocytic cell lines HL60 and U937 (Guyader et al., 1989; Hu et al., 1989). In contrast, vpx deletion led to a strong replication defect in monocyte-derived macrophages (MDMs) (Yu et al., 1991; Gibbs et al., 1994; Park and Sodroski, 1995; Fletcher et al., 1996; Ueno et al., 2003). In addition, vpx deletion led to SIVmac (infecting rhesus monkey) and HIV-2 replication defects in activated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) or primary T cells, especially at low viral inputs (Guyader et al., 1989; Kappes et al., 1991; Yu et al., 1991; Akari et al., 1992; Gibbs et al., 1994; Kawamura et al., 1994; Park and Sodroski, 1995; Ueno et al., 2003). Vpx was shown to be important for HIV-2 replication in HSC-F cells, a simian lymphocytic cell line (Ueno et al., 2003). Vpx is packaged into viral particles via an interaction with the p6 domain of Gag (Wu et al., 1994; Accola et al., 1999; Selig et al., 1999) and is associated with mature viral cores (Kewalramani and Emerman, 1996). This suggested that Vpx could participate in the early steps of infection. Comparisons of virus associated proteins suggested that Vpx from SIVmac and HIV-2 are packaged in equimolar amounts to Gag (Henderson et al., 1988), although the exact number of molecules packaged per virion has not been determined.

Vpx is a protein encoded by members of the HIV-2/SIVsmm and SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2 lineages of primate lentiviruses, and is packaged into viral particles. Vpx plays a critical role during the early steps of the viral life cycle and has been shown to counteract SAMHD1, a restriction factor in myeloid and resting T cells. However, it is becoming evident that Vpx is a multifunctional protein in that SAMHD1 antagonism is likely not its sole role. This review summarizes the current knowledge on this X-traordinary protein.

Keywords: vpx, HIV-2, SIVsmm, SAMHD1, myeloid cells, HIV-1, restriction factor, interferon type I

Vpx localizes to the nucleus in transfected cells (Depienne et al., 2000; Mahalingam et al., 2001; Belshan and Ratner, 2003), and this is conferred by a C-terminal non-canonical nuclear localization signal (NLS) (65-SYTKYRYL-72) (Figure 1) (Belshan and Ratner, 2003; Rajendra Kumar et al., 2003), as well as a potential second N-terminal NLS (Singhal et al., 2006a). Whether Vpx shuttles between the cytoplasm and nucleus due to a nuclear export signal remains controversial (Belshan and Ratner, 2003; Singhal et al., 2006b). Likewise Vpx phosphorylation has been proposed to regulate its nuclear import (Rajendra Kumar et al., 2005) but other studies failed to detect this post-translational modification (Franchini et al., 1988; Belshan et al., 2006). By virtue of its karyophilic properties, Vpx was proposed to play a critical role in the nuclear import of viral reverse transcription complexes in non-dividing cells, such as MDMs and arrested U937 cells (Pancio et al., 2000; Mahalingam et al., 2001; Rajendra Kumar et al., 2003). Indeed the replication defect of viruses lacking Vpx (or bearing non-karyophilic mutated versions of Vpx) correlated with the absence of 2-LTR circles (a surrogate marker for viral DNA nuclear entry) (Fletcher et al., 1996; Pancio et al., 2000; Ueno et al., 2003; Belshan et al., 2006).

Later studies using lentiviral vectors and single-round infections confirmed a cell-type dependent effect of Vpx and a role in the early events of infection. Vpx is essential for transduction of monocyte-derived dendritic cells (MDDCs) with SIVmac based-lentiviral vectors (Mangeot et al., 2002). Surprisingly, when brought *in trans via* virus-like particles (VLPs), Vpx increases HIV-1 transduction of MDDCs and MDMs but not activated T cells (Goujon et al., 2006). This positive effect of Vpx in MDDCs was directly correlated with an increase in viral DNA accumulation, which was observed not only with SIVmac but also with heterologous retroviral vectors, derived from HIV-1, feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV) and murine leukemia virus (MLV) (Goujon et al., 2007). Of note, in the case of MLV, Vpx rescued viral DNA accumulation but not 2-LTR circle formation



(Goujon et al., 2007; Gramberg et al., 2013), consistent with a nuclear-entry block to MLV infection in non-dividing cells (Roe et al., 1993; Lewis and Emerman, 1994). Vpx was later shown to favor HIV-2/SIVsmm DNA accumulation in MDMs (Fujita et al., 2008; Srivastava et al., 2008; Bergamaschi et al., 2009).

Animal studies showed that Vpx is crucial for SIVsmm PBj and SIVmne (infecting pig-tailed macaque) replication and spread in a pig-tailed macaque model. SIVsmm PBj *vpx* mutant virus replicated to a considerably lower extent and showed much reduced kinetics as compared to wild-type virus (Hirsch et al., 1998). In addition, the mutant virus was outcompeted when inoculated together with wild-type SIVsmm PBj (Hirsch et al., 1998). *In vitro*, SIVmne *vpx* mutants infected pig-tailed macaque PBMCs to comparable levels to that of wild-type virus, but showed significantly reduced infectivity in MDMs (Belshan et al., 2012). Another study reported a less prominent effect of Vpx in rhesus monkeys infected with SIVmac239, with delayed viral kinetics for *vpx* deficient virus but AIDS development nonetheless (Gibbs et al., 1995).

The fact that Vpx could act *in trans* on other retroviruses strongly suggested at the time that Vpx modulates the cellular environment to increase cell permissivity to infection, possibly by preventing the action of an inhibitory factor. The first evidence of the existence of such a dominant inhibitory factor in myeloid cells came from the use of heterokaryons generated between permissive (COS) cells and restrictive cells (MDMs) (Sharova et al., 2008). Unlike COS cells, both MDMs and COS-MDMs heterokaryons restricted SIVsmm PBj in the absence of Vpx at the level of viral DNA accumulation. The same authors also observed a dominant restriction phenotype in heterokaryons formed between primary monocytes and HeLa cells (Kaushik et al., 2009).

HIJACKING THE DCAF1/DDB1/CUL4A E3 UBIQUITIN LIGASE

In parallel with the aforementioned viral and cell biology experiments, proteomic studies yielded some fundamental insights. Initially, Le Rouzic et al. discovered that HIV-1 Vpr recruits the damage-specific DNA binding protein 1 (DDB1)-Cullin 4A (CUL4A) E3 ubiquitin ligase complex through the binding of a known interactor of Vpr, VprBP (Zhao et al., 1994; Le Rouzic et al., 2007). VprBP had previously been identified in a screen as the substrate recruiting module of DDB1-CUL4A-RBX1/ROC1 complexes, and renamed DDB1-CUL4A-associated factor 1 (DCAF1) (Angers et al., 2006). Using yeast two-hybrid, Le Rouzic et al. also showed that Vpx from SIVmac, similarly to HIV-1 Vpr, was able to bind VprBP/DCAF1 (Le Rouzic et al., 2007). This interaction was soon confirmed in mammalian cells (Goujon et al., 2008; Sharova et al., 2008; Srivastava et al., 2008; Bergamaschi et al., 2009). RNAi-mediated depletion of DCAF1 or DDB1 profoundly reduced SIVmac as well as HIV-2 infection of macrophages (Sharova et al., 2008; Srivastava et al., 2008; Bergamaschi et al., 2009). This invoked a model by which Vpx was hijacking a DCAF1-DDB1-CUL4A E3 ubiquitin ligase to induce the degradation of a myeloid cell specific restriction factor that prevents viral DNA accumulation (Sharova et al., 2008; Srivastava et al., 2008; Bergamaschi et al., 2009).

SAMHD1 ANTAGONISM

To isolate the cellular factor(s) limiting HIV-1 infection in myeloid cells, the groups of Monsef Benkirane and Jacek Skowronski exploited similar proteomic approaches, using tandem affinity purification combined with mass spectrometry to identify Vpx binding partners (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). Both labs identified sterile alpha motif (SAM) and HD-domain-containing protein 1 (SAMHD1) as one of the major binding partners of SIVmac Vpx. SAMHD1 silencing phenocopied the effect of Vpx-containing VLPs in that it rescued HIV-1 infection of both differentiated THP-1 monocytic cells and MDDCs (Laguette et al., 2011). Both studies showed that HIV-2/SIVmac Vpx induced SAMHD1 proteasomal degradation (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). Importantly, SAMHD1 antagonism is a function conserved in all clades of Vpx proteins, in a species specific way (Lim et al., 2012). In certain SIVs devoid of a Vpx protein, Vpr can antagonize SAMHD1. For instance, Vpr from SIVdebCM5 (infecting De Brazza's monkeys), SIVagm (African green monkeys), and SIVmus1 (mustached monkeys) can degrade SAMHD1 of their natural host when expressed in human cells, whereas Vpr from HIV-1 and SIVcpz (chimpanzee) cannot (Lim et al., 2012).

SAMHD1 is a 626 amino acid protein that consists of an amino-terminal SAM domain, a central HD domain and a C-terminal uncharacterized domain (Li et al., 2000; Liao et al., 2008). SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside-triphosphate (dNTP) phosphohydrolase (Goldstone et al., 2011; Powell et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2013), which reduces the pool of dNTPs available for reverse transcription both in myeloid cells (Lahouassa et al., 2012;

St Gelais et al., 2012) and in resting T cells (Baldauf et al., 2012; Descours et al., 2012). These observations therefore explain why the provision of exogenous deoxyribonucleosides (dN) to resting T cells, which have long been known to restrict lentiviral infection at several steps of the life cycle (Pan et al., 2013), increases the accumulation of viral DNA (Korin and Zack, 1999).

Crosslinking experiments show that SAMHD1 forms oligomers in cells and it has been proposed that the enzymatically active form of SAMHD1 is a tetramer and that tetramerization is driven by dGTP binding to the allosteric sites (Ji et al., 2013; Yan et al., 2013). Knock-out mice analysis have recently confirmed that SAMHD1 functions as a dNTPase *in vivo* as these mice show elevated levels of intracellular dNTPs in DCs isolated from bone marrow (Behrendt et al., 2013; Rehwinkel et al., 2013). Therefore, SAMHD1 reduces cellular dNTP levels and this impacts reverse transcription most significantly in situations where dNTP levels are naturally lower, such as post-mitotic or non-dividing cells.

Mutations in SAMHD1 are associated with the genetic neurodegenerative disorder Aicardi-Goutières syndrome (AGS), which is characterized by the excessive production of type 1 interferon (IFN) in the cerebrospinal fluid and resembles congenital infection (Rice et al., 2009; Chahwan and Chahwan, 2012). Interestingly, CD14+ cells from AGS patients with mutations in *SAMHD1* are more susceptible to HIV-1 infection than cells from healthy controls (Berger et al., 2011a). This shows the importance of SAMHD1 for preventing HIV-1 infection in monocytes, well known to be naturally refractory to HIV-1 infection *in vitro* (Sonza et al., 1996; Neil et al., 2001; Triques and Stevenson, 2004).

In addition to a variety of retroviruses (Gramberg et al., 2013; Sze et al., 2013), SAMHD1 blocks replication of DNA viruses, such as vaccinia virus and herpex simplex virus 1 (Hollenbaugh et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2013). SAMHD1 is also active against retroelements (Zhao et al., 2013), suggesting that increased retrotransposition might be leading to immune sensing of DNA and activation of signaling pathways in AGS patients with SAMHD1 mutations, as proposed for the 3'-5' exonuclease TREX1 (three prime repair exonuclease) (Stetson et al., 2008; Beck-Engeser et al., 2011). Indeed, mutations in TREX1 can cause AGS (Crow et al., 2006) and in Trex1-deficient mice, reverse transcribed DNA from endogenous retroelements accumulated and stimulated intrinsic immune responses (Stetson et al., 2008). Interestingly, Zhao et al. showed that both endogenous and overexpressed SAMHD1 prevented LINE-1 (long interspersed element-1) retrotransposition in 293T cells (Zhao et al., 2013). This effect of SAMHD1 on retrotransposition was not dependent on its catalytic activity and was counteracted by Vpx. Therefore, infection by lentiviruses encoding a SAMHD1 antagonist (either Vpx or Vpr) might lead to increased replication of endogenous retroelements and a possible impact on host genome stability.

SAMHD1 is expressed at similar levels in MDMs, resting CD4+ T cells and in activated CD4+ T cells (Baldauf et al., 2012; Descours et al., 2012), but does not block HIV-1 infection in the latter. The discrepancy of SAMHD1's antiviral function in cycling vs. non-cycling cells led several groups to investigate cell cycle dependent determinants for both the antiviral and dNTPase activities of SAMHD1. SAMHD1 was found to interact with and be phosphorylated by the cell cycle regulator cyclin-dependent

kinase 1 (CDK1) in proliferating cells, and phosphorylation at the residue T592 has been shown to prevent lentiviral restriction (Cribier et al., 2013; White et al., 2013). CDK1 is inactive in resting cells, suggesting that the cell cycle progression correlates with SAMHD1's antiviral activity. In line with this, a phosphorylationdefective mutant of SAMHD1 was antiviral both in resting and in dividing U937 cells (Cribier et al., 2013). In addition, the phosphomimetic SAMHD1 mutant T592E was unable to restrict HIV-1 infection (Welbourn et al., 2013; White et al., 2013). However, phosphorylation did not affect the ability of SAMHD1 to hydrolyse dNTPs in an in vitro dNTPase assay (Welbourn et al., 2013) or in differentiated U937 monocytic cells (White et al., 2013). Although phosphorylated and lacking antiviral activity in cycling cells, SAMHD1's role in dNTP metabolism in these cells remains unclear. Cycling cells contain high levels of dNTPs (Diamond et al., 2004), therefore de novo dNTP synthesis likely compensates for any potential effect of SAMHD1. The fact that SAMHD1 mutant T592E lacks antiviral activity while being an active dNTPase suggests the existence of a potential dNTPaseindependent restriction mechanism. Supporting the notion that SAMHD1's influence on infection may be more complex, it has been suggested that SAMHD1 interacts with nucleic acids, specifically ssRNA and ssDNA (Goncalves et al., 2012; Tungler et al., 2013) and that it possesses a nuclease activity (Beloglazova et al., 2013).

SAMHD1 is localized in the nucleus of differentiated cells. However, disruption of its NLS does not affect antiviral activity (Rice et al., 2009; Brandariz-Nunez et al., 2012; Hofmann et al., 2012), yet results in a relative resistance to SIVmac Vpxmediated degradation (Brandariz-Nunez et al., 2012; Hofmann et al., 2012; Wei et al., 2012; Guo et al., 2013). Given that Vpx efficiently interacts with both nuclear and cytoplasmic SAMHD1 (Hofmann et al., 2012), it is difficult to understand why cytoplasmic SAMHD1 is less sensitive to Vpx-induced degradation. It is possible for example that factors of the DCAF1-DDB1-CUL4A E3 ubiquitin ligase machinery are limiting in the cytoplasm, or that differences in SAMHD1's post-translational modifications prevent cytoplasmic SAMHD1 degradation. Alternatively there might be differences in ubiquitination or deubiquitination processes between nuclear and cytoplasmic SAMHD1.

Intriguingly, in contrast to what is observed in MDDCs, wildtype SAMHD1 from myeloid and plasmacytoid DCs (mDCs and pDCs, respectively), was shown to be resistant to Vpx-induced degradation (Bloch et al., 2014). The sensitivity to Vpx-induced degradation of SAMHD1 as well as the Vpx effect on HIV-1 infectivity could be partially restored by blocking IFN signaling using neutralizing antibodies (Bloch et al., 2014). This suggests that IFN-induced factors might prevent SAMHD1 degradation in mDCs and pDCs or that SAMHD1 localization might be modified following IFN exposure, rendering it resistant to Vpxmediated degradation. In line with this, Dragin et al. observed a reduced sensitivity of SAMHD1 to Vpx-mediated degradation in IFN-treated THP-1, suggesting that IFN-stimulated genes may participate in this process (Dragin et al., 2013). In addition, IFN treatment did not modify SAMHD1 localization (Dragin et al., 2013). In contrast, we have observed an efficient degradation of SAMHD1 in IFN-treated THP-1 cells (Goujon et al., 2013), but the reasons for these differences are currently unknown. Type 1 IFN treatment reduced SAMHD1 phosphorylation levels of residue T592 in MDMs and MDDCs, suggesting the existence of IFN-inducible phosphatase(s) activating SAMHD1 (Cribier et al., 2013). The identification of this/these phosphatase(s) would improve our understanding of the regulation of SAMHD1's antiviral activity.

STRUCTURAL INSIGHTS

Vpx recruits the DCAF1-DDB1-CUL4A E3 ubiquitin ligase complex to induce SAMHD1's proteasomal degradation via an interaction with its C-terminal domain (Ahn et al., 2012) (Figure 2). The crystal structure of a complex between SIVsmm Vpx, the C-terminal domain of the ubiquitin-ligase adaptor DCAF1 (DCAF1-CtD) and the Vpx-binding, C-terminal domain of SAMHD1 (SAMHD1-CtD, residues 582-626) was revealed recently (Figure 3) (Schwefel et al., 2014). This structure shows that Vpx is composed of a three-helix bundle stabilized by a zinc finger motif (formed of residues H39, H82, C87 and C89) (Figure 4A) and extensively interacts with DCAF1-CtD (Figure 4B), the latter forming a seven-bladed β -propeller discshaped molecule. Both proteins offer a shared interface used to bind SAMHD1-CtD. A model of the hijacked DCAF1-DDB1-CUL4A complex in association with the RBX1 RING module (RING-box protein 1), generated using previously determined structures, clearly showed that SAMHD1 is positioned in the vicinity of the RBX1 RING module, allowing accessibility to ubiquitination (Schwefel et al., 2014) (Figure 2). The SAMHD1 target sites for Vpx-induced ubiquitination have not been determined yet. In addition to ubiquitination, neddylation is required for SAMHD1 degradation, consistent with the importance of NEDD8 transfer to CUL4A through UBC12 (Hofmann et al., 2013). It would be of interest to understand the structural consequences of Vpx interaction with tetrameric SAMHD1. There is some evidence from surface plasmon resonance experiments that Vpx interaction with SAMHD1 causes the disassembly of enzymatically active SAMHD1 oligomers and interferes with SAMHD1 enzymatic activity prior to its degradation (Delucia et al., 2013). This suggests a model where proteasomal degradation may be the consequence and not the initiating event in Vpx-mediated SAMHD1 antagonism.

Extensive mutagenesis of Vpx has shed light into the critical residues of Vpx (Table 1 and Figure 4). Notably, N-terminal Vpx amino acids are essential to rescue virus infectivity in myeloid cells and SAMHD1 degradation (Goujon et al., 2008; Gramberg et al., 2010; Ahn et al., 2012; Fregoso et al., 2013). Of major interest, the phenotypes of some well characterized Vpx mutants are explained by the structure (Schwefel et al., 2014). For instance, the Vpx Q76A mutant is unable to bind DCAF1 and degrade SAMHD1 (Srivastava et al., 2008; Bergamaschi et al., 2009; Hrecka et al., 2011). The structure shows that this defect may be due to disrupted hydrogen bonds between Q76 and residues N1135 and W1156 of DCAF1 (Figure 4B) (Schwefel et al., 2014). Similarly, residue K77, critical for DCAF1 binding and Vpx activity (Bergamaschi et al., 2009), is integral to an extensive salt-bridge network that links residues E1091-D1092-E1093 of DCAF1 with residues R70, Y69 and Y66 in helix 3 of



FIGURE 2 | Model of DCAF1-DDB1-CUL4A recruitment by Vpx. Vpx hijacks the DDB1-CUL4A-RBX1 E3 ubiquitin ligase complex through recruitment of DCAF1 (also known as VprBP). Vpx targets (i.e., SAMHD1 and possibly unknown proteins) are ubiquitinated through the activity of RBX1 and an E2 ligase that interacts with RBX1. In addition, RBX1 interacts with the ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UBC12, which is important for neddylation of CUL4A through transfer of the NEDD8 group from NEDD8 activating enzyme (NAE).

Vpx (**Figure 4B**). In addition, Vpx W24A mutant was shown to have lost SAMHD1 antagonism while being able to bind to DCAF1 (Wei et al., 2012). This phenotype is explained by a stacking between residues W24 of Vpx and R617 of SAMHD1 (**Figure 4C**) (Schwefel et al., 2014). In line with this, SAMHD1 R617 mutants completely lost sensitivity to Vpx-mediated degradation while maintaining antiviral activity (Schwefel et al., 2014).

ADDITIONAL ROLES OF Vpx?

The fact that vpx deletion leads to some replication defects in activated PBMCs or primary T cells (Guyader et al., 1989; Kappes et al., 1991; Yu et al., 1991; Akari et al., 1992; Gibbs et al., 1994; Kawamura et al., 1994; Park and Sodroski, 1995; Ueno et al., 2003) strongly suggests that Vpx might have other functions beyond counteracting SAMHD1, which is only relevant in myeloid and resting T cells. As mentioned above, it has been proposed that Vpx participates in the nuclear import of viral reverse transcription complexes (Fletcher et al., 1996; Pancio et al., 2000; Ueno et al., 2003; Belshan et al., 2006). Possibly in favor of such an additional role of Vpx, some Vpx mutants have a more profound effect on MDDCs transduction with SIVmac lentiviral vectors than with HIV-1 (e.g., T17A, T28A, or GC86,87A Vpx mutants which fail to rescue SIVmac infection but improve HIV-1 infection by more than one order of magnitude Goujon et al., 2008; Table 1). Moreover, a Vpx mutant devoid of the C-terminus proline-rich





FIGURE 3 | Vpx/SAMHD1 CtD/DCAF1 CtD complex structure. Shown is the co-crystal structure of DCAF1 CtD (brown) with SAMHD1 CtD (green) in complex with Vpx from SIVsmm (dark red) (Schwefel et al., 2014) (PDB:4CC9) from three different sites. The zinc ion coordinated by Vpx is shown in red.



FIGURE 4 | Vpx structure. (A) Depicted is the structure of Vpx from SIVsmm as obtained in the co-crystallization with the C-terminus of DCAF1 and the C-terminus of SAMHD1 (both not shown) with critical amino acids highlighted (PDB:4CC9) (Schwefel et al., 2014). SIVsmm Vpx comprises an anti-parallel bundle of three helices, resembling the shape of a V. Vpx coordinates a zinc ion (red) with amino acids H39, H82, C87, and C89. The structure between Vpx residues 90–100 is absent (dashed gray line). (B) Critical aminoacid residues in the interface between DCAF1 and Vpx are highlighted. Vpx Q76 residue

(cyan) may form hydrogen bonds with N1135 and W1156 residues (lilac) of DCAF1. The acidic region in DCAF1 comprising E1091, D1092 and E1093 residues (yellow) may interact with positively charged K77 residue (purple) of Vpx. **(C)** Critical amino acid residues for the interaction of SAMHD1 and Vpx are highlighted. SAMHD1 R617 residue (light green) stacks with the indole ring of Vpx W24 residue (orange). Vpx Y66 and Y69 residues (fluorescent green) are in close proximity to SAMHD1 K622 and V618 residues (light green), the latter being positively selected (Laguette et al., 2012).

Table 1 | Phenotype of Vpx mutants.

Mutant	Virus	Phenotype	References
N12A	SIVmac	No infection rescue of HIV-1 in MDMs Partial SAMHD1 degradation	Gramberg et al., 2010; Ahn et al., 2012
S13A	SIVmac	Rescue SIVmac and HIV-1 in MDMs and MDDCs SAMHD1 degradation	Goujon et al., 2008; Gramberg et al., 2010; Berger et al., 2012
E15A	SIVmac	No rescue of HIV-1 in MDMs Partial SAMHD1 degradation	Gramberg et al., 2010; Ahn et al., 2012
E16A	SIVmac	No rescue of HIV-1 in MDMs Partial SAMHD1 degradation	Gramberg et al., 2010; Ahn et al., 2012
Т17А	SIVmac	No rescue of SIVmac in MDDCs but partial activity on HIV-1, no rescue in MDMs Partial SAMHD1 degradation	Goujon et al., 2008; Gramberg et al., 2010; Ahn et al., 2012
E20A	SIVmac	Rescue of HIV-1 in MDMs	Gramberg et al., 2010
W24A	SIVmac	No infection rescue, interaction with DCAF1	Wei et al., 2012
N26A	SIVmac	Rescue of SIVmac and HIV-1 in MDDCs	Goujon et al., 2008
R27A	SIVmac	Rescue of HIV-1 in MDMs	Gramberg et al., 2010
T28A	SIVmac	No rescue of SIVmac in MDDCs but partial activity on HIV-1	Goujon et al., 2008
V29S	SIVmac	Reduced interaction with DCAF1	Wei et al., 2012
STT13,17,28A	SIVmac	Interaction with SAMHD1 but no degradation, no infection rescue No infection rescue in MDDCs with SIVmac or HIV-1, no SAMHD1	Goujon et al., 2008
I32S	SIVmac	degradation No infection rescue, no interaction with DCAF1, no degradation of	Wei et al., 2012
H39A	SIVmac, HIV-2	SAMHD1 No infection rescue, no interaction with DCAF1, no degradation of	Goujon et al., 2008; Wei et al., 2012
W49,53,56A	GH-1 SIVmac	SAMHD1 No infection rescue in MDDCs with SIVmac or HIV-1	Goujon et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2012
S52A	SIVmac HIV-2 GH-1	No degradation of SAMHD1 Infection rescue in MDDCs with SIV or HIV-1, HIV-2GLAN replication in MDDCs SAMHD1 degradation	Goujon et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2012
S63,65A	SIVmac	Infection rescue in MDDCs with SIV or HIV-1	Goujon et al., 2008
KK84,85A	SIVmac, HIV-2 GH-1	Infection rescue in MDDCs with HIV-1, SAMHD1 degradation Slightly reduced activity for SIVmac and HIV-2GL-AN replication in MDDCs	Goujon et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2012
KK84,85R	SIVsm PBj1.9	Defect in DNA accumulation in MDMs	Sharova et al., 2008
K77A	SIVsmPBj	No infection rescue, no interaction with DCAF1	Bergamaschi et al., 2009
KK68,77A or R	SIVmac SIVsm PBj1.9	No infection rescue in MDDCs or MDMs infection with SIVmac, SIVSM PBj1.9 or HIV-1 No degradation of SAMHD1	Goujon et al., 2008; Sharova et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2012
KKKR68,77,84,85A or R	HIV-2 GH-1, SIVsm PBj1.9	No infection of MDMs, no replication of HIV-2 GLAN in MDDCs	Goujon et al., 2008; Sharova et al., 2008
Y66,69,71A	SIVmac, SIVmne	No infection rescue, no interaction with DCAF1, no degradation of SAMHD1	Goujon et al., 2008; Belshan et al., 2012; Berger et al., 2012
Q76A or R	SIVmac, HIV-2 ROD, HIV-2	No infection rescue, no interaction with DCAF1, no degradation of SAMHD1	Srivastava et al., 2008; Hrecka et al., 2011; Berger et al., 2012
	GH-1	BUT rescue of HIV-1 from IFN block	Bergamaschi et al., 2009; Laguette et al., 2011; Pertel et al., 2011 Wei et al., 2012
F80A	SIVmac	No infection rescue, no interaction with DCAF1, no degradation of SAMHD1 BUT rescue of HIV-1 from IFN block	Srivastava et al., 2008; Laguette et al., 2011; Pertel et al., 2011
GC86,87A	SIVmac	No rescue of MDDCs infection with SIVmac but partial activity on HIV-1	Goujon et al., 2008
ΔPro	SIVmac, HIV-2 GH-1, HIV-2 ROD	Rescue of HIV-1 infection, slight activity loss on SIVmac, SAMHD1 degradation No replication of HIV-2GL-AN or HIV-2rod in MDDCs and MDMs	Pancio et al., 2000; Goujon et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2012

Non-exhaustive list of characterized Vpx mutants, summarizing their activity either in single-cycle infection with SIVmac and HIV-1 or in replication (in MDMs and/or MDDCs), and their ability to interact with DCAF1 and SAMHD1, and to degrade the latter.

region is still able to efficiently degrade SAMHD1 and to rescue HIV-1 in single-cycle infection of MDDCs (Goujon et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2012), but does not support HIV-2 replication in MDMs or MDDCs (Pancio et al., 2000; Goujon et al., 2008). Finally, Vpx was proposed to increase HIV-1 infectivity in a DCAF1-independent way both in IFN-treated MDDCs and in THP-1 cells, suggesting additional function(s) beyond SAMHD1 degradation (Goujon et al., 2008; Pertel et al., 2011; Reinhard et al., 2014).

APOBEC3A ANTAGONISM?

In addition to the well-documented interaction with SAMHD1, Vpx interacts with a member of the apolipoprotein B mRNAediting enzyme catalytic polypeptide-like 3 (APOBEC3) family of cytidine deaminases, namely APOBEC3A. APOBEC3 family members, exemplified by APOBEC3G, are potent restriction factors (reviewed in Malim and Bieniasz, 2012). HIV-1 prevents APOBEC3G/F/D/H action through proteasomal degradation induced by the Vif accessory protein. APOBEC3A affects various viruses and retroelements, such as human papilloma virus (Vartanian et al., 2008), adeno-associated virus (AAV) (Chen et al., 2006), and retrotransposons (Bogerd et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2006; Muckenfuss et al., 2006). Interestingly, APOBEC3A expression levels have been linked to myeloid cell restriction of HIV-1 infection (Peng et al., 2007). In line with this, APOBEC3A silencing increased the ability of HIV-1 to replicate in MDMs (Peng et al., 2007; Berger et al., 2011b). Two independent groups have shown that HIV-2/SIVsmm Vpx interacts with human APOBEC3A using co-immunoprecipitation of overexpressed proteins (Berger et al., 2010, 2011b). Both groups reported a decreased stability of APOBEC3A in the presence of Vpx. Similarly, wild-type SIVsmm replication led to slightly decreased APOBEC3A expression levels in monocytes compared to Vpx-deficient viruses (Berger et al., 2010). These data led to the hypothesis that Vpx might enhance infection of myeloid cells by inducing APOBEC3A degradation. However, the precise contribution of APOBEC3A to the resistance of HIV-1 infection in myeloid cells is difficult to evaluate, as SAMHD1 imposes a strong barrier to infection in these cells and is counteracted by Vpx. It would be crucial to separate, if possible, the two activities of Vpx, for instance by identifying mutants of Vpx retaining the ability of interacting with APOBEC3A but not SAMHD1 (or vice versa), and evaluating their effect in myeloid cells.

ANTAGONISM OF INTERFERON-INDUCED FACTOR(S)?

It has been known for decades that type 1 IFN treatment potently decreases HIV-1 infection in some immortalized cell lines and in primary cells, such as MDMs and MDDCs (Kornbluth et al., 1989; Shirazi and Pitha, 1992; Baca-Regen et al., 1994; Cheney and McKnight, 2010; Goujon and Malim, 2010). Interestingly, this IFN-induced block is primarily exerted at the level of viral DNA accumulation (Shirazi and Pitha, 1993; Baca-Regen et al., 1994; Cheney and McKnight, 2010; Goujon and Malim, 2010), which is exactly the step at which SAMHD1 acts (Hrecka et al., 2011; Laguette et al., 2011). Strikingly, Vpx is still capable of enhancing HIV-1 infection in IFN-treated myeloid cells and the magnitude of the infectivity enhancement is increased in this

context (Gramberg et al., 2010; Pertel et al., 2011; Goujon et al., 2013). SAMHD1 was reported to be IFN-inducible in some cell types, such as primary monocytes (Berger et al., 2011a). This suggested that SAMHD1 might be playing a role in the IFN block to HIV-1 infection. But neither SAMHD1 expression nor dNTP intracellular concentrations seem to be regulated by IFN treatment in MDMs or MDDCs (St Gelais et al., 2012; Dragin et al., 2013; Goujon et al., 2013). Furthermore, RNAi-mediated SAMHD1 silencing fails to rescue myeloid cell infection in the presence of IFN (Dragin et al., 2013; Goujon et al., 2013). In addition, Q76A Vpx mutant was still able to substantially rescue IFN-treated MDDC infection (Pertel et al., 2011; Reinhard et al., 2014), although it was unable to bind DCAF1 (Pertel et al., 2011) and induce SAMHD1 degradation (Hrecka et al., 2011). Whereas exogenous dN and SIVmac Vpx increased the accumulation of HIV-1 late reverse transcription products to the same extent in IFN-treated myeloid cells, Vpx had a higher impact on 2-LTR circle and proviral DNA formation (Reinhard et al., 2014). This feature was not observed with SIVmus and SIVdeb Vpr, despite their ability to degrade human SAMHD1 (Reinhard et al., 2014). Taken together, these data strongly suggest that HIV-2/SIVmac Vpx may be counteracting other myeloid specific, IFN-inducible anti-HIV-1 factor(s). It could be tempting to speculate that APOBEC3A may be one of these. Indeed, APOBEC3A is highly induced by IFN treatment in myeloid cells (Peng et al., 2006; Koning et al., 2009; Refsland et al., 2010) and Vpx is known to interact with APOBEC3A (Berger et al., 2010, 2011b). However, APOBEC3A was not degraded in the presence of Vpx-VLPs following IFN treatment, contrary to SAMHD1, which is potently and rapidly degraded (Dragin et al., 2013). It remains possible that APOBEC3A is sequestered by Vpx rather than degraded in these conditions. Single-genome sequencing of viral DNA following HIV-1 infection of IFN-treated MDMs showed only infrequent editing and no sign of hypermutation, arguing against a major role for APOBEC3 proteins in the IFN block (Koning et al., 2011), though this does not exclude a deaminationindependent mechanism. Indeed, APOBEC3A is known to inhibit AAV via a deamination-independent mechanism (Narvaiza et al., 2009). Further work will be required to address the exact role of APOBEC3A in the IFN-induced block to HIV-1 infection, and to determine whether Vpx is counteracting additional IFN-induced anti-HIV-1 factors in myeloid cells. Of note, SIVmac lentiviral vectors are still sensitive to the antiviral action of IFN in human primary cells despite the presence of Vpx (Goujon and Malim, 2010; Reinhard et al., 2014). This may reflect the existence of species-specific IFN-induced genes to which SIVmac is sensitive in human cells contrary to HIV-1, and which are not counteracted by Vpx (Bitzegeio et al., 2013; Cordeil et al., 2013).

ORIGIN AND EVOLUTION OF *vpx*

The HIV-2/SIVsmm and SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2 lineages possess 2 homologous genes to HIV-1/SIVcpz *vpr*: *vpr* and *vpx*. The *vpr* and *vpx* genes are paralogs and are the result of complex duplication and/or recombination of their precursor throughout the diversification of primate lentiviruses. *vpr* has most likely diverged through cross-species transmission, rather than co-evolution with their hosts following ancient infection. To

illustrate this, Wertheim and Worobey studied mitochondrial sequences of several species of the African green monkey lineage and their SIVagm and have rejected the hypothesis of codivergence between SIVagm and its host. Their data support the hypothesis of a host-switching model following a geographical pattern of transmission (Wertheim and Worobey, 2007). Whilst *vpr* is found in all lentiviral groups, *vpx* is found only in two lineages: HIV-2/SIVsmm/SIVmac and SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2 (Beer et al., 2001; Hu et al., 2003). These viruses infect sooty mangabeys, macaques, mandrills and red-capped mangabeys, all of which belong to the same primate family.

The *vpx* genes from the SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2 lineage are quite divergent from other *vpx* genes (only about 30–40% identity at the amino acid level with Vpx from HIV-2/SIVsmm). Nonetheless, the monophyletic nature of the *vpx* clade supports the hypothesis of a single event leading to the birth of *vpx*, rather than multiple events (Hu et al., 2003).

Two hypotheses have been proposed so far to explain the birth of vpx. It has first been suggested that vpx arose by duplication of the vpr ancestor (Tristem et al., 1990). This was supported by sequence similarity and by the fact that both genes are always adjacent to each other in the genome. Alternatively, because vpx genes are closely related to vpr from SIVagm.Sab (infecting African green monkeys) (Figure 5), it has been proposed by another group that a recombination event between SIVagm and SIVsmm could have led to the acquisition of SIVagm.Sab vpr by the latter (Sharp et al., 1996; Hu et al., 2003). In agreement with this, recombination events between those two viruses have been shown before (Jin et al., 1994) and the habitats of African green monkeys and sooty mangabeys are partly overlapping. As the Vpr proteins of the HIV-2/SIVsmm/SIVmac and SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2 lineages are inactive against SAMHD1 (Lim et al., 2012) and as this function was acquired by the other vpr genes before the birth of *vpx*, it seems likely that the former Vpr proteins were never able to antagonize SAMHD1. Therefore, the acquisition of vpr from SIVagm would have been beneficial in this respect. Along these lines, it has been shown that the Vpr protein of SIVagm. Ver is able to antagonize a broad range of SAMHD1 proteins from primates (Lim et al., 2012). It is tempting to speculate that this may also be the case for SIVagm.Sab Vpr. This would favor the recombination (rather than the duplication) hypothesis, but would need to be assessed experimentally.

The rate of evolution of *vpx* seems to be slower than that of *vpr*, as shown by shorter branch lengths in the *vpx* lineage compared to the *vpr* one (see the HIV-2/SIVsmm/SIVmac lineage in **Figure 5**) (Tristem et al., 1992). This could be explained by the fact that *vpx* is overlapping with other genes to a greater degree than *vpr*, inducing a stronger constraint. In HIV-1 HXB2 for instance, 28% of the *vpr* gene is overlapping with other reading frames (*vif* and *tat*), whereas in HIV-2 BEN, 50% of *vpx* is overlapping (with *vpr*). A difference in selective pressures could also explain this disparity in evolution rate.

SIVcpz, which gave rise to the four known groups of HIV-1 after cross-species transmissions, is the result of recombination events between ancestors of SIVs from red-capped mangabeys and *Cercopithecus* species such as greater spot-nosed, mustached and mona monkeys (Bailes et al., 2003; Sharp and

Hahn, 2011). Each of these viruses has the ability to antagonize SAMHD1 from the species they target (SIVrcm with *vpx* and SIVgsn/SIVmus/SIVmon with *vpr*) (Lim et al., 2012). However, this function was lost in SIVcpz (Etienne et al., 2013). As *vpx* from SIVrcm was unable to antagonize chimpanzee SAMHD1 (Lim et al., 2012), the loss of *vpx* might have had minimal consequences for the transmission of SIV to chimpanzees. It was hypothesized that the loss of *vpx*—*vpr* remained intact—led to the reconstruction of *vif* by overprinting and the acquisition of full antagonism of APOBEC3 proteins from chimpanzee (Etienne et al., 2013). One might speculate that evolution of *vif* to fully counteract chimpanzee APOBEC3G was more important for SIVcpz than evolution of *vpx* as a SAMHD1 antagonist.

Evolutionary analysis of SAMHD1 revealed strong signatures of positive selection in the N- and C-terminal parts of the protein (Laguette et al., 2012; Lim et al., 2012), suggesting that both termini may contribute to the interaction with Vpx. It has been shown recently that the separation of the two clades of vpx (HIV-2/SIVsmm/SIVmac and SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2) correlates with the domain of SAMHD1 targeted by these Vpx proteins. Vpx proteins from the HIV-2/SIVsmm/SIVmac lineage recognize the C-terminal domain of SAMHD1 (Ahn et al., 2012; Fregoso et al., 2013), whereas Vpx proteins from the SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2 lineage interact with the N-terminal domain of SAMHD1 (Fregoso et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2014). The model presented to explain this involves the particular head-to-tail dimer conformation of SAMHD1 and a Vpx (or Vpr) protein binding to both N-terminal and C-terminal domains of SAMHD1 with a high affinity for one of these domains and a lower affinity for the other. When mutations occurring in SAMHD1 lead to a decreased affinity and escape from Vpx, mutants of Vpx leading to higher affinity on the other domain might be selected (Fregoso et al., 2013). This evolutionary arms-race likely led to species specificity (Fregoso et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2014) and emphasizes the importance of the conservation of Vpx (Vpr) mediated SAMHD1 antagonism for lentiviruses. In agreement with this notion, SAMHD1 antagonism is actively maintained in natural infections, as exemplified by SIVagm vpr adaptations to SAMHD1 polymorphisms found in the African green monkey population (Spragg and Emerman, 2013).

HIV-1, A PANDEMIC VIRUS LACKING THE X-TRAORDINARY PROTEIN

Although essential for certain primate lentiviruses, it is somewhat surprising that the ability to antagonize SAMHD1, as well as any other functions borne by vpx, were lost during the genesis of SIVcpz (Etienne et al., 2013). They were dispensable for the establishment of SIVcpz in chimpanzees and its cross-species transmission to humans, which gave rise to HIV-1. Whereas the other potential functions of vpx might be provided by other genes in HIV-1/SIVcpz, it seems that HIV-1 does not need to antagonize SAMHD1 to replicate efficiently in humans. It is still not understood why SAMHD1 antagonism is crucial in some primate lentiviruses but dispensable in others. HIV-1 mainly targets cycling CD4+ T cells in which dNTP concentrations are high (Diamond et al., 2004), hence SAMHD1 antagonism may not be needed. Of note, HIV-1



Abbreviations: HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; SIV, simian immunodeficiency virus; cpz, chimpanzee (*Pan troglodytes*); gor, gorilla (*Gorilla gorilla*); stm, stump-tailed macaque (*Macaca arctoides*); smm, sooty mangabey monkey (*Cercocebus atys*); mac, rhesus macaque (*Macaca mulatta*); mne, pig-tailed macaque (*Macaca nemestrina*); rcm, red-capped mangabey (*Cercocebus torquatus*); drl, drill monkey (*Mandrillus leucophaeus*); Inner, Indiratin (Nahrahmo opinink), lot, Eriosete monitoy (Ebrophinous Ihoesti); sun, sun-tailed monkey (*Cercopithecus solatus*); olc, olive Colobus (*Procolobus verus*); gsn, greater spot-nosed monkey (*Cercopithecus nictitans*); mus, mustached monkey (*Cercopithecus cephus*); mon, mona monkey (*Cercopithecus mona*); tal, northern talapoins (*Miopithecus ogouensis*); deb, De Brazza's monkey (*Cercopithecus neglectus*); syk, Sykes' monkey (*Cercopithecus mitis*); agm TAN, tantalus African green monkey (*Chlorocebus tantalus*); agm VER, vervet African green monkey (*Chlorocebus aethiops*); agm SAB, sabaeus African green monkey (*Chlorocebus aethiops sabaeus*); col, guereza colobus monkey (*Colobus guereza*).

reverse transcriptase (RT) has a relatively high binding affinity for dNTPs, as compared to MLV (Weiss et al., 2004), which facilitates replication in cells with reduced dNTP content such as MDMs (Diamond et al., 2004). In line with this, HIV-1 RT mutant V148I, which has reduced dNTP binding affinity (Diamond et al., 2003, 2004), decreases HIV-1's ability to infect MDMs (Diamond et al., 2004; Lahouassa et al., 2012). Whether the RTs of HIV-2/SIVsmm have lower dNTP binding affinities than HIV-1 RT is currently unknown, but this could contribute to their dependence upon *vpx*. Alternatively viruses coding *vpx* might rely more on myeloid cell infection to disseminate *in vivo* than the ones lacking this gene. Of note, most non-primate lentiviruses, such as maedi-visna or caprine arthritis-encephalitis virus, tend toward myeloid tropism (though the mechanisms used by these viruses to cope with low dNTP levels are currently unknown).

It would be of major interest to determine whether there is a connection between SAMHD1 degradation and an altered equilibrium between pathogen replication and host survival. Indeed primate lentiviruses able to antagonize SAMHD1 seem better tolerated by their natural hosts. This is exemplified by the difference observed in pathogenicity between HIV-1 and SIVmnd-1 compared to HIV-2, SIVsmm and SIVmnd-2.

The in vitro infection of MDDCs with HIV-2 causes their activation through detection of viral cDNA by the DNA sensor cyclic GMP-APM synthase (cGAS) (Lahaye et al., 2013). In contrast, HIV-1 is normally unable to infect MDDCs and therefore does not activate them (Manel et al., 2010). However, HIV-1 can be artificially rendered able to infect DCs through the provision of Vpx, leading to potent MDDC activation and secretion of cytokines including type 1 IFN (Manel et al., 2010; Lahaye et al., 2013). Under these artificial conditions HIV-1 seems to cause a stronger MDDC activation than HIV-2 (Yu et al., 2013). This strongly suggests that the absence of Vpx may actually be beneficial for HIV-1 as this would help avoiding infection and activation of DCs and therefore prevent initial innate (and then adaptive) immune responses detrimental to the virus. This would not be a unique example of a virus benefiting from limiting myeloid cell tropism. Indeed mosquito-borne North American eastern equine encephalitis virus (EEEV) is potently restricted by a specific miRNA in myeloid cells, whereas the sequence targeted by this miRNA is crucial for mosquito vector infection (Trobaugh et al., 2013). By limiting myeloid cell tropism and consequent innate immunity induction, the restriction directly promotes neurologic disease manifestations characteristic of EEEV infection in humans. In line with this, it is tempting to speculate that HIV-2 might be less pathogenic because it induces innate immune responses, possibly through myeloid cell infection. However, vpx isolated from viremic and long-term aviremic HIV-2 infected individuals display similar abilities to antagonize SAMHD1 and enhance virus infection (Yu et al., 2013), presumably reflecting the complexity of viral pathogenesis.

Interestingly, there is some evidence that individuals presenting HIV-1/HIV-2 co-infections have better long-term outcomes and slower progression to AIDS, compared to HIV-1 monoinfected patients (Esbjornsson et al., 2012). HIV-2 co-infection seems to protect from HIV-1 pathogenesis for a certain period of time. It would be of high interest to understand the basis for this and whether Vpx plays a role in it.

CONCLUSION

Vpx is a protein uniquely encoded by the HIV-2/SIVsmm and SIVrcm/SIVmnd-2 lineages, which has the property to favor myeloid cell infection through inducing the degradation of SAMHD1. It is absolutely required for efficient HIV-2/SIVsmm viral replication *in vivo*, suggesting an important role of myeloid cells as target cells for these viruses and/or that additional roles, such as APOBEC3A antagonism, may be important. In addition, Vpx is able to render DCs more permissive to HIV-1 infection, and this may promote the induction of stronger innate immune responses. These major findings might open the way for the prospective development of novel HIV-1 vaccine and treatment strategies based on the use of Vpx. In theory, treatment with a vaccine using Vpx-VLPs may stimulate immune responses, potentially leading to improved protection against (or control of) HIV-1.

REFERENCES

- Accola, M. A., Bukovsky, A. A., Jones, M. S., and Gottlinger, H. G. (1999). A conserved dileucine-containing motif in p6(gag) governs the particle association of Vpx and Vpr of simian immunodeficiency viruses SIV(mac) and SIV(agm). *J. Virol.* 73, 9992–9999.
- Ahn, J., Hao, C., Yan, J., Delucia, M., Mehrens, J., Wang, C., et al. (2012). HIV/simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) accessory virulence factor Vpx loads the host cell restriction factor SAMHD1 onto the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex CRL4DCAF1. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 12550–12558. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112. 340711
- Akari, H., Sakuragi, J., Takebe, Y., Tomonaga, K., Kawamura, M., Fukasawa, M., et al. (1992). Biological characterization of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and type 2 mutants in human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Arch. Virol.* 123, 157–167. doi: 10.1007/BF01317146
- Angers, S., Li, T., Yi, X., Maccoss, M. J., Moon, R. T., and Zheng, N. (2006). Molecular architecture and assembly of the DDB1-CUL4A ubiquitin ligase machinery. *Nature* 443, 590–593. doi: 10.1038/nature05175
- Baca-Regen, L., Heinzinger, N., Stevenson, M., and Gendelman, H. E. (1994). Alpha interferon-induced antiretroviral activities: restriction of viral nucleic acid synthesis and progeny virion production in human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected monocytes. J. Virol. 68, 7559–7565.
- Bailes, E., Gao, F., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Courgnaud, V., Peeters, M., Marx, P. A., et al. (2003). Hybrid origin of SIV in chimpanzees. *Science* 300, 1713. doi: 10.1126/science.1080657
- Baldauf, H. M., Pan, X., Erikson, E., Schmidt, S., Daddacha, W., Burggraf, M., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 infection in resting CD4(+) T cells. *Nat. Med.* 18, 1682–1689. doi: 10.1038/nm.2964
- Beck-Engeser, G. B., Eilat, D., and Wabl, M. (2011). An autoimmune disease prevented by anti-retroviral drugs. *Retrovirology* 8, 91. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-8-91
- Beer, B. E., Foley, B. T., Kuiken, C. L., Tooze, Z., Goeken, R. M., Brown, C. R., et al. (2001). Characterization of novel simian immunodeficiency viruses from red-capped mangabeys from Nigeria (SIVrcmNG409 and -NG411). J. Virol. 75, 12014–12027. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.24.12014-12027.2001
- Behrendt, R., Schumann, T., Gerbaulet, A., Nguyen, L. A., Schubert, N., Alexopoulou, D., et al. (2013). Mouse SAMHD1 has antiretroviral activity and suppresses a spontaneous cell-intrinsic antiviral response. *Cell Rep.* 4, 689–696. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.07.037
- Beloglazova, N., Flick, R., Tchigvintsev, A., Brown, G., Popovic, A., Nocek, B., et al. (2013). Nuclease activity of the human SAMHD1 protein implicated in the Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome and HIV-1 restriction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 8101–8110. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.431148
- Belshan, M., Kimata, J. T., Brown, C., Cheng, X., McCulley, A., Larsen, A., et al. (2012). Vpx is critical for SIVmne infection of pigtail macaques. *Retrovirology* 9, 32. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-9-32
- Belshan, M., Mahnke, L. A., and Ratner, L. (2006). Conserved amino acids of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx nuclear localization signal are critical for nuclear targeting of the viral preintegration complex in non-dividing cells. *Virology* 346, 118–126. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2005.10.036
- Belshan, M., and Ratner, L. (2003). Identification of the nuclear localization signal of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx. *Virology* 311, 7–15. doi: 10.1016/S0042-6822(03)00093-X
- Bergamaschi, A., Ayinde, D., David, A., Le Rouzic, E., Morel, M., Collin, G., et al. (2009). The human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx protein usurps the CUL4A-DDB1 DCAF1 ubiquitin ligase to overcome a postentry block in macrophage infection. J. Virol. 83, 4854–4860. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00187-09
- Berger, A., Munk, C., Schweizer, M., Cichutek, K., Schule, S., and Flory, E. (2010). Interaction of Vpx and apolipoprotein B mRNA-editing catalytic polypeptide 3 family member A (APOBEC3A) correlates with efficient lentivirus infection of monocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 285, 12248–12254. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.090977
- Berger, A., Sommer, A. F., Zwarg, J., Hamdorf, M., Welzel, K., Esly, N., et al. (2011a). SAMHD1-deficient CD14+ cells from individuals with Aicardi-Goutieres

syndrome are highly susceptible to HIV-1 infection. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002425. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002425

- Berger, G., Durand, S., Fargier, G., Nguyen, X. N., Cordeil, S., Bouaziz, S., et al. (2011b). APOBEC3A is a specific inhibitor of the early phases of HIV-1 infection in myeloid cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002221. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002221
- Berger, G., Turpin, J., Cordeil, S., Tartour, K., Nguyen, X. N., Mahieux, R., et al. (2012). Functional analysis of the relationship between Vpx and the restriction factor SAMHD1. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 41210–41217. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.403816
- Bitzegeio, J., Sampias, M., Bieniasz, P. D., and Hatziioannou, T. (2013). Adaptation to the interferon-induced antiviral state by human and simian immunodeficiency viruses. J. Virol. 87, 3549–3560. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03219-12
- Bloch, N., O'Brien, M., Norton, T. D., Polsky, S. B., Bhardwaj, N., and Landau, N. R. (2014). HIV Type 1 infection of plasmacytoid and myeloid dendritic cells is restricted by high levels of SAMHD1 and cannot be counteracted by Vpx. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 30, 195–203. doi: 10.1089/AID.2013.0119

Bogerd, H. P., Wiegand, H. L., Doehle, B. P., Lueders, K. K., and Cullen, B. R. (2006). APOBEC3A and APOBEC3B are potent inhibitors of LTR-retrotransposon function in human cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 89–95. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkj416

Brandariz-Nunez, A., Valle-Casuso, J. C., White, T. E., Laguette, N., Benkirane, M., Brojatsch, J., et al. (2012). Role of SAMHD1 nuclear localization in restriction of HIV-1 and SIVmac. *Retrovirology* 9, 49. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-9-49

Chahwan, C., and Chahwan, R. (2012). Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome: from patients to genes and beyond. *Clin. Genet.* 81, 413–420. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0004.2011.01825.x

Chen, H., Lilley, C. E., Yu, Q., Lee, D. V., Chou, J., Narvaiza, I., et al. (2006). APOBEC3A is a potent inhibitor of adeno-associated virus and retrotransposons. *Curr. Biol.* 16, 480–485. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.01.031

Cheney, K. M., and McKnight, A. (2010). Interferon-alpha mediates restriction of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 replication in primary human macrophages at an early stage of replication. *PLoS ONE* 5:e13521. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013521

Cordeil, S., Nguyen, X. N., Berger, G., Durand, S., Ainouze, M., and Cimarelli, A. (2013). Evidence for a different susceptibility of primate lentiviruses to type I interferons. J. Virol. 87, 2587–2596. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02553-12

Cribier, A., Descours, B., Valadao, A. L., Laguette, N., and Benkirane, M. (2013). Phosphorylation of SAMHD1 by cyclin A2/CDK1 regulates its restriction activity toward HIV-1. *Cell Rep.* 3, 1036–1043. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.03.017

Crow, Y. J., Hayward, B. E., Parmar, R., Robins, P., Leitch, A., Ali, M., et al. (2006). Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 cause Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome at the AGS1 locus. *Nat. Genet.* 38, 917–920. doi: 10.1038/ng1845

Delucia, M., Mehrens, J., Wu, Y., and Ahn, J. (2013). HIV-2 and SIVmac accessory virulence factor Vpx down-regulates SAMHD1 enzyme catalysis prior to proteasome-dependent degradation. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 19116–19126. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.469007

Depienne, C., Roques, P., Creminon, C., Fritsch, L., Casseron, R., Dormont, D., et al. (2000). Cellular distribution and karyophilic properties of matrix, integrase, and Vpr proteins from the human and simian immunodeficiency viruses. *Exp. Cell Res.* 260, 387–395. doi: 10.1006/excr.2000.5016

Descours, B., Cribier, A., Chable-Bessia, C., Ayinde, D., Rice, G., Crow, Y., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 reverse transcription in quiescent CD4(+) T-cells. *Retrovirology* 9, 87. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-9-87

Diamond, T. L., Roshal, M., Jamburuthugoda, V. K., Reynolds, H. M., Merriam, A. R., Lee, K. Y., et al. (2004). Macrophage tropism of HIV-1 depends on efficient cellular dNTP utilization by reverse transcriptase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 51545–51553. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M408573200

Diamond, T. L., Souroullas, G., Weiss, K. K., Lee, K. Y., Bambara, R. A., Dewhurst, S., et al. (2003). Mechanistic understanding of an altered fidelity simian immunodeficiency virus reverse transcriptase mutation, V148I, identified in a pig-tailed macaque. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 29913–29924. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M2117 54200

Dragin, L., Nguyen, L. A., Lahouassa, H., Sourisce, A., Kim, B., Ramirez, B. C., et al. (2013). Interferon block to HIV-1 transduction in macrophages despite SAMHD1 degradation and high deoxynucleoside triphosphates supply. *Retrovirology* 10, 30. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-30

Esbjornsson, J., Mansson, F., Kvist, A., Isberg, P. E., Nowroozalizadeh, S., Biague, A. J., et al. (2012). Inhibition of HIV-1 disease progression by contemporaneous HIV-2 infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 367, 224–232. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1113244

- Fletcher, T. M. 3rd., Brichacek, B., Sharova, N., Newman, M. A., Stivahtis, G., Sharp, P. M., et al. (1996). Nuclear import and cell cycle arrest functions of the HIV-1 Vpr protein are encoded by two separate genes in HIV-2/SIV(SM). *EMBO J.* 15, 6155–6165.
- Franchini, G., Rusche, J. R., O'Keeffe, T. J., and Wong-Staal, F. (1988). The human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) contains a novel gene encoding a 16 kD protein associated with mature virions. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 4, 243–250. doi: 10.1089/aid.1988.4.243

Fregoso, O. I., Ahn, J., Wang, C., Mehrens, J., Skowronski, J., and Emerman, M. (2013). Evolutionary toggling of Vpx/Vpr specificity results in divergent recognition of the restriction factor SAMHD1. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003496. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003496

- Fujita, M., Otsuka, M., Miyoshi, M., Khamsri, B., Nomaguchi, M., and Adachi, A. (2008). Vpx is critical for reverse transcription of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 genome in macrophages. J. Virol. 82, 7752–7756. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01003-07
- Gibbs, J. S., Lackner, A. A., Lang, S. M., Simon, M. A., Sehgal, P. K., Daniel, M. D., et al. (1995). Progression to AIDS in the absence of a gene for vpr or vpx. *J. Virol.* 69, 2378–2383.
- Gibbs, J. S., Regier, D. A., and Desrosiers, R. C. (1994). Construction and *in vitro* properties of SIVmac mutants with deletions in "nonessential" genes. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 10, 607–616. doi: 10.1089/aid.1994.10.607
- Goldstone, D. C., Ennis-Adeniran, V., Hedden, J. J., Groom, H. C., Rice, G. I., Christodoulou, E., et al. (2011). HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a deoxynucleoside triphosphate triphosphohydrolase. *Nature* 480, 379–382. doi: 10.1038/nature10623
- Goncalves, A., Karayel, E., Rice, G. I., Bennett, K. L., Crow, Y. J., Superti-Furga, G., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 is a nucleic-acid binding protein that is mislocalized due to aicardi-goutieres syndrome-associated mutations. *Hum. Mutat.* 33, 1116–1122. doi: 10.1002/humu.22087
- Goujon, C., Arfi, V., Pertel, T., Luban, J., Lienard, J., Rigal, D., et al. (2008). Characterization of simian immunodeficiency virus SIVSM/human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx function in human myeloid cells. J. Virol. 82, 12335–12345. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01181-08
- Goujon, C., Jarrosson-Wuilleme, L., Bernaud, J., Rigal, D., Darlix, J. L., and Cimarelli, A. (2006). With a little help from a friend: increasing HIV transduction of monocyte-derived dendritic cells with virion-like particles of SIV(MAC). *Gene Ther.* 13, 991–994. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3302753

Goujon, C., and Malim, M. H. (2010). Characterization of the alpha interferoninduced postentry block to HIV-1 infection in primary human macrophages and T cells. J. Virol. 84, 9254–9266. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00854-10

Goujon, C., Riviere, L., Jarrosson-Wuilleme, L., Bernaud, J., Rigal, D., Darlix, J. L., et al. (2007). SIVSM/HIV-2 Vpx proteins promote retroviral escape from a proteasome-dependent restriction pathway present in human dendritic cells. *Retrovirology* 4, 2. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-4-2

Goujon, C., Schaller, T., Galao, R. P., Amie, S. M., Kim, B., Olivieri, K., et al. (2013). Evidence for IFNalpha-induced, SAMHD1-independent inhibitors of early HIV-1 infection. *Retrovirology* 10, 23. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-23

Gramberg, T., Kahle, T., Bloch, N., Wittmann, S., Mullers, E., Daddacha, W., et al. (2013). Restriction of diverse retroviruses by SAMHD1. *Retrovirology* 10, 26. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-26

Gramberg, T., Sunseri, N., and Landau, N. R. (2010). Evidence for an activation domain at the amino terminus of simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx. J. Virol. 84, 1387–1396. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01437-09

Guo, H., Wei, W., Wei, Z., Liu, X., Evans, S. L., Yang, W., et al. (2013). Identification of critical regions in human SAMHD1 required for nuclear localization and Vpx-mediated degradation. *PLoS ONE* 8:e66201. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0066201

Guyader, M., Emerman, M., Montagnier, L., and Peden, K. (1989). VPX mutants of HIV-2 are infectious in established cell lines but display a severe defect in peripheral blood lymphocytes. *EMBO J.* 8, 1169–1175.

Henderson, L. E., Sowder, R. C., Copeland, T. D., Benveniste, R. E., and Oroszlan, S. (1988). Isolation and characterization of a novel protein (X-ORF product) from SIV and HIV-2. *Science* 241, 199–201. doi: 10.1126/science.3388031

Hirsch, V. M., Sharkey, M. E., Brown, C. R., Brichacek, B., Goldstein, S., Wakefield, J., et al. (1998). Vpx is required for dissemination and pathogenesis of SIV(SM)

PBj: evidence of macrophage-dependent viral amplification. *Nat. Med.* 4, 1401–1408. doi: 10.1038/3992

- Hofmann, H., Logue, E. C., Bloch, N., Daddacha, W., Polsky, S. B., Schultz, M. L., et al. (2012). The Vpx lentiviral accessory protein targets SAMHD1 for degradation in the nucleus. *J. Virol.* 86, 12552–12560. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01657-12
- Hofmann, H., Norton, T. D., Schultz, M. L., Polsky, S. B., Sunseri, N., and Landau, N. R. (2013). Inhibition of CUL4A neddylation causes a reversible block to SAMHD1-mediated restriction of HIV-1. *J. Virol.* 87, 11741–11750. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02002-13
- Hollenbaugh, J. A., Gee, P., Baker, J., Daly, M. B., Amie, S. M., Tate, J., et al. (2013). Host factor SAMHD1 restricts DNA viruses in non-dividing myeloid cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003481. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003481
- Hrecka, K., Hao, C., Gierszewska, M., Swanson, S. K., Kesik-Brodacka, M., Srivastava, S., et al. (2011). Vpx relieves inhibition of HIV-1 infection of macrophages mediated by the SAMHD1 protein. *Nature* 474, 658–661. doi: 10.1038/nature10195
- Hu, J., Switzer, W. M., Foley, B. T., Robertson, D. L., Goeken, R. M., Korber, B. T., et al. (2003). Characterization and comparison of recombinant simian immunodeficiency virus from drill (*Mandrillus leucophaeus*) and mandrill (*Mandrillus sphinx*) isolates. J. Virol. 77, 4867–4880. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.8.4867-48 80.2003
- Hu, W., Vander Heyden, N., and Ratner, L. (1989). Analysis of the function of viral protein X (VPX) of HIV-2. *Virology* 173, 624–630. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(89)90574-6
- Ji, X., Wu, Y., Yan, J., Mehrens, J., Yang, H., Delucia, M., et al. (2013). Mechanism of allosteric activation of SAMHD1 by dGTP. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 20, 1304–1309. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2692
- Jin, M. J., Hui, H., Robertson, D. L., Muller, M. C., Barre-Sinoussi, F., Hirsch, V. M., et al. (1994). Mosaic genome structure of simian immunodeficiency virus from west African green monkeys. *EMBO J.* 13, 2935–2947.
- Kappes, J. C., Conway, J. A., Lee, S. W., Shaw, G. M., and Hahn, B. H. (1991). Human immunodeficiency virus type 2 vpx protein augments viral infectivity. *Virology* 184, 197–209. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(91)90836-Z
- Kappes, J. C., Morrow, C. D., Lee, S. W., Jameson, B. A., Kent, S. B., Hood, L. E., et al. (1988). Identification of a novel retroviral gene unique to human immunodeficiency virus type 2 and simian immunodeficiency virus SIVMAC. J. Virol. 62, 3501–3505.
- Kaushik, R., Zhu, X., Stranska, R., Wu, Y., and Stevenson, M. (2009). A cellular restriction dictates the permissivity of nondividing monocytes/macrophages to lentivirus and gammaretrovirus infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 68–80. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.05.022
- Kawamura, M., Sakai, H., and Adachi, A. (1994). Human immunodeficiency virus Vpx is required for the early phase of replication in peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 38, 871–878. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.1994.tb02140.x
- Kewalramani, V. N., and Emerman, M. (1996). Vpx association with mature core structures of HIV-2. *Virology* 218, 159–168. doi: 10.1006/viro.1996.0176
- Kim, E. T., White, T. E., Brandariz-Nunez, A., Diaz-Griffero, F., and Weitzman, M. D. (2013). SAMHD1 restricts herpes simplex virus 1 in macrophages by limiting DNA replication. *J. Virol.* 87, 12949–12956. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02291-13
- Koning, F. A., Goujon, C., Bauby, H., and Malim, M. H. (2011). Target cell-mediated editing of HIV-1 cDNA by APOBEC3 proteins in human macrophages. J. Virol. 85, 13448–13452. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00775-11
- Koning, F. A., Newman, E. N., Kim, E. Y., Kunstman, K. J., Wolinsky, S. M., and Malim, M. H. (2009). Defining APOBEC3 expression patterns in human tissues and hematopoietic cell subsets. *J. Virol.* 83, 9474–9485. doi: 10.1128/JVI.0 1089-09
- Korin, Y. D., and Zack, J. A. (1999). Nonproductive human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection in nucleoside-treated G0 lymphocytes. J. Virol. 73, 6526–6532.
- Kornbluth, R. S., Oh, P. S., Munis, J. R., Cleveland, P. H., and Richman, D. D. (1989). Interferons and bacterial lipopolysaccharide protect macrophages from productive infection by human immunodeficiency virus *in vitro*. *J. Exp. Med.* 169, 1137–1151. doi: 10.1084/jem.169.3.1137
- Laguette, N., Rahm, N., Sobhian, B., Chable-Bessia, C., Munch, J., Snoeck, J., et al. (2012). Evolutionary and functional analyses of the interaction between the myeloid restriction factor SAMHD1 and the lentiviral Vpx protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 205–217. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.01.007
- Laguette, N., Sobhian, B., Casartelli, N., Ringeard, M., Chable-Bessia, C., Segeral, E., et al. (2011). SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific

HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. *Nature* 474, 654–657. doi: 10.1038/nature10117

- Lahaye, X., Satoh, T., Gentili, M., Cerboni, S., Conrad, C., Hurbain, I., et al. (2013). The Capsids of HIV-1 and HIV-2 determine immune detection of the viral cDNA by the innate sensor cGAS in dendritic cells. *Immunity* 39, 1132–1142. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.002
- Lahouassa, H., Daddacha, W., Hofmann, H., Ayinde, D., Logue, E. C., Dragin, L., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts the replication of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 by depleting the intracellular pool of deoxynucleoside triphosphates. *Nat. Immunol.* 13, 223–228. doi: 10.1038/ni.2236
- Le Rouzic, E., Belaidouni, N., Estrabaud, E., Morel, M., Rain, J. C., Transy, C., et al. (2007). HIV1Vpr arrests the cell cycle by recruiting DCAF1/VprBP, a receptor of the Cul4-DDB1 ubiquitin ligase. *Cell Cycle* 6, 182–188. doi: 10.4161/cc.6.2.3732
- Lewis, P. F., and Emerman, M. (1994). Passage through mitosis is required for oncoretroviruses but not for the human immunodeficiency virus. J. Virol. 68, 510–516.
- Li, N., Zhang, W., and Cao, X. (2000). Identification of human homologue of mouse IFN-gamma induced protein from human dendritic cells. *Immunol. Lett.* 74, 221–224. doi: 10.1016/S0165-2478(00)00276-5
- Liao, W., Bao, Z., Cheng, C., Mok, Y. K., and Wong, W. S. (2008). Dendritic cellderived interferon-gamma-induced protein mediates tumor necrosis factoralpha stimulation of human lung fibroblasts. *Proteomics* 8, 2640–2650. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200700954
- Lim, E. S., Fregoso, O. I., McCoy, C. O., Matsen, F. A., Malik, H. S., and Emerman, M. (2012). The ability of primate lentiviruses to degrade the monocyte restriction factor SAMHD1 preceded the birth of the viral accessory protein Vpx. *Cell Host Microbe* 11, 194–204. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012. 01.004
- Mahalingam, S., Van Tine, B., Santiago, M. L., Gao, F., Shaw, G. M., and Hahn, B. H. (2001). Functional analysis of the simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx protein: identification of packaging determinants and a novel nuclear targeting domain. J. Virol. 75, 362–374. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.1.362-374.2001
- Malim, M. H., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2012). HIV restriction factors and mechanisms of evasion. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a006940. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006940
- Manel, N., Hogstad, B., Wang, Y., Levy, D. E., Unutmaz, D., and Littman, D. R. (2010). A cryptic sensor for HIV-1 activates antiviral innate immunity in dendritic cells. *Nature* 467, 214–217. doi: 10.1038/nature09337
- Mangeot, P. E., Duperrier, K., Negre, D., Boson, B., Rigal, D., Cosset, F. L., et al. (2002). High levels of transduction of human dendritic cells with optimized SIV vectors. *Mol. Ther.* 5, 283–290. doi: 10.1006/mthe.2002.0541
- Muckenfuss, H., Hamdorf, M., Held, U., Perkovic, M., Lower, J., Cichutek, K., et al. (2006). APOBEC3 proteins inhibit human LINE-1 retrotransposition. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 22161–22172. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M601716200
- Narvaiza, I., Linfesty, D. C., Greener, B. N., Hakata, Y., Pintel, D. J., Logue, E., et al. (2009). Deaminase-independent inhibition of parvoviruses by the APOBEC3A cytidine deaminase. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000439. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000439
- Neil, S., Martin, F., Ikeda, Y., and Collins, M. (2001). Postentry restriction to human immunodeficiency virus-based vector transduction in human monocytes. J. Virol. 75, 5448–5456. doi: 10.1128/JVI.75.12.5448-5456.2001
- Pan, X., Baldauf, H. M., Keppler, O. T., and Fackler, O. T. (2013). Restrictions to HIV-1 replication in resting CD4+ T lymphocytes. *Cell Res.* 23, 876–885. doi: 10.1038/cr.2013.74
- Pancio, H. A., Vander Heyden, N., and Ratner, L. (2000). The C-terminal prolinerich tail of human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Vpx is necessary for nuclear localization of the viral preintegration complex in nondividing cells. J. Virol. 74, 6162–6167. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.13.6162-6167.2000
- Park, I. W., and Sodroski, J. (1995). Functional analysis of the vpx, vpr, and nef genes of simian immunodeficiency virus. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirol. 8, 335–344. doi: 10.1097/00042560-199504000-00003
- Peng, G., Greenwell-Wild, T., Nares, S., Jin, W., Lei, K. J., Rangel, Z. G., et al. (2007). Myeloid differentiation and susceptibility to HIV-1 are linked to APOBEC3 expression. *Blood* 110, 393–400. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-10-051763
- Peng, G., Lei, K. J., Jin, W., Greenwell-Wild, T., and Wahl, S. M. (2006). Induction of APOBEC3 family proteins, a defensive maneuver underlying

interferon-induced anti-HIV-1 activity. J. Exp. Med. 203, 41-46. doi: 10.1084/jem.20051512

- Pertel, T., Reinhard, C., and Luban, J. (2011). Vpx rescues HIV-1 transduction of dendritic cells from the antiviral state established by type 1 interferon. *Retrovirology* 8, 49. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-8-49
- Powell, R. D., Holland, P. J., Hollis, T., and Perrino, F. W. (2011). Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome gene and HIV-1 restriction factor SAMHD1 is a dGTP-regulated deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 43596–43600. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C111.317628
- Rajendra Kumar, P., Singhal, P. K., Subba Rao, M. R., and Mahalingam, S. (2005). Phosphorylation by MAPK regulates simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx protein nuclear import and virus infectivity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 8553–8563. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M407863200
- Rajendra Kumar, P., Singhal, P. K., Vinod, S. S., and Mahalingam, S. (2003). A non-canonical transferable signal mediates nuclear import of simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx protein. J. Mol. Biol. 331, 1141–1156. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(03)00853-2
- Refsland, E. W., Stenglein, M. D., Shindo, K., Albin, J. S., Brown, W. L., and Harris, R. S. (2010). Quantitative profiling of the full APOBEC3 mRNA repertoire in lymphocytes and tissues: implications for HIV-1 restriction. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 4274–4284. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq174
- Rehwinkel, J., Maelfait, J., Bridgeman, A., Rigby, R., Hayward, B., Liberatore, R. A., et al. (2013). SAMHD1-dependent retroviral control and escape in mice. *EMBO* J. 32, 2454–2462. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.163
- Reinhard, C., Bottinelli, D., Kim, B., and Luban, J. (2014). Vpx rescue of HIV-1 from the antiviral state in mature dendritic cells is independent of the intracellular deoxynucleotide concentration. *Retrovirology* 11, 12. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-11-12
- Rice, G. I., Bond, J., Asipu, A., Brunette, R. L., Manfield, I. W., Carr, I. M., et al. (2009). Mutations involved in Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome implicate SAMHD1 as regulator of the innate immune response. *Nat. Genet.* 41, 829–832. doi: 10.1038/ng.373
- Roe, T., Reynolds, T. C., Yu, G., and Brown, P. O. (1993). Integration of murine leukemia virus DNA depends on mitosis. *EMBO J.* 12, 2099–2108.
- Schwefel, D., Groom, H. C., Boucherit, V. C., Christodoulou, E., Walker, P. A., Stoye, J. P., et al. (2014). Structural basis of lentiviral subversion of a cellular protein degradation pathway. *Nature* 505, 234–238. doi: 10.1038/nature12815
- Selig, L., Pages, J. C., Tanchou, V., Preveral, S., Berlioz-Torrent, C., Liu, L. X., et al. (1999). Interaction with the p6 domain of the gag precursor mediates incorporation into virions of Vpr and Vpx proteins from primate lentiviruses. *J. Virol.* 73, 592–600.
- Sharova, N., Wu, Y., Zhu, X., Stranska, R., Kaushik, R., Sharkey, M., et al. (2008). Primate lentiviral Vpx commandeers DDB1 to counteract a macrophage restriction. *PLoS Pathog.* 4:e1000057. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000057
- Sharp, P. M., Bailes, E., Stevenson, M., Emerman, M., and Hahn, B. H. (1996). Gene acquisition in HIV and SIV. *Nature* 383, 586–587. doi: 10.1038/383 586a0
- Sharp, P. M., and Hahn, B. H. (2011). Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 1:a006841. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006841
- Shibata, R., Miura, T., Hayami, M., Ogawa, K., Sakai, H., Kiyomasu, T., et al. (1990). Mutational analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 (HIV-2) genome in relation to HIV-1 and simian immunodeficiency virus SIV (AGM). *J. Virol.* 64, 742–747.
- Shirazi, Y., and Pitha, P. M. (1992). Alpha interferon inhibits early stages of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication cycle. J. Virol. 66, 1321–1328.
- Shirazi, Y., and Pitha, P. M. (1993). Interferon alpha-mediated inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 provirus synthesis in T-cells. *Virology* 193, 303–312. doi: 10.1006/viro.1993.1126
- Singhal, P. K., Kumar, P. R., Rao, M. R., Kyasani, M., and Mahalingam, S. (2006a). Simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx is imported into the nucleus via importin alpha-dependent and -independent pathways. J. Virol. 80, 526–536. doi: 10.1128/JVI.80.1.526-536.2006
- Singhal, P. K., Rajendra Kumar, P., Subba Rao, M. R., and Mahalingam, S. (2006b). Nuclear export of simian immunodeficiency virus Vpx protein. J. Virol. 80, 12271–12282. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00563-06
- Sonza, S., Maerz, A., Deacon, N., Meanger, J., Mills, J., and Crowe, S. (1996). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication is blocked prior to reverse transcription and integration in freshly isolated peripheral blood monocytes. *J. Virol.* 70, 3863–3869.

- Spragg, C. J., and Emerman, M. (2013). Antagonism of SAMHD1 is actively maintained in natural infections of simian immunodeficiency virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 21136–21141. doi: 10.1073/pnas.13168 39110
- Srivastava, S., Swanson, S. K., Manel, N., Florens, L., Washburn, M. P., and Skowronski, J. (2008). Lentiviral Vpx accessory factor targets VprBP/DCAF1 substrate adaptor for cullin 4 E3 ubiquitin ligase to enable macrophage infection. *PLoS Pathog.* 4:e1000059. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10 00059
- Stetson, D. B., Ko, J. S., Heidmann, T., and Medzhitov, R. (2008). Trex1 prevents cell-intrinsic initiation of autoimmunity. *Cell* 134, 587–598. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.06.032
- St Gelais, C., De Silva, S., Amie, S. M., Coleman, C. M., Hoy, H., Hollenbaugh, J. A., et al. (2012). SAMHD1 restricts HIV-1 infection in dendritic cells (DCs) by dNTP depletion, but its expression in DCs and primary CD4+ T-lymphocytes cannot be upregulated by interferons. *Retrovirology* 9, 105. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-9-105
- Sze, A., Belgnaoui, S. M., Olagnier, D., Lin, R., Hiscott, J., and Van Grevenynghe, J. (2013). Host restriction factor SAMHD1 limits human T cell leukemia virus type 1 infection of monocytes via STING-mediated apoptosis. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 422–434. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.09.009
- Triques, K., and Stevenson, M. (2004). Characterization of restrictions to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of monocytes. J. Virol. 78, 5523–5527. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.10.5523-5527.2004
- Tristem, M., Marshall, C., Karpas, A., and Hill, F. (1992). Evolution of the primate lentiviruses: evidence from vpx and vpr. *EMBO J.* 11, 3405–3412.
- Tristem, M., Marshall, C., Karpas, A., Petrik, J., and Hill, F. (1990). Origin of vpx in lentiviruses. *Nature* 347, 341–342. doi: 10.1038/347341b0
- Trobaugh, D. W., Gardner, C. L., Sun, C., Haddow, A. D., Wang, E., Chapnik, E., et al. (2013). RNA viruses can hijack vertebrate microRNAs to suppress innate immunity. *Nature* 506, 245–248. doi: 10.1038/nature12869
- Tungler, V., Staroske, W., Kind, B., Dobrick, M., Kretschmer, S., Schmidt, F., et al. (2013). Single-stranded nucleic acids promote SAMHD1 complex formation. *J. Mol. Med. (Berl).* 91, 759–770. doi: 10.1007/s00109-013-0995-3
- Ueno, F., Shiota, H., Miyaura, M., Yoshida, A., Sakurai, A., Tatsuki, J., et al. (2003). Vpx and Vpr proteins of HIV-2 up-regulate the viral infectivity by a distinct mechanism in lymphocytic cells. *Microbes Infect.* 5, 387–395. doi: 10.1016/S1286-4579(03)00042-X
- Vartanian, J. P., Guetard, D., Henry, M., and Wain-Hobson, S. (2008). Evidence for editing of human papillomavirus DNA by APOBEC3 in benign and precancerous lesions. *Science* 320, 230–233. doi: 10.1126/science.1153201
- Wei, W., Guo, H., Gao, Q., Markham, R., and Yu, X. F. (2014). Variation of two primate lineage-specific residues in human SAMHD1 confers resistance to N terminus-targeted SIV Vpx proteins. J. Virol. 88, 583–591. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02866-13
- Wei, W., Guo, H., Han, X., Liu, X., Zhou, X., Zhang, W., et al. (2012). A novel DCAF1-binding motif required for Vpx-mediated degradation of nuclear SAMHD1 and Vpr-induced G2 arrest. *Cell. Microbiol.* 14, 1745–1756. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2012.01835.x
- Weiss, K. K., Chen, R., Skasko, M., Reynolds, H. M., Lee, K., Bambara, R. A., et al. (2004). A role for dNTP binding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase in viral mutagenesis. *Biochemistry* 43, 4490–4500. doi: 10.1021/bi035258r
- Welbourn, S., Dutta, S. M., Semmes, O. J., and Strebel, K. (2013). Restriction of virus infection but not catalytic dNTPase activity are regulated by phosphorylation of SAMHD1. J. Virol. 87, 11516–11524. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01642-13
- Wertheim, J. O., and Worobey, M. (2007). A challenge to the ancient origin of SIVagm based on African green monkey mitochondrial genomes. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e95. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030095
- White, T. E., Brandariz-Nunez, A., Valle-Casuso, J. C., Amie, S., Nguyen, L. A., Kim, B., et al. (2013). The retroviral restriction ability of SAMHD1, but not its deoxynucleotide triphosphohydrolase activity, is regulated by phosphorylation. *Cell Host Microbe* 13, 441–451. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.03.005
- Wu, X., Conway, J. A., Kim, J., and Kappes, J. C. (1994). Localization of the Vpx packaging signal within the C terminus of the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 Gag precursor protein. J. Virol. 68, 6161–6169.
- Yan, J., Kaur, S., Delucia, M., Hao, C., Mehrens, J., Wang, C., et al. (2013). Tetramerization of SAMHD1 is required for biological activity and inhibition of HIV infection. *J. Biol. Chem.* 288, 10406–10417. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.443796

- Yu, H., Usmani, S. M., Borch, A., Kramer, J., Sturzel, C. M., Khalid, M., et al. (2013). The efficiency of Vpx-mediated SAMHD1 antagonism does not correlate with the potency of viral control in HIV-2-infected individuals. *Retrovirology* 10, 27. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-27
- Yu, X. F., Ito, S., Essex, M., and Lee, T. H. (1988). A naturally immunogenic virion-associated protein specific for HIV-2 and SIV. *Nature* 335, 262–265. doi: 10.1038/335262a0
- Yu, X. F., Yu, Q. C., Essex, M., and Lee, T. H. (1991). The vpx gene of simian immunodeficiency virus facilitates efficient viral replication in fresh lymphocytes and macrophage. J. Virol. 65, 5088–5091.
- Zhao, K., Du, J., Han, X., Goodier, J. L., Li, P., Zhou, X., et al. (2013). Modulation of LINE-1 and Alu/SVA retrotransposition by Aicardi-Goutieres syndrome-related SAMHD1. *Cell Rep.* 4, 1108–1115. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013. 08.019
- Zhao, L. J., Mukherjee, S., and Narayan, O. (1994). Biochemical mechanism of HIV-I Vpr function. Specific interaction with a cellular protein. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 15577–15582.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 February 2014; paper pending published: 28 February 2014; accepted: 11 March 2014; published online: 08 April 2014.

Citation: Schaller T, Bauby H, Hué S, Malim MH and Goujon C (2014) New insights into an X-traordinary viral protein. Front. Microbiol. 5:126. doi: 10.3389/fmicb. 2014.00126

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2014 Schaller, Bauby, Hué, Malim and Goujon. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mechanisms underlying HIV-1 Vpu-mediated viral egress

Nicolas Roy^{1,2,3†}, Grégory Pacini^{1,2,3†}, Clarisse Berlioz-Torrent^{1,2,3} and Katy Janvier^{1,2,3}*

¹ INSERM U1016, Institut Cochin, Paris, France

² CNRS UMR8104, Paris, France

³ Université Paris Descartes, Paris, France

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Kenzo Tokunaga, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Clare Lisa Jolly, University College London, UK

*Correspondence:

Katy Janvier, INSERM U1016, Institut Cochin, 27, Rue du Faubourg Saint Jacques, Bat. Gustave Roussy-6th Floor, 75014 Paris, France e-mail: katy.janvier@inserm.fr

⁺Nicolas Roy and Grégory Pacini have contributed equally to this work. Viruses such as lentiviruses that are responsible for long lasting infections have to evade several levels of cellular immune mechanisms to persist and efficiently disseminate in the host. Over the past decades, much evidence has emerged regarding the major role of accessory proteins of primate lentiviruses, human immunodeficiency virus and simian immunodeficiency virus, in viral evasion from the host immune defense. This short review will provide an overview of the mechanism whereby the accessory protein Vpu contributes to this escape. Vpu is a multifunctional protein that was shown to contribute to viral egress by down-regulating several mediators of the immune system such as CD4, CD1d, NTB-A and the restriction factor BST2. The mechanisms underlying its activity are not fully characterized but rely on its ability to interfere with the host machinery regulating protein turnover and vesicular trafficking. This review will focus on our current understanding of the mechanisms whereby Vpu down-regulates CD4 and BST2 expression levels to favor viral egress.

 $Keywords: Vpu, CD4, BST2/Tetherin, HIV-1, ESCRT, degradation, cell surface down-regulation, NF-{}\kappa B$

INTRODUCTION

Viral egress and replication rely on a complex interplay between viral and cellular proteins. During their replication cycle, viruses, notably lentiviruses, have to face several levels of the host immune defense mechanisms and must counteract these barriers to persist and disseminate in the host. Understanding the mechanisms underlying lentiviruses evasion from host antiviral activities has been the focus of many studies of the past decades. Not only did they contribute to major advances in the characterization of host strategies to repress viral replication, notably by the identification of antiviral cellular proteins such as APOBEC3G, SAMHD1, TRIM5 α , and BST2 referred to as restriction factors (Sheehy et al., 2002; Stremlau et al., 2004; Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008; Laguette et al., 2011), but also they unraveled the importance of the accessory proteins of viruses in this process (Malim and Bieniasz, 2012).

The genome of lentiviruses encodes for several accessory proteins such as Nef, Vif, Vpr, Vpx, and Vpu, in addition to the structural and enzymatic proteins Gag, Pol, and Env and the regulatory proteins Tat and Rev (Malim and Bieniasz, 2012). These accessory proteins are, however, not common to all lentiviruses: Nef and Vpr are specific of primate lentiviruses (HIV-1, HIV-2, and SIV), Vpx is expressed by HIV-2 and its closely related SIV_{smm} and SIV_{mac}, Vpu is expressed by HIV-1 strains and a few strains of SIV (described later; Malim and Emerman, 2008). These proteins are not strictly required for viral replication *in vitro*. However, much evidence has highlighted their importance in the pathogenesis of the infection, as they contribute to modify the cell environment to facilitate viral replication and evasion from the host antiviral immune response (Malim and Emerman, 2008).

This review will provide an overview of our current understanding of the mechanisms whereby the accessory protein Vpu exploits the host cell machineries to counteract two components of the adaptive and innate host immune system: the protein CD4 and the restriction factor BST2.

CHARACTERISTICS AND FUNCTIONS OF THE ACCESSORY PROTEIN VPU

The accessory protein Vpu is an 81-amino acid type I integral membrane phosphoprotein, expressed by the genome of HIV-1, the related SIV_{cpz} (Strebel et al., 1988) and the SIV_{gsn} lineages including the greater spot-nosed monkey (SIV_{gsn}), the mona monkey (SIV_{mon}), the mustached monkey (SIV_{mus}) and Dent's mona monkey (SIV_{den}) isolates (Gao et al., 1999; Courgnaud et al., 2002, 2003; Bailes et al., 2003). Vpu contains a short luminal N-terminal domain, a 23-amino acid transmembrane domain and a large cytoplasmic C-terminal domain (Strebel et al., 1988; Maldarelli et al., 1993). Vpu localizes mainly in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), the trans-Golgi network (TGN) and endosomal compartments. Two major functions have been attributed to Vpu during HIV-1 replication cycle. Firstly, Vpu targets the newly synthesized CD4 receptor for proteasomal degradation (Willey et al., 1992a). Secondly, it favors the release of viral particles from most human cell types through counteracting the inhibitory effect of BST2 (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008). More recently, Vpu was shown to down-regulate cell surface expression of two additional mediators of the immune response: the lipid-antigen presenting protein CD1d expressed by antigen-presenting cells (Moll et al., 2010) and the natural killer cells ligand NTB-A (Shah et al., 2010). Vpu appears therefore as a key factor for HIV evasion from the host immune system.

VPU-INDUCED DOWN-REGULATION OF CD4

CD4 constitutes the major component of the receptor complex used by primate lentiviruses to infect the cells. It is a 54 kDa

type I integral glycoprotein expressed at the surface of helper T-lymphocytes, cells of the monocyte/macrophage lineage and hematopoietic progenitor cells.

Infection of CD4⁺ cells by primate lentiviruses results in a rapid and constant down-modulation of cell surface CD4 expression level (Ray and Doms, 2006). CD4 down-regulation was proposed to prevent lethal superinfection of cells by additional virions (Wildum et al., 2006), contribute to the escape of infected cells from the immune system and favor viral fitness (Willey et al., 1992b). CD4 depletion in infected cells is achieved by the concerted, though mechanistically distinct, action of three viral proteins: Nef, Vpu and, to a lower extent, Env (Wildum et al., 2006). Nef, produced shortly after infection, enhances internalization of pre-existing CD4 from the cell surface and targets the receptor for lysosomal degradation (Chaudhuri et al., 2007). Env precursor gp160 binds CD4 in the ER and blocks its transport to the cell surface (Crise et al., 1990; Jabbar and Nayak, 1990). Vpu targets CD4 molecules present in the ER for proteasomal degradation (Willey et al., 1992a).

Vpu induces degradation of newly synthesized CD4 by a multistep process involving binding of Vpu with CD4 via their transmembrane domains (TMD), retention and poly-ubiquitination of CD4 in the ER, followed by its delivery to the ER-associated degradation pathway (ERAD) for further proteasomal degradation (Magadan et al., 2010; Magadan and Bonifacino, 2012; Figure 1). Vpu-induced degradation of CD4 requires the integrity of two phosphoserines S52/S56 present in a canonical DSGXXS motif within the cytoplasmic tail of Vpu and involved in an interaction with the β -transducin repeat-containing protein 1 or 2 (β-TrCP1; β-TrCP2), two adaptors for the SKP1-cullin1-F-Box (SCF) E3 ubiquitin ligase complex (Margottin et al., 1998). Recruitment of the SCF^{β-TrCP} complex by Vpu results in polyubiquitination of the cytoplasmic tail of CD4 on lysine, serine and threonine residues (Magadan et al., 2010). Interestingly, Vpuinduced SCF-mediated poly-ubiquitination of CD4 contributes to retain the receptor in the ER and enables the recruitment of the ERAD VCP-UFD1L-NPL4 dislocase complex, leading to the extraction of CD4 from the ER membrane and its subsequent degradation by the proteasome (Magadan et al., 2010; Figure 1).

VPU-MEDIATED ANTAGONISM OF THE RESTRICTION FACTOR BST2

A major breakthrough in understanding how Vpu promotes the release of HIV-1 particles was made by the identification of BST2 as a restriction factor for HIV-1 release (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008).

CHARACTERISTICS OF BST2

BST2 is a 30–36 kDa highly glycosylated type II integral membrane protein, constitutively expressed in several cell types and can be up-regulated by type-I interferon and pro-inflammatory stimuli (Neil, 2013). BST2 is composed of a short N-terminal cytoplasmic tail, linked to a transmembrane domain and an extracellular domain anchored to the membrane through a C-terminal glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) moiety (Kupzig et al., 2003). Recently, a short isoform of BST2 produced by an alternative translation initiation from the methionine residue at position 13 has been identified (Cocka and Bates, 2012). BST2 is localized at the plasma membrane (PM) in cholesterol-rich microdomains (rafts) and in intracellular compartments such as the TGN as well as early and recycling endosomes (Kupzig et al., 2003; Masuyama et al., 2009). BST2 was proposed to assemble as a "picket fence" around the lipid rafts, playing a role in organizing membrane microdomains (Billcliff et al., 2013). BST2 was shown to physically trap the de novo formed mature viral particles at the surface of infected cells, thereby considerably reducing virus release (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008; Perez-Caballero et al., 2009; Hammonds et al., 2010). This activity relies on BST2 ability to form parallel disulfide-bond homo-dimers and to bridge virions and cellular membranes via its N- and C-terminal membrane anchoring domains (Iwabu et al., 2009; Perez-Caballero et al., 2009; Schubert et al., 2010), with a preference for an "axial" configuration in which the GPI anchors are inserted into virions, and the N-termini transmembrane anchors remain in the infected cells membrane (Venkatesh and Bieniasz, 2013).

Although initially identified as the factor responsible for defective release of HIV-1 mutants lacking the accessory gene vpu (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008), it is now well established that BST2 restricts the release of nearly all enveloped viruses (retroviruses, herpes viruses, filoviruses, rhabdoviruses, paramyxoviruses, and arenaviruses) (Neil, 2013). BST2 therefore appears as a major mediator of the innate immune defense against viral dissemination. Primates lentiviruses deploy three proteins to antagonize BST2 antiviral activity: Vpu in HIV-1 (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008); Env in HIV-2 ROD10, HIV-2 RODA, SIV_{agm}Tan and SIV_{mac239} Δ nef isolates (Gupta et al., 2009b; Le Tortorec and Neil, 2009; Hauser et al., 2010; Serra-Moreno et al., 2011) and Nef in most isolates of SIV (Jia et al., 2009; Sauter et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009). HIV-1 Vpu, HIV-2 Env, and SIV Nef were shown to down-regulate the cell surface expression level of BST2 to favor its removal from viral budding sites and further viral release (Neil, 2013). To date, the precise mechanism involved in this process has not been fully characterized.

BINDING OF VPU WITH BST2

Binding of Vpu with BST2 through their respective TMD was shown to be essential to counteract BST2 antiviral activity. Mutagenesis analyzes have unraveled the critical role of residues I_{34} , L_{37} , L_{41} of BST2 and A_{14} , W_{22} and to some extent A_{18} of Vpu in this interaction (Vigan and Neil, 2010; Kobayashi et al., 2011). These residues were proposed to form an anti-parallel helix-helix interface (Skasko et al., 2012). Interestingly, recent studies have identified additional residues, located at the periphery of the TMD of BST2 and Vpu respectively, required for the interaction between both proteins and antagonism of BST2 (McNatt et al., 2013; Pickering et al., 2014).

VPU-INDUCED CELL SURFACE DOWN-REGULATION OF BST2

The mechanism whereby Vpu decreases cell surface BST2 expression appears to rely on interference with BST2 intracellular trafficking. BST2 was thought to cycle between the PM, the TGN and the endosomes, with a fraction sorted for lysosomal degradation through an Endosomal Sorting Complexes Required



the SCF subunits β -TrCP1 and β -TrCP2. Interaction of Vpu with β -TrCP involves the conserved phophorylated serines S_{52} and S_{56} , located in the cytoplasmic tail of Vpu. Recruitment of the SCF^{G-TrCP} complex by Vpu induces poly-ubiquitination of CD4 on lysine, serine and threonine

CD4 by Vpu was proposed to dissociate CD4 from newly synthesized viral Env present in the ER, allowing Env maturation and trafficking to the cell surface for its subsequent incorporation in the forming virions.

for Transport (ESCRT)-mediated pathway (Rollason et al., 2007; Masuyama et al., 2009; Habermann et al., 2010; Janvier et al., 2011). Internalization of BST2 from the PM occurs through clathrin-coated vesicles, via direct binding of the clathrin adaptor complexes AP2 with non-canonical dual tyrosine residues (Y_6XY_8) in the cytoplasmic tail of BST2 (Rollason et al., 2007; Masuyama et al., 2009). Binding of BST2 with AP1 complexes regulates its retrieval from the early endosomes back to the TGN (Rollason et al., 2007). Vpu does not increase the rate of BST2 endocytosis but rather slows down the recycling of internalized BST2 back to the PM and inhibits the access of *de novo* synthetized BST2 to the cell surface, thereby decreasing the resupply of BST2 to the PM (Mitchell et al., 2009; Dube et al., 2011; Lau et al., 2011; Schmidt et al., 2011; Figure 2).

In some cell types such as T-cells and primary macrophages, antagonism of BST2 by Vpu is not associated with decreased expression of cell surface BST2 (Miyagi et al., 2009; Chu et al., 2012), consistent with the view that Vpu promotes viral release by displacing BST2 from viral budding sites at the PM. Using a sophisticated approach, it has been recently suggested that this function relies on the integrity of a "dileucine"-like motif E₅₉VSAL₆₃V in the cytoplasmic tail of Vpu (McNatt et al., 2013), first reported to be essential for Vpu to down-regulate CD4 and BST2 expression and counteract BST2 antiviral activity (Hill et al., 2010; Kueck and Neil, 2012). How this motif contributes to these functions is, however unclear. Vpu EXXXLV motif fits the consensus dileucine - based sorting signal (D/E)XXXL(L/I/M) that mediates binding to the AP complexes. However, evidence for an interaction of Vpu with the AP complexes or a direct contribution of these complexes in Vpu's functions could not be demonstrated (Kueck and Neil, 2012).

VPU-MEDIATED DEGRADATION OF BST2

In some cell types, Vpu-induced down-regulation of cell surface BST2 is associated with enhanced targeting of the cellular protein to the degradation pathway (Gupta et al., 2009a; Mitchell et al., 2009). This process is ubiquitin-dependent and requires the recruitment of the SCF^{B-TrCP} complex by Vpu via its DS52GxxS56 motif (Douglas et al., 2009; Goffinet et al., 2009; Mangeat et al., 2009; Mitchell et al., 2009; Tokarev et al., 2010). The importance



of β-TrCP in Vpu-mediated antagonism of BST2 antiviral activity remains controversial to date (Douglas et al., 2009; Iwabu et al., 2009; Mangeat et al., 2009; Mitchell et al., 2009; Miyagi et al., 2009; Tervo et al., 2011). BST2 undergoes ubiquitination on lysine residues located in its cytoplasmic tail (Pardieu et al., 2010). Interestingly, Vpu increases BST2 ubiquitination on lysine/serine and threonine residues located in its cytoplasmic tail, as is also observed with CD4 (Tokarev et al., 2010). Mutation of these residues reduces Vpu-induced antagonism of BST2. Consistent with this observation, the short isoform of BST2 lacking these residues shows decreased sensitivity to Vpu antagonism (Tokarev et al., 2010; Cocka and Bates, 2012). One study challenged the requirement of the $S_3T_4S_5$ residues in Vpu-induced ubiquitination of BST2 (Gustin et al., 2012) but no explanation has been proposed for this discrepancy.

Despite the similarity in the molecular mechanisms underlying Vpu-induced ubiquitination and degradation of CD4 and BST2,

the fate of both proteins differs. Indeed, it is now well established that Vpu does not target BST2 for proteasomal degradation but induces β-TrCP-dependent lysosomal sorting of BST2 (Douglas et al., 2009; Iwabu et al., 2009; Mitchell et al., 2009). In agreement with this notion, we highlighted a major role of Rab7, a regulator of the endo/lysosomal trafficking, in this process (Caillet et al., 2011), and revealed that Vpu enhances ESCRT-mediated sorting of BST2 for degradation (Janvier et al., 2011). The ESCRT machinery is a set of four hetero-oligomeric protein complexes involved in the sorting of ubiquitinated membrane proteins into vesicles budding into endosomes for their subsequent degradation in the lysosomes. The ESCRT-0 protein HRS (hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate) coordinates this process by linking ubiquitinated cargoes and the ESCRT-I component TSG101 (Raiborg and Stenmark, 2009). We showed that Vpu-mediated down-regulation of BST2 and viral release require HRS, and unveiled an increased affinity of BST2 for HRS upon Vpu expression (Janvier et al., 2011). One might propose that through binding with HRS and BST2, Vpu accelerates ESCRT-mediated sorting of BST2 to the lysosomes, thereby reducing its recycling to the PM (Janvier et al., 2012; **Figure 2**). Further evidence of the requirement of the ESCRT machinery in Vpu-mediated BST2 degradation was obtained by the characterization of a new component of the ESCRT-I machinery: the protein UBAP1 (Agromayor et al., 2012). Depletion of UBAP1 abolishes Vpu-induced degradation of BST2, but has no impact on Vpu antagonism of BST2 antiviral activity (Agromayor et al., 2012), consistent with the notion that degradation of BST2 is not strictly required for Vpumediated antagonism of BST2 (Miyagi et al., 2009; Goffinet et al., 2010).

VPU AND BST2 VIRAL SENSING ACTIVITY

In addition to its activity as a restriction factor of viral release, BST2 has been recently characterized as an innate immune sensor for HIV (Cocka and Bates, 2012; Galao et al., 2012; Tokarev et al., 2013). In 2003, BST2 was first reported to stimulate the activity of the NF-kB family of transcription factors, using a whole-genome cDNA screen (Matsuda et al., 2003). Recent studies further revealed that tethered HIV particles increase BST2 signaling activity, resulting in enhanced production of proinflammatory stimuli, consistent with a role of BST2 as a sensor for assembled viruses (Cocka and Bates, 2012; Galao et al., 2012; Tokarev et al., 2013). This function seems separable from its activity as an inhibitor of viral release and relies on the integrity of the non-canonical dual tyrosine residues (Y_6XY_8) regulating its trafficking (Galao et al., 2012; Tokarev et al., 2013). Whether BST2 trafficking is relevant for its signaling activity is unclear. BST2 was proposed to activate the "canonical" NF-κB pathway through engaging mediators of this pathway via its tyrosine motif (Galao et al., 2012; Tokarev et al., 2013). Regulation of this pathway depends on the activation of the transforming growth factor- β activated kinase-1 (TAK1)/TAK1-binding protein 1 and 2 (TAB1 and TAB2) complex, through poly-ubiquitination by E3 ligases of the TNF receptor-associated factors (TRAFs) family (Skaug et al., 2009). Interestingly, BST2 was shown to co-immunoprecipitate with TRAF2, TRAF6 as well as the TAK1/TAB1 complex (Galao et al., 2012; Tokarev et al., 2013).

Vpu was shown to counteract BST2 signaling activity through a β -TrCP-dependent mechanism (Tokarev et al., 2013). Interestingly, over a decade ago, Vpu was shown to sequester β -TrCP away from its substrates and inhibit NF- κ B activation by interfering with β -TrCP-mediated degradation of the NF- κ B inhibitor I κ B (Bour et al., 2001; Besnard-Guerin et al., 2004). Whether this mechanism accounts solely for Vpu-induced inhibition of BST2 signaling activity requires further investigation. Furthermore, many questions remain regarding how viral expression triggers BST2 sensing activity.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Over the past decade, Vpu has emerged as an important asset for viral egress and evasion from the host antiviral mechanisms. Although tremendous progress has been made toward understanding the mechanisms underlying Vpu's functions, many questions remain regarding how this protein contributes to viral pathogenesis. Vpu's contribution to viral immune evasion relies on its ability to alter the trafficking of its targets by subverting cellular machineries involved this process. However, despite some similarities in the mechanisms involved, major differences have been reported regarding the site of action of Vpu as well as the fate of its targets in cells. Further characterization of the mechanisms controlling Vpu expression and distribution in cells as well as the interplay with its targets and the host cell machineries might contribute to explain these pleiotropic effects. In keeping with this line of thought, another fascinating aspect worthy of further investigation is the role of Vpu with regards to BST2, in cell-to-cell transmission of HIV through virological synapses. So far, conflicting results have been obtained regarding the impact of both proteins on this process, but intriguingly, they have underlined a multifaceted role of BST2 in HIV pathogenesis (Schubert et al., 1995; Gummuluru et al., 2000; Casartelli et al., 2010; Jolly et al., 2010). Adding to this complexity, BST2 was recently described to act as a host sensor of assembled viruses. Therefore, a more detailed characterization of BST2's functions in cells as well as its interplay with Vpu would contribute to better comprehend the role of both proteins in viral egress and dissemination. Addressing all these questions might provide important insights into AIDS pathogenesis and contribute to the future development of therapeutic strategies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Nicolas Roy and Grégory Pacini conceived the figures and contributed to the writing of the manuscript; Clarisse Berlioz-Torrent edited the manuscript; Katy Janvier wrote the manuscript and contributed to the drawing of the figures.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We sincerely apologize to the authors whose works will not have been cited due to space limitations. We thank Monica Naughtin for critical reading and editing of our manuscript. Nicolas Roy holds a fellowship from ANRS; Grégory Pacini holds a fellowship from the "Ministère Français de l'Enseignement Supérieur et de la Recherche". This work is funded by SIDACTION, the ANR-12-JSV3-0005-01 program and by ANRS.

REFERENCES

- Agromayor, M., Soler, N., Caballe, A., Kueck, T., Freund, S. M., Allen, M. D., et al. (2012). The UBAP1 subunit of ESCRT-I interacts with ubiquitin via a SOUBA domain. *Structure* 20, 414–428. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2011.12.013
- Bailes, E., Gao, F., Bibollet-Ruche, F., Courgnaud, V., Peeters, M., Marx, P. A., et al. (2003). Hybrid origin of SIV in chimpanzees. *Science* 300, 1713. doi: 10.1126/science.1080657
- Besnard-Guerin, C., Belaidouni, N., Lassot, I., Segeral, E., Jobart, A., Marchal, C., et al. (2004). HIV-1 Vpu sequesters beta-transducin repeat-containing protein (betaTrCP) in the cytoplasm and provokes the accumulation of betacatenin and other SCFbetaTrCP substrates. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 788–795. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M308068200
- Billcliff, P. G., Rollason, R., Prior, I., Owen, D. M., Gaus, K., and Banting, G. (2013). CD317/tetherin is an organiser of membrane microdomains. J. Cell Sci. 126, 1553–1564. doi: 10.1242/jcs.112953
- Bour, S., Perrin, C., Akari, H., and Strebel, K. (2001). The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein inhibits NF-kappa B activation by interfering with beta TrCP-mediated degradation of Ikappa B. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 15920–15928. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M010533200

- Caillet, M., Janvier, K., Pelchen-Matthews, A., Delcroix-Genete, D., Camus, G., Marsh, M., et al. (2011). Rab7A is required for efficient production of infectious HIV-1. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002347. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002347
- Casartelli, N., Sourisseau, M., Feldmann, J., Guivel-Benhassine, F., Mallet, A., Marcelin, A. G., et al. (2010). Tetherin restricts productive HIV-1 cellto-cell transmission. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000955. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1000955
- Chaudhuri, R., Lindwasser, O. W., Smith, W. J., Hurley, J. H., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2007). Downregulation of CD4 by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef is dependent on clathrin and involves direct interaction of Nef with the AP2 clathrin adaptor. *J. Virol.* 81, 3877–3890. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02725-06
- Chu, H., Wang, J. J., Qi, M., Yoon, J. J., Chen, X., Wen, X., et al. (2012). Tetherin/BST-2 is essential for the formation of the intracellular virus-containing compartment in HIV-infected macrophages. *Cell Host Microbe* 12, 360–372. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.07.011
- Cocka, L. J., and Bates, P. (2012). Identification of alternatively translated Tetherin isoforms with differing antiviral and signaling activities. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002931. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002931
- Courgnaud, V., Formenty, P., Akoua-Koffi, C., Noe, R., Boesch, C., Delaporte, E., et al. (2003). Partial molecular characterization of two simian immunodeficiency viruses (SIV) from African colobids: SIVwrc from Western red colobus (*Piliocolobus badius*) and SIVolc from olive colobus (*Procolobus verus*). J. Virol. 77, 744–748. doi: 10.1128/JVI.77.1.744-748.2003
- Courgnaud, V., Salemi, M., Pourrut, X., Mpoudi-Ngole, E., Abela, B., Auzel, P., et al. (2002). Characterization of a novel simian immunodeficiency virus with a vpu gene from greater spot-nosed monkeys (*Cercopithecus nictitans*) provides new insights into simian/human immunodeficiency virus phylogeny. *J. Virol.* 76, 8298–8309. doi: 10.1128/JVI.76.16.8298-8309.2002
- Crise, B., Buonocore, L., and Rose, J. K. (1990). CD4 is retained in the endoplasmic reticulum by the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 glycoprotein precursor. *J. Virol.* 64, 5585–5593.
- Douglas, J. L., Viswanathan, K., McCarroll, M. N., Gustin, J. K., Fruh, K., and Moses, A. V. (2009). Vpu directs the degradation of the human immunodeficiency virus restriction factor BST-2/Tetherin via a {beta}TrCP-dependent mechanism. *J. Virol.* 83, 7931–7947. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00242-09
- Dube, M., Paquay, C., Roy, B. B., Bego, M. G., Mercier, J., and Cohen, E. A. (2011). HIV-1 Vpu antagonizes BST-2 by interfering mainly with the trafficking of newly synthesized BST-2 to the cell surface. *Traffic* 12, 1714–1729. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2011.01277.x
- Galao, R. P., Le Tortorec, A., Pickering, S., Kueck, T., and Neil, S. J. (2012). Innate sensing of HIV-1 assembly by Tetherin induces NFkappaBdependent proinflammatory responses. *Cell Host Microbe* 12, 633–644. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.10.007
- Gao, F., Bailes, E., Robertson, D. L., Chen, Y., Rodenburg, C. M., Michael, S. F., et al. (1999). Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. *Nature* 397, 436–441. doi: 10.1038/17130
- Goffinet, C., Allespach, I., Homann, S., Tervo, H. M., Habermann, A., Rupp, D., et al. (2009). HIV-1 antagonism of CD317 is species specific and involves Vpumediated proteasomal degradation of the restriction factor. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 285–297. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.01.009
- Goffinet, C., Homann, S., Ambiel, I., Tibroni, N., Rupp, D., Keppler, O. T., et al. (2010). Antagonism of CD317 restriction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) particle release and depletion of CD317 are separable activities of HIV-1 Vpu. J. Virol. 84, 4089–4094. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01549-09
- Gummuluru, S., Kinsey, C. M., and Emerman, M. (2000). An *in vitro* rapid-turnover assay for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication selects for cell-tocell spread of virus. *J. Virol.* 74, 10882–10891. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.23.10882-10891.2000
- Gupta, R. K., Hue, S., Schaller, T., Verschoor, E., Pillay, D., and Towers, G. J. (2009a). Mutation of a single residue renders human tetherin resistant to HIV-1 Vpu-mediated depletion. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000443. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10 00443
- Gupta, R. K., Mlcochova, P., Pelchen-Matthews, A., Petit, S. J., Mattiuzzo, G., Pillay, D., et al. (2009b). Simian immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein counteracts tetherin/BST-2/CD317 by intracellular sequestration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 20889–20894. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0907075106
- Gustin, J. K., Douglas, J. L., Bai, Y., and Moses, A. V. (2012). Ubiquitination of BST-2 protein by HIV-1 Vpu protein does not require lysine, serine, or threonine

residues within the BST-2 cytoplasmic domain. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 14837–14850. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.349928

- Habermann, A., Krijnse-Locker, J., Oberwinkler, H., Eckhardt, M., Homann, S., Andrew, A., et al. (2010). CD317/tetherin is enriched in the HIV-1 envelope and downregulated from the plasma membrane upon virus infection. *J. Virol.* 84, 4646–4658. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02421-09
- Hammonds, J., Wang, J. J., Yi, H., and Spearman, P. (2010). Immunoelectron microscopic evidence for Tetherin/BST2 as the physical bridge between HIV-1 virions and the plasma membrane. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000749. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000749
- Hauser, H., Lopez, L. A., Yang, S. J., Oldenburg, J. E., Exline, C. M., Guatelli, J. C., et al. (2010). HIV-1 Vpu and HIV-2 Env counteract BST-2/tetherin by sequestration in a perinuclear compartment. *Retrovirology* 7, 51. doi: 10.1186/1742-46 90-7-51
- Hill, M. S., Ruiz, A., Schmitt, K., and Stephens, E. B. (2010). Identification of amino acids within the second alpha helical domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu that are critical for preventing CD4 cell surface expression. *Virology* 397, 104–112. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2009. 10.048
- Iwabu, Y., Fujita, H., Kinomoto, M., Kaneko, K., Ishizaka, Y., Tanaka, Y., et al. (2009). HIV-1 accessory protein Vpu internalizes cell-surface BST-2/tetherin through transmembrane interactions leading to lysosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 35060– 35072. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.058305
- Jabbar, M. A., and Nayak, D. P. (1990). Intracellular interaction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (ARV-2) envelope glycoprotein gp160 with CD4 blocks the movement and maturation of CD4 to the plasma membrane. *J. Virol.* 64, 6297–6304.
- Janvier, K., Pelchen-Matthews, A., Renaud, J. B., Caillet, M., Marsh, M., and Berlioz-Torrent, C. (2011). The ESCRT-0 component HRS is required for HIV-1 Vpu-mediated BST-2/tetherin down-regulation. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1001265. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001265
- Janvier, K., Roy, N., and Berlioz-Torrent, C. (2012). Role of the endosomal ESCRT machinery in HIV-1 Vpu-induced down-regulation of BST2/tetherin. *Curr. HIV Res.* 10, 315–320. doi: 10.2174/157016212800 792414
- Jia, B., Serra-Moreno, R., Neidermyer, W., Rahmberg, A., Mackey, J., Fofana, I. B., et al. (2009). Species-specific activity of SIV Nef and HIV-1 Vpu in overcoming restriction by tetherin/BST2. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000429. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000429
- Jolly, C., Booth, N. J., and Neil, S. J. (2010). Cell-cell spread of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 overcomes tetherin/BST-2 mediated restriction in T cells. *J. Virol.* 84, 12185–12199. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01447-10
- Kobayashi, T., Ode, H., Yoshida, T., Sato, K., Gee, P., Yamamoto, S. P., et al. (2011). Identification of amino acids in the human tetherin transmembrane domain responsible for HIV-1 Vpu interaction and susceptibility. *J. Virol.* 85, 932–945. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01668-10
- Kueck, T., and Neil, S. J. (2012). A cytoplasmic tail determinant in HIV-1 Vpu mediates targeting of tetherin for endosomal degradation and counteracts interferon-induced restriction. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002609. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002609
- Kupzig, S., Korolchuk, V., Rollason, R., Sugden, A., Wilde, A., and Banting, G. (2003). Bst-2/HM1.24 is a raft-associated apical membrane protein with an unusual topology. *Traffic* 4, 694–709. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0854.2003. 00129.x
- Laguette, N., Sobhian, B., Casartelli, N., Ringeard, M., Chable-Bessia, C., Segeral, E., et al. (2011). SAMHD1 is the dendritic- and myeloid-cell-specific HIV-1 restriction factor counteracted by Vpx. *Nature* 474, 654–657. doi: 10.1038/nature10117
- Lau, D., Kwan, W., and Guatelli, J. (2011). Role of the endocytic pathway in the counteraction of BST-2 by human lentiviral pathogens. J. Virol. 85, 9834–9846. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02633-10
- Le Tortorec, A., and Neil, S. J. (2009). Antagonism to and intracellular sequestration of human tetherin by the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 envelope glycoprotein. *J. Virol.* 83, 11966–11978. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01 515-09
- Magadan, J. G., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2012). Transmembrane domain determinants of CD4 Downregulation by HIV-1 Vpu. J. Virol. 86, 757–772. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05933-11

- Magadan, J. G., Perez-Victoria, F. J., Sougrat, R., Ye, Y., Strebel, K., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2010). Multilayered mechanism of CD4 downregulation by HIV-1 Vpu involving distinct ER retention and ERAD targeting steps. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000869. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000869
- Maldarelli, F., Chen, M. Y., Willey, R. L., and Strebel, K. (1993). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein is an oligomeric type I integral membrane protein. J. Virol. 67, 5056–5061.
- Malim, M. H., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2012). HIV Restriction factors and mechanisms of evasion. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a006940. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006940
- Malim, M. H., and Emerman, M. (2008). HIV-1 accessory proteins-ensuring viral survival in a hostile environment. *Cell Host Microbe* 3, 388–398. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.04.008
- Mangeat, B., Gers-Huber, G., Lehmann, M., Zufferey, M., Luban, J., and Piguet, V. (2009). HIV-1 Vpu neutralizes the antiviral factor Tetherin/BST-2 by binding it and directing its beta-TrCP2-dependent degradation. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000574. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000574
- Margottin, F., Bour, S. P., Durand, H., Selig, L., Benichou, S., Richard, V., et al. (1998). A novel human WD protein, h-beta TrCp, that interacts with HIV-1 Vpu connects CD4 to the ER degradation pathway through an F-box motif. *Mol. Cell* 1, 565–574. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80056-8
- Masuyama, N., Kuronita, T., Tanaka, R., Muto, T., Hirota, Y., Takigawa, A., et al. (2009). HM1.24 is internalized from lipid rafts by clathrin-mediated endocytosis through interaction with alpha-adaptin. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 15927–15941. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.005124
- Matsuda, A., Suzuki, Y., Honda, G., Muramatsu, S., Matsuzaki, O., Nagano, Y., et al. (2003). Large-scale identification and characterization of human genes that activate NF-kappaB and MAPK signaling pathways. *Oncogene* 22, 3307–3318. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206406
- McNatt, M. W., Zang, T., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2013). Vpu binds directly to tetherin and displaces it from nascent virions. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003299. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003299
- Mitchell, R. S., Katsura, C., Skasko, M. A., Fitzpatrick, K., Lau, D., Ruiz, A., et al. (2009). Vpu antagonizes BST-2-mediated restriction of HIV-1 release via beta-TrCP and endo-lysosomal trafficking. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000450. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000450
- Miyagi, E., Andrew, A. J., Kao, S., and Strebel, K. (2009). Vpu enhances HIV-1 virus release in the absence of Bst-2 cell surface down-modulation and intracellular depletion. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 2868–2873. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0813223106
- Moll, M., Andersson, S. K., Smed-Sorensen, A., and Sandberg, J. K. (2010). Inhibition of lipid antigen presentation in dendritic cells by HIV-1 Vpu interference with CD1d recycling from endosomal compartments. *Blood* 116, 1876–1884. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-09-243667
- Neil, S. J. (2013). The antiviral activities of tetherin. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 371, 67–104. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-37765-5_3
- Neil, S. J., Zang, T., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2008). Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. *Nature* 451, 425–430. doi: 10.1038/nature 06553
- Pardieu, C., Vigan, R., Wilson, S. J., Calvi, A., Zang, T., Bieniasz, P., et al. (2010). The RING-CH ligase K5 antagonizes restriction of KSHV and HIV-1 particle release by mediating ubiquitin-dependent endosomal degradation of tetherin. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000843. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10 00843
- Perez-Caballero, D., Zang, T., Ebrahimi, A., McNatt, M. W., Gregory, D. A., Johnson, M. C., et al. (2009). Tetherin inhibits HIV-1 release by directly tethering virions to cells. *Cell* 139, 499–511. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009. 08.039
- Pickering, S., Hue, S., Kim, E. Y., Reddy, S., Wolinsky, S. M., and Neil, S. J. (2014). Preservation of tetherin and CD4 counter-activities in circulating Vpu alleles despite extensive sequence variation within HIV-1 infected individuals. *PLoS Pathog.* 10:e1003895. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003895
- Raiborg, C., and Stenmark, H. (2009). The ESCRT machinery in endosomal sorting of ubiquitylated membrane proteins. *Nature* 458, 445–452. doi: 10.1038/nature07961
- Ray, N., and Doms, R. W. (2006). HIV-1 coreceptors and their inhibitors. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 303, 97–120. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-333 97-5_5

- Rollason, R., Korolchuk, V., Hamilton, C., Schu, P., and Banting, G. (2007). Clathrin-mediated endocytosis of a lipid-raft-associated protein is mediated through a dual tyrosine motif. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 3850–3858. doi: 10.1242/jcs. 003343
- Sauter, D., Schindler, M., Specht, A., Landford, W. N., Munch, J., Kim, K. A., et al. (2009). Tetherin-driven adaptation of Vpu and Nef function and the evolution of pandemic and non-pandemic HIV-1 strains. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 409–421. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.10.004
- Schmidt, S., Fritz, J. V., Bitzegeio, J., Fackler, O. T., and Keppler, O. T. (2011). HIV-1 Vpu blocks recycling and biosynthetic transport of the intrinsic immunity factor CD317/tetherin to overcome the virion release restriction. *MBio* 2, e00036–00011. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00036-11
- Schubert, H. L., Zhai, Q., Sandrin, V., Eckert, D. M., Garcia-Maya, M., Saul, L., et al. (2010). Structural and functional studies on the extracellular domain of BST2/tetherin in reduced and oxidized conformations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 17951–17956. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008 206107
- Schubert, U., Clouse, K. A., and Strebel, K. (1995). Augmentation of virus secretion by the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein is cell type independent and occurs in cultured human primary macrophages and lymphocytes. J. Virol. 69, 7699–7711.
- Serra-Moreno, R., Jia, B., Breed, M., Alvarez, X., and Evans, D. T. (2011). Compensatory changes in the cytoplasmic tail of gp41 confer resistance to tetherin/BST-2 in a pathogenic nef-deleted SIV. *Cell Host Microbe* 9, 46–57. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010.12.005
- Shah, A. H., Sowrirajan, B., Davis, Z. B., Ward, J. P., Campbell, E. M., Planelles, V., et al. (2010). Degranulation of natural killer cells following interaction with HIV-1-infected cells is hindered by downmodulation of NTB-A by Vpu. *Cell Host Microbe* 8, 397–409. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010. 10.008
- Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., Choi, J. D., and Malim, M. H. (2002). Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature* 418, 646–650. doi: 10.1038/nature 00939
- Skasko, M., Wang, Y., Tian, Y., Tokarev, A., Munguia, J., Ruiz, A., et al. (2012). HIV-1 Vpu protein antagonizes innate restriction factor BST-2 via lipid-embedded helix-helix interactions. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 58–67. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111. 296772
- Skaug, B., Jiang, X., and Chen, Z. J. (2009). The role of ubiquitin in NF-kappaB regulatory pathways. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 78, 769–796. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.78.070907.102750
- Strebel, K., Klimkait, T., and Martin, M. A. (1988). A novel gene of HIV-1, vpu, and its 16-kilodalton product. *Science* 241, 1221–1223. doi: 10.1126/science.32 61888
- Stremlau, M., Owens, C. M., Perron, M. J., Kiessling, M., Autissier, P., and Sodroski, J. (2004). The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in old world monkeys. *Nature* 427, 848–853. doi: 10.1038/nature 02343
- Tervo, H. M., Homann, S., Ambiel, I., Fritz, J. V., Fackler, O. T., and Keppler, O. T. (2011). Beta-TrCP is dispensable for Vpu's ability to overcome the CD317/Tetherin-imposed restriction to HIV-1 release. *Retrovirology* 8, 9. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-8-9
- Tokarev, A., Suarez, M., Kwan, W., Fitzpatrick, K., Singh, R., and Guatelli, J. (2013). Stimulation of NF-kappaB activity by the HIV restriction factor BST2. *J. Virol.* 87, 2046–2057. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 02272-12
- Tokarev, A. A., Munguia, J., and Guatelli, J. C. (2010). Serine-threonine ubiquitination mediates downregulation of BST-2/tetherin and relief of restricted virion release by HIV-1 Vpu. J. Virol. 85, 51–63. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01 795-10
- Van Damme, N., Goff, D., Katsura, C., Jorgenson, R. L., Mitchell, R., Johnson, M. C., et al. (2008). The interferon-induced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 3, 245–252. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008. 03.001
- Venkatesh, S., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2013). Mechanism of HIV-1 virion entrapment by tetherin. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003483. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10 03483

- Vigan, R., and Neil, S. J. (2010). Determinants of tetherin antagonism in the transmembrane domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (Hiv-1) Vpu protein. J. Virol. 84, 12958–12970. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01699-10
- Wildum, S., Schindler, M., Munch, J., and Kirchhoff, F. (2006). Contribution of Vpu, Env, and Nef to CD4 down-modulation and resistance of human immunodeficiency virus type 1-infected T cells to superinfection. *J. Virol.* 80, 8047–8059. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00252-06
- Willey, R. L., Maldarelli, F., Martin, M. A., and Strebel, K. (1992a). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein induces rapid degradation of CD4. J. Virol. 66, 7193–7200.
- Willey, R. L., Maldarelli, F., Martin, M. A., and Strebel, K. (1992b). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein regulates the formation of intracellular gp160-CD4 complexes. J. Virol. 66, 226–234.
- Zhang, F., Wilson, S. J., Landford, W. C., Virgen, B., Gregory, D., Johnson, M. C., et al. (2009). Nef proteins from simian immunodeficiency viruses are tetherin antagonists. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 54–67. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.05.008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 09 February 2014; accepted: 31 March 2014; published online: 01 May 2014. Citation: Roy N, Pacini G, Berlioz-Torrent C and Janvier K (2014) Mechanisms underlying HIV-1 Vpu-mediated viral egress. Front. Microbiol. 5:177. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00177

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2014 Roy, Pacini, Berlioz-Torrent and Janvier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Counteraction of the multifunctional restriction factor tetherin

Daniel Sauter*

Institute of Molecular Virology, Ulm University Medical Center, Ulm, Germany

Edited by:

Nadine Laguette, Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, France

Reviewed by:

Janet Douglas, Oregon Health & Science University, USA Kei Sato, Institute for Virus Research – Kyoto University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Daniel Sauter, Institute of Molecular Virology, Ulm University Medical Center, Meyerhofstrasse 1, 89081 Ulm, Germany e-mail: daniel.sauter@uni-ulm.de The interferon-inducible restriction factor tetherin (also known as CD317, BST-2 or HM1.24) has emerged as a key component of the antiviral immune response. Initially, tetherin was shown to restrict replication of various enveloped viruses by inhibiting the release of budding virions from infected cells. More recently, it has become clear that tetherin also acts as a pattern recognition receptor inducing NF-kB-dependent proinflammatory gene expression in virus infected cells. Whereas the ability to restrict virion release is highly conserved among mammalian tetherin orthologs and thus probably an ancient function of this protein, innate sensing seems to be an evolutionarily recent activity. The potent and broad antiviral activity of tetherin is reflected by the fact that many viruses evolved means to counteract this restriction factor. A continuous arms race with viruses has apparently driven the evolution of different isoforms of tetherin with different functional properties. Interestingly, tetherin has also been implicated in cellular processes that are unrelated to immunity, such as the organization of the apical actin network and membrane microdomains or stabilization of the Golgi apparatus. In this review, I summarize our current knowledge of the different functions of tetherin and describe the molecular strategies that viruses have evolved to antagonize or evade this multifunctional host restriction factor.

Keywords: ISG, restriction factor, tetherin, BST-2, HIV, Vpu, Nef, moonlighting proteins

INTRODUCTION

In the late 1960s, researchers estimated that the human genome may contain up to two million protein-coding genes (Kauffman, 1969). Today, we know that the actual number is much lower. In 2012, an in vitro gene expression analysis yielded a number of 20,687 protein-coding genes (Pennisi, 2012). Interestingly, several hundred of them are interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs) that are upregulated during viral infections (de Veer et al., 2001; Lanford et al., 2006; Fernandez-Suarez et al., 2013). Although an antiviral effector function has been described for some of these factors, the role of most ISGs during viral infections remains obscure. Three extensively studied proteins induced by type I interferons (IFN) are the restriction factors APOBEC3G (apolipoprotein B mRNAediting enzyme, catalytic polypeptide-like 3G), TRIM5α (tripartite motif 5-alpha), and tetherin (BST-2, CD317, or HM1.24). These host proteins are key players of the innate immune response and part of the first line of defense against lentiviruses. Like other IFNinducible proteins, they target specific steps of the viral life cycle: APOBEC3G is a cytidine deaminase that inhibits reverse transcription and introduces G-to-A substitutions in the viral genome (Sheehy et al., 2002), TRIM5a binds incoming viral capsids and interferes with the uncoating process (Stremlau et al., 2004), and tetherin inhibits the release of budding virions from infected cells (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008).

Surprisingly, the number of human genes is not significantly larger than that of many less complex organisms such as *Caenorhabditis elegans* or *Drosophila melanogaster*. Yet, the number of proteins can of course not be directly inferred from the number of genes. Alternative pre-mRNA splicing, DNA rearrangement, post-translational modifications, RNA editing, and the use of alternative start codons or reading frames are means to increase the coding potential of genes. Another possibility of coping with a limited number of genes is the evolution of multifunctional proteins, a phenomenon called "gene sharing" or "moonlighting" (Jeffery, 2003). ISGs may be especially prone to moonlighting since viruses exert a substantial selection pressure on the genomes of their host species. Antiviral proteins frequently have to acquire novel functions to cope with rapidly evolving or newly emerging viruses. Thus, viral infections may drive the evolution of antiviral activities in proteins that initially only exerted functions unrelated to immunity. Another common feature of many host restriction factors is their counteraction by viral antagonists. Whereas HIV-1 is resistant against human TRIM5α due to mutations in its capsid protein (Stremlau et al., 2004), APOBEC3G and tetherin are directly targeted by the accessory proteins Vif and Vpu, respectively (Sheehy et al., 2002; Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008). Notably, the combination of an antiviral function with activities beyond immunity within one protein may be a means to impede counteraction by viruses. Antiviral moonlighting proteins that also exert essential cellular functions cannot simply be degraded as this might be detrimental for the host cell and thus terminate viral replication.

The host restriction factor tetherin is such a moonlighting protein fulfilling all characteristics of known restriction factors: it is induced by IFNs, inhibits a specific step of the viral replication cycle, shows signatures of positive selection and is counteracted by viral proteins. In this review, I will summarize our current knowledge of the different activities of tetherin and discuss the strategies evolved by different viruses to antagonize or evade this restriction factor.

STRUCTURE, TOPOLOGY, AND POST-TRANSLATIONAL MODIFICATIONS

The structural topology of tetherin is almost unique among mammalian proteins. Tetherin is a type II transmembrane protein consisting of a short N-terminal domain followed by an alphahelical transmembrane domain, a labile coiled-coil ectodomain and a C-terminal glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor (**Figures 1A** and **2A**; Kupzig et al., 2003). This unusual topology with two membrane anchors is only shared with a special form of the prion protein (Hegde et al., 1998, 1999; Stewart et al., 2001), ponticulin from the slime mold *Dictyostelium discoideum* (Hitt et al., 1994a,b), Sm23 from *Schistosoma mansoni* (Köster and Strand, 1994), and NcSRS2 from *Neospora caninum* (Nishikawa et al., 2002).

The N-terminal intracellular domain of tetherin contains an evolutionarily conserved tyrosine motif (YxY; **Figure 1A**), which mediates clathrin-dependent internalization by recruitment of AP2 (**Figure 2A**; Ohtomo et al., 1999; Blasius et al., 2006; Rollason et al., 2007; Masuyama et al., 2009). Mature tetherin recycles between the plasma membrane, endosomes and the trans-Golgi-network (TGN) with a mean surface half-life of a few





motif in the N-terminal domain to induce clathrin-mediated endocytosis. (B) A tetherin dimer restricting the release of a budding virion is shown. Whereas the GPI-anchor is incorporated into the viral membrane, the N-terminal transmembrane domain remains attached to the host cell. TRAFs are

fence around lipid rafts and links them to the underlying actin cytoskeleton via RICH2/EBP50/Ezrin. (E) Hamster tetherin is required for maintenance of the Golgi apparatus. It may connect and stabilize opposite membranes in the Golgi cisternae or sense their curvature and distance.

hours (Masuyama et al., 2009; Skasko et al., 2011; Sauter et al., 2013). Notably, methionine at position 13 of human tetherin has been shown to serve as alternative start codon, resulting in the expression of a shorter isoform (Figure 1A; Blasius et al., 2006; Cocka and Bates, 2012). Although both isoforms are expressed at comparable levels, the short isoform may preferentially localize to the plasma membrane due the lack of the YxY endocytosis motif (Cocka and Bates, 2012).

Mature tetherin is characterized by complex N-linked glycosylation at two conserved asparagine residues in its extracellular domain (Figure 1A; Ohtomo et al., 1999; Kupzig et al., 2003). Glycosylation occurs in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi apparatus and is required for entry of tetherin into the secretory pathway (Kupzig et al., 2003). Nevertheless, tetherin has never been shown to be secreted. Interestingly, glycosylated tetherin binds to various lectins with different selectivities (Ohtomo et al., 1999). However, a functional role of lectin binding by tetherin in vivo has not been demonstrated yet. In addition to the conserved asparagine residues, the ectodomain of human tetherin contains three cysteine residues that mediate disulfide-linked homodimer formation of the mature protein (Figure 1A; Kupzig et al., 2003). Recently, it has been suggested that interaction of the transmembrane domains may also be involved in homodimerization of tetherin (Cole et al., 2012). Tetherin homodimers are characterized by a parallel dimeric coiled-coil over the C-terminal two-thirds of the ectodomain. The N-terminal third may form an antiparallel four-helix bundle with another dimer, creating a tetherin tetramer (Schubert et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2010a).

During maturation, the C-terminus of tetherin is cleaved off in the ER to enable the addition of a GPI-anchor to serine at position 161 (Figure 1A). Tetherin is trapped in the ER in cells that have defects in the GPI-biosynthetic pathway (Perez-Caballero et al., 2009). The GPI-anchor serves as subcellular localization signal and targets tetherin to cholesterol-rich microdomains (lipid rafts; Kupzig et al., 2003). In contrast, the N-terminal transmembrane domain is most likely located outside lipid rafts with the cytosolic domain being a membrane microdomain exclusion motif (Bill-cliff et al., 2013). Thus, it has been suggested that parallel tetherin dimers form a picket fence like structure at the boundary of lipid rafts (Figure 2D; Kupzig et al., 2003).

EXPRESSION AND INDUCTION

The tetherin core promoter has a size of about 2000 base pairs. Transcription starts 51 nucleotides upstream of the start codon and a TATA box-like sequence is located 81 nucleotides upstream of the start codon (Figure 1B; Ohtomo et al., 1999). The promoter contains consensus binding sites for the transcription factors STAT3, IRF1, and ISGF3 (Figure 1B), suggesting that tetherin is an IFN-inducible gene (Ohtomo et al., 1999; Kawai et al., 2006; Ge et al., 2006). Indeed, it has been shown that IFN- α , - β , - γ , - τ , - λ 3, and - ω induce the expression of tetherin in various cell types from different species (Blasius et al., 2006; Arnaud et al., 2010; Dietrich et al., 2011; Cobos Jiménez et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2012; Amet et al., 2014). Like other ISGs, tetherin expression is upregulated upon viral infection and protein levels correlate with viral loads both, in HIV-infected humans and simian immunodeficiency viruses (SIV)-infected macaques (Homann et al., 2011; Mous et al., 2012; Rahmberg et al., 2013). Retroviral infection is sensed by various pattern recognition receptors (PRR) such as TLRs, RIG-I, or IFI16 thereby inducing the release of type I IFNs and subsequent upregulation of tetherin (Blasius et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2010; Jakobsen et al., 2013; Tavano et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2013). Interestingly, several IFNindependent stimulants of tetherin have also been reported. Bego et al. (2012) for example showed that TLR3 and TLR8 stimulation are able to induce the expression of tetherin independently of IFNs. Similarly, IL-27 has been identified as a potent inducer of tetherin in the absence of IFN (Guzzo et al., 2012). In contrast, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12, TNFα, and CD40L have no or only marginal effects on tetherin expression levels (Blasius et al., 2006; Tavano et al., 2013) and its expression is downmodulated by TGFβ (Saveed et al., 2013).

Although tetherin expression levels are markedly upregulated upon IFN stimulation, many cell types constitutively express tetherin in the absence of viral infections. Tetherin was originally identified as a marker for bone marrow stromal cells and various tumor cells (Goto et al., 1994; Ishikawa et al., 1995; Ohtomo et al., 1999; Walter-Yohrling et al., 2003; Grützmann et al., 2005; Capurso et al., 2006; Cai et al., 2009). More recently, it has become clear that tetherin is more widely expressed and can be detected to high levels in hepatocytes, pneumocytes, activated T cells, monocytes, pDCs, ducts of major salivary glands, pancreas and kidney cells, vascular endothelium, and many other cell types (Vidal-Laliena et al., 2005; Blasius et al., 2006; Kawai et al., 2006; Erikson et al., 2011). This constitutive expression in many organs and tissues suggests that tetherin is a key player of the early innate immune response. Alternatively, constitutive expression may indicate that tetherin performs cellular functions beyond immunity that require expression also in the absence of IFN and viral infections.

FUNCTIONS

INHIBITION OF VIRUS RELEASE

Although tetherin had already been described as an interferoninducible gene in the 1990s, it took until 2008 to discover the potent antiviral activity of this cellular protein. In this year, two groups reported the ability of tetherin to inhibit the release of budding HIV virions from infected cells (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008). Electron microscopic analyses revealed that tetherin appears to tether virions to each other as well as to the plasma membrane (Figure 2B; Neil et al., 2007, 2008). This antiviral activity depends on the unusual topology of tetherin. Budding virions incorporate one of the two membrane anchors of the restriction factor, whereas the other one remains attached to the plasma membrane of the host cell (Neil et al., 2008; Van Damme et al., 2008; Perez-Caballero et al., 2009). Using sophisticated modified tetherin variants, Venkatesh and Bieniasz (2013) could show that tetherin dimers adopt a parallel configuration with a three- to fivefold preference for the insertion of the GPI-anchor rather than the transmembrane domain into virions. This is in agreement with the observation that HIV progeny virions bud from cholesterol-rich microdomains (Nguyen and Hildreth, 2000; Bhattacharya et al., 2006). Microscopic analyses showed that tetherin accumulates at HIV budding sites with around four to seven molecules per assembly cluster (Habermann et al., 2010; Lehmann et al., 2011). A quantitative Western blotting approach yielded slightly higher numbers suggesting that a few dozen tetherin dimers are used to tether a single virion to the plasma membrane (Venkatesh and Bieniasz, 2013).

Perez-Caballero et al. (2009) showed that an artificial tetherin molecule consisting of the transmembrane domain of the transferrin receptor, the coiled-coil ectodomain of the dystrophia myotonica protein kinase (DMPK), and the GPI modification signal from the urokinase plasminogen activator receptor (uPAR) was able to restrict the release of budding virions. The fact that this artificial protein lacks any sequence homology with tetherin strongly argues against the requirement of any viral or cellular cofactors for viral restriction. Instead, the overall configuration with two membrane anchors and a flexible ectodomain seems to be sufficient to inhibit virion release. As mentioned above, a naturally occuring prion protein form also consists of an Nterminal transmembrane domain, a glycosylated ectodoamin and a C-terminal GPI-anchor. This prion protein variant is expressed at the cell surface and it would certainly be interesting to test whether it displays similar antiviral activities. In agreement with a direct tethering model involving an axial configuration of the dimer, tetherin mutants lacking either the GPI-anchor or the transmembrane domain are non-functional (Neil et al., 2008). Interestingly, several hereditary diseases affect enzymes of the GPI-anchor biosynthetic pathway. The best described probably being paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria (PNH), a syndrome that is most commonly caused by mutations in phosphatidylinositol glycan A (PIGA). This protein is part of an enzyme complex that catalyzes the first step of the GPI-anchor synthesis, the addition of N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) to phosphatidylinositol

(PI). Subsequently, GlcNAcPI is deacetylated by the ER-resident enzyme phosphatidylinositol glycan anchor biosynthesis, class L (PIGL). Mutations in PIGL cause the CHIME syndrome that is characterized by colobomas, heart defects, ichthyosiform dermatosis, mental retardation, and ear anomalies (Ng et al., 2012). Although PIGL has been shown to be required for the transport of tetherin to the cell surface (Perez-Caballero et al., 2009), viral infections are not a major symptom of PNH or CHIME syndrome patients.

In agreement with a direct tethering mechanism of the viral membrane to the plasma membrane of the host cell, it has been demonstrated that tetherin is able to inhibit the release of a large number of enveloped viruses. Studies using either virus-like particles or replication competent viruses revealed that tetherin restricts budding of members of alpha-, beta-, gamma-, and deltaretroviruses, lentiviruses, and spumaviruses (Neil et al., 2008; Jouvenet et al., 2009; Groom et al., 2010; Goffinet et al., 2010b), arena- and filoviruses (Jouvenet et al., 2009; Sakuma et al., 2009; Radoshitzky et al., 2010), as well as paramyxo- and rhabdoviruses (Radoshitzky et al., 2010; Weidner et al., 2010; Sarojini et al., 2011; Kong et al., 2012). Interestingly, viruses that bud from intracellular membranes such as HSV-1 or HCoV-229E are also restricted by tetherin (Blondeau et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014). The effect of tetherin on HCV replication is still controversial (Dafa-Berger et al., 2012; Ye et al., 2012; Pan et al., 2013; Amet et al., 2014). Notably, restriction of virion release is not the only antiviral activity of tetherin. Thus, seemingly discrepant results may be explained by the fact that some of the studies analyzed several rounds of viral replication whereas others focused on the release of viral particles.

INNATE SENSING AND SIGNALING

Tetherin was identified in an over-expression screening for activators of NF-KB (Matsuda et al., 2003). This raised the possibility that tetherin may also act as signaling molecule in addition to its role as an inhibitor of virion release. Subsequent studies demonstrated that antibody-mediated crosslinking of surface tetherin and - most importantly - virion budding induces the activation of NF-KB (Galão et al., 2012; Tokarev et al., 2013). Thus, tetherin may indeed act as a PRR inducing an antiviral immune response upon binding of budding progeny virions. Notably, however, activation of NF-kB and restriction of virion release are genetically separable functions of tetherin (Tokarev et al., 2013). The presence of the GPI-anchor, for example, is essential for inhibition of virion release but dispensable for signaling. Conversely, disruption of the tetramerization motif specifically disrupts signaling (Tokarev et al., 2013). It remains to be determined whether intrinsic tetherin-mediated activation of NF-kB in the absence of tethered viral particles is just an *in vitro* artifact due to overexpression or plays an important role in vivo. In both scenarios (over-expression and sensing of budding virions), tetherin seems to recruit TRAF2 and/or TRAF6 as well as the mitogen-activated kinase TAK1 and TAB, thereby activating the canonical NF-KB pathway (Figure 2B; Galão et al., 2012; Tokarev et al., 2013). It is still unclear how exactly these signaling molecules are recruited to tetherin. Although human tetherin contains a putative TRAF binding site [PxExx(Ar/Ac)] in its N-terminal cytoplasmic domain, mutational analyses revealed that this motif is most likely dispensable for TRAF6 recruitment (Ye et al., 2002; Galão et al., 2012). In contrast, mutation of the dual tyrosine motif $YxYxx\phi$ abrogated the signaling activity of tetherin. Depletion of AP2 and the analysis of a naturally occurring Y8H variant of tetherin, however, revealed that endocytosis is not required for efficient NF-KB activation (Galão et al., 2012; Sauter et al., 2013). The short isoform of tetherin fails to act as an innate sensor since it lacks the dual tyrosine motif. As this isoform acts in a dominant-negative manner on NF-kB activation, it is probably only homodimers of the long isoform that activate NF-kB (Cocka and Bates, 2012). It is tempting to speculate that the two N-terminal tyrosine residues in homodimers are phosphorylated upon virion sensing to recruit the first components of the NF-kB signaling cascade. Interestingly, a rare single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) changing arginine at position 19 to histidine also abrogates the signaling activity of tetherin without affecting surface expression or its ability to restrict virion release (Sauter et al., 2013). Unfortunately, this SNP is probably too rare to assess a possible association with disease progression.

Remarkably, tetherin has also been shown to directly interact with the immunoglobulin-like transcript 7 (ILT7, LILRA4, CD85g) on pDCs (Cao et al., 2009; Figure 2C). ILT7 forms a complex with FceRIy which contains an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM) in its cytoplasmic tail and induces a calcium-dependent signaling cascade that inhibits the release of type I interferons and other proinflammatory cytokines from pDCs (Cao et al., 2006; Cho et al., 2008). Thus, it has been suggested that binding of tetherin to ILT7 may induce a negative feedback signaling to prevent an uncontrolled prolonged inflammatory response (Cao et al., 2009). A recent study by Tavano et al. (2013), however, has challenged this hypothesis. Whereas antibody-mediated crosslinking of ILT7 significantly suppressed IFNa production by pDCs a modulation of IFN production by tetherin was not observed in their experimental setup (Tavano et al., 2013). It is tempting to speculate that binding of ILT7 to tetherin may also activate tetherin-mediated NF-κB signaling.

STRUCTURAL ORGANIZATION OF THE CELL

In addition to its roles in antiviral immunity tetherin has also been reported to be an organizer of different cellular structures and organelles. It has early been shown that tetherin enters the secretory pathway and is thus mainly transported to the apical membrane of polarized cells (Kupzig et al., 2003). Knockdown experiments revealed that tetherin is required for the maintenance of the apical actin network and microvilli in such cells (Rollason et al., 2007). The protein RICH2 binds to the cytoplasmic dual tyrosine motif of tetherin and to EBP50, thereby linking it to Ezrin and the apical actin cytoskeleton (Figure 2D; Rollason et al., 2007). Interestingly, the adaptor protein binding site is masked in this process and RICH2 binding prevents clathrinmediated endocytosis of tetherin (Rollason et al., 2007). RICH2 is a Rho-type GTPase-activating protein that inhibits the activation of Rac and Rho which is involved in the remodeling of the actin cytoskeleton. The activation of these Rho-GTPases is increased in tetherin-depleted cells (Rollason et al., 2007). Thus, tetherin does not only act as an anchor and stabilizer of the apical actin network but also seems to be involved in the regulation of Rho-GTPases. Interestingly, the *Dictyostelium* protein ponticulin that also contains an N-terminal transmembrane domain and a C-terminal GPI-anchor has also been shown to link the plasma membrane to the cortical actin network (Hitt et al., 1994a,b).

With the GPI-anchor being localized in a lipid raft and the transmembrane domain just adjacent to it, tetherin may also serve as a picket fence stabilizing and organizing membrane microdomains (**Figure 2D**; Kupzig et al., 2003). This hypothesis is supported by the observation of Billcliff et al. (2013) that the N-terminal cytoplasmic tail of tetherin serves as a microdomain-exclusion motif. Thus, tetherin would link membrane rafts to the underlying actin cytoskeleton, a role that has previously been ascribed to the tetraspanin CD82 (**Figure 2D**; Delaguillaumie et al., 2004).

Another interesting observation comes from the hamster ortholog of tetherin called Golgi-resident GPI-anchored protein (GREG). As the name suggests, hamster tetherin is preferentially localized to the Golgi apparatus rather than the plasma membrane. GREG is characterized by a stretch of unique EQ tandem repeats serving as a putative Golgi-retention signal that is absent from all other tetherin orthologs (Figure 1A; Li et al., 2007). Nevertheless, the overall topology of the protein is conserved and a certain amount of GREG can also be detected at the plasma membrane (Perez-Caballero et al., 2009). Thus, it is very likely that hamster tetherin is still able to inhibit the release of budding virions despite the presence of a putative Golgi-retention signal. Interestingly, many circular and ring-like structures rather than the classical Golgi cisternae were observed in GREG-depleted cells, suggesting an essential role of GREG in the maintenance of the Golgi complex (Figure 2E; Li et al., 2007). A similar phenotype was observed in cells lacking PIGL which is required for the GPI-anchor synthesis (Li et al., 2007). A model has been proposed in which opposing membranes within a cisterna are linked by GREG dimers (Figure 2E). These dimers may either stabilize the Golgi structure or act as a sensor, surveilling the distance between opposing membranes. In this context, Swiecki et al. (2011) made the interesting observation that tetherin ectodomain dimers are similar to that formed by BAR-domains. BAR-domains have been shown to bind and stabilize membrane curvatures (Frost et al., 2009). It is tempting to speculate that the extracellular part of tetherin may perform similar activities that are involved in the sensing of budding virions and/or Golgi structure.

SPECIES-SPECIFIC DIFFERENCES

Tetherin orthologs have been described in many mammalian species (**Figure 1A**). The only non-mammalian tetherin has been identified in the Chinese alligator *Alligator sinensis* (accession numbers: XP_006017475, XP_006017476). The sequence homology to mammalian tetherins is, however, only very limited and it remains to be clarified whether this reptile protein really represents a tetherin ortholog.

Like most antiviral genes, tetherin is under high selection pressure and residues in all three domains have been shown to be under positive selection (Gupta et al., 2009a; McNatt et al., 2009; Lim et al., 2010). Seven very rare non-synonymous SNPs have been described in human tetherin (Y8H, R19H, N49S, D103N, E117A, D129E, and V146L), one of which specifically abrogates the sensing and signaling activity of tetherin (Sauter et al., 2013). A unique characteristic of the human ortholog is the deletion of five amino acids in the cytoplasmic N-terminal tail (Figure 1A). Since these five amino acids are also absent from the genomes of the Denisova and Neanderthal, it probably emerged at least 800,000 years ago, before the separation of these ancient hominin species but after the divergence of humans from non-human primates (Sauter et al., 2011b). The methionine residue at position 13 of human tetherin is conserved in many orthologs, suggesting that a long and a short isoform of tetherin are expressed in many mammalian species (Figure 1A). Some species, however, such as cats, guinea-pigs, horses, or elephants encode only the short isoform or a variant with deletions in the N-terminal part (Figure 1A). One well-characterized example is the cat ortholog, which expresses only the short isoform due to a mutation in the upstream start codon (Celestino et al., 2012). Since this isoform lacks the dual tyrosine motif that is required for activation of NFκB signaling and binding of RICH2, feline tetherin is probably deficient in these two functions. The short isoform may, however, restrict virion release more efficiently because it is expressed to higher levels at the cell surface due to the lack of the endocytosis signal. Furthermore, a short N-terminal cytoplasmic tail may confer a selective advantage because it reduces the number of target sites for potential cytoplasmic viral antagonists.

Interestingly, most mammalian tetherin orthologs seem not to be able to sense viral particles although they express the long isoform and contain the dual tyrosine motif. Only human tetherin and (to a lesser extent) chimpanzee tetherin have been shown to perform this function (Galão et al., 2012). Although most experiments have been performed in human cells, it has been suggested that the deletion of the five amino acid patch in the cytoplasmic tail of tetherin during human evolution may have led to an increased signaling capacity (Galão et al., 2012). Tetherin orthologs from other species may perform additional functions. As mentioned above, hamster tetherin contains unique EQ tandem repeats that may determine its preferentially intracellular localization and its involvement in the maintenance of the Golgi apparatus (Figures 1A and 2E; Li et al., 2007). The Gray-handed night monkey Aotus (lemurinus) griseimembra encodes a tetherin variant that is not able to inhibit virion release. This lack of restriction could be ascribed to a S164T mutation in the extracellular domain of tetherin (Figure 1A; Wong et al., 2009). To my knowledge, this is the only naturally occurring tetherin variant that fails to restrict virion release.

Sheep, goats, and cows encode two tetherin variants implying a gene duplication event before the divergence of these ruminants (Arnaud et al., 2010). At least in sheep, both proteins (BST-2A and BST-2B) are able to inhibit the release of budding virions, although they may be differentially expressed in various cell types (Arnaud et al., 2010). Interestingly, BST-2A is characterized by a truncated N-terminal domain and appears to restrict retroviral release more efficiently than BST-2B (**Figure 1A**; Arnaud et al., 2010).

Thus, some tetherin functions such as maintenance of the Golgi structure or innate sensing may have evolved relatively recently during evolution and may hence only be found in few species. In contrast, the inhibition of virion release is conserved among diverse mammals suggesting that this is an ancient function of tetherin.

VIRAL ANTAGONISTS

SIV Nef

Simian immunodeficiency viruses are primate lentiviruses that have been identified in more than forty different African primate species. Most of these viruses use their accessory protein Nef to counteract tetherin in their respective host species (Jia et al., 2009; Sauter et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009; Schmökel et al., 2011). Like many other viral antagonists, Nef enhances virion release by decreasing the surface expression levels of tetherin (Figure 3A; Götz et al., 2012; Serra-Moreno et al., 2013). However, total cellular tetherin levels remain unaffected suggesting that Nef sequesters it to intracellular compartments rather than inducing its degradation. Indeed, it has been shown that Nef induces clathrin, AP2and dynamin2-dependent endocytosis of the restriction factor (Figure 3A). Mutational analyses revealed that residues within and adjacent to a highly conserved [D/E]xxxLL motif in the Cloop of Nef are critical for its anti-tetherin activity (Zhang et al., 2011; Serra-Moreno et al., 2011; Götz et al., 2012). Although recruitment of AP2 via this motif is required for Nef-mediated downmodulation of CD4 (Garcia and Miller, 1991; Lindwasser et al., 2008), these mutations specifically disrupted the downmodulation of tetherin (Götz et al., 2012; Serra-Moreno et al., 2013). Thus, residues surrounding the AP2-binding site may be involved in the direct binding of tetherin rather than AP2 recruitment. In agreement with this hypothesis, Serra-Moreno et al. (2013) verified a direct physical interaction between Nef and the N-terminal cytoplasmic tail of tetherin. Interestingly, the sensitivity of tetherin toward Nef maps to the DIWKK motif that is missing in the human ortholog (Jia et al., 2009; Sauter et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009). Thus, human tetherin is resistant against Nef-mediated counteraction and may thus represent a hurdle for successful cross-species transmissions of SIV to humans (Sauter et al., 2009, 2010).

HIV-1 M AND N Vpu

The current AIDS pandemic is a sinister example for the enormous plasticity and adaptability of primate lentiviruses. HIV-1 groups M, N, O, and P are the result of four independent cross-species transmission events from apes to humans (Sharp and Hahn, 2011). SIVcpz and SIVgor, the direct precursors of HIV-1 use their Nef proteins to antagonize the tetherin ortholog of their respective host species. Although human tetherin is resistant to Nef due to a five amino acid deletion in its cytoplasmic tail, pandemic HIV-1 group M strains mastered this species barrier by switching from Nefto Vpu-mediated counteraction (Figure 3B; Sauter et al., 2009). This evolution of Vpu as an effective tetherin antagonist may have been an important prerequisite for the pandemic spread of HIV-1 group M (Sauter et al., 2010). Several residues in the transmembrane domain of Vpu have been shown to directly interact with the transmembrane domain of tetherin (Kobayashi et al., 2011; McNatt et al., 2013). As a consequence, Vpu-mediated counteraction of tetherin is often species-specific (Goffinet et al., 2009; Gupta et al., 2009a; McNatt et al., 2009; Rong et al., 2009). Notably, an AxxxAxxxAxxxW face in the transmembrane domain of HIV-1 group M Vpu is essential for the counteraction of human tetherin (Vigan and Neil, 2010). It remains, however, unclear whether these residues directly interact with the transmembrane domain of tetherin or rather confer stability to the alpha-helical structure of the transmembrane domain (Kleiger et al., 2002; Schneider and Engelman, 2004).

Although an interaction of Vpu with tetherin at the cell surface has been suggested (Iwabu et al., 2009), it is now quite well established that both proteins interact in the TGN (Dubé et al., 2009) and that Vpu inhibits the anterograde transport of tetherin to the plasma membrane (Dubé et al., 2009; Hauser et al., 2010; Andrew et al., 2011; Schmidt et al., 2011). Although this interaction and sequestration to the TGN may be sufficient for a partial relief of restriction, full counteraction activity depends on the presence of a di-serine motif (DSGxxS) in the cytoplasmic part of Vpu that is phosphorylated by casein kinase II (Mangeat et al., 2009; Goffinet et al., 2010a; Schindler et al., 2010). This motif recruits the SCF E3 ubiquitin ligase complex via the adaptor protein BTrCP thereby inducing the subsequent ubiquitination of tetherin. The exact residues in the cytoplasmic tail of tetherin that become ubiquitinated are still unclear (Tokarev et al., 2011; Gustin et al., 2012). The absence of putative ubiquitination sites in the short isoform of tetherin may, however, explain its relative resistance against Vpu (Cocka and Bates, 2012). Although some reports propose an ERAD- and proteasome-dependent degradation of tetherin (Goffinet et al., 2009; Mangeat et al., 2009; Petris et al., 2014), it seems more likely that tetherin enters the ESCRTdependent endolysosomal pathway upon ubiquitination (Douglas et al., 2009; Iwabu et al., 2009; Mitchell et al., 2009; Janvier et al., 2011; Agromayor et al., 2012; Gustin et al., 2012; Kueck and Neil, 2012; Rollason et al., 2013). Interestingly, the presence of a βTrCPconsensus sequence (DSGxxS) is not absolutely required for efficient anti-tetherin activity (Kluge et al., 2013) and some studies suggest that the di-serine itself rather than BTrCP recruitment is required for Vpu-mediated counteraction of tetherin (Schmidt et al., 2011; Tervo et al., 2011). Whereas Tervo et al. (2011) propose the binding of an as-yet unknown factor to the di-serine it is also conceivable that the presence of this motif is required for the structural integrity of the second alpha-helical domain of Vpu (Coadou et al., 2002, 2003). Notably, this second alpha-helix contains a putative ExxxLV trafficking motif that is required for efficient anti-tetherin activity (Kueck and Neil, 2012) and fusion of this domain to tetherin was sufficient to remove it from the sites of budding (McNatt et al., 2013). A similar DxxxLV motif evolved in the Vpu of a recently isolated highly pathogenic HIV-1 group N strain which counteracted human tetherin as efficiently as pandemic HIV-1 group M Vpus (Sauter et al., 2012). In contrast, most of the previously characterized HIV-1 N Vpus do not contain a DxxxLV motif in their cytoplasmic domain and counteract tetherin only inefficiently (Sauter et al., 2009, 2012). This poor anti-tetherin activity of HIV-1 group N viruses could be a reason for their very limited spread in the human population. Similarly, Vpu proteins of non-pandemic HIV-1 groups O and P have not evolved efficient anti-tetherin activity either (Sauter et al., 2009, 2011a; Yang et al., 2010b; Petit et al., 2011). Thus, only pandemic HIV-1 M strains mastered the tetherin hurdle "perfectly" by switching from Nef to Vpu to antagonize the human ortholog of this restriction factor.



HIV-2 AND SIV Env

The second human immunodeficiency virus HIV-2 is the result of at least nine independent cross-species transmissions of SIVsmm infecting sooty mangabeys to humans (Sharp and Hahn, 2011; Ayouba et al., 2013). These transmission events gave rise to HIV-2 groups A-I. HIV-2 does not encode a vpu gene and switched from Nef to its envelope protein (Env) to antagonize human tetherin (Le Tortorec and Neil, 2009). Similar to Nef-mediated counteraction of tetherin, Env does not induce the degradation of this restriction factor but rather sequesters it to intracellular compartments, probably the TGN (Figure 3C; Le Tortorec and Neil, 2009; Hauser et al., 2010). The interaction with tetherin occurs very likely via the ectodomain of Env (Lopez et al., 2010) and depends on an endocytic motif in gp41 (Le Tortorec and Neil, 2009). Notably, most assays were performed with Env alleles from HIV-2 group A strains and it remains unclear whether other HIV-2 groups also evolved Env-mediated anti-tetherin activity and/or whether the ability to antagonize tetherin correlates with the spread of the respective HIV-2 group in the human population.

OTHERS

The broad antiviral activity of tetherin is reflected by the fact that a substantial number of enveloped viruses have evolved antagonists of this restriction factor. Similar to the retroviral proteins mentioned above, most antagonists reduce tetherin levels at the sites of budding to enable efficient release of progeny virions.

The Herpes simplex virus 1 (HSV-1) glycoprotein M (gM), the Chikungunya virus non-structural protein 1 (Nsp1) and the Env of SIVtan and equine infectious anemia virus (EIAV), for instance, all reduce the surface expression levels of tetherin (Gupta et al., 2009b; Blondeau et al., 2013; Jones et al., 2013; Yin et al., 2014). Neuraminidase (N1 and N2) has been suggested to be the tetherin antagonist of influenza viruses (Yondola et al., 2011; Mangeat et al., 2012; Leyva-Grado et al., 2013) and Sendaivirus uses the fusion (F) and hemagglutinin-neuraminidase proteins (HN) in concert to induce the degradation of the restriction factor (Bampi et al., 2013).

In 2006, tetherin was identified in a screen for factors that are downmodulated by the RING-CH ubiquitin ligase K5 of the Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV, HHV-8; Bartee et al., 2006). It soon became clear that HHV-8 utilizes K5 to ensure efficient virion release by inducing the degradation of tetherin. K5 ubiquitinates lysine 18 in the cytoplasmic tail of tetherin thereby targeting it for proteasomal or ESCRT-dependent endo-lysosomal degradation (**Figure 3D**; Mansouri et al., 2009; Pardieu et al., 2010; Agromayor et al., 2012). In agreement with an ongoing coevolution between tetherin and its viral antagonists, K5 efficiently counteracts human tetherin but fails to antagonize the rhesus macaque and mouse orthologs (Pardieu et al., 2010). Bartee et al. (2006) made the interesting observation that MARCH-VIII, the cellular homolog of K5 is also able to induce the degradation of tetherin.

In contrast to other tetherin antagonists, the Ebolavirus glycoprotein (Gp) is able to enhance virion release without decreasing the surface levels of the restriction factor (Figure 3E; Lopez et al., 2010; Kühl et al., 2011). Interestingly, removal of tetherin from lipid rafts is not involved either (Lopez et al., 2010) and Ebolavirus Gp fails to rescue the release of arenaviruses (Radoshitzky et al., 2010). Although the exact mechanism of Gp-mediated counteraction of tetherin remains unclear, it has been suggested that tetherin interacts directly with the GP2 subunit (Kühl et al., 2011). A similar mechanism has also been proposed for FIV Env. Morrison et al. (2014) showed that FIV Env incorporation is required to antagonize feline tetherin but does not involve a reduction of total or surface tetherin levels. Like Ebola Gp, FIV Env was not able to rescue the release of non-cognate particles (Celestino et al., 2012; Morrison et al., 2014). However, another study suggested that FIV does not encode a direct antagonist but rather overcomes restriction by direct cell-to-cell spread (Dietrich et al., 2011).

Thus, viruses may also evolve evasion strategies without directly targeting tetherin. It has for example been suggested that some viruses do not induce IFN production in vivo or have evolved means to inhibit the IFN-mediated expression of tetherin (Lim and Emerman, 2009; Mangeat et al., 2012). Influenza virus for instance does not only use its Neuraminidase protein to directly antagonize tetherin but may also impede the induction of tetherin via the viral protein NS1 (Mangeat et al., 2012). To evade restriction some viruses such as HCV may also bud from internal membranes that contain no or only low levels of tetherin. Similarly, direct cellto-cell spread has been suggested to be used by some viruses to overcome restriction (Jolly et al., 2010; Dietrich et al., 2011; Ilinskaya et al., 2013). Furthermore, the antiviral activity of tetherin is simply saturated if a large number of virions is budding (Yadav et al., 2012). Some viruses may even exploit tetherin for their own benefit: HTLV-1 infected cells produce tetherin-containing extracellular viral assemblies that are transferred to neighboring cells and are required for efficient spread of infection (Pais-Correia et al., 2010). Tetherin has also been suggested to enhance the entry of human cytomegaloviruses and to be required for efficient FIV particle release (Viswanathan et al., 2011; Morrison et al., 2014). In summary, viruses have evolved a multiplicity of mechanisms to counteract, evade or even hijack the restriction imposed by tetherin.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUDING REMARKS

The continuous arms race between viruses and their hosts has certainly driven the evolution of the host restriction factor tetherin. Whereas the ability of tetherin to restrict virion release seems to be an ancient function that is highly conserved among all mammalian orthologs, some species have evolved unique features of this protein. Bovids, for instance, express two tetherin homologs that probably differ in their expression pattern and may thus facilitate adaptation to emerging viral infections (Arnaud et al., 2010). Human and (to a lesser extent) chimpanzee tetherin are apparently the only tetherin orthologs that act as innate sensors activating the NF-κB signaling cascade upon binding of viral particles (Galão et al., 2012). Conversely, tetherin also exerted a substantial selection pressure on viral evolution. Diverse enveloped viruses have evolved effective ways of escaping restriction. Whereas some viral proteins directly target tetherin and sequester it away from the sites of budding and/or induce its degradation, other viruses may overcome restriction via cell-to-cell spread or prevent the mounting of an IFN response to inhibit expression of tetherin and other ISGs.

The AIDS pandemic is an impressive example of this ongoing coevolution between viruses and tetherin. Analyses of different HIV-1 groups revealed that counteraction of tetherin may be a prerequisite for the efficient spread of lentiviruses in the human population (Sauter et al., 2010): in contrast to pandemic HIV-1 group M viruses, non-pandemic HIV-1 groups N, O, and P strains failed to evolve efficient tetherin antagonists after crossspecies transmissions of SIV to humans (Sauter et al., 2009, 2011a). Notably, however, patients infected with non-pandemic HIV-1 strains develop high viral loads and ultimately progress to AIDS although tetherin is not efficiently counteracted (Ayouba et al., 2000; Plantier et al., 2009; Vessière et al., 2010; Delaugerre et al., 2011). This strongly suggested that the evolution of a specific tetherin antagonist is required for efficient viral transmission and spread of the virus in the population rather than for efficient replication within an infected individual. In agreement with this, the presence of Vpu did not or only slightly enhance the cytopathicity of HIV-1 in humanized mouse models (Aldrovandi and Zack, 1996; Sato et al., 2012). Furthermore, Vpu boosted the initial phase of R5- and X4-tropic HIV-1 replication but was less important for viral dissemination during late stages of infection (Aldrovandi and Zack, 1996; Sato et al., 2012; Dave et al., 2013). These observations would be in agreement with a model in which cell-free virions are involved in transmission of the virus, whereas spread within patients occurs mainly via direct cell-tocell spread that overcomes tetherin restriction (Jolly et al., 2010; Sato et al., 2012).

A recent publication by Pickering et al. (2014), however, challenged this hypothesis revealing that potent anti-tetherin activity is not only a characteristic of transmitted/founder viruses but preserved throughout infection. Thus, efficient counteraction of tetherin may confer a selective advantage during all stages of viral infection. One possible explanation for this observation is that tetherin may still restrict direct cell-to-cell spread of HIV-1. In contrast to Jolly et al. (2010), Kuhl et al. (2010) reported that tetherin reduces the transfer of infectious material via virological synapses. Similarly, Casartelli et al. (2010) also showed that tetherin is able to restrict direct cell-to-cell spread. They suggest that tetherin induces the transfer of large patches of cross-linked viruses with reduced infectivity from producer to target cells (Casartelli et al., 2010). Alternatively, the contribution of cell-free virions to persistant HIV-1 infection may be higher than initially thought. This hypothesis is supported by the successful use of broadly neutralizing antibodies in recent vaccine trials (Klein et al., 2013). Furthermore, different functions of tetherin may exert selection pressure at different stages of the viral replication cycle. Thus, even if restriction of virion release primarily affects transmission efficiency and early viral dissemination, the sensing activity of tetherin (Galão et al., 2012) may still exert a high selection pressure on Vpu function during late stages of infection. In addition to its

restriction and signaling functions, tetherin seems to enhance the antibody opsonization of infected cells by increasing the accessibility of epitopes on the cell surface (Alvarez et al., 2014; Pham et al., 2014). As a result, Vpu-mediated down-modulation of tetherin may confer a selective advantage throughout all stages of infection because it reduces the susceptibility of infected cells to NK-cellmediated antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (Alvarez et al., 2014; Pham et al., 2014; Pham et al., 2014; Pham et al., 2014).

Several additional mouse studies affirmed a crucial role of tetherin in restricting viral infection in vivo. In contrast to the humanized mouse models described above, these studies focused on the infection of immunocompetent mice with murine pathogens. In a study by Liberatore and Bieniasz (2011), viral loads were significantly increased in tetherin knockout mice infected with Moloney MLV and these mice progressed to disease faster than their wild type littermates. Increased replication of Moloney MLV in tetherin-deficient mice was also confirmed by a study of Swiecki et al. (2012). Paradoxically, however, viral titers in the lungs were reduced upon infection with vesicular stomatitis virus in this mouse model (Swiecki et al., 2012). A third in vivo study took advantage of a polymorphism that disrupts the first start codon of tetherin (Barrett et al., 2012). As a consequence, these mice express only the short form of tetherin which lacks the tyrosine-based endocytosis signal and is therefore expressed to higher levels at the cell surface. In agreement with the other two studies, the increased tetherin expression resulted in decreased viral loads and reduced the pathogenic effects of Friend MLV (Barrett et al., 2012).

The observation that tetherin knockout mice do not show any obvious developmental or functional defects (Liberatore and Bieniasz, 2011) argues against essential cellular roles of tetherin beyond antiviral immunity. Some activities of tetherin such as the ability to induce the NF- κ B signaling cascade may, however, be unique for the human ortholog. Thus, mouse models cannot fully recapitulate all characteristics of human tetherin and further studies are warranted to characterize the relative contribution of different tetherin functions in antiviral activity and beyond.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank Frank Kirchhoff, Silvia Kluge and Dominik Hotter for fruitful discussions and critical reading of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

Agromayor, M., Soler, N., Caballe, A., Kueck, T., Freund, S. M., Allen, M. D., et al. (2012). The UBAP1 subunit of ESCRT-I interacts with ubiquitin via a SOUBA domain. *Structure* 20, 414–428. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2011.12.013

- Aldrovandi, G. M., and Zack, J. A. (1996). Replication and pathogenicity of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 accessory gene mutants in SCID-hu mice. J. Virol. 70, 1505–1511.
- Alvarez, R. A., Hamlin, R. E., Monroe, A., Moldt, B., Hotta, M. T., Rodriguez Caprio, G., et al. (2014). HIV-1 Vpu antagonism of tetherin inhibits antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxic responses by natural killer cells. *J. Virol.* doi: 10.1128/JVI.00449-14 [Epub ahead of print].
- Amet, T., Byrd, D., Hu, N., Sun, Q., Li, F., Zhao, Y., et al. (2014). BST-2 expression in human hepatocytes is inducible by all three types of interferons and restricts production of hepatitis C virus. *Curr. Mol. Med.* 14, 349–360. doi: 10.2174/1566524013666131118111719
- Andrew, A. J., Miyagi, E., and Strebel, K. (2011). Differential effects of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu on the stability of BST-2/tetherin. J. Virol. 85, 2611–2619. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02080-10
- Arnaud, F., Black, S. G., Murphy, L., Griffiths, D. J., Neil, S. J., Spencer, T. E., et al. (2010). Interplay between ovine bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2/tetherin and endogenous retroviruses. J. Virol. 84, 4415–4425. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00029-10
- Ayouba, A., Akoua-Koffi, C., Calvignac-Spencer, S., Esteban, A., Locatelli, S., Li, H., et al. (2013). Evidence for continuing cross-species transmission of SIVsmm to humans: characterization of a new HIV-2 lineage in rural Côte d'Ivoire. *AIDS Lond. Engl.* 27, 2488–2491. doi: 10.1097/01.aids.0000432443.22684.50
- Ayouba, A., Souquières, S., Njinku, B., Martin, P. M., Müller-Trutwin, M. C., Roques, P., et al. (2000). HIV-1 group N among HIV-1-seropositive individuals in Cameroon. AIDS Lond. Engl. 14, 2623–2625. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200011100-00033
- Bampi, C., Rasga, L., and Roux, L. (2013). Antagonism to human BST-2/tetherin by Sendai virus glycoproteins. J. Gen. Virol. 94, 1211–1219. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.051771-0
- Barrett, B. S., Smith, D. S., Li, S. X., Guo, K., Hasenkrug, K. J., and Santiago, M. L. (2012). A single nucleotide polymorphism in tetherin promotes retrovirus restriction in vivo. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002596. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002596
- Bartee, E., McCormack, A., and Früh, K. (2006). Quantitative membrane proteomics reveals new cellular targets of viral immune modulators. *PLoS Pathog.* 2:e107. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020107
- Bego, M. G., Mercier, J., and Cohen, E. A. (2012). Virus-activated interferon regulatory factor 7 upregulates expression of the interferon-regulated BST2 gene independently of interferon signaling. J. Virol. 86, 3513–3527. doi: 10.1128/JVI.06971-11
- Bhattacharya, J., Repik, A., and Clapham, P. R. (2006). Gag regulates association of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope with detergent-resistant membranes. J. Virol. 80, 5292–5300. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01469-05
- Billcliff, P. G., Gorleku, O. A., Chamberlain, L. H., and Banting, G. (2013). The cytosolic N-terminus of CD317/tetherin is a membrane microdomain exclusion motif. *Biol. Open* 2, 1253–1263. doi: 10.1242/bio.20135793
- Blasius, A. L., Giurisato, E., Cella, M., Schreiber, R. D., Shaw, A. S., and Colonna, M. (2006). Bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2 is a specific marker of type I IFN-producing cells in the naive mouse, but a promiscuous cell surface antigen following IFN stimulation. *J. Immunol.* 177, 3260–3265.
- Blondeau, C., Pelchen-Matthews, A., Mlcochova, P., Marsh, M., Milne, R. S. B., and Towers, G. J. (2013). Tetherin restricts herpes simplex virus 1 and is antagonized by glycoprotein M. J. Virol. 87, 13124–13133. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02250-13
- Cai, D., Cao, J., Li, Z., Zheng, X., Yao, Y., Li, W., et al. (2009). Up-regulation of bone marrow stromal protein 2 (BST2) in breast cancer with bone metastasis. *BMC Cancer* 9:102. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-9-102
- Cao, W., Bover, L., Cho, M., Wen, X., Hanabuchi, S., Bao, M., et al. (2009). Regulation of TLR7/9 responses in plasmacytoid dendritic cells by BST2 and ILT7 receptor interaction. *J. Exp. Med.* 206, 1603–1614. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090547
- Cao, W., Rosen, D. B., Ito, T., Bover, L., Bao, M., Watanabe, G., et al. (2006). Plasmacytoid dendritic cell-specific receptor ILT7-Fc epsilonRI gamma inhibits Toll-like receptor-induced interferon production. *J. Exp. Med.* 203, 1399–1405. doi: 10.1084/jem.20052454
- Capurso, G., Lattimore, S., Crnogorac-Jurcevic, T., Panzuto, F., Milione, M., Bhakta, V., et al. (2006). Gene expression profiles of progressive pancreatic endocrine tumours and their liver metastases reveal potential novel markers and therapeutic targets. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* 13, 541–558. doi: 10.1677/erc.1.01153
- Casartelli, N., Sourisseau, M., Feldmann, J., Guivel-Benhassine, F., Mallet, A., Marcelin, A.-G., et al. (2010). Tetherin restricts productive HIV-1 cell-to-cell transmission. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000955. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000955

- Celestino, M., Calistri, A., Del Vecchio, C., Salata, C., Chiuppesi, F., Pistello, M., et al. (2012). Feline tetherin is characterized by a short N-terminal region and is counteracted by the feline immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein. *J. Virol.* 86, 6688–6700. doi: 10.1128/JVI.07037-11
- Cho, M., Ishida, K., Chen, J., Ohkawa, J., Chen, W., Namiki, S., et al. (2008). SAGE library screening reveals ILT7 as a specific plasmacytoid dendritic cell marker that regulates type I IFN production. *Int. Immunol.* 20, 155–164. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxm127
- Coadou, G., Evrard-Todeschi, N., Gharbi-Benarous, J., Benarous, R., and Girault, J.
 P. (2002). HIV-1 encoded virus protein U (Vpu) solution structure of the 41-62 hydrophilic region containing the phosphorylated sites Ser52 and Ser56. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* 30, 23–40. doi: 10.1016/S0141-8130(01)00184-2
- Coadou, G., Gharbi-Benarous, J., Megy, S., Bertho, G., Evrard-Todeschi, N., Segeral, E., et al. (2003). NMR studies of the phosphorylation motif of the HIV-1 protein Vpu bound to the F-box protein beta-TrCP. *Biochemistry* 42, 14741–14751. doi: 10.1021/bi035207u
- Cobos Jiménez, V., Booiman, T., de Taeye, S. W., van Dort, K. A., Rits, M. A. N., Hamann, J., et al. (2012). Differential expression of HIV-1 interfering factors in monocyte-derived macrophages stimulated with polarizing cytokines or interferons. *Sci. Rep.* 2, 763. doi: 10.1038/srep00763
- Cocka, L. J., and Bates, P. (2012). Identification of alternatively translated Tetherin isoforms with differing antiviral and signaling activities. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002931. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002931
- Cole, G., Simonetti, K., Ademi, I., and Sharpe, S. (2012). Dimerization of the transmembrane domain of human tetherin in membrane mimetic environments. *Biochemistry* 51, 5033–5040. doi: 10.1021/bi201747t
- Dafa-Berger, A., Kuzmina, A., Fassler, M., Yitzhak-Asraf, H., Shemer-Avni, Y., and Taube, R. (2012). Modulation of hepatitis C virus release by the interferon-induced protein BST-2/tetherin. *Virology* 428, 98–111. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.03.011
- Dave, V. P., Hajjar, F., Dieng, M. M., Haddad, É., and Cohen, É. A. (2013). Efficient BST2 antagonism by Vpu is critical for early HIV-1 dissemination in humanized mice. *Retrovirology* 10, 128. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-128
- Delaguillaumie, A., Harriague, J., Kohanna, S., Bismuth, G., Rubinstein, E., Seigneuret, M., et al. (2004). Tetraspanin CD82 controls the association of cholesterol-dependent microdomains with the actin cytoskeleton in T lymphocytes: relevance to co-stimulation. *J. Cell Sci.* 117, 5269–5282. doi: 10.1242/jcs.01380
- Delaugerre, C., De Oliveira, F., Lascoux-Combe, C., Plantier, J.-C., and Simon, F. (2011). HIV-1 group N: travelling beyond Cameroon. *Lancet* 378, 1894. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61457-8
- de Veer, M. J., Holko, M., Frevel, M., Walker, E., Der, S., Paranjape, J. M., et al. (2001). Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 69, 912–920.
- Dietrich, I., McMonagle, E. L., Petit, S. J., Vijayakrishnan, S., Logan, N., Chan, C. N., et al. (2011). Feline tetherin efficiently restricts release of feline immunodeficiency virus but not spreading of infection. *J. Virol.* 85, 5840–5852. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00071-11
- Douglas, J. L., Viswanathan, K., McCarroll, M. N., Gustin, J. K., Früh, K., and Moses, A. V. (2009). Vpu directs the degradation of the human immunodeficiency virus restriction factor BST-2/Tetherin via a {beta}TrCP-dependent mechanism. *J. Virol.* 83, 7931–7947. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00242-09
- Dubé, M., Roy, B. B., Guiot-Guillain, P., Mercier, J., Binette, J., Leung, G., et al. (2009). Suppression of Tetherin-restricting activity upon human immunodeficiency virus type 1 particle release correlates with localization of Vpu in the trans-Golgi network. *J. Virol.* 83, 4574–4590. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 01800-08
- Erikson, E., Adam, T., Schmidt, S., Lehmann-Koch, J., Over, B., Goffinet, C., et al. (2011). In vivo expression profile of the antiviral restriction factor and tumor-targeting antigen CD317/BST-2/HM1.24/tetherin in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 13688–13693. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1101684108
- Fernandez-Suarez, X. M., Rigden, D. J., and Galperin, M. Y. (2013). The 2014 nucleic acids research database issue and an updated NAR online molecular biology database collection. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, D1–D6. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1282
- Frost, A., Unger, V. M., and De Camilli, P. (2009). The BAR domain superfamily: membrane-molding macromolecules. *Cell* 137, 191–196. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.04.010

- Galão, R. P., Le Tortorec, A., Pickering, S., Kueck, T., and Neil, S. J. D. (2012). Innate sensing of HIV-1 assembly by Tetherin induces NFkB-dependent proinflammatory responses. *Cell Host Microbe* 12, 633–644. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.10.007
- Garcia, J. V., and Miller, A. D. (1991). Serine phosphorylation-independent downregulation of cell-surface CD4 by nef. *Nature* 350, 508–511. doi: 10.1038/350508a0
- Ge, Y., Dombkowski, A. A., LaFiura, K. M., Tatman, D., Yedidi, R. S., Stout, M. L., et al. (2006). Differential gene expression, GATA1 target genes, and the chemotherapy sensitivity of Down syndrome megakaryocytic leukemia. *Blood* 107, 1570–1581. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-06-2219
- Goffinet, C., Allespach, I., Homann, S., Tervo, H.-M., Habermann, A., Rupp, D., et al. (2009). HIV-1 antagonism of CD317 is species specific and involves Vpumediated proteasomal degradation of the restriction factor. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 285–297. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.01.009
- Goffinet, C., Homann, S., Ambiel, I., Tibroni, N., Rupp, D., Keppler, O. T., et al. (2010a). Antagonism of CD317 restriction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) particle release and depletion of CD317 are separable activities of HIV-1 Vpu. J. Virol. 84, 4089–4094. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01549-09
- Goffinet, C., Schmidt, S., Kern, C., Oberbremer, L., and Keppler, O. T. (2010b). Endogenous CD317/Tetherin limits replication of HIV-1 and murine leukemia virus in rodent cells and is resistant to antagonists from primate viruses. *J. Virol.* 84, 11374–11384. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01067-10
- Goto, T., Kennel, S. J., Abe, M., Takishita, M., Kosaka, M., Solomon, A., et al. (1994). A novel membrane antigen selectively expressed on terminally differentiated human B cells. *Blood* 84, 1922–1930.
- Götz, N., Sauter, D., Usmani, S. M., Fritz, J. V., Goffinet, C., Heigele, A., et al. (2012). Reacquisition of Nef-mediated tetherin antagonism in a single in vivo passage of HIV-1 through its original chimpanzee host. *Cell Host Microbe* 12, 373–380. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.07.008
- Groom, H. C. T., Yap, M. W., Galão, R. P., Neil, S. J. D., and Bishop, K. N. (2010). Susceptibility of xenotropic murine leukemia virus-related virus (XMRV) to retroviral restriction factors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 5166–5171. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0913650107
- Grützmann, R., Boriss, H., Ammerpohl, O., Lüttges, J., Kalthoff, H., Schackert, H. K., et al. (2005). Meta-analysis of microarray data on pancreatic cancer defines a set of commonly dysregulated genes. *Oncogene* 24, 5079–5088. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1208696
- Gupta, R. K., Hué, S., Schaller, T., Verschoor, E., Pillay, D., and Towers, G. J. (2009a). Mutation of a single residue renders human tetherin resistant to HIV-1 Vpumediated depletion. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000443. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000443
- Gupta, R. K., Mlcochova, P., Pelchen-Matthews, A., Petit, S. J., Mattiuzzo, G., Pillay, D., et al. (2009b). Simian immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein counteracts tetherin/BST-2/CD317 by intracellular sequestration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 20889–20894. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0907075106
- Gustin, J. K., Douglas, J. L., Bai, Y., and Moses, A. V. (2012). Ubiquitination of BST-2 protein by HIV-1 Vpu protein does not require lysine, serine, or threonine residues within the BST-2 cytoplasmic domain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 287, 14837–14850. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.349928
- Guzzo, C., Jung, M., Graveline, A., Banfield, B. W., and Gee, K. (2012). IL-27 increases BST-2 expression in human monocytes and T cells independently of type I IFN. *Sci. Rep.* 2, 974. doi: 10.1038/srep00974
- Habermann, A., Krijnse-Locker, J., Oberwinkler, H., Eckhardt, M., Homann, S., Andrew, A., et al. (2010). CD317/tetherin is enriched in the HIV-1 envelope and downregulated from the plasma membrane upon virus infection. *J. Virol.* 84, 4646–4658. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02421-09
- Hauser, H., Lopez, L. A., Yang, S. J., Oldenburg, J. E., Exline, C. M., Guatelli, J. C., et al. (2010). HIV-1 Vpu and HIV-2 Env counteract BST-2/tetherin by sequestration in a perinuclear compartment. *Retrovirology* 7, 51. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-7-51
- Hegde, R. S., Mastrianni, J. A., Scott, M. R., DeFea, K. A., Tremblay, P., Torchia, M., et al. (1998). A transmembrane form of the prion protein in neurodegenerative disease. *Science* 279, 827–834. doi: 10.1126/science.279.5352.827
- Hegde, R. S., Tremblay, P., Groth, D., DeArmond, S. J., Prusiner, S. B., and Lingappa,
 V. R. (1999). Transmissible and genetic prion diseases share a common pathway
 of neurodegeneration. *Nature* 402, 822–826. doi: 10.1038/45574
- Hitt, A. L., Hartwig, J. H., and Luna, E. J. (1994a). Ponticulin is the major high affinity link between the plasma membrane and the cortical actin network in *Dictyostelium. J. Cell Biol.* 126, 1433–1444. doi: 10.1083/jcb.126.6.1433

- Hitt, A. L., Lu, T. H., and Luna, E. J. (1994b). Ponticulin is an atypical membrane protein. J. Cell Biol. 126, 1421–1431. doi: 10.1083/jcb.126.6.1421
- Homann, S., Smith, D., Little, S., Richman, D., and Guatelli, J. (2011). Upregulation of BST-2/Tetherin by HIV infection in vivo. J. Virol. 85, 10659–10668. doi: 10.1128/JVI.05524-11
- Ilinskaya, A., Derse, D., Hill, S., Princler, G., and Heidecker, G. (2013). Cell-cell transmission allows human T-lymphotropic virus 1 to circumvent tetherin restriction. *Virology* 436, 201–209. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.11.012
- Ishikawa, J., Kaisho, T., Tomizawa, H., Lee, B. O., Kobune, Y., Inazawa, J., et al. (1995). Molecular cloning and chromosomal mapping of a bone marrow stromal cell surface gene, BST2, that may be involved in pre-B-cell growth. *Genomics* 26, 527–534. doi: 10.1016/0888-7543(95)80171-H
- Iwabu, Y., Fujita, H., Kinomoto, M., Kaneko, K., Ishizaka, Y., Tanaka, Y., et al. (2009). HIV-1 accessory protein Vpu internalizes cell-surface BST-2/tetherin through transmembrane interactions leading to lysosomes. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 35060– 35072. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.058305
- Jakobsen, M. R., Bak, R. O., Andersen, A., Berg, R. K., Jensen, S. B., Tengchuan, J., et al. (2013). IFI16 senses DNA forms of the lentiviral replication cycle and controls HIV-1 replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, E4571–E4580. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1311669110
- Janvier, K., Pelchen-Matthews, A., Renaud, J.-B., Caillet, M., Marsh, M., and Berlioz-Torrent, C. (2011). The ESCRT-0 component HRS is required for HIV-1 Vpu-mediated BST-2/tetherin down-regulation. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1001265. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001265
- Jeffery, C. J. (2003). Moonlighting proteins: old proteins learning new tricks. *Trends Genet.* 19, 415–417. doi: 10.1016/S0168-9525(03)00167-7
- Jia, B., Serra-Moreno, R., Neidermyer, W., Rahmberg, A., Mackey, J., Fofana, I. B., et al. (2009). Species-specific activity of SIV Nef and HIV-1 Vpu in overcoming restriction by tetherin/BST2. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000429. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000429
- Jolly, C., Booth, N. J., and Neil, S. J. D. (2010). Cell-cell spread of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 overcomes tetherin/BST-2-mediated restriction in T cells. *J. Virol.* 84, 12185–12199. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01447-10
- Jones, P. H., Maric, M., Madison, M. N., Maury, W., Roller, R. J., and Okeoma, C. M. (2013). BST-2/tetherin-mediated restriction of chikungunya (CHIKV) VLP budding is counteracted by CHIKV non-structural protein 1 (nsP1). *Virology* 438, 37–49. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.01.010
- Jouvenet, N., Neil, S. J. D., Zhadina, M., Zang, T., Kratovac, Z., Lee, Y., et al. (2009). Broad-spectrum inhibition of retroviral and filoviral particle release by tetherin. *J. Virol.* 83, 1837–1844. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02211-08
- Kauffman, S. A. (1969). Metabolic stability and epigenesis in randomly constructed genetic nets. J. Theor. Biol. 22, 437–467. doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(69)90015-0
- Kawai, S., Yoshimura, Y., Iida, S.-I., Kinoshita, Y., Koishihara, Y., Ozaki, S., et al. (2006). Antitumor activity of humanized monoclonal antibody against HM1.24 antigen in human myeloma xenograft models. *Oncol. Rep.* 15, 361–367.
- Kleiger, G., Grothe, R., Mallick, P., and Eisenberg, D. (2002). GXXXG and AXXXA: common alpha-helical interaction motifs in proteins, particularly in extremophiles. *Biochemistry* 41, 5990–5997. doi: 10.1021/ bi0200763
- Klein, F., Mouquet, H., Dosenovic, P., Scheid, J. F., Scharf, L., and Nussenzweig, M. C. (2013). Antibodies in HIV-1 vaccine development and therapy. *Science* 341, 1199–1204. doi: 10.1126/science.1241144
- Kluge, S. F., Sauter, D., Vogl, M., Peeters, M., Li, Y., Bibollet-Ruche, F., et al. (2013). The transmembrane domain of HIV-1 Vpu is sufficient to confer anti-tetherin activity to SIVcpz and SIVgor Vpu proteins: cytoplasmic determinants of Vpu function. *Retrovirology* 10, 32. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10-32
- Kobayashi, T., Ode, H., Yoshida, T., Sato, K., Gee, P., Yamamoto, S. P., et al. (2011). Identification of amino acids in the human tetherin transmembrane domain responsible for HIV-1 Vpu interaction and susceptibility. *J. Virol.* 85, 932–945. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01668-10
- Kong, W.-S., Irie, T., Yoshida, A., Kawabata, R., Kadoi, T., and Sakaguchi, T. (2012). Inhibition of virus-like particle release of Sendai virus and Nipah virus, but not that of mumps virus, by tetherin/CD317/BST-2. *Hiroshima J. Med. Sci.* 61, 59–67.
- Köster, B., and Strand, M. (1994). Schistosoma mansoni: Sm23 is a transmembrane protein that also contains a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 310, 108–117. doi: 10.1006/abbi.1994.1146
- Kueck, T., and Neil, S. J. D. (2012). A cytoplasmic tail determinant in HIV-1 Vpu mediates targeting of tetherin for endosomal degradation and counteracts

interferon-induced restriction. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002609. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002609

- Kühl, A., Banning, C., Marzi, A., Votteler, J., Steffen, I., Bertram, S., et al. (2011). The Ebola virus glycoprotein and HIV-1 Vpu employ different strategies to counteract the antiviral factor tetherin. *J. Infect. Dis.* 204(Suppl. 3), S850–S860. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jir378
- Kuhl, B. D., Sloan, R. D., Donahue, D. A., Bar-Magen, T., Liang, C., and Wainberg, M. A. (2010). Tetherin restricts direct cell-to-cell infection of HIV-1. *Retrovirology* 7, 115. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-7-115
- Kupzig, S., Korolchuk, V., Rollason, R., Sugden, A., Wilde, A., and Banting, G. (2003). Bst-2/HM1.24 is a raft-associated apical membrane protein with an unusual topology. *Traffic* 4, 694–709. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0854.2003.00129.x
- Lanford, R. E., Guerra, B., Lee, H., Chavez, D., Brasky, K. M., and Bigger, C. B. (2006). Genomic response to interferon-alpha in chimpanzees: implications of rapid downregulation for hepatitis C kinetics. *Hepatology* 43, 961–972. doi: 10.1002/hep.21167
- Lehmann, M., Rocha, S., Mangeat, B., Blanchet, F., Uji-I, H., Hofkens, J., et al. (2011). Quantitative multicolor super-resolution microscopy reveals tetherin HIV-1 interaction. *PLoS Pathog*, 7:e1002456. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002456
- Le Tortorec, A., and Neil, S. J. D. (2009). Antagonism to and intracellular sequestration of human tetherin by the human immunodeficiency virus type 2 envelope glycoprotein. *J. Virol.* 83, 11966–11978. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01515-09
- Leyva-Grado, V. H., Hai, R., Fernandes, F., Belicha-Villanueva, A., Carter, C., and Yondola, M. A. (2013). Modulation of an ectodomain motif in the influenza A virus neuraminidase alters tetherin sensitivity and results in virus attenuation in vivo. *J. Mol. Biol.* doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2013.12.023
- Li, X., Kaloyanova, D., van Eijk, M., Eerland, R., van der Goot, G., Oorschot, V., et al. (2007). Involvement of a Golgi-resident GPI-anchored protein in maintenance of the Golgi structure. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 18, 1261–1271. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06-03-0236
- Liberatore, R. A., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2011). Tetherin is a key effector of the antiretroviral activity of type I interferon in vitro and in vivo. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 18097–18101. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113694108
- Lim, E. S., and Emerman, M. (2009). Simian immunodeficiency virus SIVagm from African green monkeys does not antagonize endogenous levels of African green monkey tetherin/BST-2. J. Virol. 83, 11673–11681. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00569-09
- Lim, E. S., Malik, H. S., and Emerman, M. (2010). Ancient adaptive evolution of tetherin shaped the functions of Vpu and Nef in human immunodeficiency virus and primate lentiviruses. J. Virol. 84, 7124–7134. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00468-10
- Lindwasser, O. W., Smith, W. J., Chaudhuri, R., Yang, P., Hurley, J. H., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2008). A diacidic motif in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Nef is a novel determinant of binding to AP-2. *J. Virol.* 82, 1166–1174. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01874-07
- Liu, M.-Q., Zhou, D.-J., Wang, X., Zhou, W., Ye, L., Li, J.-L., et al. (2012). IFN-λ3 inhibits HIV infection of macrophages through the JAK-STAT pathway. *PLoS ONE* 7:e35902. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035902
- Lopez, L. A., Yang, S. J., Hauser, H., Exline, C. M., Haworth, K. G., Oldenburg, J., et al. (2010). Ebola virus glycoprotein counteracts BST-2/Tetherin restriction in a sequence-independent manner that does not require tetherin surface removal. *J. Virol.* 84, 7243–7255. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02636-09
- Mangeat, B., Cavagliotti, L., Lehmann, M., Gers-Huber, G., Kaur, I., Thomas, Y., et al. (2012). Influenza virus partially counteracts restriction imposed by tetherin/BST-2. J. Biol. Chem. 287, 22015–22029. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.319996
- Mangeat, B., Gers-Huber, G., Lehmann, M., Zufferey, M., Luban, J., and Piguet, V. (2009). HIV-1 Vpu neutralizes the antiviral factor Tetherin/BST-2 by binding it and directing its beta-TrCP2-dependent degradation. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000574. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000574
- Mansouri, M., Viswanathan, K., Douglas, J. L., Hines, J., Gustin, J., Moses, A. V., et al. (2009). Molecular mechanism of BST2/tetherin downregulation by K5/MIR2 of Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus. J. Virol. 83, 9672–9681. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00597-09
- Masuyama, N., Kuronita, T., Tanaka, R., Muto, T., Hirota, Y., Takigawa, A., et al. (2009). HM1.24 is internalized from lipid rafts by clathrin-mediated endocytosis through interaction with alpha-adaptin. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 15927–15941. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.005124
- Matsuda, A., Suzuki, Y., Honda, G., Muramatsu, S., Matsuzaki, O., Nagano, Y., et al. (2003). Large-scale identification and characterization of human genes that activate NF-kappaB and MAPK signaling pathways. *Oncogene* 22, 3307–3318. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206406

- McNatt, M. W., Zang, T., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2013). Vpu binds directly to tetherin and displaces it from nascent virions. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003299. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003299
- McNatt, M. W., Zang, T., Hatziioannou, T., Bartlett, M., Fofana, I. B., Johnson, W. E., et al. (2009). Species-specific activity of HIV-1 Vpu and positive selection of tetherin transmembrane domain variants. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000300. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000300
- Mitchell, R. S., Katsura, C., Skasko, M. A., Fitzpatrick, K., Lau, D., Ruiz, A., et al. (2009). Vpu antagonizes BST-2-mediated restriction of HIV-1 release via beta-TrCP and endo-lysosomal trafficking. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000450. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000450
- Morrison, J. H., Guevara, R. B., Marcano, A., Saenz, D. T., Fadel, H. J., Rogstad, D. K., et al. (2014). FIV envelope glycoproteins antagonize tetherin through a distinctive mechanism that requires virion incorporation. *J. Virol.* 88, 3255–3272. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03814-13
- Mous, K., Jennes, W., Camara, M., Seydi, M., Daneau, G., Mboup, S., et al. (2012). Expression analysis of LEDGF/p75, APOBEC3G, TRIM5alpha, and tetherin in a Senegalese cohort of HIV-1-exposed seronegative individuals. *PLoS ONE* 7:e33934. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0033934
- Neil, S. J. D., Sandrin, V., Sundquist, W. I., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2007). An interferonalpha-induced tethering mechanism inhibits HIV-1 and Ebola virus particle release but is counteracted by the HIV-1 Vpu protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 2, 193–203. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.08.001
- Neil, S. J. D., Zang, T., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2008). Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. *Nature* 451, 425–430. doi: 10.1038/nature06553
- Ng, B. G., Hackmann, K., Jones, M. A., Eroshkin, A. M., He, P., Wiliams, R., et al. (2012). Mutations in the glycosylphosphatidylinositol gene PIGL cause CHIME syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 90, 685–688. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.02.010
- Nguyen, D. H., and Hildreth, J. E. (2000). Evidence for budding of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 selectively from glycolipid-enriched membrane lipid rafts. *J. Virol.* 74, 3264–3272. doi: 10.1128/JVI.74.7.3264-3272.2000
- Nishikawa, Y., Tragoolpua, K., Makala, L., Xuan, X., and Nagasawa, H. (2002). Neospora caninum NcSRS2 is a transmembrane protein that contains a glycosylphosphatidylinositol anchor in insect cells. Vet. Parasitol. 109, 191–201. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4017(02)00256-X
- Ohtomo, T., Sugamata, Y., Ozaki, Y., Ono, K., Yoshimura, Y., Kawai, S., et al. (1999). Molecular cloning and characterization of a surface antigen preferentially overexpressed on multiple myeloma cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 258, 583–591. doi: 10.1006/bbrc.1999.0683
- Pais-Correia, A.-M., Sachse, M., Guadagnini, S., Robbiati, V., Lasserre, R., Gessain, A., et al. (2010). Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission at virological synapses. *Nat. Med.* 16, 83–89. doi: 10.1038/nm.2065
- Pan, X.-B., Qu, X.-W., Jiang, D., Zhao, X.-L., Han, J.-C., and Wei, L. (2013). BST2/tetherin inhibits hepatitis C virus production in human hepatoma cells. *Antiviral Res.* 98, 54–60. doi: 10.1016/j.antiviral.2013.01.009
- Pardieu, C., Vigan, R., Wilson, S. J., Calvi, A., Zang, T., Bieniasz, P., et al. (2010). The RING-CH ligase K5 antagonizes restriction of KSHV and HIV-1 particle release by mediating ubiquitin-dependent endosomal degradation of tetherin. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000843. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000843
- Pennisi, E. (2012). Genomics. ENCODE project writes eulogy for junk DNA. *Science* 337, 1159, 1161. doi: 10.1126/science.337.6099.1159
- Perez-Caballero, D., Zang, T., Ebrahimi, A., McNatt, M. W., Gregory, D. A., Johnson, M. C., et al. (2009). Tetherin inhibits HIV-1 release by directly tethering virions to cells. *Cell* 139, 499–511. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.039
- Petit, S. J., Blondeau, C., and Towers, G. J. (2011). Analysis of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 M group Vpu domains involved in antagonizing tetherin. *J. Gen. Virol.* 92, 2937–2948. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.035931-0
- Petris, G., Casini, A., Sasset, L., Cesaratto, F., Bestagno, M., Cereseto, A., et al. (2014). CD4 and BST-2/tetherin proteins retro-translocate from endoplasmic reticulum to cytosol as partially folded and multimeric molecules. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 1–12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.512368
- Pham, T. N., Lukhele, S., Hajjar, F., Routy, J.-P., and Cohen, E. A. (2014). HIV Nef and Vpu protect HIV-infected CD4+ T cells from antibody-mediated cell Lysis through down-modulation of CD4 and BST2. *Retrovirology* 11, 15. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-11-15
- Pickering, S., Hué, S., Kim, E.-Y., Reddy, S., Wolinsky, S. M., and Neil, S. J. D. (2014). Preservation of tetherin and CD4 counter-activities in circulating Vpu

alleles despite extensive sequence variation within HIV-1 infected individuals. *PLoS Pathog.* 10:e1003895. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003895

- Plantier, J.-C., Leoz, M., Dickerson, J. E., De Oliveira, F., Cordonnier, F., Lemée, V., et al. (2009). A new human immunodeficiency virus derived from gorillas. *Nat. Med.* 15, 871–872. doi: 10.1038/nm.2016
- Radoshitzky, S. R., Dong, L., Chi, X., Clester, J. C., Retterer, C., Spurgers, K., et al. (2010). Infectious Lassa virus, but not filoviruses, is restricted by BST-2/tetherin. *J. Virol.* 84, 10569–10580. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00103-10
- Rahmberg, A. R., Neidermyer, W. J. Jr., Breed, M. W., Alvarez, X., Midkiff, C. C., Piatak, M., et al. (2013). Tetherin upregulation in simian immunodeficiency virus-infected macaques. J. Virol. 87, 13917–13921. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01757-13
- Rollason, R., Dunstan, K., Billcliff, P. G., Bishop, P., Gleeson, P., Wise, H., et al. (2013). Expression of HIV-1 Vpu leads to loss of the viral restriction factor CD317/Tetherin from lipid rafts and its enhanced lysosomal degradation. *PLoS ONE* 8:e75680. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075680
- Rollason, R., Korolchuk, V., Hamilton, C., Schu, P., and Banting, G. (2007). Clathrinmediated endocytosis of a lipid-raft-associated protein is mediated through a dual tyrosine motif. *J. Cell Sci.* 120, 3850–3858. doi: 10.1242/jcs.003343
- Rong, L., Zhang, J., Lu, J., Pan, Q., Lorgeoux, R.-P., Aloysius, C., et al. (2009). The transmembrane domain of BST-2 determines its sensitivity to down-modulation by human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu. J. Virol. 83, 7536–7546. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00620-09
- Sakuma, T., Noda, T., Urata, S., Kawaoka, Y., and Yasuda, J. (2009). Inhibition of Lassa and Marburg virus production by tetherin. J. Virol. 83, 2382–2385. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01607-08
- Sarojini, S., Theofanis, T., and Reiss, C. S. (2011). Interferon-induced tetherin restricts vesicular stomatitis virus release in neurons. DNA Cell Biol. 30, 965–974. doi: 10.1089/dna.2011.1384
- Sato, K., Misawa, N., Fukuhara, M., Iwami, S., An, D. S., Ito, M., et al. (2012). Vpu augments the initial burst phase of HIV-1 propagation and downregulates BST2 and CD4 in humanized mice. *J. Virol.* 86, 5000–5013. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 07062-11
- Sauter, D., Hotter, D., Engelhart, S., Giehler, F., Kieser, A., Kubisch, C., et al. (2013). A rare missense variant abrogates the signaling activity of tetherin/BST-2 without affecting its effect on virus release. *Retrovirology* 10, 85. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-10–85
- Sauter, D., Hue, S., Petit, S. J., Plantier, J.-C., Towers, G. J., Kirchhoff, F., et al. (2011a). HIV-1 Group P is unable to antagonize human tetherin by Vpu, Env or Nef. *Retrovirology* 8, 103. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-8-103
- Sauter, D., Vogl, M., and Kirchhoff, F. (2011b). Ancient origin of a deletion in human BST2/Tetherin that confers protection against viral zoonoses. *Hum. Mutat.* 32, 1243–1245. doi: 10.1002/humu.21571
- Sauter, D., Schindler, M., Specht, A., Landford, W. N., Münch, J., Kim, K.-A., et al. (2009). Tetherin-driven adaptation of Vpu and Nef function and the evolution of pandemic and nonpandemic HIV-1 strains. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 409–421. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.10.004
- Sauter, D., Specht, A., and Kirchhoff, F. (2010). Tetherin: holding on and letting go. *Cell* 141, 392–398. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.04.022
- Sauter, D., Unterweger, D., Vogl, M., Usmani, S. M., Heigele, A., Kluge, S. F., et al. (2012). Human tetherin exerts strong selection pressure on the HIV-1 group N Vpu protein. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1003093. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 1003093
- Sayeed, A., Luciani-Torres, G., Meng, Z., Bennington, J. L., Moore, D. H., and Dairkee, S. H. (2013). Aberrant regulation of the BST2 (Tetherin) promoter enhances cell proliferation and apoptosis evasion in high grade breast cancer cells. *PLoS ONE* 8:e67191. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067191
- Schindler, M., Rajan, D., Banning, C., Wimmer, P., Koppensteiner, H., Iwanski, A., et al. (2010). Vpu serine 52 dependent counteraction of tetherin is required for HIV-1 replication in macrophages, but not in ex vivo human lymphoid tissue. *Retrovirology* 7, 1. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-7-1
- Schmidt, S., Fritz, J. V., Bitzegeio, J., Fackler, O. T., and Keppler, O. T. (2011). HIV-1 Vpu blocks recycling and biosynthetic transport of the intrinsic immunity factor CD317/tetherin to overcome the virion release restriction. *mBio* 2:e00036– e00011. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00036-11
- Schmökel, J., Sauter, D., Schindler, M., Leendertz, F. H., Bailes, E., Dazza, M.-C., et al. (2011). The presence of a vpu gene and the lack of Nef-mediated downmodulation of T cell receptor-CD3 are not always linked in primate lentiviruses. *J. Virol.* 85, 742–752. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02087-10

- Schneider, D., and Engelman, D. M. (2004). Motifs of two small residues can assist but are not sufficient to mediate transmembrane helix interactions. J. Mol. Biol. 343, 799–804. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2004.08.083
- Schubert, H. L., Zhai, Q., Sandrin, V., Eckert, D. M., Garcia-Maya, M., Saul, L., et al. (2010). Structural and functional studies on the extracellular domain of BST2/tetherin in reduced and oxidized conformations. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 17951–17956. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1008206107
- Serra-Moreno, R., Jia, B., Breed, M., Alvarez, X., and Evans, D. T. (2011). Compensatory changes in the cytoplasmic tail of gp41 confer resistance to tetherin/BST-2 in a pathogenic nef-deleted SIV. *Cell Host Microbe* 9, 46–57. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2010.12.005
- Serra-Moreno, R., Zimmermann, K., Stern, L. J., and Evans, D. T. (2013). Tetherin/BST-2 antagonism by Nef depends on a direct physical interaction between Nef and tetherin, and on clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003487. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003487
- Sharp, P. M., and Hahn, B. H. (2011). Origins of HIV and the AIDS pandemic. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 1:a006841. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a006841
- Sheehy, A. M., Gaddis, N. C., Choi, J. D., and Malim, M. H. (2002). Isolation of a human gene that inhibits HIV-1 infection and is suppressed by the viral Vif protein. *Nature* 418, 646–650. doi: 10.1038/nature00939
- Skasko, M., Tokarev, A., Chen, C.-C., Fischer, W. B., Pillai, S. K., and Guatelli, J. (2011). BST-2 is rapidly down-regulated from the cell surface by the HIV-1 protein Vpu: evidence for a post-ER mechanism of Vpu-action. *Virology* 411, 65–77. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2010.12.038
- Stewart, R. S., Drisaldi, B., and Harris, D. A. (2001). A transmembrane form of the prion protein contains an uncleaved signal peptide and is retained in the endoplasmic Reticulum. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 12, 881–889. doi: 10.1091/mbc. 12.4.881
- Stremlau, M., Owens, C. M., Perron, M. J., Kiessling, M., Autissier, P., and Sodroski, J. (2004). The cytoplasmic body component TRIM5alpha restricts HIV-1 infection in Old World monkeys. *Nature* 427, 848–853. doi: 10.1038/nature02343
- Swiecki, M., Scheaffer, S. M., Allaire, M., Fremont, D. H., Colonna, M., and Brett, T. J. (2011). Structural and biophysical analysis of BST-2/tetherin ectodomains reveals an evolutionary conserved design to inhibit virus release. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 2987–2997. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.190538
- Swiecki, M., Wang, Y., Gilfillan, S., Lenschow, D. J., and Colonna, M. (2012). Cutting edge: paradoxical roles of BST2/tetherin in promoting type I IFN response and viral infection. J. Immunol. 188, 2488–2492. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103145
- Tavano, B., Galao, R. P., Graham, D. R., Neil, S. J. D., Aquino, V. N., Fuchs, D., et al. (2013). Ig-like transcript 7, but not bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2 (also known as HM1.24, tetherin, or CD317), modulates plasmacytoid dendritic cell function in primary human blood leukocytes. *J. Immunol.* 190, 2622–2630. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202391
- Tervo, H.-M., Homann, S., Ambiel, I., Fritz, J. V., Fackler, O. T., and Keppler, O. T. (2011). β -TrCP is dispensable for Vpu's ability to overcome the CD317/Tetherinimposed restriction to HIV-1 release. *Retrovirology* 8, 9. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-8-9
- Tokarev, A. A., Munguia, J., and Guatelli, J. C. (2011). Serine-threonine ubiquitination mediates downregulation of BST-2/tetherin and relief of restricted virion release by HIV-1 Vpu. *J. Virol.* 85, 51–63. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01795-10
- Tokarev, A., Suarez, M., Kwan, W., Fitzpatrick, K., Singh, R., and Guatelli, J. (2013). Stimulation of NF-κB activity by the HIV restriction factor BST2. *J. Virol.* 87, 2046–2057. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02272-12
- Van Damme, N., Goff, D., Katsura, C., Jorgenson, R. L., Mitchell, R., Johnson, M. C., et al. (2008). The interferon-induced protein BST-2 restricts HIV-1 release and is downregulated from the cell surface by the viral Vpu protein. *Cell Host Microbe* 3, 245–252. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.03.001
- Venkatesh, S., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2013). Mechanism of HIV-1 virion entrapment by tetherin. PLoS Pathog. 9:e1003483. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003483
- Vessière, A., Rousset, D., Kfutwah, A., Leoz, M., Depatureaux, A., Simon, F., et al. (2010). Diagnosis and monitoring of HIV-1 group O-infected patients in Cameroun. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 53, 107–110. doi: 10.1097/QAI.0b013e3181b97ec1
- Vidal-Laliena, M., Romero, X., March, S., Requena, V., Petriz, J., and Engel, P. (2005). Characterization of antibodies submitted to the B cell section of the 8th Human Leukocyte Differentiation Antigens Workshop by flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry. *Cell. Immunol.* 236, 6–16. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2005. 08.002

- Vigan, R., and Neil, S. J. D. (2010). Determinants of tetherin antagonism in the transmembrane domain of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpu protein. J. Virol. 84, 12958–12970. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01699-10
- Viswanathan, K., Smith, M. S., Malouli, D., Mansouri, M., Nelson, J. A., and Früh, K. (2011). BST2/Tetherin enhances entry of human cytomegalovirus. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002332. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002332
- Walter-Yohrling, J., Cao, X., Callahan, M., Weber, W., Morgenbesser, S., Madden, S. L., et al. (2003). Identification of genes expressed in malignant cells that promote invasion. *Cancer Res.* 63, 8939–8947.
- Wang, S.-M., Huang, K.-J., and Wang, C.-T. (2014). BST2/CD317 counteracts human coronavirus 229E productive infection by tethering virions at the cell surface. *Virology* 449, 287–296. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.11.030
- Wang, Y., Wang, X., Li, J., Zhou, Y., and Ho, W. (2013). RIG-I activation inhibits HIV replication in macrophages. J. Leukoc. Biol. 94, 337–341. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0313158
- Weidner, J. M., Jiang, D., Pan, X.-B., Chang, J., Block, T. M., and Guo, J.-T. (2010). Interferon-induced cell membrane proteins, IFITM3 and tetherin, inhibit vesicular stomatitis virus infection via distinct mechanisms. *J. Virol.* 84, 12646–12657. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01328-10
- Wong, S. K., Connole, M., Sullivan, J. S., Choe, H., Carville, A., and Farzan, M. (2009). A New World primate deficient in tetherin-mediated restriction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1. *J. Virol.* 83, 8771–8780. doi: 10.1128/JVI. 00112-09
- Yadav, S. S., Wilson, S. J., and Bieniasz, P. D. (2012). A facile quantitative assay for viral particle genesis reveals cooperativity in virion assembly and saturation of an antiviral protein. *Virology* 429, 155–162. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.04.008
- Yang, H., Wang, J., Jia, X., McNatt, M. W., Zang, T., Pan, B., et al. (2010a). Structural insight into the mechanisms of enveloped virus tethering by tetherin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 18428–18432. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1011485107
- Yang, S. J., Lopez, L. A., Hauser, H., Exline, C. M., Haworth, K. G., and Cannon, P. M. (2010b). Anti-tetherin activities in Vpu-expressing primate lentiviruses. *Retrovirology* 7, 13. doi: 10.1186/1742-4690-7–13
- Ye, H., Arron, J. R., Lamothe, B., Cirilli, M., Kobayashi, T., Shevde, N. K., et al. (2002). Distinct molecular mechanism for initiating TRAF6 signalling. *Nature* 418, 443–447. doi: 10.1038/nature00888
- Ye, L., Wang, X., Li, J., Liu, J., Ramirez, S. H., Wu, J., et al. (2012). Tetherin has negligible activity in restricting hepatitis C virus in hepatocytes. *Innate Immun.* 18, 398–405. doi: 10.1177/1753425911412984
- Yin, X., Hu, Z., Gu, Q., Wu, X., Zheng, Y.-H., Wei, P., et al. (2014). Equine tetherin blocks retrovirus release and its activity is antagonized by equine infectious anemia virus envelope protein. J. Virol. 88, 1259–1270. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03148-13
- Yondola, M. A., Fernandes, F., Belicha-Villanueva, A., Uccelini, M., Gao, Q., Carter, C., et al. (2011). Budding capability of the influenza virus neuraminidase can be modulated by tetherin. J. Virol. 85, 2480–2491. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02188-10
- Zhang, F., Landford, W. N., Ng, M., McNatt, M. W., Bieniasz, P. D., and Hatziioannou, T. (2011). SIV Nef proteins recruit the AP-2 complex to antagonize Tetherin and facilitate virion release. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002039. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002039
- Zhang, F., Wilson, S. J., Landford, W. C., Virgen, B., Gregory, D., Johnson, M. C., et al. (2009). Nef proteins from simian immunodeficiency viruses are tetherin antagonists. *Cell Host Microbe* 6, 54–67. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.05.008
- Zhou, Y., Wang, X., Liu, M., Hu, Q., Song, L., Ye, L., et al. (2010). A critical function of toll-like receptor-3 in the induction of anti-human immunodeficiency virus activities in macrophages. *Immunology* 131, 40–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03270.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 14 February 2014; accepted: 26 March 2014; published online: 10 April 2014. Citation: Sauter D (2014) Counteraction of the multifunctional restriction factor tetherin. Front. Microbiol. **5**:163. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00163

This article was submitted to Virology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2014 Sauter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.